
 

 

 

County Council Meeting 

Beaufort County, SC 
This meeting will be held at Burton Wells Recreation Center, 1 Middleton Recreation Dr., 

Beaufort, SC 29906 

Monday, May 23, 2022 
6:00 PM 

AGENDA 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION - COUNCIL MEMBER RODMAN 

3. PUBLIC NOTIFICATION OF THIS MEETING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED, POSTED, AND DISTRIBUTED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

6. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 

7. PRESENTATION OF A PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING CARLA ANDERSON SMITH  
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

 

8. CITIZEN COMMENTS - (ANYONE who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the 
meeting will limit their comments to no longer than three (3) minutes ( a total of 15 minutes ) and will 
address Council in a respectful manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the 
use of profane, abusive, or obscene language) 

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

 

9. LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS AND ACTION ITEMS 
 

 

10. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

11. PUBLIC HEARING OF A  RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE 
NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND FUND THE PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY CONSISTING OF 
APPROXIMATELY 2.1 ACRES OWNED BY THE TECHNICAL COLLEGE OF THE LOWCOUNTRY (FISCAL IMPACT: 
Purchase price is $1,215,000 plus closing costs for all 5 properties) 

1



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

As approved on April 18, 2022 by County Council   

12. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.2 (TRANSECT ZONES) AND SECTIONS 
IN DIVISION 3.3 (CONVENTIONAL ZONES) TO CORRECT AND CLARIFY PARKING SPACE REQUIREMENT 
CONFLICTS BETWEEN ZONING DISTRICTS AND THE PARKING SPACE REQUIREMENTS TABLE IN SECTION 
5.5.40.B. 

Vote at First Reading on May 9, 2022- 11:0 

13. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): APPENDIX A.13.50.D (GUEST HOUSES) TO CLARIFY THE 
STANDARDS FOR MINIMUM LOT SIZE REQUIREMENTS FOR GUEST HOUSES LOCATED IN THE MAY RIVER 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT. 

Vote at First Reading on May 9, 2022- 11:0 

14. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTION 6.1.40.G (BASE SITE AREA CALCULATIONS) TO CLARIFY 
THAT BOTH JURISDICTIONAL AND NON-JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS MUST BE SUBTRACTED FROM THE 
GROSS SITE AREA TO DETERMINE BASE SITE AREA FOR DEVELOPMENT. 

Vote at First Reading on May 9, 2022- 11:0 

15. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTION 5.11.100.F.1 (TREE REMOVAL ON DEVELOPED 
PROPERTIES) TO CLOSE A LOOPHOLE WHICH ALLOWS SPECIMEN AND MITIGATION TREES TO BE 
REMOVED POST-CONSTRUCTION OF SINGLE-FAMILY HOMES. 

Vote at First Reading on May 9, 2022- 11:0 

16. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE TO MAKE APPROPRIATIONS FOR COUNTY GOVERNMENT, SPECIAL 
PURPOSE DISTRICTS FOR BEAUFORT COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2022, AND 
ENDING JUNE 30, 2023 

17. FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE LEVY OF TAX FOR SCHOOL PURPOSES FOR 
BEAUFORT COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2022 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2023, AND TO 
MAKE APPROPRIATIONS FOR SAID PURPOSES 

18. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A 2022 TRANSPORTATION SALES TAX REFERENDUM 

19. THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE TO ALLOCATE 2018 ONE CENT SALES TAX ADDITIONAL REVENUE TO 
THE SIDEWALKS AND MULTI-USE PATHWAYS PROGRAM ($15,449,734.75). 

Vote at First Reading on April 25, 2022- 11:0 

Vote at Public Hearing & Second Reading on May 9, 2022- 11:0 

20. APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT ALL  ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE FUTURE PROGRAM AS RECOMMENDED BY THE TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE (TAC) 

21. APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL 
NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL RIGHT OF WAY NEEDED FOR THE 
SIGNALIZATION OF BLUFFTON PARKWAY AT RIVER RIDGE DRIVE AND FLAT CREEK DRIVE 

 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

 

2



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

22. CITIZEN COMMENTS - (ANYONE who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the 
meeting will limit their comments to no longer than three (3) minutes ( a total of 15 minutes ) and will 
address Council in a respectful manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the 
use of profane, abusive, or obscene language) 

23. ADJOURNMENT 
  

3



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

 

Items Originating from the Public Facilities Committee 

1. APPROVAL TO AWARD RFP 40122 BEAUFORT COUNTY HAULING SERVICES- SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING 
($1,830,000) 

2. APPROVAL TO AWARD RFQ #050322E FOR THE DESIGN & ENGINEERING OF A MATERIAL RECYCLING 
FACILITY (MRF 316,000) 

 

END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 

 

4



~ Proclamation ~ 

 
Whereas, Beaufort County Council would like to recognize Carla Anderson Smith for her services 

to Beaufort County through her work in helping the Beaufort County Coroner’s Office with the interment 
of 34 cremation remains; and 

 

Whereas, Carla Anderson Smith is the Owner of Forest Lawn Cemetery and Anderson’s Funeral 
Home; and  

 

Whereas, Carla Anderson Smith has been a licensed Funeral Director since 1989 and the daughter of 
the Founder of Anderson Funeral Home; and  

 

Whereas, Carla Anderson Smith assisted Corner David Ott for months with planning, putting 
together proper cremation boxes, assuring each person was identified by name and date of death, and where 
each cremation is placed; and  

 

Whereas, Carla Anderson Smith’s work on the records will make it easier for family members who 
might come forward to reunite with their loved ones; and   

 

Whereas, On November 18, 2021, Carla Anderson Smith provided a hearse to transport four United 
States Veterans to the Beaufort National Cemetery for a full military service which many citizens attended; 
and 

 

Whereas, Carla Anderson Smith further provided complete graveside services at Forest Lawn 
Cemetery, which included tents, chairs, and a podium for guest speakers; and 

 

Whereas, Carla Anderson Smith’s work was done voluntarily out of the kindness of her heart without 
any cost to the citizens of Beaufort County; and 

 

Whereas, Carla Anderson Smith is a true Beaufortonian and is always willing to give her love to 
others; and  
 

Now, therefore, be it resolved, by the County Council of Beaufort County, the Council hereby wishes 
to Honor Carla Anderson Smith for her kindness, selflessness, and resources to lay to rest 34 unclaimed 
cremations in Beaufort County.   

                    

  
                       Dated this 23rd Day of May 2022 

 
 
                                                    

                       
 ______________________________ 

                           
    Joseph F Passiment, Jr., Chairman  

                             Beaufort County Council 

 

5

Item 7.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE NECESSARY 

DOCUMENTS AND FUND THE PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 

2.1 ACRES OWNED BY THE TECHNICAL COLLEGE OF THE LOWCOUNTRY 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

May 9, 2022 County Council  

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Brittany Ward, Deputy Attorney 

10 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

On April 18, 2022 County Council approved an Ordinance for funding of the purchase of these 
properties.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Technical College of the Lowcountry (TCL) owns 5 parcels consisting approximately of 2.1 acres.  The 
County intends to purchase the property for the purpose of creating work force housing and 
affordable housing.   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Purchase price is $1,215,000 plus closing costs for all 5 properties 

Funding from the General Fund as approved on April 18, 2022 by County Council   

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Approve purchase 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to Approve 

Motion to Deny 

 

6

Item 11.



RESOLUTION 2022/______ 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE 

THE NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND FUND THE PURCHASE OF REAL 

PROPERTY CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 2.1 ACRES OWNED BY THE 

TECHNICAL COLLEGE OF THE LOWCOUNTRY 

 

WHEREAS, Technical College of the Lowcountry (“TCL”), is the fee simple owner of 

approximately 2.1 acres of real properties consisting of five (5) individual parcels and as further 

described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference; and   

 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County (“County”) desires to provide the citizens of the County 

with work force housing and affordable housing; and   

 

WHEREAS, TCL desires to sell and the County desires to purchase the Property for the 

purposes provided herein for a purchase price of $1,215,000.00 plus ordinary closing costs; and   

 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and 

residents of Beaufort County for the County Administrator to execute the necessary documents 

and fund the purchase of the Property.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by Beaufort County Council, duly 

assembled, does hereby authorize the County Administrator to execute the necessary documents 

for the purchase of the real property described in Exhibit A in the amount of $1,120,000.00 plus 

ordinary closing costs. 

 

 Adopted this _______ day of _______________, 2022. 

 

 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

             

      BY:______________________________________ 

       Joseph Passiment, Chairman  

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7

Item 11.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

1. 114 Elliot Street, Beaufort, SC 29902; TMS. No.: R120-005-000-0105-0000 

2. 870 Ribaut Road, Beaufort, SC 29902; TMS No.: R120-005-000-0133-0000 

3. 109 Reynolds Street, Beaufort, SC 29902; TMS. No.: R120-005-000-0132-0000 

4. 874 Ribaut Road, Beaufort, SC 29902; TMS. No.: R120-005-132A-0000 

5. 111 Elliot Street, Beaufort, SC 29902; TMS No.: R120-005-000-0127-0000 

 

 

 

  

8

Item 11.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

9

Item 11.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 
ITEM TITLE: 

Text Amendment to the Community Development Code (CDC): Sections in Division 3.2 (Transect Zones) and 
Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones) to correct and clarify conflicts between zoning districts and the Parking 
Space Requirements Table in Section 5.5.40.B 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Natural Resources Committee Meeting, May 2, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Merchant, AICP, Director, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning 

(10 minutes needed for item discussion) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Staff have been reviewing the Community Development Code (CDC) for necessary amendments as a result of 
the adoption of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan. During our review, staff have identified necessary major and 
minor corrections to the CDC to improve and clarify its standards. These amendments will be presented in 
several batches for consideration. This is the first batch of recommended amendments, which includes only 
minor changes. 
 
At their April 4, 2022 meeting, the Beaufort County Planning Commission voted unanimously to recommend 
approval of the proposed amendment.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The CDC contains parking space requirements in both the individual transect and conventional zone standards 
in Divisions 3.2 and 3.3 and in Table 5.4.40.B. Parking space requirements were included in both places in 
order to simplify navigation of the CDC for ease of interpretation. However, staff have recognized 
inconsistencies between Table 5.4.40.B and Zoning District requirements in Divisions 3.2 and 3.3. This 
amendment corrects conflicts by removing parking requirements from all Transect (except the T4 districts) and 
Conventional zones and replacing them with reference to Table 5.4.40.B. Because the T4 districts are intended 
to create walkable and mixed-use communities, staff recommends keeping specific parking allowances within 
the T4 district sections to reduce the number of required parking spaces and prevent over-parking of these 
districts. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Not applicable. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

To approve or deny the proposed amendment to the Community Development Code (CDC): Sections in Division 
3.2 (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones). 

 
 

10

Item 12.



 
ORDINANCE 2022 / __ 

  
 
TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.2 (TRANSECT ZONES) AND SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.3 
(CONVENTIONAL ZONES) TO CORRECT AND CLARIFY PARKING SPACE 
REQUIREMENT CONFLICTS BETWEEN ZONING DISTRICTS AND THE PARKING 
SPACE REQUIREMENTS TABLE IN SECTION 5.5.40.B.   
 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Community Development Code references parking standards in both 
the Conventional zones and Transect zones; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements Table) of the Community 

Development Code also provides standards for parking space requirements that sometimes 
conflicts with the standards found in the Conventional zones and Transect zones; and  

 
WHEREAS, it is necessary for the Community Development Code to remove conflicts 

in the code and provide clear guidance on parking space requirements to achieve orderly 
development.  

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE be it ordained by County Council in meeting duly assembled as follows: 
 
   

Adopted this ___ day of ____________ 2022. 
 
 
 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
    
 
      By: ______________________________________ 
            Joseph Passiment, Chairman       
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
Sarah W. Brock, JD, Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 

 

11

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Single-Family Detached 3 per unit 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, or 
across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 
 

 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 50' min. 

Side Street 50' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

 
 
 

 

3.2.40 T2 Rural (T2R) Standards 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

G. Parking 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 
 

12

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

G. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 3 per unit 

Retail, Offices, Services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW 
 

 

Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

Front 35' min. 

Side Street 20' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

3.2.50 T2 Rural Neighborhood (T2RN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

H. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

13

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

Service or Retail Uses: 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

 
Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Drive-through facility Add  5  stacking  spaces  per 
drive-through 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table uses see 
Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 10' min. 

Side Street 15' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard 
parking setbacks are governed 
by the applicable perimeter 
buffer (see Tables 5.8.90.D and 
5.8.90.F) and any other 
required buffers. 

 
 

3.2.60 T2 Rural Center (T2RC) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

14

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Encroachments  
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 

 

Residential Uses: 

All Allowed Uses 2 per unit 

Service or Retail Uses: 

All Allowed Lodging Uses 1 per 2 rooms 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Recreation, Public 
Assembly, and Transportation, Communication, Infrastructure uses 
see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 

 

Miscellaneous 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 

3.2.70 T3 Edge (T3E) Standards 

Required Spaces 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 
Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

15

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Two-family unit (duplex) 2 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 
 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 
 

3.2.80 T3 Hamlet Neighborhood (T3HN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Miscellaneous 

16

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached   2 per unit 

Two-family (duplex)   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Offices & services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Industrial, Recreation,  
Education, Public Assembly, and Transportation, Communication,  
Infrastructure uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3.2.90 T3 Neighborhood (T3N) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

40' min. 

15' min. 

0' min. 

5' min. 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

G. Parking 

17

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

F. Encroachments and Frontage Types

3.2.100 T4 Hamlet Center (T4HC) Standards 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Common Yard Forecourt 

Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through Facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

Gas Station/Fuel Sales 1 per pump plus requirements 
for retail 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

Stoop Shopfront1 

Terrace1 
1 Allowed in T4HC-O Sub-Zone 

only. 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking 
Space Requirements). 

40 spaces or less 14' max. 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

G. Parking

Front: 5' behind front facade of main building 

Side Street: 5' behind side facade of main building 

Side: 0' min. 

Rear: 5' min. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

18

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types

3.2.110 T4 Neighborhood Center (T4NC) Standards 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of work area 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Awnings, Galleries and Arcades may encroach further into the street 
ROW to within 2' of the face of curb. Eaves may encroach up to 3' 
into the street ROW.All other encroachments are not allowed 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through facility  Add 5 stacking spaces per drive-through 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement for retail 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

within street ROW. Light manufacturing, 
processing and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

Stoop Shop front 

Forecourt Terrace 

Gallery 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space 
Requirements). 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side Street 15' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 

Miscellaneous 

Parking Driveway Width: 

40 spaces or less 14' max. 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 

F. Parking

19

Item 12.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone provides for high-quality, 
moderate-density (averaging under three dwelling units per acre) 
residential development, with denser areas of multi-family and 
mixed-use development to provide walkability and affordable 
housing options.The design requirements are intended to provide a 
suburban character and encourage pedestrian, as well as automobile, 
access. 

Open spaces shall be provided in sufficient quantity to ensure an 
open quality with a predominance of green space. Non-residential 
uses shall be limited to parcels having access to arterial or collector 
streets or within a Traditional Community Plan.This Zone provides 
for the lower densities of areas designated Neighborhood 
Mixed-Use in the Comprehensive Plan. It is intended to support the 
development of communities with a diverse range of housing types 
and uses. 

 

Single Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Institutional Buildings 35 feet above grade 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
 

 

 

Single-Family Detached  2.6 d.u./acre 

Single-Family Attached/Duplex 2.6 d.u./acre 

Multi-Family Unit 12 d.u./acre, Maximum of 80 
Dwelling units 

 

Traditional Community Plan 3.5 d.u./acre2 
 

  
Front 30' min.1 

 
 

Side: 
Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 50' min. 
 

 

1 The minimum front setback for mansion apartments in a 
Multi-family community on internal streets is 15 feet. 

 

 
Lot Size 10,890 SF min. 

 
 

Width 70' min. 
 

 
Single-Family and Duplex 10,890 SF 

 
 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

 
 

Non-residential buildings 0.18 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F) 

 
 

2 Subject to the requirements in Division 2.3 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

3.3.30 Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 
Gross Density 

Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) Floor Area Ratio 

Lot Size 

Minimum Site Area 

Note: 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

B. Building Placement 

C. Building Form 

20

Item 12.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone provides for a 
limited number of retail, service, and office uses intended to serve 
the surrounding neighborhood. 

These are smaller uses and not highway service types of uses.The 
intensity standards are set to ensure that the uses have the same 
suburban character as the surrounding suburban residential areas. 
They are intended to blend with the surrounding areas, not threaten 
the character of the area.This Zone shall not consist of strip 
developments but rather neighborhood centers with a sense of 
place. 

 

 
 

 
 

Front 20' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 15' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 5,000 SF min. 

 

Width 50' min. 

 

Single-Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 3 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Gross Density 12 d.u./acre max. 

 

Floor Area Ratio2 0.23 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2 Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 

work area 

 
 

Single-Family and Duplex 5,000 SF 
 

 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

3.3.40 Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Note: 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Minimum Site Area 

C. Building Form 

21

Item 12.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone permits a full range of 
retail, service, and office uses.The Zone's intensity accommodates 
regional and community commercial and business activities. Uses 
include large, commercial activities that serve the entire County and 
highway-oriented businesses that need to be located on major 
highways.While this use intends high-quality, commercial character, 
the setback or build-to-line, landscaping and other design 
requirements provide a uniform streetscape that makes provision 
for pedestrian and transit access.The Zone is intended to be more 
attractive than commercial areas in other counties to maintain the 
attractive tourist and business environment and have minimal impact 
on surrounding residential areas. 
The Zone is not intended to be a strip along all arterials and 
collectors. In developing areas, the minimum depth of a parcel along 
an arterial or collector shall be 600'.The minimum zone size shall be 
20 acres. In the older, built-up areas, new uses shall have depths and 
areas equal to or greater than similar uses in the area.This Zone 
shall be located in areas designated "regional commercial" in the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 
 

 

Front 25' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 15' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 15' min. 
 

 

Rear 10' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 21,780 SF min. 

 

Width 150' min. 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 

 

All Buildings 3 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Density 15.0 d.u./acre max.2 

 

Floor Area Ratio3 0.37 max. 
 

 

1Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2See Section 4.1.350 for Affordable Housing density bonuses. 
 

 

3Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per  
drive-through 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

Note: 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Services or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

3.3.50 Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

22

Item 12.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Industrial (S1) Zone permits office, manufacturing, industrial, 
warehousing, and uses that support them.The Zone shall also be 
designed to permit small businesses and incubator businesses. 
Moderate to high intensities are permitted to achieve maximum land 
utilization. Such practices will maximize the land's use and 
accommodate small businesses and start-up or incubator businesses. 

 

 
 

 

All Buildings 4 stories max.1 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 

1Not to exceed 50 feet above finished grade level 
 

 
Industrial 0.48 max. 

 
 

All Other Uses 0.37 max. 
 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses  
 

Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

Heavy manufacturing, processing  
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 
 

1 per employee at maximum  
shift plus 1 per commercial 
vehicle 

 
 

Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

D. Floor Area Ratio 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 
 

20' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 20' min. 

Rear 20' min. 

Lot Size  
Lot Size 20,000 SF min. 

Width 100' min. 

Minimum Site Area  
Industrial 20,000 SF 

Other Permitted Uses 1 acre 

 

3.3.60 Industrial (S1) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

23

Item 12.



CDCB1 – CDC Text Amendments: Batch One    

 

TO:   Beaufort County Natural Resources Committee 

FROM:  Juliana Smith, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning Department 

DATE:  May 2, 2022 

SUBJECT:  Review of Community Development Code – Proposed Text Amendments  

STAFF REPORT: 

A. BACKGROUND: In November 2021, Beaufort County Council adopted the 2040 Comprehensive 
Plan. As a result, staff have been reviewing the Community Development Code (CDC) for necessary 
amendments. During our review, staff have identified necessary major and minor corrections to the 
CDC to improve and clarify its standards. These amendments will be presented in several batches for 
consideration. This is the first batch of recommended amendments, which includes only minor 
changes. 
 

B. SUMMARY OF REQUEST: To help navigate through the list of the first batch of recommended 
amendments, below is a summary of each of the four amendments up for consideration. More 
detailed explanations follow in the attachments, along with the amended CDC sections:  

1. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
APPENDIX A.13.50.D (GUEST HOUSES) clarifies minimum lot size requirements for 
guest houses located in the May River Community Preservation District.  

2. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.2 (TRANSECT ZONES) AND SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.3 
(CONVENTIONAL ZONES) corrects and clarifies conflicts between zoning districts and 
the Parking Space Requirements Table in Section 5.5.40.B.   

3. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 6.1.40.G (BASE SITE AREA CALCULATIONS) clarifies that both 
jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands must be subtracted from the gross site area to 
determine base site area for development. 

4. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 5.11.100.F.1 (TREE REMOVAL ON DEVELOPED PROPERTIES) closes a 
loophole which allows specimen and mitigation trees to be removed post-construction of 
single-family homes. 
 

C. STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval.  
 

D. BEAUFORT COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATIONS: At the April 4, 
2022 meeting of the Beaufort County Planning Commission, the Commission voted:  

MEMORANDUM 

24

Item 12.



CDCB1 – CDC Text Amendments: Batch One 

1. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Appendix A.13.50.D 
(Guest Houses) upon the condition that staff make an additional amendment to further 
clarify language regarding the larger (i.e. five plus acre) parcels. Staff have made the 
requested change. 

2. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC sections in Division 
3.2. (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones) to clarify parking space 
requirements.

3. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Section 6.1.40.G (Base 
Site Area Calculations) to clarify how to calculate base site area.

4. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Section 5.11.100.F.1 
(Tree Removal on Developed Properties) to close a loophole that allows specimen trees and 
mitigation trees to be removed post-construction of single-family homes.

E. ATTACHMENTS: Revised Community Development Code sections.

25

Item 12.



Division A.13: May River Community Preservation District (MRCP) 

 
Section A.13.50.D (Guest Houses): Section A.13.50.D addresses guest house allowances for existing lots 
of record south of May River Road. As written, the language leaves no direction on lots greater than five 
acres that exist prior to the adoption of the May River Community Preservation district (MRCP). It only 
addresses lots that are two to five acres that existed prior to the adoption of the MRCP and lots that are five 
acres or more that were created after the adoption of the MRCP. Staff recommends removing the language 
referencing lot-origination dates to capture all property sizes south of May River Rd and provide clear 
guidance determining the number of guest houses allowed for all properties in that portion of the district. 
 
A.13.50 Conditional and Special Use Standards  

 

D. Guest houses. 

1. Guest houses shall be permitted South of May River Road. 

2. A guest house shall be subordinate to the principal dwelling and be for use by 
the property owner and his/her guests only. 

3. A guest house is deemed to be a part of the main property owners compound and is 
not intended to be subdivided for other uses. They shall adhere to the front, rear, 
and side setbacks listed for the principle structure. 

4. A guest house is for use by the property owner and his/her family and guests only. 
They shall not be leased or rented, and must gain their access from the driveway 
of the principal house. 

5. Existing lLots of record that are two to five acres in size are permitted one guest 
house, not to exceed 2,000 square feet. Lots created after the adoption of the May 
River CP District that are five acres or more than five acres in size are permitted 
one or more guest houses; however, the total square footage of all guest dwellings 
(houses) may not exceed 75 percent of the square footage of the principal house. 
Furthermore, the total square footage of all guest houses (when added together) 
may not exceed 5,000 square feet. 

6. Nothing herein shall prevent the construction of a guest house prior to the 
construction of the principal dwelling. 

7. Manufactured (i.e., mobile) homes shall not be permitted to be used as guest houses. 

26

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 

Sections in Division 3.2 (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones): The CDC contains parking 
space requirements in both the individual transect and conventional zone standards in Division 3.2 and 3.3 and 
in Table 5.4.40.B. Parking space requirements were included in both places in order to simplify navigation of 
the CDC for ease of interpretation. However, staff have recognized inconsistencies between Table 5.4.40.B and 
Zoning District requirements in Divisions 3.2 and 3.3. This amendment corrects conflicts by removing parking 
requirements from all Transect (except the T4 districts) and Conventional zones and replacing them with 
reference to Table 5.4.40.B. Because the T4 districts are intended to create walkable and mixed-use 
communities, staff recommends keeping specific parking allowances within the T4 district sections to reduce the 
number of required parking spaces and prevent over-parking of these districts. 

Single-Family Detached 3 per unit 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, or 
across a property line. 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 50' min. 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

3.2.40 T2 Rural (T2R) Standards 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types

G. Parking

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 
 

27

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

G. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 3 per unit 

Retail, Offices, Services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW 
 

 

Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

Front 35' min. 

Side Street 20' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

3.2.50 T2 Rural Neighborhood (T2RN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

H. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

28

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

Service or Retail Uses: 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

 
Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Drive-through facility Add  5  stacking  spaces  per 
drive-through 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table uses see 
Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 10' min. 

Side Street 15' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard 
parking setbacks are governed 
by the applicable perimeter 
buffer (see Tables 5.8.90.D and 
5.8.90.F) and any other 
required buffers. 

 
 

3.2.60 T2 Rural Center (T2RC) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

29

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Encroachments  
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 

 

Residential Uses: 

All Allowed Uses 2 per unit 

Service or Retail Uses: 

All Allowed Lodging Uses 1 per 2 rooms 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Recreation, Public 
Assembly, and Transportation, Communication, Infrastructure uses 
see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 

 

Miscellaneous 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 

3.2.70 T3 Edge (T3E) Standards 

Required Spaces 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 
Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

30

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Two-family unit (duplex) 2 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 
 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 
 

3.2.80 T3 Hamlet Neighborhood (T3HN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Miscellaneous 

31

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached   2 per unit 

Two-family (duplex)   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Offices & services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Industrial, Recreation,  
Education, Public Assembly, and Transportation, Communication,  
Infrastructure uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3.2.90 T3 Neighborhood (T3N) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

40' min. 

15' min. 

0' min. 

5' min. 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

G. Parking 

32

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

F. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

3.2.100 T4 Hamlet Center (T4HC) Standards  
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Forecourt 

Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through Facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas Station/Fuel Sales 1 per pump plus requirements 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
Stoop Shopfront1 

Terrace1 
1 Allowed in T4HC-O Sub-Zone 

only. 

 
 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking 
Space Requirements). 

 

40 spaces or less 14' max. 
 

 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 
 

 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

G. Parking 

 
Front: 5' behind front facade of main building 

Side Street: 5' behind side facade of main building 

Side: 0' min. 

Rear: 5' min. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

33

Item 12.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

3.2.110 T4 Neighborhood Center (T4NC) Standards  
 
 

 
 

 
Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of work area 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 
 

Awnings, Galleries and Arcades may encroach further into the street 
ROW to within 2' of the face of curb. Eaves may encroach up to 3' 
into the street ROW.All other encroachments are not allowed 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

 

Drive-through facility  Add 5 stacking spaces per drive-through 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement for retail 

Lodging: Inn/hotel  1 per room 

 

within street ROW. Light manufacturing, 
processing and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

Stoop Shop front 

Forecourt Terrace 

Gallery 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space 
Requirements). 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side Street 15' min.  

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min.  

Miscellaneous  
Parking Driveway Width:   

40 spaces or less 14' max. 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 
 

F. Parking 

34

Item 12.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone provides for high-quality, 
moderate-density (averaging under three dwelling units per acre) 
residential development, with denser areas of multi-family and 
mixed-use development to provide walkability and affordable 
housing options.The design requirements are intended to provide a 
suburban character and encourage pedestrian, as well as automobile, 
access. 

Open spaces shall be provided in sufficient quantity to ensure an 
open quality with a predominance of green space. Non-residential 
uses shall be limited to parcels having access to arterial or collector 
streets or within a Traditional Community Plan.This Zone provides 
for the lower densities of areas designated Neighborhood 
Mixed-Use in the Comprehensive Plan. It is intended to support the 
development of communities with a diverse range of housing types 
and uses. 

 

Single Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Institutional Buildings 35 feet above grade 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
 

 

 

Single-Family Detached  2.6 d.u./acre 

Single-Family Attached/Duplex 2.6 d.u./acre 

Multi-Family Unit 12 d.u./acre, Maximum of 80 
Dwelling units 

 

Traditional Community Plan 3.5 d.u./acre2 
 

  
Front 30' min.1 

 
 

Side: 
Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 50' min. 
 

 

1 The minimum front setback for mansion apartments in a 
Multi-family community on internal streets is 15 feet. 

 

 
Lot Size 10,890 SF min. 

 
 

Width 70' min. 
 

 
Single-Family and Duplex 10,890 SF 

 
 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

 
 

Non-residential buildings 0.18 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F) 

 
 

2 Subject to the requirements in Division 2.3 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

3.3.30 Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 
Gross Density 

Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) Floor Area Ratio 

Lot Size 

Minimum Site Area 

Note: 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

B. Building Placement 

C. Building Form 

35

Item 12.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone provides for a 
limited number of retail, service, and office uses intended to serve 
the surrounding neighborhood. 

These are smaller uses and not highway service types of uses.The 
intensity standards are set to ensure that the uses have the same 
suburban character as the surrounding suburban residential areas. 
They are intended to blend with the surrounding areas, not threaten 
the character of the area.This Zone shall not consist of strip 
developments but rather neighborhood centers with a sense of 
place. 

 

 
 

 
 

Front 20' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 15' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 5,000 SF min. 

 

Width 50' min. 

 

Single-Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 3 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Gross Density 12 d.u./acre max. 

 

Floor Area Ratio2 0.23 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2 Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 

work area 

 
 

Single-Family and Duplex 5,000 SF 
 

 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

3.3.40 Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Note: 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Minimum Site Area 

C. Building Form 

36

Item 12.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone permits a full range of 
retail, service, and office uses.The Zone's intensity accommodates 
regional and community commercial and business activities. Uses 
include large, commercial activities that serve the entire County and 
highway-oriented businesses that need to be located on major 
highways.While this use intends high-quality, commercial character, 
the setback or build-to-line, landscaping and other design 
requirements provide a uniform streetscape that makes provision 
for pedestrian and transit access.The Zone is intended to be more 
attractive than commercial areas in other counties to maintain the 
attractive tourist and business environment and have minimal impact 
on surrounding residential areas. 
The Zone is not intended to be a strip along all arterials and 
collectors. In developing areas, the minimum depth of a parcel along 
an arterial or collector shall be 600'.The minimum zone size shall be 
20 acres. In the older, built-up areas, new uses shall have depths and 
areas equal to or greater than similar uses in the area.This Zone 
shall be located in areas designated "regional commercial" in the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 
 

 

Front 25' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 15' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 15' min. 
 

 

Rear 10' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 21,780 SF min. 

 

Width 150' min. 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 

 

All Buildings 3 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Density 15.0 d.u./acre max.2 

 

Floor Area Ratio3 0.37 max. 
 

 

1Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2See Section 4.1.350 for Affordable Housing density bonuses. 
 

 

3Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per  
drive-through 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

Note: 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Services or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

3.3.50 Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

37

Item 12.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Industrial (S1) Zone permits office, manufacturing, industrial, 
warehousing, and uses that support them.The Zone shall also be 
designed to permit small businesses and incubator businesses. 
Moderate to high intensities are permitted to achieve maximum land 
utilization. Such practices will maximize the land's use and 
accommodate small businesses and start-up or incubator businesses. 

 

 
 

 

All Buildings 4 stories max.1 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 

1Not to exceed 50 feet above finished grade level 
 

 
Industrial 0.48 max. 

 
 

All Other Uses 0.37 max. 
 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses  
 

Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

Heavy manufacturing, processing  
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 
 

1 per employee at maximum  
shift plus 1 per commercial 
vehicle 

 
 

Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

D. Floor Area Ratio 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 
 

20' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 20' min. 

Rear 20' min. 

Lot Size  
Lot Size 20,000 SF min. 

Width 100' min. 

Minimum Site Area  
Industrial 20,000 SF 

Other Permitted Uses 1 acre 

 

3.3.60 Industrial (S1) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

38

Item 12.



Division 6.1: Subdivision Standards 
 

Section 6.1.40 (General Review Standards): Base Site Area is used to determine the density permitted on 
specific properties and, as such, undevelopable portions of the property are subtracted from gross site area to 
determine the maximum density allowed on any particular property. Staff recommends specifically 
addressing jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands when calculating Base Site Area in order to provide 
clear guidance on these calculations and prevent density increases based on the existence of any wetlands on 
any particular property.  
 
 

 
 

A. General. Applications for subdivisions shall be reviewed and evaluated in accordance with 
the procedures of Section 7.2.70 (Subdivision), and the standards of this Article. 

B. Subdivision Design. Block and lot layout shall meet the standards established in Article 2 
(Multi-Lot and Single Lot Community Scale Development). 

C. Civic and Open Spaces. Civic and open spaces shall meet the standards established in 
Division 2.8 (Civic and Open Space Types). 

D. Streets. New streets shall meet the standards established in Division 2.9 (Thoroughfare 
Standards). 

E. Modulation Standards. The applicant may request a modulation of some standards, see 
Section 7.2.30 (Modulation Permit), where appropriate to achieve better design that is 
consistent with the objectives of this Development Code, as long as the modulation is 
compatible with surrounding development, does not have an adverse impact on protected 
resources, and is generally consistent with the goals of this Development Code. 

F. Density and Lot Size. Maximum gross density and minimum/maximum lot size shall meet 
the standards established in Article 3 (Specific to Zones). Maximum gross density for a site 
shall be calculated using the Base Site Area. 

G. The Base Site Area shall be determined as follows: 
Gross site area as determined by actual survey: 

Minus Land separated by a road or utility right-of-way 
Minus Land separated by water and/or marsh 

Minus Land within existing roads ultimate rights-of-way 

Minus Existing natural water bodies on the property, jurisdictional and non-
jurisdictional wetlands, and land/tidal wetlands seaward of the OCRM critical line 

Minus Land previously dedicated as open space 

Equals = Base site Area 

6.1.40 General Review Standards 

39

Item 12.



Division 5.11 Resource Protection Standards 

 
Section 5.11.100.F (Tree Removal on Developed Properties): Sections 5.11.100.B – 5.11.100.E protect 
trees during new development projects by requiring Specimen trees to be preserved to the maximum extent 
practicable. When specimen trees cannot be avoided because of new development, they must be mitigated in 
one of three ways: 1) replanting trees of the same species, 2) saving existing non-specimen-size native trees 
on the property or, 3) paying into a tree mitigation fund. Staff spends a lot of time regulating these 
requirements during development, however, per Section 5.11.100.F, once a single-family home exists on a 
lot, the property owners may remove all but grand trees and trees in river buffers without a tree removal 
permit. This means that specimen trees are no longer protected under Section 5.11.100.F and trees that have 
been kept for mitigation are afforded no protections. This has enabled the act of developers saving specimen 
and non-specimen size trees during development for mitigation purposes, allowing them to avoid replanting 
or paying into a tree mitigation fund, and then cut the trees down as soon as the single-family residence is 
certified for occupancy. To correct the issue, staff recommends adopting the following amendments:  

1. Creating a time period of protection for specimen trees based on the time that has elapsed 
since the year of the home’s completed construction.  

2. Including language referencing mitigation trees as protected trees.  
3. Clarifying language regarding river buffers.  

5.11.100 Tree Protection  
 

F. Tree Removal on Developed Properties. 

1. Single-Family Residential Lots. 

a. Permit Required to Remove a Grand Tree. On any individual single-family 
residential lot with an existing dwelling unit where construction was 
completed less than five years ago, a tree removal permit is required to remove 
specimen, grand, and/or mitigation trees, see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal 
Permit). On any individual single-family residential lot with an existing 
dwelling unit where construction was completed five or more years ago, a tree 
removal permit is required to remove a grand treeand/or mitigation trees, see 
Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). A grand tree is an exceptionally large tree 
for its species that is healthy and worthy of protec- tion. It represents an 
individual tree that contributes aesthetically to the re- gion's visual "sense of 
place" and serves as a seed stock for future generations. An individual tree is 
considered a grand tree by the following size criteria: 

1) Live Oak (Quercus virginiana), Black Walnut (Juglans nigra), or Longleaf 
Pine (Pinus palustris) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 24 inches 
DBH. 

2) Loblolly Pine (Pinus taeda), Slash Pine (Pinus ellitoi), and Shortleaf Pine 
(Pinus echinata) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 36 inches 
DBH. 

3) All other species of trees, not defined above, that are equal to or greater 
than a diameter of 30 inches DBH except those identified as invasive 
species in Table 5.11.100.C. 

b. Tree Removal Permit Standards. A tree removal permit will be issued to 
remove a protected grand tree from a residential lot if the tree is dead, diseased, 
hollow, or has another condition that poses a hazard to people or structures on 
the lot or adjoining lot as determined by a certified arborist. Upon removal, the 
tree shall be replaced with one 2.5-inch minimum caliper tree of the same 
species, or a species recommended by a certified arborist and approved by 
staff. 

c. Removal of All Other Non-Protected Trees on Residential Lots. All other 
trees on a single-family residential lot with an existing dwelling may be 
removed without a permit, except for mitigation trees or treesthose within 
required river buffers, including river buffers, may be removed without a 
permit. Removal of trees within a river buffer and/or mitigation trees requires 
a tree removal permit; see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). 

40

Item 12.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 
ITEM TITLE: 

Text Amendment to the Community Development Code (CDC): Appendix A.13.50.D (Guest Houses) to clarify 
minimum lot size requirements for guest houses in the May River Community Preservation District. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Natural Resources Committee Meeting, May 2, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Merchant, AICP, Director, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning 

(10 minutes needed for item discussion) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Staff have been reviewing the Community Development Code (CDC) for necessary amendments as a result of 
the adoption of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan. During our review, staff have identified necessary major and 
minor corrections to the CDC to improve and clarify its standards. These amendments will be presented in 
several batches for consideration. This is the first batch of recommended amendments, which includes only 
minor changes. 
 
At their April 4, 2022 meeting, the Beaufort County Planning Commission voted unanimously to recommend 
approval of the proposed amendment.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Section A.13.50.D addresses guest house allowances for existing lots of record south of May River Road. As 
written, the language leaves no direction on lots greater than five acres that existed prior to the adoption of 
the May River Community Preservation district (MRCP). It only addresses lots that are two to five acres that 
existed prior to the adoption of the MRCP and lots that are five acres or more that were created after the 
adoption of the MRCP. Staff recommends removing the language referencing lot-origination dates to capture 
all property sizes south of May River Rd and provide clear guidance determining the number of guest house 
allowed for all properties in that portion of the district. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Not applicable. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

To approve or deny the proposed amendment to the Community Development Code (CDC): Appendix 
A.13.50.D (Guest Houses). 

 
 

41

Item 13.



 
ORDINANCE 2022 / __ 

  
 
TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
APPENDIX A.13.50.D (GUEST HOUSES) TO CLARIFY THE STANDARDS FOR 
MINIMUM LOT SIZE REQUIREMENTS FOR GUEST HOUSES LOCATED IN THE 
MAY RIVER COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT.  
 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Community Development Code permits Guest Houses in the May River 
Community Preservation District; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section A.13.50.D.5 of the Community Development Code provides the 

standards associated to the acreage and lot-origination date requirements which determines the 
amount of guest houses permitted on property; and   

 
WHEREAS, it is necessary for the Community Development Code to provide clear 

standards for lot sizes regardless of when they were established to achieve orderly development 
of Guest Houses in the May River Community Preservation District. 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE be it ordained by County Council in meeting duly assembled as follows: 
 
 

Adopted this ___ day of ____________ 2022. 
 
 
 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
    
 
      By: ______________________________________ 
            Joseph Passiment, Chairman       
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
Sarah W. Brock, JD, Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 

 

42

Item 13.



Division A.13: May River Community Preservation District (MRCP) 

 
A.13.50 Conditional and Special Use Standards  

 

D. Guest houses. 

1. Guest houses shall be permitted South of May River Road. 

2. A guest house shall be subordinate to the principal dwelling and be for use by 
the property owner and his/her guests only. 

3. A guest house is deemed to be a part of the main property owners compound and is 
not intended to be subdivided for other uses. They shall adhere to the front, rear, 
and side setbacks listed for the principle structure. 

4. A guest house is for use by the property owner and his/her family and guests only. 
They shall not be leased or rented, and must gain their access from the driveway 
of the principal house. 

5. Existing lLots of record that are two to five acres in size are permitted one guest 
house, not to exceed 2,000 square feet. Lots created after the adoption of the May 
River CP District that are five acres or more than five acres in size are permitted 
one or more guest houses; however, the total square footage of all guest dwellings 
(houses) may not exceed 75 percent of the square footage of the principal house. 
Furthermore, the total square footage of all guest houses (when added together) 
may not exceed 5,000 square feet. 

6. Nothing herein shall prevent the construction of a guest house prior to the 
construction of the principal dwelling. 

7. Manufactured (i.e., mobile) homes shall not be permitted to be used as guest houses. 

43

Item 13.



CDCB1 – CDC Text Amendments: Batch One    

 

TO:   Beaufort County Natural Resources Committee 

FROM:  Juliana Smith, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning Department 

DATE:  May 2, 2022 

SUBJECT:  Review of Community Development Code – Proposed Text Amendments  

STAFF REPORT: 

A. BACKGROUND: In November 2021, Beaufort County Council adopted the 2040 Comprehensive 
Plan. As a result, staff have been reviewing the Community Development Code (CDC) for necessary 
amendments. During our review, staff have identified necessary major and minor corrections to the 
CDC to improve and clarify its standards. These amendments will be presented in several batches for 
consideration. This is the first batch of recommended amendments, which includes only minor 
changes. 
 

B. SUMMARY OF REQUEST: To help navigate through the list of the first batch of recommended 
amendments, below is a summary of each of the four amendments up for consideration. More 
detailed explanations follow in the attachments, along with the amended CDC sections:  

1. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
APPENDIX A.13.50.D (GUEST HOUSES) clarifies minimum lot size requirements for 
guest houses located in the May River Community Preservation District.  

2. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.2 (TRANSECT ZONES) AND SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.3 
(CONVENTIONAL ZONES) corrects and clarifies conflicts between zoning districts and 
the Parking Space Requirements Table in Section 5.5.40.B.   

3. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 6.1.40.G (BASE SITE AREA CALCULATIONS) clarifies that both 
jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands must be subtracted from the gross site area to 
determine base site area for development. 

4. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 5.11.100.F.1 (TREE REMOVAL ON DEVELOPED PROPERTIES) closes a 
loophole which allows specimen and mitigation trees to be removed post-construction of 
single-family homes. 
 

C. STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval.  
 

D. BEAUFORT COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATIONS: At the April 4, 
2022 meeting of the Beaufort County Planning Commission, the Commission voted:  

MEMORANDUM 

44

Item 13.



CDCB1 – CDC Text Amendments: Batch One 

1. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Appendix A.13.50.D 
(Guest Houses) upon the condition that staff make an additional amendment to further 
clarify language regarding the larger (i.e. five plus acre) parcels. Staff have made the 
requested change. 

2. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC sections in Division 
3.2. (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones) to clarify parking space 
requirements.

3. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Section 6.1.40.G (Base 
Site Area Calculations) to clarify how to calculate base site area.

4. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Section 5.11.100.F.1 
(Tree Removal on Developed Properties) to close a loophole that allows specimen trees and 
mitigation trees to be removed post-construction of single-family homes.

E. ATTACHMENTS: Revised Community Development Code sections.

45

Item 13.



Division A.13: May River Community Preservation District (MRCP) 

 
Section A.13.50.D (Guest Houses): Section A.13.50.D addresses guest house allowances for existing lots 
of record south of May River Road. As written, the language leaves no direction on lots greater than five 
acres that exist prior to the adoption of the May River Community Preservation district (MRCP). It only 
addresses lots that are two to five acres that existed prior to the adoption of the MRCP and lots that are five 
acres or more that were created after the adoption of the MRCP. Staff recommends removing the language 
referencing lot-origination dates to capture all property sizes south of May River Rd and provide clear 
guidance determining the number of guest houses allowed for all properties in that portion of the district. 
 
A.13.50 Conditional and Special Use Standards  

 

D. Guest houses. 

1. Guest houses shall be permitted South of May River Road. 

2. A guest house shall be subordinate to the principal dwelling and be for use by 
the property owner and his/her guests only. 

3. A guest house is deemed to be a part of the main property owners compound and is 
not intended to be subdivided for other uses. They shall adhere to the front, rear, 
and side setbacks listed for the principle structure. 

4. A guest house is for use by the property owner and his/her family and guests only. 
They shall not be leased or rented, and must gain their access from the driveway 
of the principal house. 

5. Existing lLots of record that are two to five acres in size are permitted one guest 
house, not to exceed 2,000 square feet. Lots created after the adoption of the May 
River CP District that are five acres or more than five acres in size are permitted 
one or more guest houses; however, the total square footage of all guest dwellings 
(houses) may not exceed 75 percent of the square footage of the principal house. 
Furthermore, the total square footage of all guest houses (when added together) 
may not exceed 5,000 square feet. 

6. Nothing herein shall prevent the construction of a guest house prior to the 
construction of the principal dwelling. 

7. Manufactured (i.e., mobile) homes shall not be permitted to be used as guest houses. 

46

Item 13.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 

Sections in Division 3.2 (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones): The CDC contains parking 
space requirements in both the individual transect and conventional zone standards in Division 3.2 and 3.3 and 
in Table 5.4.40.B. Parking space requirements were included in both places in order to simplify navigation of 
the CDC for ease of interpretation. However, staff have recognized inconsistencies between Table 5.4.40.B and 
Zoning District requirements in Divisions 3.2 and 3.3. This amendment corrects conflicts by removing parking 
requirements from all Transect (except the T4 districts) and Conventional zones and replacing them with 
reference to Table 5.4.40.B. Because the T4 districts are intended to create walkable and mixed-use 
communities, staff recommends keeping specific parking allowances within the T4 district sections to reduce the 
number of required parking spaces and prevent over-parking of these districts. 

Single-Family Detached 3 per unit 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, or 
across a property line. 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 50' min. 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

3.2.40 T2 Rural (T2R) Standards 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types

G. Parking

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 
 

47

Item 13.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

G. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 3 per unit 

Retail, Offices, Services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW 
 

 

Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

Front 35' min. 

Side Street 20' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

3.2.50 T2 Rural Neighborhood (T2RN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

H. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

48

Item 13.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

Service or Retail Uses: 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

 
Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Drive-through facility Add  5  stacking  spaces  per 
drive-through 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table uses see 
Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 10' min. 

Side Street 15' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard 
parking setbacks are governed 
by the applicable perimeter 
buffer (see Tables 5.8.90.D and 
5.8.90.F) and any other 
required buffers. 

 
 

3.2.60 T2 Rural Center (T2RC) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

49

Item 13.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Encroachments  
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 

 

Residential Uses: 

All Allowed Uses 2 per unit 

Service or Retail Uses: 

All Allowed Lodging Uses 1 per 2 rooms 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Recreation, Public 
Assembly, and Transportation, Communication, Infrastructure uses 
see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 

 

Miscellaneous 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 

3.2.70 T3 Edge (T3E) Standards 

Required Spaces 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 
Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

50

Item 13.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Two-family unit (duplex) 2 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 
 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 
 

3.2.80 T3 Hamlet Neighborhood (T3HN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Miscellaneous 

51

Item 13.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached   2 per unit 

Two-family (duplex)   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Offices & services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Industrial, Recreation,  
Education, Public Assembly, and Transportation, Communication,  
Infrastructure uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3.2.90 T3 Neighborhood (T3N) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

40' min. 

15' min. 

0' min. 

5' min. 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

G. Parking 

52

Item 13.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

F. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

3.2.100 T4 Hamlet Center (T4HC) Standards  
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Forecourt 

Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through Facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas Station/Fuel Sales 1 per pump plus requirements 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
Stoop Shopfront1 

Terrace1 
1 Allowed in T4HC-O Sub-Zone 

only. 

 
 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking 
Space Requirements). 

 

40 spaces or less 14' max. 
 

 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 
 

 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

G. Parking 

 
Front: 5' behind front facade of main building 

Side Street: 5' behind side facade of main building 

Side: 0' min. 

Rear: 5' min. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

53

Item 13.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

3.2.110 T4 Neighborhood Center (T4NC) Standards  
 
 

 
 

 
Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of work area 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 
 

Awnings, Galleries and Arcades may encroach further into the street 
ROW to within 2' of the face of curb. Eaves may encroach up to 3' 
into the street ROW.All other encroachments are not allowed 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

 

Drive-through facility  Add 5 stacking spaces per drive-through 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement for retail 

Lodging: Inn/hotel  1 per room 

 

within street ROW. Light manufacturing, 
processing and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

Stoop Shop front 

Forecourt Terrace 

Gallery 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space 
Requirements). 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side Street 15' min.  

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min.  

Miscellaneous  
Parking Driveway Width:   

40 spaces or less 14' max. 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 
 

F. Parking 

54

Item 13.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone provides for high-quality, 
moderate-density (averaging under three dwelling units per acre) 
residential development, with denser areas of multi-family and 
mixed-use development to provide walkability and affordable 
housing options.The design requirements are intended to provide a 
suburban character and encourage pedestrian, as well as automobile, 
access. 

Open spaces shall be provided in sufficient quantity to ensure an 
open quality with a predominance of green space. Non-residential 
uses shall be limited to parcels having access to arterial or collector 
streets or within a Traditional Community Plan.This Zone provides 
for the lower densities of areas designated Neighborhood 
Mixed-Use in the Comprehensive Plan. It is intended to support the 
development of communities with a diverse range of housing types 
and uses. 

 

Single Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Institutional Buildings 35 feet above grade 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
 

 

 

Single-Family Detached  2.6 d.u./acre 

Single-Family Attached/Duplex 2.6 d.u./acre 

Multi-Family Unit 12 d.u./acre, Maximum of 80 
Dwelling units 

 

Traditional Community Plan 3.5 d.u./acre2 
 

  
Front 30' min.1 

 
 

Side: 
Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 50' min. 
 

 

1 The minimum front setback for mansion apartments in a 
Multi-family community on internal streets is 15 feet. 

 

 
Lot Size 10,890 SF min. 

 
 

Width 70' min. 
 

 
Single-Family and Duplex 10,890 SF 

 
 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

 
 

Non-residential buildings 0.18 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F) 

 
 

2 Subject to the requirements in Division 2.3 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

3.3.30 Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 
Gross Density 

Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) Floor Area Ratio 

Lot Size 

Minimum Site Area 

Note: 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

B. Building Placement 

C. Building Form 

55

Item 13.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone provides for a 
limited number of retail, service, and office uses intended to serve 
the surrounding neighborhood. 

These are smaller uses and not highway service types of uses.The 
intensity standards are set to ensure that the uses have the same 
suburban character as the surrounding suburban residential areas. 
They are intended to blend with the surrounding areas, not threaten 
the character of the area.This Zone shall not consist of strip 
developments but rather neighborhood centers with a sense of 
place. 

 

 
 

 
 

Front 20' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 15' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 5,000 SF min. 

 

Width 50' min. 

 

Single-Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 3 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Gross Density 12 d.u./acre max. 

 

Floor Area Ratio2 0.23 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2 Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 

work area 

 
 

Single-Family and Duplex 5,000 SF 
 

 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

3.3.40 Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Note: 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Minimum Site Area 

C. Building Form 

56

Item 13.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone permits a full range of 
retail, service, and office uses.The Zone's intensity accommodates 
regional and community commercial and business activities. Uses 
include large, commercial activities that serve the entire County and 
highway-oriented businesses that need to be located on major 
highways.While this use intends high-quality, commercial character, 
the setback or build-to-line, landscaping and other design 
requirements provide a uniform streetscape that makes provision 
for pedestrian and transit access.The Zone is intended to be more 
attractive than commercial areas in other counties to maintain the 
attractive tourist and business environment and have minimal impact 
on surrounding residential areas. 
The Zone is not intended to be a strip along all arterials and 
collectors. In developing areas, the minimum depth of a parcel along 
an arterial or collector shall be 600'.The minimum zone size shall be 
20 acres. In the older, built-up areas, new uses shall have depths and 
areas equal to or greater than similar uses in the area.This Zone 
shall be located in areas designated "regional commercial" in the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 
 

 

Front 25' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 15' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 15' min. 
 

 

Rear 10' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 21,780 SF min. 

 

Width 150' min. 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 

 

All Buildings 3 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Density 15.0 d.u./acre max.2 

 

Floor Area Ratio3 0.37 max. 
 

 

1Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2See Section 4.1.350 for Affordable Housing density bonuses. 
 

 

3Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per  
drive-through 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

Note: 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Services or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

3.3.50 Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

57

Item 13.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Industrial (S1) Zone permits office, manufacturing, industrial, 
warehousing, and uses that support them.The Zone shall also be 
designed to permit small businesses and incubator businesses. 
Moderate to high intensities are permitted to achieve maximum land 
utilization. Such practices will maximize the land's use and 
accommodate small businesses and start-up or incubator businesses. 

 

 
 

 

All Buildings 4 stories max.1 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 

1Not to exceed 50 feet above finished grade level 
 

 
Industrial 0.48 max. 

 
 

All Other Uses 0.37 max. 
 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses  
 

Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

Heavy manufacturing, processing  
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 
 

1 per employee at maximum  
shift plus 1 per commercial 
vehicle 

 
 

Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

D. Floor Area Ratio 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 
 

20' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 20' min. 

Rear 20' min. 

Lot Size  
Lot Size 20,000 SF min. 

Width 100' min. 

Minimum Site Area  
Industrial 20,000 SF 

Other Permitted Uses 1 acre 

 

3.3.60 Industrial (S1) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

58

Item 13.



Division 6.1: Subdivision Standards 
 

Section 6.1.40 (General Review Standards): Base Site Area is used to determine the density permitted on 
specific properties and, as such, undevelopable portions of the property are subtracted from gross site area to 
determine the maximum density allowed on any particular property. Staff recommends specifically 
addressing jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands when calculating Base Site Area in order to provide 
clear guidance on these calculations and prevent density increases based on the existence of any wetlands on 
any particular property.  
 
 

 
 

A. General. Applications for subdivisions shall be reviewed and evaluated in accordance with 
the procedures of Section 7.2.70 (Subdivision), and the standards of this Article. 

B. Subdivision Design. Block and lot layout shall meet the standards established in Article 2 
(Multi-Lot and Single Lot Community Scale Development). 

C. Civic and Open Spaces. Civic and open spaces shall meet the standards established in 
Division 2.8 (Civic and Open Space Types). 

D. Streets. New streets shall meet the standards established in Division 2.9 (Thoroughfare 
Standards). 

E. Modulation Standards. The applicant may request a modulation of some standards, see 
Section 7.2.30 (Modulation Permit), where appropriate to achieve better design that is 
consistent with the objectives of this Development Code, as long as the modulation is 
compatible with surrounding development, does not have an adverse impact on protected 
resources, and is generally consistent with the goals of this Development Code. 

F. Density and Lot Size. Maximum gross density and minimum/maximum lot size shall meet 
the standards established in Article 3 (Specific to Zones). Maximum gross density for a site 
shall be calculated using the Base Site Area. 

G. The Base Site Area shall be determined as follows: 
Gross site area as determined by actual survey: 

Minus Land separated by a road or utility right-of-way 
Minus Land separated by water and/or marsh 

Minus Land within existing roads ultimate rights-of-way 

Minus Existing natural water bodies on the property, jurisdictional and non-
jurisdictional wetlands, and land/tidal wetlands seaward of the OCRM critical line 

Minus Land previously dedicated as open space 

Equals = Base site Area 

6.1.40 General Review Standards 

59

Item 13.



Division 5.11 Resource Protection Standards 

 
Section 5.11.100.F (Tree Removal on Developed Properties): Sections 5.11.100.B – 5.11.100.E protect 
trees during new development projects by requiring Specimen trees to be preserved to the maximum extent 
practicable. When specimen trees cannot be avoided because of new development, they must be mitigated in 
one of three ways: 1) replanting trees of the same species, 2) saving existing non-specimen-size native trees 
on the property or, 3) paying into a tree mitigation fund. Staff spends a lot of time regulating these 
requirements during development, however, per Section 5.11.100.F, once a single-family home exists on a 
lot, the property owners may remove all but grand trees and trees in river buffers without a tree removal 
permit. This means that specimen trees are no longer protected under Section 5.11.100.F and trees that have 
been kept for mitigation are afforded no protections. This has enabled the act of developers saving specimen 
and non-specimen size trees during development for mitigation purposes, allowing them to avoid replanting 
or paying into a tree mitigation fund, and then cut the trees down as soon as the single-family residence is 
certified for occupancy. To correct the issue, staff recommends adopting the following amendments:  

1. Creating a time period of protection for specimen trees based on the time that has elapsed 
since the year of the home’s completed construction.  

2. Including language referencing mitigation trees as protected trees.  
3. Clarifying language regarding river buffers.  

5.11.100 Tree Protection  
 

F. Tree Removal on Developed Properties. 

1. Single-Family Residential Lots. 

a. Permit Required to Remove a Grand Tree. On any individual single-family 
residential lot with an existing dwelling unit where construction was 
completed less than five years ago, a tree removal permit is required to remove 
specimen, grand, and/or mitigation trees, see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal 
Permit). On any individual single-family residential lot with an existing 
dwelling unit where construction was completed five or more years ago, a tree 
removal permit is required to remove a grand treeand/or mitigation trees, see 
Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). A grand tree is an exceptionally large tree 
for its species that is healthy and worthy of protec- tion. It represents an 
individual tree that contributes aesthetically to the re- gion's visual "sense of 
place" and serves as a seed stock for future generations. An individual tree is 
considered a grand tree by the following size criteria: 

1) Live Oak (Quercus virginiana), Black Walnut (Juglans nigra), or Longleaf 
Pine (Pinus palustris) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 24 inches 
DBH. 

2) Loblolly Pine (Pinus taeda), Slash Pine (Pinus ellitoi), and Shortleaf Pine 
(Pinus echinata) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 36 inches 
DBH. 

3) All other species of trees, not defined above, that are equal to or greater 
than a diameter of 30 inches DBH except those identified as invasive 
species in Table 5.11.100.C. 

b. Tree Removal Permit Standards. A tree removal permit will be issued to 
remove a protected grand tree from a residential lot if the tree is dead, diseased, 
hollow, or has another condition that poses a hazard to people or structures on 
the lot or adjoining lot as determined by a certified arborist. Upon removal, the 
tree shall be replaced with one 2.5-inch minimum caliper tree of the same 
species, or a species recommended by a certified arborist and approved by 
staff. 

c. Removal of All Other Non-Protected Trees on Residential Lots. All other 
trees on a single-family residential lot with an existing dwelling may be 
removed without a permit, except for mitigation trees or treesthose within 
required river buffers, including river buffers, may be removed without a 
permit. Removal of trees within a river buffer and/or mitigation trees requires 
a tree removal permit; see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). 

60

Item 13.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 
ITEM TITLE: 

Text Amendment to the Community Development Code (CDC): Section 6.1.40.G (Base Site Area Calculations) 
to clarify that both jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands must be subtracted from the gross site area 
to determine base site area for development. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Natural Resources Committee Meeting, May 2, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Merchant, AICP, Director, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning 

(10 minutes needed for item discussion) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Staff have been reviewing the Community Development Code (CDC) for necessary amendments as a result of 
the adoption of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan. During our review, staff have identified necessary major and 
minor corrections to the CDC to improve and clarify its standards. These amendments will be presented in 
several batches for consideration. This is the first batch of recommended amendments, which includes only 
minor changes. 
 
At their April 4, 2022 meeting, the Beaufort County Planning Commission voted unanimously to recommend 
approval of the proposed amendment.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Base Site Area is used to determine the density permitted on specific properties and, as such, undevelopable 
portions of the property are subtracted from gross site area to determine the maximum density allowed on 
any particular property. Staff recommends specifically addressing jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional 
wetlands when calculating Base Site Area in order to provide clear guidance on these calculations and prevent 
density increases based on the existence of any wetlands on any particular property. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Not applicable. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

To approve or deny the proposed amendment to the Community Development Code (CDC): Section 6.1.40.G 
(Base Site Area Calculations). 

 
 

61

Item 14.



 
ORDINANCE 2022 / __ 

  
 
TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 6.1.40.G (BASE SITE AREA CALCULATIONS) TO CLARIFY THAT BOTH 
JURISDICTIONAL AND NON-JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS MUST BE 
SUBTRACTED FROM THE GROSS SITE AREA TO DETERMINE BASE SITE AREA 
FOR DEVELOPMENT. 
 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Community Development Code requires certain features to be removed 
from Gross Site Area to establish the Base Site Area for development density calculations; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6.1.40.G of the Community Development Code provides the 

standards for determining Base Site Area; and  
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary for the Community Development Code to provide clear 

guidance that both jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands are included in the calculation 
to determine Base Site Area. 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE be it ordained by County Council in meeting duly assembled as follows: 
 
   

Adopted this ___ day of ____________ 2022. 
 
 
 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
    
 
      By: ______________________________________ 
            Joseph Passiment, Chairman       
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
Sarah W. Brock, JD, Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 

 

62

Item 14.



Division 6.1: Subdivision Standards 
 

 
 

A. General. Applications for subdivisions shall be reviewed and evaluated in accordance with 
the procedures of Section 7.2.70 (Subdivision), and the standards of this Article. 

B. Subdivision Design. Block and lot layout shall meet the standards established in Article 2 
(Multi-Lot and Single Lot Community Scale Development). 

C. Civic and Open Spaces. Civic and open spaces shall meet the standards established in 
Division 2.8 (Civic and Open Space Types). 

D. Streets. New streets shall meet the standards established in Division 2.9 (Thoroughfare 
Standards). 

E. Modulation Standards. The applicant may request a modulation of some standards, see 
Section 7.2.30 (Modulation Permit), where appropriate to achieve better design that is 
consistent with the objectives of this Development Code, as long as the modulation is 
compatible with surrounding development, does not have an adverse impact on protected 
resources, and is generally consistent with the goals of this Development Code. 

F. Density and Lot Size. Maximum gross density and minimum/maximum lot size shall meet 
the standards established in Article 3 (Specific to Zones). Maximum gross density for a site 
shall be calculated using the Base Site Area. 

G. The Base Site Area shall be determined as follows: 
Gross site area as determined by actual survey: 

Minus Land separated by a road or utility right-of-way 
Minus Land separated by water and/or marsh 

Minus Land within existing roads ultimate rights-of-way 

Minus Existing natural water bodies on the property, jurisdictional and non-
jurisdictional wetlands, and land/tidal wetlands seaward of the OCRM critical line 

Minus Land previously dedicated as open space 

Equals = Base site Area 

6.1.40 General Review Standards 

63

Item 14.



CDCB1 – CDC Text Amendments: Batch One    

 

TO:   Beaufort County Natural Resources Committee 

FROM:  Juliana Smith, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning Department 

DATE:  May 2, 2022 

SUBJECT:  Review of Community Development Code – Proposed Text Amendments  

STAFF REPORT: 

A. BACKGROUND: In November 2021, Beaufort County Council adopted the 2040 Comprehensive 
Plan. As a result, staff have been reviewing the Community Development Code (CDC) for necessary 
amendments. During our review, staff have identified necessary major and minor corrections to the 
CDC to improve and clarify its standards. These amendments will be presented in several batches for 
consideration. This is the first batch of recommended amendments, which includes only minor 
changes. 
 

B. SUMMARY OF REQUEST: To help navigate through the list of the first batch of recommended 
amendments, below is a summary of each of the four amendments up for consideration. More 
detailed explanations follow in the attachments, along with the amended CDC sections:  

1. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
APPENDIX A.13.50.D (GUEST HOUSES) clarifies minimum lot size requirements for 
guest houses located in the May River Community Preservation District.  

2. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.2 (TRANSECT ZONES) AND SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.3 
(CONVENTIONAL ZONES) corrects and clarifies conflicts between zoning districts and 
the Parking Space Requirements Table in Section 5.5.40.B.   

3. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 6.1.40.G (BASE SITE AREA CALCULATIONS) clarifies that both 
jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands must be subtracted from the gross site area to 
determine base site area for development. 

4. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 5.11.100.F.1 (TREE REMOVAL ON DEVELOPED PROPERTIES) closes a 
loophole which allows specimen and mitigation trees to be removed post-construction of 
single-family homes. 
 

C. STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval.  
 

D. BEAUFORT COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATIONS: At the April 4, 
2022 meeting of the Beaufort County Planning Commission, the Commission voted:  

MEMORANDUM 

64

Item 14.



CDCB1 – CDC Text Amendments: Batch One 

1. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Appendix A.13.50.D 
(Guest Houses) upon the condition that staff make an additional amendment to further 
clarify language regarding the larger (i.e. five plus acre) parcels. Staff have made the 
requested change. 

2. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC sections in Division 
3.2. (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones) to clarify parking space 
requirements.

3. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Section 6.1.40.G (Base 
Site Area Calculations) to clarify how to calculate base site area.

4. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Section 5.11.100.F.1 
(Tree Removal on Developed Properties) to close a loophole that allows specimen trees and 
mitigation trees to be removed post-construction of single-family homes.

E. ATTACHMENTS: Revised Community Development Code sections.

65

Item 14.



Division A.13: May River Community Preservation District (MRCP) 

 
Section A.13.50.D (Guest Houses): Section A.13.50.D addresses guest house allowances for existing lots 
of record south of May River Road. As written, the language leaves no direction on lots greater than five 
acres that exist prior to the adoption of the May River Community Preservation district (MRCP). It only 
addresses lots that are two to five acres that existed prior to the adoption of the MRCP and lots that are five 
acres or more that were created after the adoption of the MRCP. Staff recommends removing the language 
referencing lot-origination dates to capture all property sizes south of May River Rd and provide clear 
guidance determining the number of guest houses allowed for all properties in that portion of the district. 
 
A.13.50 Conditional and Special Use Standards  

 

D. Guest houses. 

1. Guest houses shall be permitted South of May River Road. 

2. A guest house shall be subordinate to the principal dwelling and be for use by 
the property owner and his/her guests only. 

3. A guest house is deemed to be a part of the main property owners compound and is 
not intended to be subdivided for other uses. They shall adhere to the front, rear, 
and side setbacks listed for the principle structure. 

4. A guest house is for use by the property owner and his/her family and guests only. 
They shall not be leased or rented, and must gain their access from the driveway 
of the principal house. 

5. Existing lLots of record that are two to five acres in size are permitted one guest 
house, not to exceed 2,000 square feet. Lots created after the adoption of the May 
River CP District that are five acres or more than five acres in size are permitted 
one or more guest houses; however, the total square footage of all guest dwellings 
(houses) may not exceed 75 percent of the square footage of the principal house. 
Furthermore, the total square footage of all guest houses (when added together) 
may not exceed 5,000 square feet. 

6. Nothing herein shall prevent the construction of a guest house prior to the 
construction of the principal dwelling. 

7. Manufactured (i.e., mobile) homes shall not be permitted to be used as guest houses. 

66

Item 14.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 

Sections in Division 3.2 (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones): The CDC contains parking 
space requirements in both the individual transect and conventional zone standards in Division 3.2 and 3.3 and 
in Table 5.4.40.B. Parking space requirements were included in both places in order to simplify navigation of 
the CDC for ease of interpretation. However, staff have recognized inconsistencies between Table 5.4.40.B and 
Zoning District requirements in Divisions 3.2 and 3.3. This amendment corrects conflicts by removing parking 
requirements from all Transect (except the T4 districts) and Conventional zones and replacing them with 
reference to Table 5.4.40.B. Because the T4 districts are intended to create walkable and mixed-use 
communities, staff recommends keeping specific parking allowances within the T4 district sections to reduce the 
number of required parking spaces and prevent over-parking of these districts. 

Single-Family Detached 3 per unit 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, or 
across a property line. 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 50' min. 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

3.2.40 T2 Rural (T2R) Standards 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types

G. Parking

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 
 

67

Item 14.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

G. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 3 per unit 

Retail, Offices, Services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW 
 

 

Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

Front 35' min. 

Side Street 20' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

3.2.50 T2 Rural Neighborhood (T2RN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

H. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

68

Item 14.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

Service or Retail Uses: 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

 
Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Drive-through facility Add  5  stacking  spaces  per 
drive-through 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table uses see 
Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 10' min. 

Side Street 15' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard 
parking setbacks are governed 
by the applicable perimeter 
buffer (see Tables 5.8.90.D and 
5.8.90.F) and any other 
required buffers. 

 
 

3.2.60 T2 Rural Center (T2RC) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

69

Item 14.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Encroachments  
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 

 

Residential Uses: 

All Allowed Uses 2 per unit 

Service or Retail Uses: 

All Allowed Lodging Uses 1 per 2 rooms 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Recreation, Public 
Assembly, and Transportation, Communication, Infrastructure uses 
see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 

 

Miscellaneous 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 

3.2.70 T3 Edge (T3E) Standards 

Required Spaces 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 
Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

70

Item 14.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Two-family unit (duplex) 2 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 
 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 
 

3.2.80 T3 Hamlet Neighborhood (T3HN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Miscellaneous 

71

Item 14.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached   2 per unit 

Two-family (duplex)   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Offices & services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Industrial, Recreation,  
Education, Public Assembly, and Transportation, Communication,  
Infrastructure uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3.2.90 T3 Neighborhood (T3N) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

40' min. 

15' min. 

0' min. 

5' min. 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

G. Parking 

72

Item 14.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

F. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

3.2.100 T4 Hamlet Center (T4HC) Standards  
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Forecourt 

Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through Facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas Station/Fuel Sales 1 per pump plus requirements 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
Stoop Shopfront1 

Terrace1 
1 Allowed in T4HC-O Sub-Zone 

only. 

 
 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking 
Space Requirements). 

 

40 spaces or less 14' max. 
 

 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 
 

 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

G. Parking 

 
Front: 5' behind front facade of main building 

Side Street: 5' behind side facade of main building 

Side: 0' min. 

Rear: 5' min. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

73

Item 14.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

3.2.110 T4 Neighborhood Center (T4NC) Standards  
 
 

 
 

 
Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of work area 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 
 

Awnings, Galleries and Arcades may encroach further into the street 
ROW to within 2' of the face of curb. Eaves may encroach up to 3' 
into the street ROW.All other encroachments are not allowed 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

 

Drive-through facility  Add 5 stacking spaces per drive-through 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement for retail 

Lodging: Inn/hotel  1 per room 

 

within street ROW. Light manufacturing, 
processing and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

Stoop Shop front 

Forecourt Terrace 

Gallery 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space 
Requirements). 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side Street 15' min.  

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min.  

Miscellaneous  
Parking Driveway Width:   

40 spaces or less 14' max. 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 
 

F. Parking 

74

Item 14.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone provides for high-quality, 
moderate-density (averaging under three dwelling units per acre) 
residential development, with denser areas of multi-family and 
mixed-use development to provide walkability and affordable 
housing options.The design requirements are intended to provide a 
suburban character and encourage pedestrian, as well as automobile, 
access. 

Open spaces shall be provided in sufficient quantity to ensure an 
open quality with a predominance of green space. Non-residential 
uses shall be limited to parcels having access to arterial or collector 
streets or within a Traditional Community Plan.This Zone provides 
for the lower densities of areas designated Neighborhood 
Mixed-Use in the Comprehensive Plan. It is intended to support the 
development of communities with a diverse range of housing types 
and uses. 

 

Single Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Institutional Buildings 35 feet above grade 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
 

 

 

Single-Family Detached  2.6 d.u./acre 

Single-Family Attached/Duplex 2.6 d.u./acre 

Multi-Family Unit 12 d.u./acre, Maximum of 80 
Dwelling units 

 

Traditional Community Plan 3.5 d.u./acre2 
 

  
Front 30' min.1 

 
 

Side: 
Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 50' min. 
 

 

1 The minimum front setback for mansion apartments in a 
Multi-family community on internal streets is 15 feet. 

 

 
Lot Size 10,890 SF min. 

 
 

Width 70' min. 
 

 
Single-Family and Duplex 10,890 SF 

 
 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

 
 

Non-residential buildings 0.18 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F) 

 
 

2 Subject to the requirements in Division 2.3 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

3.3.30 Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 
Gross Density 

Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) Floor Area Ratio 

Lot Size 

Minimum Site Area 

Note: 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

B. Building Placement 

C. Building Form 

75

Item 14.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone provides for a 
limited number of retail, service, and office uses intended to serve 
the surrounding neighborhood. 

These are smaller uses and not highway service types of uses.The 
intensity standards are set to ensure that the uses have the same 
suburban character as the surrounding suburban residential areas. 
They are intended to blend with the surrounding areas, not threaten 
the character of the area.This Zone shall not consist of strip 
developments but rather neighborhood centers with a sense of 
place. 

 

 
 

 
 

Front 20' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 15' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 5,000 SF min. 

 

Width 50' min. 

 

Single-Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 3 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Gross Density 12 d.u./acre max. 

 

Floor Area Ratio2 0.23 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2 Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 

work area 

 
 

Single-Family and Duplex 5,000 SF 
 

 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

3.3.40 Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Note: 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Minimum Site Area 

C. Building Form 

76

Item 14.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone permits a full range of 
retail, service, and office uses.The Zone's intensity accommodates 
regional and community commercial and business activities. Uses 
include large, commercial activities that serve the entire County and 
highway-oriented businesses that need to be located on major 
highways.While this use intends high-quality, commercial character, 
the setback or build-to-line, landscaping and other design 
requirements provide a uniform streetscape that makes provision 
for pedestrian and transit access.The Zone is intended to be more 
attractive than commercial areas in other counties to maintain the 
attractive tourist and business environment and have minimal impact 
on surrounding residential areas. 
The Zone is not intended to be a strip along all arterials and 
collectors. In developing areas, the minimum depth of a parcel along 
an arterial or collector shall be 600'.The minimum zone size shall be 
20 acres. In the older, built-up areas, new uses shall have depths and 
areas equal to or greater than similar uses in the area.This Zone 
shall be located in areas designated "regional commercial" in the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 
 

 

Front 25' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 15' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 15' min. 
 

 

Rear 10' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 21,780 SF min. 

 

Width 150' min. 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 

 

All Buildings 3 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Density 15.0 d.u./acre max.2 

 

Floor Area Ratio3 0.37 max. 
 

 

1Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2See Section 4.1.350 for Affordable Housing density bonuses. 
 

 

3Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per  
drive-through 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

Note: 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Services or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

3.3.50 Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

77

Item 14.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Industrial (S1) Zone permits office, manufacturing, industrial, 
warehousing, and uses that support them.The Zone shall also be 
designed to permit small businesses and incubator businesses. 
Moderate to high intensities are permitted to achieve maximum land 
utilization. Such practices will maximize the land's use and 
accommodate small businesses and start-up or incubator businesses. 

 

 
 

 

All Buildings 4 stories max.1 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 

1Not to exceed 50 feet above finished grade level 
 

 
Industrial 0.48 max. 

 
 

All Other Uses 0.37 max. 
 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses  
 

Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

Heavy manufacturing, processing  
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 
 

1 per employee at maximum  
shift plus 1 per commercial 
vehicle 

 
 

Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

D. Floor Area Ratio 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 
 

20' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 20' min. 

Rear 20' min. 

Lot Size  
Lot Size 20,000 SF min. 

Width 100' min. 

Minimum Site Area  
Industrial 20,000 SF 

Other Permitted Uses 1 acre 

 

3.3.60 Industrial (S1) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

78

Item 14.



Division 6.1: Subdivision Standards 
 

Section 6.1.40 (General Review Standards): Base Site Area is used to determine the density permitted on 
specific properties and, as such, undevelopable portions of the property are subtracted from gross site area to 
determine the maximum density allowed on any particular property. Staff recommends specifically 
addressing jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands when calculating Base Site Area in order to provide 
clear guidance on these calculations and prevent density increases based on the existence of any wetlands on 
any particular property.  
 
 

 
 

A. General. Applications for subdivisions shall be reviewed and evaluated in accordance with 
the procedures of Section 7.2.70 (Subdivision), and the standards of this Article. 

B. Subdivision Design. Block and lot layout shall meet the standards established in Article 2 
(Multi-Lot and Single Lot Community Scale Development). 

C. Civic and Open Spaces. Civic and open spaces shall meet the standards established in 
Division 2.8 (Civic and Open Space Types). 

D. Streets. New streets shall meet the standards established in Division 2.9 (Thoroughfare 
Standards). 

E. Modulation Standards. The applicant may request a modulation of some standards, see 
Section 7.2.30 (Modulation Permit), where appropriate to achieve better design that is 
consistent with the objectives of this Development Code, as long as the modulation is 
compatible with surrounding development, does not have an adverse impact on protected 
resources, and is generally consistent with the goals of this Development Code. 

F. Density and Lot Size. Maximum gross density and minimum/maximum lot size shall meet 
the standards established in Article 3 (Specific to Zones). Maximum gross density for a site 
shall be calculated using the Base Site Area. 

G. The Base Site Area shall be determined as follows: 
Gross site area as determined by actual survey: 

Minus Land separated by a road or utility right-of-way 
Minus Land separated by water and/or marsh 

Minus Land within existing roads ultimate rights-of-way 

Minus Existing natural water bodies on the property, jurisdictional and non-
jurisdictional wetlands, and land/tidal wetlands seaward of the OCRM critical line 

Minus Land previously dedicated as open space 

Equals = Base site Area 

6.1.40 General Review Standards 

79

Item 14.



Division 5.11 Resource Protection Standards 

 
Section 5.11.100.F (Tree Removal on Developed Properties): Sections 5.11.100.B – 5.11.100.E protect 
trees during new development projects by requiring Specimen trees to be preserved to the maximum extent 
practicable. When specimen trees cannot be avoided because of new development, they must be mitigated in 
one of three ways: 1) replanting trees of the same species, 2) saving existing non-specimen-size native trees 
on the property or, 3) paying into a tree mitigation fund. Staff spends a lot of time regulating these 
requirements during development, however, per Section 5.11.100.F, once a single-family home exists on a 
lot, the property owners may remove all but grand trees and trees in river buffers without a tree removal 
permit. This means that specimen trees are no longer protected under Section 5.11.100.F and trees that have 
been kept for mitigation are afforded no protections. This has enabled the act of developers saving specimen 
and non-specimen size trees during development for mitigation purposes, allowing them to avoid replanting 
or paying into a tree mitigation fund, and then cut the trees down as soon as the single-family residence is 
certified for occupancy. To correct the issue, staff recommends adopting the following amendments:  

1. Creating a time period of protection for specimen trees based on the time that has elapsed 
since the year of the home’s completed construction.  

2. Including language referencing mitigation trees as protected trees.  
3. Clarifying language regarding river buffers.  

5.11.100 Tree Protection  
 

F. Tree Removal on Developed Properties. 

1. Single-Family Residential Lots. 

a. Permit Required to Remove a Grand Tree. On any individual single-family 
residential lot with an existing dwelling unit where construction was 
completed less than five years ago, a tree removal permit is required to remove 
specimen, grand, and/or mitigation trees, see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal 
Permit). On any individual single-family residential lot with an existing 
dwelling unit where construction was completed five or more years ago, a tree 
removal permit is required to remove a grand treeand/or mitigation trees, see 
Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). A grand tree is an exceptionally large tree 
for its species that is healthy and worthy of protec- tion. It represents an 
individual tree that contributes aesthetically to the re- gion's visual "sense of 
place" and serves as a seed stock for future generations. An individual tree is 
considered a grand tree by the following size criteria: 

1) Live Oak (Quercus virginiana), Black Walnut (Juglans nigra), or Longleaf 
Pine (Pinus palustris) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 24 inches 
DBH. 

2) Loblolly Pine (Pinus taeda), Slash Pine (Pinus ellitoi), and Shortleaf Pine 
(Pinus echinata) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 36 inches 
DBH. 

3) All other species of trees, not defined above, that are equal to or greater 
than a diameter of 30 inches DBH except those identified as invasive 
species in Table 5.11.100.C. 

b. Tree Removal Permit Standards. A tree removal permit will be issued to 
remove a protected grand tree from a residential lot if the tree is dead, diseased, 
hollow, or has another condition that poses a hazard to people or structures on 
the lot or adjoining lot as determined by a certified arborist. Upon removal, the 
tree shall be replaced with one 2.5-inch minimum caliper tree of the same 
species, or a species recommended by a certified arborist and approved by 
staff. 

c. Removal of All Other Non-Protected Trees on Residential Lots. All other 
trees on a single-family residential lot with an existing dwelling may be 
removed without a permit, except for mitigation trees or treesthose within 
required river buffers, including river buffers, may be removed without a 
permit. Removal of trees within a river buffer and/or mitigation trees requires 
a tree removal permit; see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). 

80

Item 14.



The document(s) herein were provided to Council for 
information and/or discussion after release of the official 

agenda and backup items.  

81

Item 14.



 

 
 

May 23, 2022 
 
Beaufort County Council 
100 Ribaut Rd 
Beaufort, SC 29902 
 

Re: Agenda items 14 & 15, Community Development Code (CDC) Text Amendments,  
Sections 6.1.40.G & 5.11.100.F.1 

 
Chairman Passiment and Council Members, 
 

On behalf of the Coastal Conservation League, it is my pleasure to submit comment in support 
of the proposed CDC text amendments to to clarify that all wetlands must be subtracted from the 
developable area of a site and to strengthen Beaufort County’s tree protection requirements.   

 
 We agree with planning staff’s recommendations regarding both text amendments and 
commend staff for bringing these matters forward. Strengthening the County’s natural resource 
protection standards, particularly protections for mature and specimen trees in connection with 
development, is a clearly identified strategic goal of the recently adopted 2040 Comprehensive Plan.1  
 
 Trees are both an environmental and economic resource, contributing to Beaufort County’s 
sense of place and performing valuable ecological functions that benefit the local community. Mature 
trees effectively reduce soil erosion and stormwater runoff, naturally remove pollutants from the air and 
water, counteracting the “heat island” effect of development and lowering temperatures, contribute to 
critical wildlife habitat and diversity, and lead to higher property values and quality of life.  

 
Beaufort County has historically spearheaded efforts to conserve its natural resources. The 

proposed revisions to the CDC further the county’s strong track record, and will ensure environmental 
protection standards are consistently and uniformly applied to preserve Beaufort County’s ecosystem 
services, strong sense of place, and community quality of life.  

 
Thank you for your consideration and leadership. 

 
Respectfully, 
 
Jessie White 
South Coast Office Director 
843.522.1800 | jesssiew@scccl.org  

 
1 Envision Beaufort County 2040 Comprehensive Plan (pp. 22-23), 
https://www.beaufortcountysc.gov/council/comprehensive-plan/2040_CompPlan_Adopted.pdf.  

82

Item 14.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 
ITEM TITLE: 

Text Amendment to the Community Development Code (CDC): Section 5.11.100.F.1 (Tree Removal on 
Developed Properties) to close a loophole which allows specimen and mitigation trees to be removed post-
construction of single-family homes. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Natural Resources Committee Meeting, May 2, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Merchant, AICP, Director, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning 

(10 minutes needed for item discussion) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Staff have been reviewing the Community Development Code (CDC) for necessary amendments as a result of 
the adoption of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan. During our review, staff have identified necessary major and 
minor corrections to the CDC to improve and clarify its standards. These amendments will be presented in 
several batches for consideration. This is the first batch of recommended amendments, which includes only 
minor changes. 
 
At their April 4, 2022 meeting, the Beaufort County Planning Commission voted unanimously to recommend 
approval of the proposed amendment.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Sections 5.11.100.B – 5.11.100.E protect trees during new development projects by requiring Specimen trees 
to be preserved to the maximum extent practicable. When specimen trees cannot be avoided because of new 
development, they must be mitigated in one of three ways: 1) replanting trees of the same species, 2) saving 
existing non-specimen-size native trees on the property or, 3) paying into a tree mitigation fund. Staff spends 
a lot of time regulating these requirements during development, however, per Section 5.11.100.F, once a 
single-family home exists on a lot, the property owners may remove all but grand trees and trees in river 
buffers without a tree removal permit. This means that specimen trees are no longer protected under Section 
5.11.100.F and trees that have been kept for mitigation are afforded no protections. This has enabled the act 
of developers saving specimen and non-specimen size trees during development for mitigation purposes, 
allowing them to avoid replanting or paying into a tree mitigation fund, and then cut the trees down as soon 
as the single-family residence is certified for occupancy. The proposed amendments close this loophole.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Not applicable. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

To approve or deny the proposed amendment to the Community Development Code (CDC): Section 
5.11.100.F.1 (Tree Removal on Developed Properties). 

83

Item 15.



 
ORDINANCE 2022 / __ 

  
 
TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 5.11.100.F.1 (TREE REMOVAL ON DEVELOPED PROPERTIES) TO CLOSE 
A LOOPHOLE WHICH ALLOWS SPECIMEN AND MITIGATION TREES TO BE 
REMOVED POST-CONSTRUCTION OF SINGLE-FAMILY HOMES. 
 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Community Development Code provides different guidance for tree 
protection during the development of property compared to tree protection for property that has 
already been developed; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 5.11.100.F (Tree Removal on Developed Properties) only protects 

Grand Trees but does not protect specimen or mitigation trees that are protected during the 
development of property; and  

 
WHEREAS, it is necessary for the Community Development Code to provide additional 

tree protection standards for developed properties to achieve the desired results of tree protection 
and provide clear guidance to the development community.  

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE be it ordained by County Council in meeting duly assembled as follows: 
 
   

Adopted this ___ day of ____________ 2022. 
 
 
 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
    
 
      By: ______________________________________ 
            Joseph Passiment, Chairman       
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
Sarah W. Brock, JD, Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 

 

84

Item 15.



Division 5.11 Resource Protection Standards 

5.11.100 Tree Protection  
 

F. Tree Removal on Developed Properties. 

1. Single-Family Residential Lots. 

a. Permit Required to Remove a Grand Tree. On any individual single-family 
residential lot with an existing dwelling unit where construction was 
completed less than five years ago, a tree removal permit is required to remove 
specimen, grand, and/or mitigation trees, see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal 
Permit). On any individual single-family residential lot with an existing 
dwelling unit where construction was completed five or more years ago, a tree 
removal permit is required to remove a grand treeand/or mitigation trees, see 
Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). A grand tree is an exceptionally large tree 
for its species that is healthy and worthy of protec- tion. It represents an 
individual tree that contributes aesthetically to the re- gion's visual "sense of 
place" and serves as a seed stock for future generations. An individual tree is 
considered a grand tree by the following size criteria: 

1) Live Oak (Quercus virginiana), Black Walnut (Juglans nigra), or Longleaf 
Pine (Pinus palustris) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 24 inches 
DBH. 

2) Loblolly Pine (Pinus taeda), Slash Pine (Pinus ellitoi), and Shortleaf Pine 
(Pinus echinata) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 36 inches 
DBH. 

3) All other species of trees, not defined above, that are equal to or greater 
than a diameter of 30 inches DBH except those identified as invasive 
species in Table 5.11.100.C. 

b. Tree Removal Permit Standards. A tree removal permit will be issued to 
remove a protected grand tree from a residential lot if the tree is dead, diseased, 
hollow, or has another condition that poses a hazard to people or structures on 
the lot or adjoining lot as determined by a certified arborist. Upon removal, the 
tree shall be replaced with one 2.5-inch minimum caliper tree of the same 
species, or a species recommended by a certified arborist and approved by 
staff. 

c. Removal of All Other Non-Protected Trees on Residential Lots. All other 
trees on a single-family residential lot with an existing dwelling may be 
removed without a permit, except for mitigation trees or treesthose within 
required river buffers, including river buffers, may be removed without a 
permit. Removal of trees within a river buffer and/or mitigation trees requires 
a tree removal permit; see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). 

85

Item 15.



CDCB1 – CDC Text Amendments: Batch One    

 

TO:   Beaufort County Natural Resources Committee 

FROM:  Juliana Smith, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning Department 

DATE:  May 2, 2022 

SUBJECT:  Review of Community Development Code – Proposed Text Amendments  

STAFF REPORT: 

A. BACKGROUND: In November 2021, Beaufort County Council adopted the 2040 Comprehensive 
Plan. As a result, staff have been reviewing the Community Development Code (CDC) for necessary 
amendments. During our review, staff have identified necessary major and minor corrections to the 
CDC to improve and clarify its standards. These amendments will be presented in several batches for 
consideration. This is the first batch of recommended amendments, which includes only minor 
changes. 
 

B. SUMMARY OF REQUEST: To help navigate through the list of the first batch of recommended 
amendments, below is a summary of each of the four amendments up for consideration. More 
detailed explanations follow in the attachments, along with the amended CDC sections:  

1. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
APPENDIX A.13.50.D (GUEST HOUSES) clarifies minimum lot size requirements for 
guest houses located in the May River Community Preservation District.  

2. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.2 (TRANSECT ZONES) AND SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.3 
(CONVENTIONAL ZONES) corrects and clarifies conflicts between zoning districts and 
the Parking Space Requirements Table in Section 5.5.40.B.   

3. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 6.1.40.G (BASE SITE AREA CALCULATIONS) clarifies that both 
jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands must be subtracted from the gross site area to 
determine base site area for development. 

4. TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION 5.11.100.F.1 (TREE REMOVAL ON DEVELOPED PROPERTIES) closes a 
loophole which allows specimen and mitigation trees to be removed post-construction of 
single-family homes. 
 

C. STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval.  
 

D. BEAUFORT COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATIONS: At the April 4, 
2022 meeting of the Beaufort County Planning Commission, the Commission voted:  

MEMORANDUM 

86

Item 15.



CDCB1 – CDC Text Amendments: Batch One 

1. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Appendix A.13.50.D 
(Guest Houses) upon the condition that staff make an additional amendment to further 
clarify language regarding the larger (i.e. five plus acre) parcels. Staff have made the 
requested change. 

2. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC sections in Division 
3.2. (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones) to clarify parking space 
requirements.

3. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Section 6.1.40.G (Base 
Site Area Calculations) to clarify how to calculate base site area.

4. Unanimously to recommend approval of the text amendment to CDC Section 5.11.100.F.1 
(Tree Removal on Developed Properties) to close a loophole that allows specimen trees and 
mitigation trees to be removed post-construction of single-family homes.

E. ATTACHMENTS: Revised Community Development Code sections.

87

Item 15.



Division A.13: May River Community Preservation District (MRCP) 

 
Section A.13.50.D (Guest Houses): Section A.13.50.D addresses guest house allowances for existing lots 
of record south of May River Road. As written, the language leaves no direction on lots greater than five 
acres that exist prior to the adoption of the May River Community Preservation district (MRCP). It only 
addresses lots that are two to five acres that existed prior to the adoption of the MRCP and lots that are five 
acres or more that were created after the adoption of the MRCP. Staff recommends removing the language 
referencing lot-origination dates to capture all property sizes south of May River Rd and provide clear 
guidance determining the number of guest houses allowed for all properties in that portion of the district. 
 
A.13.50 Conditional and Special Use Standards  

 

D. Guest houses. 

1. Guest houses shall be permitted South of May River Road. 

2. A guest house shall be subordinate to the principal dwelling and be for use by 
the property owner and his/her guests only. 

3. A guest house is deemed to be a part of the main property owners compound and is 
not intended to be subdivided for other uses. They shall adhere to the front, rear, 
and side setbacks listed for the principle structure. 

4. A guest house is for use by the property owner and his/her family and guests only. 
They shall not be leased or rented, and must gain their access from the driveway 
of the principal house. 

5. Existing lLots of record that are two to five acres in size are permitted one guest 
house, not to exceed 2,000 square feet. Lots created after the adoption of the May 
River CP District that are five acres or more than five acres in size are permitted 
one or more guest houses; however, the total square footage of all guest dwellings 
(houses) may not exceed 75 percent of the square footage of the principal house. 
Furthermore, the total square footage of all guest houses (when added together) 
may not exceed 5,000 square feet. 

6. Nothing herein shall prevent the construction of a guest house prior to the 
construction of the principal dwelling. 

7. Manufactured (i.e., mobile) homes shall not be permitted to be used as guest houses. 

88

Item 15.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 

Sections in Division 3.2 (Transect Zones) and Division 3.3 (Conventional Zones): The CDC contains parking 
space requirements in both the individual transect and conventional zone standards in Division 3.2 and 3.3 and 
in Table 5.4.40.B. Parking space requirements were included in both places in order to simplify navigation of 
the CDC for ease of interpretation. However, staff have recognized inconsistencies between Table 5.4.40.B and 
Zoning District requirements in Divisions 3.2 and 3.3. This amendment corrects conflicts by removing parking 
requirements from all Transect (except the T4 districts) and Conventional zones and replacing them with 
reference to Table 5.4.40.B. Because the T4 districts are intended to create walkable and mixed-use 
communities, staff recommends keeping specific parking allowances within the T4 district sections to reduce the 
number of required parking spaces and prevent over-parking of these districts. 

Single-Family Detached 3 per unit 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, or 
across a property line. 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 50' min. 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

3.2.40 T2 Rural (T2R) Standards 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types

G. Parking

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 
 

89

Item 15.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

G. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 3 per unit 

Retail, Offices, Services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW 
 

 

Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

Front 35' min. 

Side Street 20' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard parking setbacks are 
governed by the applicable perimeter buffer (see Tables 
5.8.90.D and 5.8.90.F) and any other required buffers. 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

3.2.50 T2 Rural Neighborhood (T2RN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

H. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

90

Item 15.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

Service or Retail Uses: 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Shop front 
 

 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

 
Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Drive-through facility Add  5  stacking  spaces  per 
drive-through 

Lodging: Inn 1 per room 
 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table uses see 
Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 10' min. 

Side Street 15' min. 
 

Rear and interior side yard 
parking setbacks are governed 
by the applicable perimeter 
buffer (see Tables 5.8.90.D and 
5.8.90.F) and any other 
required buffers. 

 
 

3.2.60 T2 Rural Center (T2RC) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

91

Item 15.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Encroachments  
E. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
Buffers, or across a property line. See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage 
Standards) for further refinement of the allowed encroachments for 
frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 

 

Residential Uses: 

All Allowed Uses 2 per unit 

Service or Retail Uses: 

All Allowed Lodging Uses 1 per 2 rooms 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Recreation, Public 
Assembly, and Transportation, Communication, Infrastructure uses 
see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

 
Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 

 

Miscellaneous 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 

3.2.70 T3 Edge (T3E) Standards 

Required Spaces 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 
Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

92

Item 15.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Two-family unit (duplex) 2 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

For parking space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B 
(Parking Space Requirements). 

 
Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 

Front 50' min. 

Side Street 25' min. 

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min. 
 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. Community 
Residences and Meeting Facilities/Places of Worship are 
exempt from this requirement. 

 
 

3.2.80 T3 Hamlet Neighborhood (T3HN) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

F. Parking 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Miscellaneous 

93

Item 15.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

5' max. 

5' max. 

3' max. 

5' max. 

Encroachments 
F. Encroachments and Frontage Types  

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Single-family detached   2 per unit 

Two-family (duplex)   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed within a Street ROW/Alley ROW, 
buffers, or across a property line. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

Offices & services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

For parking space requirements for Agricultural, Industrial, Recreation,  
Education, Public Assembly, and Transportation, Communication,  
Infrastructure uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

Common Yard Porch: Engaged 

Porch: Projecting Porch: Side Yard 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3.2.90 T3 Neighborhood (T3N) Standards 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

40' min. 

15' min. 

0' min. 

5' min. 

12' maximum driveway width at the curb cut and within 
the front or side street parking setback. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

G. Parking 

94

Item 15.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

F. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

3.2.100 T4 Hamlet Center (T4HC) Standards  
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 

 
Common Yard Forecourt 

Retail, Offices, Services 1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through Facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas Station/Fuel Sales 1 per pump plus requirements 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
Stoop Shopfront1 

Terrace1 
1 Allowed in T4HC-O Sub-Zone 

only. 

 
 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking 
Space Requirements). 

 

40 spaces or less 14' max. 
 

 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 
 

 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

G. Parking 

 
Front: 5' behind front facade of main building 

Side Street: 5' behind side facade of main building 

Side: 0' min. 

Rear: 5' min. 

Miscellaneous 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

95

Item 15.



Division 3.2: Transect Zones 
 

Front 

Side Street 

Side 

Rear 

12' max. 

12' max. 

3' max. 

3' max. 

Encroachments 

E. Encroachments and Frontage Types 

 

3.2.110 T4 Neighborhood Center (T4NC) Standards  
 
 

 
 

 
Single-family detached 2 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex   2 per unit 

Multi-family units  1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of work area 

 
 

Encroachments are not allowed across a side or rear property line, 
or across a curb. 

 
 

See Division 5.2 (Private Frontage Standards) for further refinement 
of the allowed encroachments for frontage elements. 

 
 

Awnings, Galleries and Arcades may encroach further into the street 
ROW to within 2' of the face of curb. Eaves may encroach up to 3' 
into the street ROW.All other encroachments are not allowed 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
 

 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

 

Drive-through facility  Add 5 stacking spaces per drive-through 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement for retail 

Lodging: Inn/hotel  1 per room 

 

within street ROW. Light manufacturing, 
processing and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

Porch: Projecting Dooryard 

Porch: Engaged Porch: Side Yard 

Stoop Shop front 

Forecourt Terrace 

Gallery 

Warehousing/Distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

 

Parking standards listed within the district shall govern. For parking 
space requirements for all other uses see Table 5.5.40.B (Parking Space 
Requirements). 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Location (Setback from Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side Street 15' min.  

Side 0' min. 

Rear 5' min.  

Miscellaneous  
Parking Driveway Width:   

40 spaces or less 14' max. 

Greater than 40 spaces 18' max. 
 

F. Parking 

96

Item 15.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone provides for high-quality, 
moderate-density (averaging under three dwelling units per acre) 
residential development, with denser areas of multi-family and 
mixed-use development to provide walkability and affordable 
housing options.The design requirements are intended to provide a 
suburban character and encourage pedestrian, as well as automobile, 
access. 

Open spaces shall be provided in sufficient quantity to ensure an 
open quality with a predominance of green space. Non-residential 
uses shall be limited to parcels having access to arterial or collector 
streets or within a Traditional Community Plan.This Zone provides 
for the lower densities of areas designated Neighborhood 
Mixed-Use in the Comprehensive Plan. It is intended to support the 
development of communities with a diverse range of housing types 
and uses. 

 

Single Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Institutional Buildings 35 feet above grade 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
 

 

 

Single-Family Detached  2.6 d.u./acre 

Single-Family Attached/Duplex 2.6 d.u./acre 

Multi-Family Unit 12 d.u./acre, Maximum of 80 
Dwelling units 

 

Traditional Community Plan 3.5 d.u./acre2 
 

  
Front 30' min.1 

 
 

Side: 
Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 50' min. 
 

 

1 The minimum front setback for mansion apartments in a 
Multi-family community on internal streets is 15 feet. 

 

 
Lot Size 10,890 SF min. 

 
 

Width 70' min. 
 

 
Single-Family and Duplex 10,890 SF 

 
 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

 
 

Non-residential buildings 0.18 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F) 

 
 

2 Subject to the requirements in Division 2.3 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 
 

3.3.30 Neighborhood Mixed Use (C3) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 
Gross Density 

Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) Floor Area Ratio 

Lot Size 

Minimum Site Area 

Note: 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

B. Building Placement 

C. Building Form 

97

Item 15.



Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone provides for a 
limited number of retail, service, and office uses intended to serve 
the surrounding neighborhood. 

These are smaller uses and not highway service types of uses.The 
intensity standards are set to ensure that the uses have the same 
suburban character as the surrounding suburban residential areas. 
They are intended to blend with the surrounding areas, not threaten 
the character of the area.This Zone shall not consist of strip 
developments but rather neighborhood centers with a sense of 
place. 

 

 
 

 
 

Front 20' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 10' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 10' min. 
 

 

Rear 15' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 5,000 SF min. 

 

Width 50' min. 

 

Single-Family and Duplex 2.5 stories max. 
 

 

Multi-Family 3 stories max. 
 

 

Non-Residential Buildings 2 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Gross Density 12 d.u./acre max. 

 

Floor Area Ratio2 0.23 max. 
 

 

1 Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2 Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 
Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 

work area 

 
 

Single-Family and Duplex 5,000 SF 
 

 

Multi-Family 21,780 SF 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 
requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 
and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. 

Retail, offices, services 1 per 300 GSF 
Restaurant, Café, Coffee Shop 1 per 150 GSF 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 
 

 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

3.3.40 Community Center Mixed Use (C4) Zone Standards 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses 

Note: 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

Minimum Site Area 

C. Building Form 

98

Item 15.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone permits a full range of 
retail, service, and office uses.The Zone's intensity accommodates 
regional and community commercial and business activities. Uses 
include large, commercial activities that serve the entire County and 
highway-oriented businesses that need to be located on major 
highways.While this use intends high-quality, commercial character, 
the setback or build-to-line, landscaping and other design 
requirements provide a uniform streetscape that makes provision 
for pedestrian and transit access.The Zone is intended to be more 
attractive than commercial areas in other counties to maintain the 
attractive tourist and business environment and have minimal impact 
on surrounding residential areas. 
The Zone is not intended to be a strip along all arterials and 
collectors. In developing areas, the minimum depth of a parcel along 
an arterial or collector shall be 600'.The minimum zone size shall be 
20 acres. In the older, built-up areas, new uses shall have depths and 
areas equal to or greater than similar uses in the area.This Zone 
shall be located in areas designated "regional commercial" in the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 
 

 

Front 25' min. 
 

 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 15' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 15' min. 
 

 

Rear 10' min. 
 

 
Lot Size 21,780 SF min. 

 

Width 150' min. 
 

 
For development within a Traditional Community Plan meeting the 

 

All Buildings 3 stories max. 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 
Density 15.0 d.u./acre max.2 

 

Floor Area Ratio3 0.37 max. 
 

 

1Gross Density is the total number of dwelling units on a site 
divided by the Base Site Area (Division 6.1.40.F). 

 
 

2See Section 4.1.350 for Affordable Housing density bonuses. 
 

 

3Requirement applies to non-residential buildings. 
 

 
 

 
 

Single-family detached  3 per unit 

Single-family attached/duplex 2 per unit 

Multi-family units 1.25 per unit 

Community residence 1 per bedroom 

Live/work 2 per unit plus 1 per 300 GSF of 
work area 

 

 
Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per  
drive-through 

 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 
 

Lodging: Inn/hotel 1 per room 

 

requirements of Division 2.3, setback, minimum lot size and 
minimum site area requirements of the transect zone established 

Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 

and delineated on the regulating plan shall apply. Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 
 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Lot Size 

Note: 

D. Gross Density1 and Floor Area Ratio 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Residential Uses 

Required Spaces: Services or Retail Uses 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

3.3.50 Regional Center Mixed Use (C5) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

99

Item 15.



 

Division 3.3: Conventional Zones 

 

 

 

 
The Industrial (S1) Zone permits office, manufacturing, industrial, 
warehousing, and uses that support them.The Zone shall also be 
designed to permit small businesses and incubator businesses. 
Moderate to high intensities are permitted to achieve maximum land 
utilization. Such practices will maximize the land's use and 
accommodate small businesses and start-up or incubator businesses. 

 

 
 

 

All Buildings 4 stories max.1 
 

 

Ground Floor Finish Level No minimum 
 

 

1Not to exceed 50 feet above finished grade level 
 

 
Industrial 0.48 max. 

 
 

All Other Uses 0.37 max. 
 

E. Parking 
Required Spaces: Service or Retail Uses  
 

Retail, offices, services  1 per 300 GSF 

Restaurant, café, coffee shop 1 per 150 GSF 
 

Drive-through facility Add 5 stacking spaces per 
drive-through 

 
 

Gas station/fuel sales 1 per pump plus requirement 
for retail 

 

 
Light manufacturing, processing 
and packaging 

Heavy manufacturing, processing  
and packaging 

1 per 500 GSF 
 

1 per employee at maximum  
shift plus 1 per commercial 
vehicle 

 
 

Warehousing/distribution 1 per 2,000 GSF 

For parking space requirements for all other allowed uses see Table 
5.5.40.B (Parking Space Requirements). 

 

Building Height 

D. Floor Area Ratio 

Required Spaces: Industrial Uses 

B. Building Placement 
Setback (Distance from ROW/Property Line) 

Front 40' min. 

Side: 

Side, Main Building 
 

20' min. 

Side,Ancillary Building 20' min. 

Rear 20' min. 

Lot Size  
Lot Size 20,000 SF min. 

Width 100' min. 

Minimum Site Area  
Industrial 20,000 SF 

Other Permitted Uses 1 acre 

 

3.3.60 Industrial (S1) Zone Standards 

C. Building Form 

100

Item 15.



Division 6.1: Subdivision Standards 
 

Section 6.1.40 (General Review Standards): Base Site Area is used to determine the density permitted on 
specific properties and, as such, undevelopable portions of the property are subtracted from gross site area to 
determine the maximum density allowed on any particular property. Staff recommends specifically 
addressing jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional wetlands when calculating Base Site Area in order to provide 
clear guidance on these calculations and prevent density increases based on the existence of any wetlands on 
any particular property.  
 
 

 
 

A. General. Applications for subdivisions shall be reviewed and evaluated in accordance with 
the procedures of Section 7.2.70 (Subdivision), and the standards of this Article. 

B. Subdivision Design. Block and lot layout shall meet the standards established in Article 2 
(Multi-Lot and Single Lot Community Scale Development). 

C. Civic and Open Spaces. Civic and open spaces shall meet the standards established in 
Division 2.8 (Civic and Open Space Types). 

D. Streets. New streets shall meet the standards established in Division 2.9 (Thoroughfare 
Standards). 

E. Modulation Standards. The applicant may request a modulation of some standards, see 
Section 7.2.30 (Modulation Permit), where appropriate to achieve better design that is 
consistent with the objectives of this Development Code, as long as the modulation is 
compatible with surrounding development, does not have an adverse impact on protected 
resources, and is generally consistent with the goals of this Development Code. 

F. Density and Lot Size. Maximum gross density and minimum/maximum lot size shall meet 
the standards established in Article 3 (Specific to Zones). Maximum gross density for a site 
shall be calculated using the Base Site Area. 

G. The Base Site Area shall be determined as follows: 
Gross site area as determined by actual survey: 

Minus Land separated by a road or utility right-of-way 
Minus Land separated by water and/or marsh 

Minus Land within existing roads ultimate rights-of-way 

Minus Existing natural water bodies on the property, jurisdictional and non-
jurisdictional wetlands, and land/tidal wetlands seaward of the OCRM critical line 

Minus Land previously dedicated as open space 

Equals = Base site Area 

6.1.40 General Review Standards 

101

Item 15.



Division 5.11 Resource Protection Standards 

 
Section 5.11.100.F (Tree Removal on Developed Properties): Sections 5.11.100.B – 5.11.100.E protect 
trees during new development projects by requiring Specimen trees to be preserved to the maximum extent 
practicable. When specimen trees cannot be avoided because of new development, they must be mitigated in 
one of three ways: 1) replanting trees of the same species, 2) saving existing non-specimen-size native trees 
on the property or, 3) paying into a tree mitigation fund. Staff spends a lot of time regulating these 
requirements during development, however, per Section 5.11.100.F, once a single-family home exists on a 
lot, the property owners may remove all but grand trees and trees in river buffers without a tree removal 
permit. This means that specimen trees are no longer protected under Section 5.11.100.F and trees that have 
been kept for mitigation are afforded no protections. This has enabled the act of developers saving specimen 
and non-specimen size trees during development for mitigation purposes, allowing them to avoid replanting 
or paying into a tree mitigation fund, and then cut the trees down as soon as the single-family residence is 
certified for occupancy. To correct the issue, staff recommends adopting the following amendments:  

1. Creating a time period of protection for specimen trees based on the time that has elapsed 
since the year of the home’s completed construction.  

2. Including language referencing mitigation trees as protected trees.  
3. Clarifying language regarding river buffers.  

5.11.100 Tree Protection  
 

F. Tree Removal on Developed Properties. 

1. Single-Family Residential Lots. 

a. Permit Required to Remove a Grand Tree. On any individual single-family 
residential lot with an existing dwelling unit where construction was 
completed less than five years ago, a tree removal permit is required to remove 
specimen, grand, and/or mitigation trees, see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal 
Permit). On any individual single-family residential lot with an existing 
dwelling unit where construction was completed five or more years ago, a tree 
removal permit is required to remove a grand treeand/or mitigation trees, see 
Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). A grand tree is an exceptionally large tree 
for its species that is healthy and worthy of protec- tion. It represents an 
individual tree that contributes aesthetically to the re- gion's visual "sense of 
place" and serves as a seed stock for future generations. An individual tree is 
considered a grand tree by the following size criteria: 

1) Live Oak (Quercus virginiana), Black Walnut (Juglans nigra), or Longleaf 
Pine (Pinus palustris) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 24 inches 
DBH. 

2) Loblolly Pine (Pinus taeda), Slash Pine (Pinus ellitoi), and Shortleaf Pine 
(Pinus echinata) that are equal to or greater than a diameter of 36 inches 
DBH. 

3) All other species of trees, not defined above, that are equal to or greater 
than a diameter of 30 inches DBH except those identified as invasive 
species in Table 5.11.100.C. 

b. Tree Removal Permit Standards. A tree removal permit will be issued to 
remove a protected grand tree from a residential lot if the tree is dead, diseased, 
hollow, or has another condition that poses a hazard to people or structures on 
the lot or adjoining lot as determined by a certified arborist. Upon removal, the 
tree shall be replaced with one 2.5-inch minimum caliper tree of the same 
species, or a species recommended by a certified arborist and approved by 
staff. 

c. Removal of All Other Non-Protected Trees on Residential Lots. All other 
trees on a single-family residential lot with an existing dwelling may be 
removed without a permit, except for mitigation trees or treesthose within 
required river buffers, including river buffers, may be removed without a 
permit. Removal of trees within a river buffer and/or mitigation trees requires 
a tree removal permit; see Section 7.2.50 (Tree Removal Permit). 

102

Item 15.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

First Reading of Ordinance to make appropriations for County Government, special purpose districts for 
Beaufort County for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2022 and ending June 30, 2023. 

 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee 5/16/2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Pinky Harriott, Budget Director 

30 Minutes 

 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The FY2023 budget was presented at two previous budget workshops for Council’s feedback. Once all 
adjustments were made, it is being presented to Finance Committee for recommendation of approval for 
First Reading to County Council. 

 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

An Ordinance to make appropriations for county government, special purpose districts for Beaufort County 
for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2022 and ending June 30, 2023; to levy taxes for the payment thereof; and 
to provide for the expenditure of said taxes and other revenues coming into the county. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

This is the annual budget for Beaufort County for Fiscal Year July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends County Council to approve the Budget Ordinance as presented for the Fiscal Year 
2022/2023. 

 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny and move to County Council for First Reading. 

 

 

103

Item 16.



ORDINANCE 2022/______ 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO MAKE APPROPRIATIONS FOR COUNTY GOVERNMENT AND 
SPECIAL PURPOSE DISTRICTS FOR BEAUFORT COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
BEGINNING JULY 1, 2022 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2023; TO LEVY TAXES FOR THE 
PAYMENT THEREOF; TO PROVIDE FOR THE EXPENDITURE OF SAID TAXES AND 
OTHER REVENUES COMING INTO THE COUNTY, AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO. 
 
BE IT ENACTED BY THE BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL IN MEETING DULY 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
SECTION I.  TAX LEVY 
The County Council of Beaufort County hereby appropriates the funds as detailed in the detailed budget 
book, which is incorporated herein by reference, and the below Sections of this Ordinance. Further, that the 
County Council of Beaufort County hereby establishes the millage rates as detailed in Sections 2 and 3 of 
this Ordinance. However, the County Council of Beaufort County reserves the right to modify these millage 
rates as may be deemed necessary and appropriate. 
 
SECTION II.  MILLAGE 
The County Auditor is hereby authorized and directed to levy in Fiscal Year 2022-2023 a tax of 64.8 mills 
on the dollar of assessed value of property within the County, in accordance with the laws of South Carolina. 
These taxes shall be collected by the County Treasurer, as provided by law, and distributed in accordance 
with the provisions of this Ordinance and subsequent appropriations hereafter passed by the County Council 
of Beaufort County.  

SETTING OF MILLAGE RATES 

 The Beaufort County Council shall, in conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), in accordance 
with the law and Constitution of the State of South Carolina, calculate and fix the value of a mill and, 
accordingly, the amount of millage necessary to support the appropriations herein made, with the exception of 
those appropriations and portions thereof supported by revenues other than property taxes, and shall advise the 
Auditor and Treasurer of Beaufort County who shall levy and collect said millage, respectively, as hereby 
directed by the County Council. Final annual revenue expectations of the County cannot be determined until 
the State provides the County with final revenue numbers for the County for which the State is responsible 
(e.g., for taxes on industrial property in the County, for FILOT property, etc.), which is traditionally done well 
after the beginning of the County fiscal year. Therefore, by necessity, the County Council directs the levy of 
the millage necessary to fund this balanced budget by June 30, but the actual millage rates will be calculated 
by the County CFO, after such State revenue numbers are received, and the value of a mill and the 
resultant millage rates recommended to County Council which will then adopt the value of a mill and those 
millage rates or not, and if it does so adopt will do so by resolution, announcing the actual millage rates that it 
has adopted by enactment of this Ordinance. The amount of debt service millage, sufficient to provide adequate 
debt service coverage for all County-issued debt requiring the use of County ordinary millage revenue, shall be 
calculated by the County based on the value established for a mill by County Council, and levied by the Auditor 
and collected by the Treasurer. The following are the millages established for the budget as of July 1, 2022: 

 
         

104

Item 16.



County Operations    44.3 
Higher Education      2.3 
Purchase of Real Property Program    5.3 
Indigent Care BJHCHS     0.4 
Indigent Care BMH      0.4 
Economic Development     0.3 
County Capital Improvement Fund    1.6 
County Debt Service      5.6 
Solid Waste Enterprise Fund     4.6 

 
 
SECTION III.  COUNTY OPERATIONS REVENUES 
The appropriation for County Operations of the General Fund in the amount of $142,118,807 will be funded 
from the following revenue sources: 
 

A. $108,773,146  to be derived from tax collections; 
B. $15,089,113  to be derived from charges for services; 
C. $10,783,780  to be derived from intergovernmental revenue sources; 
D. $3,958,000   to be derived from fees for licenses and permits; 
E. $2,253,750   to be derived from interfund transfers; 
F. $770,018   to be derived from fines and forfeitures; 
G. $335,000   to be derived from miscellaneous revenue sources; 
H. $156,000   to be derived from interest on investments 
 

 
The appropriation for the County Operations of the Solid Waste and Recycling Fund in the amount of 
$10,677,752 will be funded from the following revenue sources: 
 

A. $10,343,302  to be derived from tax collections; 
B. $8,450   to be derived from charges for services; 
C. $326,000   to be derived from miscellaneous revenue sources 

 
Additional operations of various County departments are funded by Special Revenue and Enterprise 
sources.  The detail of line-item accounts for these funds is hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 
 
 
SECTION IV.  COUNTY OPERATIONS APPROPRIATION 
An amount of $142,112,405 is appropriated to the Beaufort County General Fund to fund County 
operations, including subsidized agencies, as follows: 
 

A. $53,017,235  General Government 
B. $49,820,588  Public Safety 
C. $14,599,498  Public Works 
D. $81,000   Public Health 
E. $398,000   Public Welfare 
F. $10,895,771  Culture and Recreation 
G. $13,300,313  Transfers Out  

 
 
 
 

105

Item 16.



An amount of $10,442,112 is appropriated to the Beaufort County Solid Waste and Recycling Fund to fund 
County operations as follows: 
  

A. $3,011,633   Personnel Services 
B. $7,214,500   Purchased Services 
C. $166,000   Supplies 
D. $49,979   Capital Expenses  

 
 
SECTION V.  SPECIAL DISTRICT TAX LEVY 
The County Auditor is hereby authorized and directed to levy, and the County Treasurer is hereby 
authorized and directed to collect and distribute the mills so levied, as provided by law, for the operations 
of the following special tax districts: 
       Revenues    Expenditures Millage Rate 
Bluffton Fire District Operations   $18,991,000  $18,958,562  25.6  
Bluffton Fire District Debt Service   $991,500  $991,500    1.5 
Burton Fire District Operations    $5,860,743  $5,862,577  73.5  
Burton Fire District Debt Service   $383,574  $383,574    4.2  
Daufuskie Island Fire District Operations  $1,343,958  $1,343,958  66.0  
Lady’s Island/St. Helena Island Fire District Operations $7,408,329  $7,404,399  43.7 
Lady’s Island/St. Helena Island Fire District Debt $650,648  $650,648    4.0 
Sheldon Fire District Operations    $1,653,328  $1,653,328  40.31  
Sheldon Fire District Debt Service   $133,100  $133,100     3.2 
 
 
SECTION VI:   BOARDS, AGENCIES AND COMMISSIONS 
All County boards, agencies, commissions, etc., fully or partially funded by Beaufort County Council, and 
all non-County government organizations receiving funding from the Beaufort County General Fund are 
required to furnish either a complete audit or other annual financial report to County Council no later than 
seven months after the close of each fiscal year for each organization, and to supply to the County 
Administrator, upon his request, and in whatever form, any and all accounting records, reports, and 
documents necessary for County Council and the County Administrator to supervise the financial condition  
of such boards, agencies or commissions. Special audits may be provided for any agency receiving funds 
as County Council deems necessary. Such audits shall be made by a certified public accountant or firm of 
such accountants who have no personal interest, direct or indirect, in the fiscal affairs of County government 
or any of its officers. 
 
SECTION VII.  ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
The County Administrator shall oversee and supervise the day-to-day, proper implementation of this 
Ordinance. Elected Officials are responsible for the day-to-day management of their departmental budgets. 
The term “Department Head” as used herein explicitly refers to the funds and functions under the particular 
auspices of the County Administrator. Management of Elected Officials individual accounts and budget 
shall be the responsibility of the duly elected official for each office. The CFO shall provide to the County 
Administrator throughout the fiscal year a monthly financial report detailing expenditures made by County 
Departments. Also included shall be a monthly, up-to-date revenue report detailing revenues received for 
the County government. These monthly reports shall be submitted on a timely basis so that the 
Administrator may make decisions based on the most accurate and latest financial information. 
 
A monthly meeting with the County Administrator or designee and appropriate Council committee 
chairperson may be held as reports become available for the purpose of budget line-item reviews. Where 
continuous (more than three months) over-runs (expenditures in excess of budgeted amounts) are 

106

Item 16.



experienced, a Resolution by Council may be made directing the County Administrator to consider one or 
a combination of the following options if reconciliation of the excess expenditure cannot otherwise be 
accomplished: 
 

1. A reduction in the department's employees' days per week, accomplished by work shift 
 adjustments. 
2. A reduction in the department's employees' hours per day, accomplished by work shift 

adjustments. 
3. A reduction of the department's staff size. 

 
SECTION VIII.   DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS  
All funds for County government purposes shall be disbursed in accordance with the Purchasing Ordinance 
codified as Section 2-501 et seq. of the Code of Ordinances of Beaufort County.  
 
SECTION IX.   TRANSFERS OF FUNDS  
Each department head is permitted, subject to the County Administrator's (or his designee's) approval, to 
transfer appropriation(s) between object classification codes within that department. Transfers from objects 
50020 through 50130 (personnel codes) are not permitted under any circumstances without the approval of 
County Administrator. The County Administrator is permitted, when it is in the best interest of the 
individual County departments or agencies, to transfer appropriations between departments (from one 
department to another department) and between the County's General Fund, Capital Projects Fund and 
Capital Improvements Fund (from one Fund to another Fund) up to $50,000. 
 
SECTION X.   ADDITIONAL APPROPRIATIONS AND BORROWING 
If circumstances arise which, in the judgment of a majority of County Council, require the expenditure of 
a greater amount than herein above enumerated then the County Administrator shall have and is hereby 
given the right by this Ordinance to transfer funds between the County's General Fund, Special Revenue 
Funds and Capital Projects Funds and  may also appropriate available funds for a purpose not mentioned 
or referred to in this Ordinance, and the County Treasurer is authorized to borrow, if necessary, such amount 
as may be required to meet such increases or additional appropriations and may pledge the full faith and 
credit of Beaufort County for the payment of the amount borrowed. Should actual funding sources be 
greater than projected in this Ordinance, the County Administrator may revise budgeted revenues and 
expenditures or direct the increase to be held for future year's disbursements. 
 
SECTION XI.   FISCAL COMPLIANCE 
The County Treasurer is authorized and directed to deposit, except those restricted by law, County revenues 
collected or received, from whatever source, into the appropriate fund. 
 
County departments charged with the obligation of County appropriations are forbidden to obligate, without 
prior approval of the County Council, any funds not as outlined and enumerated in this ordinance. 
Intentional misappropriations or over-spending of the enumerated accounts by an appointed official shall 
constitute automatic termination. County departments, boards, commissions, etc. will not deviate from their 
approved budget, and funds will not be expended for unauthorized expenditures. There will be a quarterly 
review by the CFO of the budget of each department, board, commission, etc. for which funds have been 
allocated, at which time funds, if available, may be re-allocated by the County Administrator to cover any 
shortfalls or unanticipated expenditures. All departments, boards, commissions, etc. will provide data, 
reports, statistics, etc. as may be requested by County Council. Failure to do so could result in the freezing 
of funds allocated to that organization until such data, reports, etc. have been furnished. This will be 
enforced at the discretion of County Council.  
 
SECTION XII.  ANNUAL EXTERNAL AUDIT 

107

Item 16.



Proposals shall be sought from reputable accounting firms to provide the year-end audit of County revenue 
and expenditure accounts. The firm selected shall conduct an annual audit in conformity with standard 
auditing practices and in keeping with federal, state, and local governmental requirements. This audit shall 
be completed and presented to County Council no later than December 31 following the close of each fiscal 
year, unless extended. 
 
SECTION XIII.  DEPOSITS OF FUNDS 
All service charges, fees, fines, reimbursements, etc. received by County departments shall be deposited 
daily and as soon as possible, but no later than three business days after receipt. For the final month of the 
fiscal year, all bank accounts, special funds, and depositories maintained by departments, and which contain 
monies which are the responsibility of County Council shall be closed out and all monies deposited no later 
than June 30, 2022. 
 
SECTION XIV.  LAPSING OF FUNDS 
Budgetary appropriations of monies received by County departments and existing at the close of the fiscal 
year shall revert to the appropriate fund of the County.  Departments wishing to carry over appropriations 
into the next succeeding fiscal year must submit the request in writing to the Budget Director no later than 
July 15, 2022 for approval by County Council. These carryovers must be for specific items budgeted in the 
2021/2022 fiscal year for which unforeseen circumstances prevented the funds from being spent during the 
current year. Any "excess" funds accumulated at the end of the fiscal year shall be used only with the 
approval of County Council either to fund capital assets or other expenditures needed by the County or 
placed in the appropriate reserve fund by the CFO. Departments charged with the proper keeping and 
reporting of County accounts shall maintain both revenue and expenditure ledgers, and under no 
circumstances, except in such instances as over-payment errors, authorized transfers, or supplemental 
appropriations, shall entries except those enumerated in this Ordinance, be recorded on appropriations 
and/or expenditure ledgers. 
 
SECTION XV.  RATES AND AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS 
The CFO shall determine the proper rate of disbursement of the enumerated appropriations during the fiscal 
year based on financial and cash-flow considerations; in most cases, however, lump-sum or direct assistance 
appropriations should not exceed during any one quarter, one-fourth of the annual appropriation. Lump-
sum or direct assistance appropriations of less than $5,000 per year may be exempted from this provision. 
Reimbursements for actual mileage traveled shall be at the Internal Revenue Service approved rate. Funds 
must be available in the appropriate budget before such funds are expended. Payments for travel and 
subsistence will be paid in accordance with the rules as set forth in the Travel and Subsistence Policy. It 
shall be unlawful for any department or employee to charge in excess of actual miles. 
 
 
SECTION XVI.  RESERVE FUND 
County Council has established a reserve fund. This fund will be increased each year as budgeted or 
otherwise approved by County Council. The fund is to be reserved for non-recurring expenses. Spending 
from the reserve fund will require a super majority vote of County Council. 
 
SECTION XVII.   TIME AND ATTENDANCE 
All department heads are directed to assure that all County employees for which they are responsible give 
a full day's work for a full day's pay. This is to be accomplished through the maintenance of accurate time 
and attendance records and procedures. 
 
 
 
 

108

Item 16.



SECTION XVIII.  LAW ENFORCEMENT UNIFORM SERVICE CHARGE/USER FEE 
 
The law enforcement service charge and uniform user fee established by Ordinance 2020-29 shall be 
charged to each applicable parcel based on use and size as set forth in the following table. The types of 
“land use” in the following table are defined as provided for in the Beaufort County Community 
Development Code. 
 

 
 
Except as provided for in this section, no public or private property shall be exempt from the law 
enforcement service charge and uniform user fee.  No exemption, offset, or reduction shall be granted based 
on the age, tax, economic status, race, or religion of the property owner. 
 
 The law enforcement service charge and uniform user fee shall be due, payable and to be collected in the 
same manner as real property taxes and shall be subject to the same penalties and interest as overdue real 
property taxes. All other provisions of ordinance 2020/29 shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
SECTION XIX. SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
Special Revenue funds - fund balance appropriations- Sheriff’s Office forfeiture funds 
 
Special Revenue Funds are those funds which account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 
legally or by policy restricted to expenditure for limited purposes. Certain special revenue funds have 
accumulated restricted fund balances. Fund balances may be utilized for projects or purchases through the 
following methodology. For a purchase or expenditure, the user shall submit a requisition, invoice or other 
appropriate request identifying the purchase/expenditure and the special revenue fund from which the 
expenditure is sought. The CFO shall then verify that sufficient funds are available for the 
purchase/expenditure in the fund balance of the special revenue fund. If current year revenues are 
insufficient and/or the purchase/expenditure requires the use of fund balance, the CFO shall certify to the 
County Administrator that funds are available in fund balance. The Administrator may then approve the 
use of fund balance for the purchase/expenditure, up to his spending approval limit of $100,000 (as may be 
amended) without further approval, and the purchase/expenditure shall be processed to completion. 

Purchases/expenditures from the Sheriff’s Office Civil Forfeiture Special Revenue Funds and the 
Treasurer’s Execution Fund shall be subject to statutory restrictions and other legal requirements but shall 
not require any further approval by the County Administrator or County Council so long as funds are 
available for use. No office, elected or other, shall expend funds in a manner that such expenditure creates 
a deficit position or negative fund balance. 

109

Item 16.



SECTION XX.  AUTHORITY OF ADMINISTRATOR REGARDING GRANTS 

County Council authorizes the county administrator to approve the application for, acceptance of, and use 
within County standards of all grants which either do not require matching funds or for which required 
funds have already been appropriated by County Council. 

 

SECTION XXI. EXPENDITURE OF STATE ACCOMMODATIONS TAX AND LOCAL 
ACCOMMODATIONS AND HOSPITALITY TAX FUNDS 

In accordance with Beaufort County Code of Ordinance Chapter 66 Article II, this ordinance hereby 
authorizes the appropriation and utilization of state accommodations tax funds and local accommodations 
tax and hospitality tax funds to be accomplished by the adoption of a resolution by County Council. 

SECTION XXII APPROPRIATION OF $9,000,000 OF GENERAL FUND BALANCE FOR 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND 

The sum of $9,000,000 is hereby appropriated out of fund balance to fund 2022-23 Capital Projects and 
Improvements as listed in the budget detail, incorporated herein below. 

SECTION XXII. REPEAL AND REPLACEMENT OF INCONSISTENT PROVISIONS; 
INCORPORATION OF BUDGET DETAIL BY REFERENCE 

Any terms of previous ordinances of portions of the code of ordinances which are inconsistent with the 
terms herein are hereby repealed and replaced by the terms of this ordinance. The detail of revenues and 
expenditures maintained by the Budget Director in an electronic file is hereby incorporated herein by 
reference in its entirety. 

 
Ordered in meeting duly assembled this _____ day of ________________, 2022. 
 

 
COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

   

 By: ______________________________________ 

   Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

ATTEST:  

____________________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

110

Item 16.



5/18/2022

1

Beaufort County Council

FY2023 Budget Presentation

May 16, 2022

link

FY2023 Budget Goals

• Implement 5% COLA for all County Employees 

• Prepare a 3‐year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP)

• Accurate FTE Count for FY2023 Budget Process

• Remain Mil Neutral for FY2023

• Address Deferred Capital Needs

1

2

111

Item 16.



5/18/2022

2

link

FY2023 Estimated Value of a Mil

• Estimated VOM for FY2023: $2,248,544

• FY2022 Estimate was $2,131,938

• Increase of $116,606 in value of 1 mil (>5%)

• Total increase of $6.2M in revenue

link

FY2023 General Fund Big Picture

FY23 Projected Revenues $142,118,807

FY23 Projected Expenditures   $142,112,405

Surplus:  $6,402

3

4

112

Item 16.



5/18/2022

3

link

FY2023 General Fund Revenues

FY2022 
ADOPTED

FY2023 
PROJECTED

AD VALOREM TAXES $100,823,197 $108,773,146

LICENSES/PERMITS $4,013,750 $3,958,000

INTERGOVERNMENTAL $10,108,473 $10,783,780

CHARGES FOR SERVICES $14,135,800 $15,089,113

FINES & FORFEITURES $692,100 $770,018

INTEREST $175,700 $156,000

MISCELLANEOUS $290,900 $335,000

TRANSFERS IN $2,423,079 $2,253,750

TOTAL $132,662,999 $142,118,807

link

FY2023 General Fund Expenditures

FY2022 
ADOPTED

FY2023 
REQUESTED

GENERAL GOVERNMENT $48,507,093 $53,017,235

PUBLIC SAFETY $46,885,930 $49,820,588

PUBLIC WORKS $13,758,633 $14,599,498

PUBLIC HEALTH $81,000 $81,000

PUBLIC WELFARE $452,667 $398,000

CULTURE & RECREATION $9,341,694 $10,895,771

TRANSFERS OUT OF GF $13,375,961 $13,300,313

TOTAL $132,402,978 $142,112,405

Departmental line‐item detail in agenda packet

5

6

113

Item 16.



5/18/2022

4

link

New Position Requests

General Fund Total Requested: $1,700,897

GENERAL FUND:
Family Court $42,709
Coroner's Office $428,400
Broadcast Services $33,170
Planning & Zoning $59,920
IT Systems Management $89,520
Human Resources $105,840
Business Services $49,478
Facility Management $189,954
Parks & Recreation $701,906

link

Vehicle and Equipment Requests

General Fund Total Requested: $1,587,502

GENERAL FUND:

Emergency Medical Services $913,480
Facility Managements $80,000
Parks and Recreation $377,000
Public Works $145,517
Transportation Engineering $71,505

7

8

114

Item 16.



5/18/2022

5

link

FY2023 Other Funds

Revenues Expenditures

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND $12,597,670 $12.351,529

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS: $151,604,915 $145,950,365

CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS: $171,942,043 $171,702,188

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS: $28,489,129 $24,752,408

GARAGE ISF:  $3,970,054 $3,970,054

link

FY2023 Capital Improvement Fund
Projects Included in the CIP for FY2023:

• ADA Modification Upgrades to BC facilities
• EMS Headquarters‐Planning & Design
• 4 Public Works Pole Barns
• Public Works Building‐ Planning & Design
• Parks & Recreation Improvements
• Capital Equipment & Vehicles for Departments
• Mosquito Control Equipment Shed & Landing Gear
• Public Works Fuel Truck
• Garage Bay Door Replacement
• Generator Installation at Buckwalter for Natural Disasters

9

10

115

Item 16.



5/18/2022

6

link

Vehicle/Equipment Requests: Other Funds

• DSN Replacement Vans: $175,000
• Stormwater Utility Fund: $255,000
• HHI Airport EF: $175,000

Total Requested: $605,000

link

FY2023 Enterprise Funds
Revenues Expenditures

Beaufort Executive Airport $1,028,840 $1,025,088

Hilton Head Island Airport $10,953,012 $10,685,019

Solid Waste & Recycling $10,677,752 $10,442,112

Stormwater $8,363,810 $8,363,810

11

12

116

Item 16.



5/18/2022

7

link

Next Steps

• May 23rd‐ First Reading of Budget Ordinance
• June 13th‐ Second Reading & Public Hearing of Budget 
Ordinance

• June 27th‐ Third & Final Reading of Budget Ordinance

13

117

Item 16.



GENERAL FUND - REVENUES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 (In Progress)

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023 (In Progress) 

(% Change)
Revenue Source

Ad Valorem Taxes
Current Taxes 10000001-41010 $89,878,716.00 $98,883,996.00 10.02%
Delinquent Taxes 10000001-41020 $1,388,317.00 $1,471,616.00 6.00%
Automobile Taxes 10000001-41030 $8,356,164.00 $7,467,534.00 -10.63%
Penalties On Taxes - 3% & 7% 10000001-41040 $450,000.00 $450,000.00 0.00%
Penalties On Taxes - 5% 10000001-41050 $750,000.00 $500,000.00 -33.33%

Total Ad Valorem Taxes: $100,823,197.00 $108,773,146.00 7.89%

Licenses/Permits
Building Permits 10000001-42010 $1,310,650.00 $1,050,000.00 -19.89%
Electricians' Licenses 10000001-42020 $3,000.00 $18,000.00 500.00%
Mobile Home Permits 10000001-42030 $15,000.00 $10,000.00 -33.33%
Marriage Licenses 10000001-42040 $60,000.00 $55,000.00 -8.33%
Cable Tv Franchises 10000001-42200 $434,300.00 $450,000.00 3.62%
Business License 10000001-42300 $2,100,000.00 $2,300,000.00 9.52%
Alcohol Beverage License 10000001-42310 $90,800.00 $75,000.00 -17.40%

Total Licenses/Permits: $4,013,750.00 $3,958,000.00 -1.39%

Intergovernmental
State Aid To Subdivisions 10000001-43010 $7,269,783.00 $7,951,200.00 9.37%
Homestead Exemption 10000001-43015 $2,150,000.00 $2,150,000.00 0.00%
Merchants Inventory Tax 10000001-43020 $186,310.00 $186,000.00 -0.17%
Manufacturer Tax Exempt Progrm 10000001-43021 $23,200.00 $23,200.00 0.00%
Motor Carrier Payments 10000001-43022 $215,000.00 $200,000.00 -6.98%
Payments In Lieu Of Taxes 10000001-43040 $210,000.00 $100,000.00 -52.38%
Pymt In Lieu Of - Federal 10000001-43041 $17,000.00 $17,000.00 0.00%
Local Assessment Fee- Uber 10000001-43051 $8,500.00 $9,500.00 11.76%
Veterans Officer Stipend 10000001-43200 $5,480.00 $5,500.00 0.36%
Voter  Reg/Elec Stipends 10000001-43230 $11,000.00 $13,500.00 22.73%
Voter Reg & Elec Reimb 10000001-4323A $115,000.00
Salary Sup'lmts Fr State 10000001-43250 $7,200.00 $7,880.00 9.44%
Poll'tn Cntrl Pen Fr Stat 10000001-43290 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%

Total Intergovernmental: $10,108,473.00 $10,783,780.00 6.68%

Charges for Services
3% Comm On Doc Stamps Rmc 10000001-44010 -$5,575,000.00 $350,000.00 -106.28%
County Recording Fees-Rmc 10000001-44020 $12,225,000.00 $3,500,000.00 -71.37%
County Stamp Fees-Rmc 10000001-44030 $1,750,000.00 $5,000,000.00 185.71%
Collect Co Xfer Fees-Rmc 10000001-44040 $45,000.00 $50,046.00 11.21%
Copy And Service Fees-Rmc 10000001-44050 $12,900.00 $8,270.00 -35.89%
Sheriff's Fees 10000001-44100 $43,900.00 $43,900.00 0.00%
Probate Fees 10000001-44110 $550,000.00 $650,000.00 18.18%
Probate Advertisiing Fees 10000001-44120 $24,100.00 $30,000.00 24.48%
Probate Copy Fees 10000001-44130 $21,000.00 $35,000.00 66.67%
Solicitor Worthless Check Fees 10000001-44135 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Magistrate Civil Fees - Beaufort 10000001-4414A $82,000.00 $51,000.00 -37.80%
Magistrate Civil Fees - Bluffton 10000001-4414B $60,000.00 $70,000.00 16.67%
Clerk Of Ct Filing Fees 10000001-44150 $105,000.00 $115,663.00 10.16%
Clerk Of Ct Copy Fees 10000001-44160 $10,000.00 $15,158.00 51.58%
Family Court Fees 10000001-44170 $245,000.00 $235,476.00 -3.89%
Fam Crt Cost Recov'ry Fee 10000001-44175 $25,000.00 $73,700.00 194.80%
Family Court Copy Fees 10000001-44180 $4,000.00 $3,950.00 -1.25%
Master In Equity Fees 10000001-44190 $291,000.00 $100,000.00 -65.64%
Treasurer's Fees 10000001-44200 $13,600.00 $13,600.00 0.00%
Treasurer's Misc Fees 10000001-44205 $15,000.00 $1,500.00 -90.00%
Emergency Medical Fees 10000001-44220 $3,350,000.00 $3,600,000.00 7.46%
Ems - Copy Fees 10000001-44225 $12,500.00 $13,000.00 4.00%
D S O Fees 10000001-44260 $95,500.00 $81,000.00 -15.18%
Animal Shelter Admin Tickets 10000001-44281 $5,000.00 $7,000.00 40.00%
Library Copy Fees 10000001-44300 $2,000.00 $3,000.00 50.00%

118

Item 16.



Copy Fees-All Others 10000001-44360 $1,000.00 $800.00 -20.00%
Rezoning Application Fees 10000001-44370 $2,300.00 $2,500.00 8.70%
Crb - Application Fees 10000001-44375 $4,200.00 $4,200.00 0.00%
Video Production 10000001-44510 $36,800.00 $75,000.00 103.80%
Telephone Srvs - Others 10000001-44720 $14,500.00 $5,000.00 -65.52%
Detention Center Daywatch 10000001-44735 $3,300.00 $3,300.00 0.00%
HHI Holding Facility (Det Ctr) 10000001-44736 $34,800.00 $34,800.00 0.00%
Payroll Services-Others 10000001-44760 $13,800.00 $13,000.00 -5.80%
Credit Card Convenience Fees 10000001-44780 $155,400.00 $2,750.00 -98.23%
Ccard Convenience Fees - Other 10000001-44782 $8,300.00 $8,300.00 0.00%
Sport Fees Adult- North 10000600-44400 $0.00 $9,300.00
Sport Fees Youth- North 10000600-44410 $0.00 $109,700.00
Aquatics Class Fees- North 10000600-44420 $0.00 $11,800.00
Rentals- Center/Fields- North 10000600-44430 $0.00 $11,500.00
Sponsorships- North 10000600-44440 $0.00 $4,000.00
Aquatics Admissions- North 10000600-44450 $0.00 $29,000.00
Senior Revenue- NOB 10000600-44499 $280,000.00
Sport Fees Adult - South 10000604-44400 $240,700.00 $44,500.00 -81.51%
Sport Fees Youth - South 10000604-44410 $246,400.00
Aquatic Class Fees - South 10000604-44420 $14,900.00 $7,000.00 -53.02%
Rentals - Centers/Fields - South 10000604-44430 $7,400.00
Rentals - Aquatics - South 10000604-44432 $20,000.00
Sponsorship - South 10000604-44440 $14,900.00 $13,000.00 -12.75%
Aquatic Admissions - South 10000604-44450 $17,600.00 $18,000.00 2.27%
Senior Revenue-SOB 10000604-44499 $75,000.00

Total Charges for Services: $14,135,800.00 $15,089,113.00 6.74%

Fines and Forfeitures
General Sessions Fines 10000001-45010 $9,500.00 $9,500.00 0.00%
Drug Fines - Gen Sessions 10000001-45020 $2,000.00 $2,418.00 20.90%
Bonds Escreatment 10000001-45030 $15,000.00 $3,000.00 -80.00%
Magistrate Fines - HHI 10000001-45100 $7,600.00 $7,600.00 0.00%
Magistrate Fines - Beaufort 10000001-4510A $245,000.00 $274,000.00 11.84%
Magistrate Fines - Bluffton 10000001-4510B $285,000.00 $265,000.00 -7.02%
Other Fines 10000001-45150 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 0.00%
Library Fines 10000001-45200 $25,000.00 $42,500.00 70.00%
Forfeitures 10000001-45400 $3,000.00 $1,000.00 -66.67%
Late Penalties - Bus License 10000001-45600 $85,000.00 $150,000.00 76.47%

Total Fines and Forfeitures: $692,100.00 $770,018.00 11.26%

Interest
Interest On Investments 10000001-46010 $175,000.00 $155,000.00 -11.43%
Interest Income - Clerk Of Ct 10000001-46150 $700.00 $1,000.00 42.86%

Total Interest: $175,700.00 $156,000.00 -11.21%

Miscellaneous
Miscellaneous Revenues 10000001-47010 $47,200.00 $50,000.00 5.93%
Credit Card Rebate 10000001-47012 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0.00%
Rental Co Prop - Others 10000001-47210 $14,900.00 $25,000.00 67.79%
Sale Of County Property 10000001-47400 $162,900.00 $250,000.00 53.47%

Total Miscellaneous: $290,900.00 $335,000.00 15.16%

Transfers In
Transfers In 10000001-49200 $2,423,079.00 $433,750.00 -82.10%
Xfer Fm Accomodations Tax Fund 10000001-49201 $112,000.00
Xfer Fm Hospitality Tax Fund 10000001-49217 $1,708,000.00

Total Transfers In: $2,423,079.00 $2,253,750.00 -6.99%
Total Revenue Source: $132,662,999.00 $142,118,807.00 7.13%

119

Item 16.



Name GENERAL FUND- EXPENDITURES Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 (In Progress)

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-In Progress 

(% Change)
Expenditures

General Government
County Council

Salaries & Wages 10001000-50020 $490,000.00 $548,629.00 12%
Overtime 10001000-50060 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001000-50100 $30,380.00 $34,139.00 12%
Employer Medicare 10001000-50110 $7,105.00 $7,984.00 12%
Employer SC Retirement 10001000-50120 $81,340.00 $86,443.00 6%
Employer PO Retirement 10001000-50130 $4,000.00 $5,616.00 40%
Advertising 10001000-51000 $2,000.00 $2,500.00 25%
Printing 10001000-51010 $500.00 $1,500.00 200%
Postage 10001000-51030 $250.00 $250.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001000-51140 $1,320.00 $900.00 -32%
Professional Services 10001000-51160 $80,000.00 $80,000.00 0%
Legal 10001000-5116L $100,000.00
Books & Subscriptions 10001000-51310 $49,590.00 $50,000.00 1%
Education & Training 10001000-51320 $12,500.00 $12,500.00 0%
Mileage Reimbursement 10001000-51323 $12,500.00
Supplies & Materials 10001000-52010 $5,100.00 $8,000.00 57%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001000-52612 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Council Supplemental 10001000-56000 $210,000.00 $100,000.00 -52%

Total County Council: $977,085.00 $1,053,961.00 22.325%

Auditor
Salaries & Wages 10001010-50020 $850,830.00 $982,429.00 15%
Overtime 10001010-50060 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001010-50100 $52,751.00 $61,035.00 16%
Employer Medicare 10001010-50110 $12,337.00 $14,274.00 16%
Employer SC Retirement 10001010-50120 $140,898.00 $163,022.00 16%
Advertising 10001010-51000 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Printing 10001010-51010 $19,000.00 $19,000.00 0%
Postage 10001010-51030 $32,640.00 $32,640.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001010-51140 $2,264.00 $2,500.00 10%
Professional Services 10001010-51160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001010-51300 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001010-51310 $4,000.00 $6,500.00 63%
Education & Training 10001010-51320 $3,750.00 $6,000.00 60%
Supplies & Materials 10001010-52010 $7,500.00 $17,500.00 133%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001010-52500 $500.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001010-52612 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0%

Total Auditor: $1,136,470.00 $1,314,900.00 16%

Treasurer
Salaries & Wages 10001020-50020 $967,043.00 $967,043.00 0%
Overtime 10001020-50060 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001020-50100 $60,267.00 $60,267.00 0%
Employer Medicare 10001020-50110 $14,095.00 $14,095.00 0%
Employer SC Retirement 10001020-50120 $161,322.00 $160,143.00 -1%
Advertising 10001020-51000 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 0%
Printing 10001020-51010 $70,000.00 $76,000.00 9%
Postage 10001020-51030 $170,000.00 $182,000.00 7%
Maintenance Contracts 10001020-51110 $9,000.00 $9,000.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001020-51120 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001020-51140 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%
Professional Services 10001020-51160 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001020-51310 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 0%
Education & Training 10001020-51320 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 0%
Bonding 10001020-51530 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Bank Fees 10001020-51989 $300,000.00 $300,000.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001020-52010 $29,000.00 $29,000.00 0%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001020-52612 $17,610.00 $17,610.00 0%
Equipment, Capital 10001020-54200 $7,254.00 $7,254.00 0%

GENERAL FUND- EXPENDITURES

120

Item 16.



Credit Card Fees 10001020-57900 $375,000.00 $375,000.00 0%
Total Treasurer: $2,276,591.00 $2,293,412.00 1%

Clerk of Court
Salaries & Wages 10001030-50020 $670,178.00 $652,140.00 -3%
Overtime 10001030-50060 $0.00
Employer FICA 10001030-50100 $41,551.00 $40,433.00 -3%
Employer Medicare 10001030-50110 $9,718.00 $9,456.00 -3%
Employer SC Retirement 10001030-50120 $111,250.00 $107,994.00 -3%
Printing 10001030-51010 $4,027.00 $4,027.00 0%
Postage 10001030-51030 $17,721.00 $17,721.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001030-51110 $35,641.00 $35,641.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001030-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001030-51140 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 0%
Professional Services 10001030-51160 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001030-51310 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0%
Education & Training 10001030-51320 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Juror & Witness Fees 10001030-51340 $248,444.00 $248,444.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001030-52010 $6,700.00 $6,700.00 0%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001030-52612 $500.00 $500.00 0%

Total Clerk of Court: $1,161,730.00 $1,139,056.00 -2%

Family Court
Salaries & Wages 10001031-50020 $361,208.00 $398,980.00 10%
Employer FICA 10001031-50100 $22,395.00 $24,737.00 10%
Employer Medicare 10001031-50110 $5,238.00 $5,785.00 10%
Employer SC Retirement 10001031-50120 $59,816.00 $66,071.00 10%
Printing 10001031-51010 $6,200.00
Postage 10001031-51030 $8,500.00
Maintenance Contracts 10001031-51110 $11,000.00
Rental of Equipment 10001031-51140 $15,500.00
Professional Services 10001031-51160 $500.00
Books & Subscriptions 10001031-51310 $500.00
Education & Training 10001031-51320 $1,950.00
Supplies & Materials 10001031-52010 $11,000.00
Bank Fees 10001031-57910 $500.00

Total Family Court: $448,657.00 $551,223.00 23%

Probate Court
Salaries & Wages 10001040-50020 $694,084.00 $783,640.00 13%
Employer FICA 10001040-50100 $43,033.00 $48,586.00 13%
Employer Medicare 10001040-50110 $10,064.00 $11,363.00 13%
Employer SC Retirement 10001040-50120 $114,940.00 $129,771.00 13%
Advertising 10001040-51000 $1,700.00 $1,700.00 0%
Advertising 10001040-51001 $30,500.00 $34,150.00 12%
Printing 10001040-51010 $4,000.00 $5,000.00 25%
Postage 10001040-51030 $5,800.00 $5,800.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001040-51110 $5,600.00 $5,600.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001040-51120 $290.00 $300.00 3%
Rental of Equipment 10001040-51140 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Professional Services 10001040-51160 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001040-51310 $3,850.00 $5,000.00 30%
Education & Training 10001040-51320 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 0%
Bonding 10001040-51530 $700.00 $700.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001040-52010 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 0%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001040-52612 $3,163.00 $3,000.00 -5%

Total Probate Court: $944,724.00 $1,061,610.00 12%

Coroner
Salaries & Wages 10001060-50020 $298,850.00 $664,807.00 122%
Overtime 10001060-50060 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001060-50100 $18,840.00 $41,528.00 120%
Employer Medicare 10001060-50110 $4,405.00 $9,649.00 119%
Employer SC Retirement 10001060-50120 $50,439.00 $97,951.00 94%
Employer PO Retirement 10001060-50130 $13,861.00 $15,069.00 9%

121

Item 16.



Postage 10001060-51030 $800.00 $800.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001060-51110 $2,300.00 $1,000.00 -57%
Equipment Maintenance 10001060-51120 $2,000.00 $1,000.00 -50%
Facilities Maintenance 10001060-51130 $5,650.00 $4,000.00 -29%
Rental of Equipment 10001060-51140 $500.00 $600.00 20%
Professional Services 10001060-51160 $341,800.00 $125,000.00 -63%
Non-Professional Services 10001060-51170 $1,680.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001060-51300 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001060-51310 $750.00 $5,750.00 667%
Education & Training 10001060-51320 $4,500.00 $5,000.00 11%
Bonding 10001060-51530 $1,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001060-52010 $21,000.00 $21,000.00 0%
Uniforms 10001060-52050 $6,000.00 $3,500.00 -42%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001060-52500 $10,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001060-52612 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 0%

Total Coroner: $794,875.00 $1,007,154.00 27%

Legislative Delegation
Salaries & Wages 10001070-50020 $53,713.00 $45,236.00 -16%
Employer FICA 10001070-50100 $3,330.00 $2,800.00 -16%
Employer Medicare 10001070-50110 $780.00 $700.00 -10%
Employer SC Retirement 10001070-50120 $8,916.00 $7,600.00 -15%
Advertising 10001070-51000 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Printing 10001070-51010 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Postage 10001070-51030 $300.00 $300.00 0%
Education & Training 10001070-51320 $250.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001070-52010 $500.00 $750.00 50%

Total Legislative Delegation: $68,789.00 $58,386.00 -15%

Beaufort Magistrate
Salaries & Wages 10001081-50020 $1,639,984.00 $1,754,550.00 7%
Overtime 10001081-50060 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001081-50100 $102,919.00 $110,022.00 7%
Employer Medicare 10001081-50110 $24,070.00 $25,731.00 7%
Employer SC Retirement 10001081-50120 $110,645.00 $157,142.00 42%
Employer PO Retirement 10001081-50130 $174,345.00 $182,944.00 5%
Printing 10001081-51010 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0%
Postage 10001081-51030 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001081-51110 $46,000.00 $46,000.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001081-51120 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001081-51140 $17,500.00 $25,000.00 43%
Books & Subscriptions 10001081-51310 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0%
Education & Training 10001081-51320 $15,000.00 $20,000.00 33%
Juror & Witness Fees 10001081-51340 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001081-52010 $38,000.00 $50,500.00 33%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001081-52612 $17,500.00 $11,000.00 -37%

Total Beaufort Magistrate: $2,281,963.00 $2,478,889.00 9%

Master In Equity
Salaries & Wages 10001090-50020 $335,100.00 $320,115.00 -4%
Employer FICA 10001090-50100 $20,776.00 $19,847.00 -4%
Employer Medicare 10001090-50110 $4,859.00 $4,642.00 -4%
Employer SC Retirement 10001090-50120 $55,627.00 $53,011.00 -5%
Postage 10001090-51030 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001090-51140 $750.00
Professional Services 10001090-51160 $750.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001090-51310 $600.00 $700.00 17%
Education & Training 10001090-51320 $650.00 $850.00 31%
Bonding 10001090-51530 $250.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001090-52010 $4,000.00 $2,500.00 -38%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001090-52612 $2,815.00 $13,500.00 380%

Total Master In Equity: $426,427.00 $416,915.00 -2%

14th Circuit Solicitor
Direct Subsidies 10001098-55000 $1,887,500.00 $1,887,500.00 0%

122

Item 16.



Total 14th Circuit Solicitor: $1,887,500.00 $1,887,500.00 0%

County Administrator
Salaries & Wages 10001100-50020 $1,384,195.00 $1,384,128.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001100-50100 $85,820.00 $85,816.00 0%
Employer Medicare 10001100-50110 $20,071.00 $20,070.00 0%
Employer SC Retirement 10001100-50120 $202,546.00 $203,656.00 1%
Employer PO Retirement 10001100-50130 $26,677.00 $29,692.00 11%
Printing 10001100-51010 $2,000.00 $1,500.00 -25%
Postage 10001100-51030 $200.00 $500.00 150%
Licenses & Permits 10001100-51040 $1,000.00 $3,520.00 252%
Maintenance Contracts 10001100-51110 $15,550.00 $15,000.00 -4%
Rental of Equipment 10001100-51140 $1,600.00 $720.00 -55%
Professional Services 10001100-51160 $77,000.00 $77,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001100-51310 $9,191.00 $11,035.00 20%
Education & Training 10001100-51320 $10,000.00 $33,317.00 233%
Mileage 10001100-51323 $2,000.00
Supplies & Materials 10001100-52010 $4,500.00 $7,500.00 67%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001100-52500 $600.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001100-52612 $2,600.00
Contingency 10001100-56000 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 0%

Total County Administrator: $1,940,950.00 $1,978,054.00 2%

Communications & Accountability
Salaries & Wages 10001101-50020 $233,563.00 $262,888.00 13%
Employer FICA 10001101-50100 $14,481.00 $16,300.00 13%
Employer Medicare 10001101-50110 $3,387.00 $3,812.00 13%
Employer SC Retirement 10001101-50120 $38,678.00 $43,534.00 13%
Advertising 10001101-51000 $1,000.00 $75,000.00 7400%
Printing 10001101-51010 $750.00 $1,000.00 33%
Postage 10001101-51030 $100.00 $200.00 100%
Professional Services 10001101-51160 $0.00 $30,000.00
Vehicle Maintenance 10001101-51300 $50.00 $50.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001101-51310 $1,500.00 $51,500.00 3333%
Education & Training 10001101-51320 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Insurance, Vehicles 10001101-51500 $0.00
Supplies & Materials 10001101-52010 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001101-52500 $600.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001101-52612 $4,500.00 $2,000.00 -56%

Total Communications & Accountability: $303,609.00 $491,284.00 62%

Broadcast Services
Salaries & Wages 10001102-50020 $260,318.00 $298,603.00 15%
Overtime 10001102-50060 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001102-50100 $16,636.00 $19,009.00 14%
Employer Medicare 10001102-50110 $3,891.00 $4,446.00 14%
Employer SC Retirement 10001102-50120 $44,434.00 $50,773.00 14%
Postage 10001102-51030 $250.00 $250.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001102-51120 $9,500.00 $45,885.00 383%
Rental of Equipment 10001102-51140 $1,000.00 $3,000.00 200%
Professional Services 10001102-51160 $12,000.00 $41,700.00 248%
Interns, Students, Trainees 10001102-51180 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001102-51300 $200.00 $200.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001102-51310 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Education & Training 10001102-51320 $300.00
Supplies & Materials 10001102-52010 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001102-52500 $4,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001102-52612 $33,200.00 $48,200.00 45%

Total Broadcast Services: $398,429.00 $525,366.00 32%

County Attorney
Salaries & Wages 10001103-50020 $437,035.00 $563,299.00 29%
Overtime 10001103-50060 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001103-50100 $27,127.00 $34,956.00 29%
Employer Medicare 10001103-50110 $6,344.00 $8,175.00 29%

123

Item 16.



Employer SC Retirement 10001103-50120 $72,456.00 $93,365.00 29%
Printing 10001103-51010 $100.00 $100.00 0%
Postage 10001103-51030 $250.00 $750.00 200%
Licenses & Permits 10001103-51040 $4,000.00 $500.00 -88%
Rental of Equipment 10001103-51140 $300.00 $1,300.00 333%
Professional Services 10001103-51160 $300,000.00 $300,000.00 0%
Non-Professional Services 10001103-51170 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001103-51310 $1,500.00 $3,500.00 133%
Education & Training 10001103-51320 $4,000.00 $6,000.00 50%
Mileage 10001103-51323 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001103-52010 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 0%

Total County Attorney: $860,112.00 $1,018,945.00 18%

Economic Development
Direct Subsidies 10100011-55000 $426,388.00 $674,563.00 58%

Total Economic Development: $426,388.00 $674,563.00 58%

Finance
Salaries & Wages 10001111-50020 $960,809.00 $1,243,919.00 29%
Overtime 10001111-50060 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001111-50100 $59,632.00 $77,185.00 29%
Employer Medicare 10001111-50110 $13,946.00 $18,052.00 29%
Employer SC Retirement 10001111-50120 $159,276.00 $206,160.00 29%
Printing 10001111-51010 $5,000.00 $6,000.00 20%
Postage 10001111-51030 $3,300.00 $5,000.00 52%
Rental of Equipment 10001111-51140 $2,156.00 $3,500.00 62%
Professional Services 10001111-51160 $135,000.00 $145,000.00 7%
Books & Subscriptions 10001111-51310 $2,405.00 $4,000.00 66%
Education & Training 10001111-51320 $6,500.00 $12,000.00 85%
Supplies & Materials 10001111-52010 $11,000.00 $12,000.00 9%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001111-52612 $1,000.00 $5,000.00 400%

Total Finance: $1,361,024.00 $1,738,816.00 28%

Risk Management
Salaries & Wages 10001115-50020 $158,905.00 $166,859.00 5%
Employer FICA 10001115-50100 $9,852.00 $10,345.00 5%
Employer Medicare 10001115-50110 $2,304.00 $2,419.00 5%
Employer SC Retirement 10001115-50120 $26,315.00 $27,632.00 5%
Insurance, Bonding & Other Liability 10001115-50130 $1,279,964.00 $0.00 -100%
Printing 10001115-51010 $50.00 $300.00 500%
Postage 10001115-51030 $250.00 $250.00 0%
Professional Services 10001115-51160 $53,000.00
Books & Subscriptions 10001115-51310 $2,355.00 $2,355.00 0%
Education & Training 10001115-51320 $10,495.00 $10,705.00 2%
Insurance, Vehicles 10001115-51500 $637,450.00 $500,000.00 -22%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 10001115-51510 $622,300.00 $540,000.00 -13%
Prof Liability 10001115-51520 $30,456.00 $25,000.00 -18%
Insurance- Other 10001115-51540 $1,140,000.00
Worker's Compensation 10001115-51580 $2,100,000.00 $2,100,000.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001115-52010 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001115-52500 $750.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001115-52612 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%

Total Risk Management: $4,885,446.00 $4,582,865.00 -6%

Purchasing
Salaries & Wages 10001116-50020 $136,573.00 $189,265.00 39%
Employer FICA 10001116-50100 $8,479.00 $11,734.00 38%
Employer Medicare 10001116-50110 $1,983.00 $2,744.00 38%
Employer SC Retirement 10001116-50120 $22,646.00 $31,342.00 38%
Advertising 10001116-51000 $2,850.00 $4,300.00 51%
Printing 10001116-51010 $1,500.00 $1,000.00 -33%
Postage 10001116-51030 $800.00 $800.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001116-51110 $25,755.00 $6,000.00 -77%
Equipment Maintenance 10001116-51120 $100.00 $100.00 0%
Professional Services 10001116-51160 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%

124

Item 16.



Books & Subscriptions 10001116-51310 $700.00 $1,500.00 114%
Education & Training 10001116-51320 $2,500.00 $5,368.00 115%
Supplies & Materials 10001116-52010 $800.00 $800.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001116-52500 $1,000.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Purchasing: $208,686.00 $257,953.00 24%

Assessor
Salaries & Wages 10001120-50020 $1,659,833.00 $1,530,000.00 -8%
Overtime 10001120-50060 $50,000.00
Employer FICA 10001120-50100 $102,910.00 $94,860.00 -8%
Employer Medicare 10001120-50110 $24,068.00 $22,185.00 -8%
Employer SC Retirement 10001120-50120 $274,869.00 $253,368.00 -8%
Printing 10001120-51010 $5,000.00 $10,000.00 100%
Postage 10001120-51030 $10,000.00 $15,000.00 50%
Licenses & Permits 10001120-51040 $1,500.00 $2,815.00 88%
Rental of Equipment 10001120-51140 $3,000.00 $5,635.00 88%
Professional Services 10001120-51160 $200,000.00
Vehicle Maintenance 10001120-51300 $1,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001120-51310 $20,000.00 $37,551.00 88%
Education & Training 10001120-51320 $8,000.00 $20,000.00 150%
Supplies & Materials 10001120-52010 $11,000.00 $16,500.00 50%
Uniforms 10001120-52050 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001120-52500 $6,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001120-52612 $3,000.00 $2,000.00 -33%

Total Assessor: $2,132,180.00 $2,261,414.00 6%

Register of Deeds
Salaries & Wages 10001122-50020 $397,295.00 $357,922.00 -10%
Overtime 10001122-50060 $7,000.00 $5,000.00 -29%
Employer FICA 10001122-50100 $25,066.00 $22,501.00 -10%
Employer Medicare 10001122-50110 $5,862.00 $5,262.00 -10%
Employer SC Retirement 10001122-50120 $66,951.00 $60,100.00 -10%
Printing 10001122-51010 $1,200.00 $1,500.00 25%
Postage 10001122-51030 $1,700.00 $1,700.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001122-51120 $2,000.00 $5,700.00 185%
Rental of Equipment 10001122-51140 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001122-51310 $740.00 $1,000.00 35%
Education & Training 10001122-51320 $4,813.00 $3,000.00 -38%
Bonding 10001122-51530 $350.00 $350.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001122-52010 $11,500.00 $11,500.00 0%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001122-52612 $2,000.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Register of Deeds: $528,477.00 $477,535.00 -10%

Planning & Zoning
Salaries & Wages 10001130-50020 $654,563.00 $821,825.00 26%
Employer FICA 10001130-50100 $40,583.00 $50,953.00 26%
Employer Medicare 10001130-50110 $9,491.00 $11,916.00 26%
Employer SC Retirement 10001130-50120 $108,396.00 $136,094.00 26%
Advertising 10001130-51000 $6,400.00 $3,500.00 -45%
Printing 10001130-51010 $3,200.00 $3,200.00 0%
Postage 10001130-51030 $1,243.00 $2,000.00 61%
Maintenance Contracts 10001130-51110 $44,000.00 $44,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001130-51140 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Professional Services 10001130-51160 $76,000.00 $72,000.00 -5%
Non-Professional Services 10001130-51170 $1,500.00 $26,500.00 1667%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001130-51300 $100.00 $100.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001130-51310 $5,058.00 $5,058.00 0%
Education & Training 10001130-51320 $9,600.00 $9,600.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001130-52010 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001130-52500 $1,100.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001130-52612 $5,750.00 $5,750.00 0%
Direct Subsidies 10001130-55000 $20,000.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Planning & Zoning: $996,984.00 $1,202,496.00 21%

Business Services

125

Item 16.



Salaries & Wages 10001134-50020 $240,100.00 $288,747.00 20%
Employer FICA 10001134-50100 $14,886.00 $17,902.00 20%
Employer Medicare 10001134-50110 $3,482.00 $4,187.00 20%
Employer SC Retirement 10001134-50120 $39,761.00 $47,817.00 20%
Advertising 10001134-51000 $1,200.00 $1,200.00 0%
Printing 10001134-51010 $2,600.00 $2,600.00 0%
Postage 10001134-51030 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001134-51110 $48,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment Maintenance 10001134-51120 $1,700.00 $1,700.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001134-51140 $2,400.00 $2,400.00 0%
Professional Services 10001134-51160 $10,500.00 $10,500.00 0%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001134-51300 $400.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001134-51310 $200.00 $200.00 0%
Education & Training 10001134-51320 $2,450.00 $2,450.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001134-52010 $2,550.00 $2,600.00 2%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001134-52500 $500.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001134-52612 $6,100.00 $6,100.00 0%
Equipment, Capital 10001134-54200 $6,000.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Business Services: $387,329.00 $392,903.00 1%

Voter Registration / Elections
Stipends 10001143-50011 $13,500.00
Salaries & Wages 10001143-50020 $543,585.00 $570,766.00 5%
Election Salaries 10001143-50022 $205,000.00
Overtime 10001143-50060 $45,000.00 $45,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001143-50100 $36,492.00 $51,725.00 42%
Employer Medicare 10001143-50110 $8,358.00 $12,097.00 45%
Employer SC Retirement 10001143-50120 $97,470.00 $138,155.00 42%
Advertising 10001143-51000 $19,000.00 $19,000.00 0%
Printing 10001143-51010 $16,000.00 $16,000.00 0%
Postage 10001143-51030 $70,271.00 $70,271.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001143-51110 $83,810.00 $83,810.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001143-51120 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001143-51140 $18,000.00 $18,000.00 0%
Non-Professional Services 10001143-51170 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001143-51310 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Education & Training 10001143-51320 $45,000.00 $45,000.00 0%
Elections Reimbursement 10001143-51990 -$115,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001143-52010 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001143-52500 $4,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001143-52612 $13,500.00 $13,500.00 0%
Equipment, Capital 10001143-54200 $10,000.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Voter Registration / Elections: $935,486.00 $1,341,324.00 43%

IT: Management Information Systems
Salaries & Wages 10001150-50020 $1,159,155.00 $1,275,605.00 10%
Overtime 10001150-50060 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001150-50100 $72,488.00 $79,708.00 10%
Employer Medicare 10001150-50110 $16,602.00 $18,641.00 12%
Employer SC Retirement 10001150-50120 $193,612.00 $212,896.00 10%
Printing 10001150-51010 $400.00 $400.00 0%
Postage 10001150-51030 $6,250.00 $6,250.00 0%
Telephone 10001150-51050 $550,000.00 $550,000.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001150-51110 $915,367.00 $1,924,152.00 110%
Equipment Maintenance 10001150-51120 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001150-51140 $5,700.00 $5,700.00 0%
Professional Services 10001150-51160 $49,200.00 $50,800.00 3%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001150-51300 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001150-51310 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0%
Education & Training 10001150-51320 $3,000.00 $37,500.00 1150%
Supplies & Materials 10001150-52010 $7,200.00 $7,200.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001150-52500 $5,965.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001150-52612 $750,582.00 $1,534,336.00 104%

Total IT: Management Information Systems: $3,761,521.00 $5,729,188.00 52%

126

Item 16.



IT: Mapping and Applications
Salaries & Wages 10001152-50020 $614,750.00 $683,382.00 11%
Employer FICA 10001152-50100 $38,115.00 $42,370.00 11%
Employer Medicare 10001152-50110 $8,730.00 $9,950.00 14%
Employer SC Retirement 10001152-50120 $101,803.00 $113,168.00 11%
Printing 10001152-51010 $200.00 $200.00 0%
Postage 10001152-51030 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001152-51110 $1,196,107.00 $1,179,120.00 -1%
Equipment Maintenance 10001152-51120 $250.00 $250.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001152-51140 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Professional Services 10001152-51160 $92,070.00 $120,000.00 30%
Books & Subscriptions 10001152-51310 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Education & Training 10001152-51320 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001152-52010 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001152-52612 $13,000.00 $10,000.00 -23%

Total IT: Mapping and Applications: $2,078,025.00 $2,171,440.00 4%

Records Management
Salaries & Wages 10001154-50020 $350,538.00 $371,387.00 6%
Employer FICA 10001154-50100 $21,733.00 $23,026.00 6%
Employer Medicare 10001154-50110 $5,083.00 $5,385.00 6%
Employer SC Retirement 10001154-50120 $58,049.00 $61,502.00 6%
Postage 10001154-51030 $50,000.00 $75,000.00 50%
Maintenance Contracts 10001154-51110 $55,000.00 $61,000.00 11%
Equipment Maintenance 10001154-51120 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001154-51140 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0%
Professional Services 10001154-51160 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001154-51310 $625.00 $625.00 0%
Education & Training 10001154-51320 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001154-52010 $15,500.00 $15,500.00 0%
Uniforms 10001154-52050 $290.00 $290.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001154-52500 $6,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001154-52612 $66,900.00 $45,000.00 -33%

Total Records Management: $669,218.00 $697,715.00 4%

Human Resources
Salaries & Wages 10001160-50020 $391,198.00 $543,934.00 39%
Employer FICA 10001160-50100 $24,254.00 $33,724.00 39%
Employer Medicare 10001160-50110 $5,672.00 $7,887.00 39%
Employer SC Retirement 10001160-50120 $64,782.00 $90,075.00 39%
Empoyee Recognition Awards 10001160-50500 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0%
Advertising 10001160-51000 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 0%
Printing 10001160-51010 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Postage 10001160-51030 $1,500.00 $1,200.00 -20%
Equipment Maintenance 10001160-51120 $300.00 $300.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001160-51140 $2,600.00 $2,500.00 -4%
Professional Services 10001160-51160 $267,358.00 $260,000.00 -3%
Books & Subscriptions 10001160-51310 $2,500.00 $4,000.00 60%
Education & Training 10001160-51320 $4,500.00 $7,500.00 67%
Supplies & Materials 10001160-52010 $12,000.00 $10,000.00 -17%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001160-52612 $20,000.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Human Resources: $828,664.00 $993,120.00 20%

Employer Provided Benefits (Group Health, Workers' Compensation, Tort & Unemployment)
Employer Group Insurance 10001199-50140 $11,450,000.00 $11,450,000.00 0%
Employer Tort Liab Insurance 10001199-50160 $355,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer Unemployment Insurance 10001199-50170 $45,000.00 $70,000.00 56%

Total Employer Provided Benefits (Group Health, Workers' Compensation    $11,850,000.00 $11,520,000.00 -3%

Building Inspections and Codes
Salaries & Wages 10001260-50020 $999,175.00 $1,049,731.00 5%
Overtime 10001260-50060 $550.00 $550.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001260-50100 $61,983.00 $65,117.00 5%
Employer Medicare 10001260-50110 $14,496.00 $15,229.00 5%
Employer SC Retirement 10001260-50120 $165,554.00 $163,890.00 -1%

127

Item 16.



Employer PO Retirement 10001260-50130 $11,661.00
Advertising 10001260-51000 $4,300.00 $4,300.00 0%
Printing 10001260-51010 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0%
Postage 10001260-51030 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001260-51110 $61,520.00 $61,520.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001260-51120 $474.00 $474.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001260-51140 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Professional Services 10001260-51160 $3,420.00 $16,000.00 368%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001260-51300 $350.00 $350.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001260-51310 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 0%
Education & Training 10001260-51320 $6,700.00 $6,700.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001260-52010 $8,800.00 $8,000.00 -9%
Uniforms 10001260-52050 $4,000.00 $3,000.00 -25%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001260-52500 $19,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001260-52612 $750.00 $750.00 0%

Total Building Inspections and Codes: $1,368,572.00 $1,424,772.00 4%

Veterans Affairs
Salaries & Wages 10001500-50020 $131,005.00 $206,000.00 57%
Employer FICA 10001500-50100 $8,122.00 $12,738.00 57%
Employer Medicare 10001500-50110 $1,900.00 $3,000.00 58%
Employer SC Retirement 10001500-50120 $21,695.00 $34,100.00 57%
Printing 10001500-51010 $1,350.00 $1,485.00 10%
Postage 10001500-51030 $1,800.00 $1,980.00 10%
Rental of Equipment 10001500-51140 $960.00 $1,056.00 10%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001500-51300 $750.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001500-51310 $600.00 $600.00 0%
Education & Training 10001500-51320 $7,000.00 $8,500.00 21%
Supplies & Materials 10001500-52010 $4,000.00 $4,667.00 17%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001500-52500 $1,700.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001500-52612 $300.00 $350.00 17%

Total Veterans Affairs: $181,182.00 $274,476.00 51%
Total General Government: $48,507,093.00 $53,017,235.00 9%

BCSO: Administrative Division
Salaries & Wages 10001201-50020 $6,218,153.00 $17,506,492.00 182%
Overtime 10001201-50060 $161,177.00 $933,047.00 479%
Overtime - Training 10001201-50080 $5,896.00 $136,680.00 2218%
Employer FICA 10001201-50100 $395,884.00 $1,151,726.00 191%
Employer Medicare 10001201-50110 $92,586.00 $269,355.00 191%
Employer SC Retirement 10001201-50120 $263,621.00 $888,625.00 237%
Employer PO Retirement 10001201-50130 $855,639.00 $2,869,378.00 235%
Employee Recognition Award 10001201-50500 $1,345.00 $2,095.00 56%
Advertising 10001201-51000 $2,112.00 $7,755.00 267%
Printing 10001201-51010 $6,406.00 $12,925.00 102%
Postage 10001201-51030 $13,419.00 $12,264.00 -9%
Licenses & Permits 10001201-51040 $200.00 $19,390.00 9595%
Telephone 10001201-51050 $44,106.00 $248,320.00 463%
Maintenance Contracts 10001201-51110 $151,137.00 $2,159,163.00 1329%
Equipment Maintenance 10001201-51120 $22,300.00 $51,211.00 130%
Aviation 10001201-51121 $115,000.00
Rental of Equipment 10001201-51140 $13,150.00 $21,785.00 66%
Office Space Rentals 10001201-51150 $29,214.00
Professional Services 10001201-51160 $16,670.00 $52,911.00 217%
Non-Professional Services 10001201-51170 $49,000.00 $91,361.00 86%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001201-51300 $15,000.00 $77,322.00 415%
Books & Subscriptions 10001201-51310 $25,893.00 $57,037.00 120%
Education & Training 10001201-51320 $15,000.00 $104,320.00 595%
Travel 10001201-5132A $300.00 $0.00 -100%
Bonding 10001201-51530 $1,950.00 $1,985.00 2%
K-9 Unit 10001201-51991 $14,688.00
SRT 10001201-51992 $25,517.00
Supplies & Materials 10001201-52010 $90,800.00 $522,459.00 475%
Uniforms 10001201-52050 $115,733.00 $380,707.00 229%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001201-52500 $110,000.00 $614,271.00 458%

128

Item 16.



Equipment, Non-Capital 10001201-52612 $220,000.00 $702,809.00 219%
Communication Equipment 10001201-54140 $58,864.00
Equipment, Capital 10001201-54200 $157,660.00
Buildings & Improvements 10001201-54420 $112,400.00 $0.00 -100%

Total BCSO: Administrative Division: $9,019,877.00 $29,296,336.00 225%

BCSO: Special Operations Division
Salaries & Wages 10001202-50020 $6,151,865.00 $0.00 -100%
Overtime 10001202-50060 $277,034.00 $0.00 -100%
Overtime - Training 10001202-50080 $36,750.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer FICA 10001202-50100 $400,637.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer Medicare 10001202-50110 $93,697.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer PO Retirement 10001202-50130 $1,189,577.00 $0.00 -100%
Employee Recognition Award 10001202-50500 $350.00 $0.00 -100%
Printing 10001202-51010 $5,300.00 $0.00 -100%
Telephone 10001202-51050 $47,546.00 $0.00 -100%
Maintenance Contracts 10001202-51110 $7,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Rental of Equipment 10001202-51140 $900.00 $0.00 -100%
Rental of Buildings 10001202-51150 $30,591.00 $0.00 -100%
Non-Professional Services 10001202-51170 $22,350.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001202-51300 $151,566.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001202-51310 $3,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Education & Training 10001202-51320 $15,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Travel 10001202-5132A $750.00 $0.00 -100%
Bonding 10001202-51530 $2,950.00 $0.00 -100%
K-9 Unit 10001202-51991 $12,760.00 $0.00 -100%
Special Response Team 10001202-51992 $740.00 $0.00 -100%
Hostage Negotiation Team 10001202-51996 $2,286.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001202-52010 $20,382.00 $0.00 -100%
Uniforms 10001202-52050 $185,310.00 $0.00 -100%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001202-52500 $394,958.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001202-52612 $96,365.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicles 10001202-54000 $412,380.00 $0.00 -100%

Total BCSO: Special Operations Division: $9,563,044.00 $0.00 -100%

BCSO: DNA Lab
Salaries & Wages 10001203-50020 $671,510.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer FICA 10001203-50100 $41,634.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer Medicare 10001203-50110 $9,737.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer PO Retirement 10001203-50130 $122,484.00 $0.00 -100%
Telephone 10001203-51050 $1,606.00 $0.00 -100%
Maintenance Contracts 10001203-51110 $82,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment Maintenance 10001203-51120 $1,200.00 $0.00 -100%
Professional Services 10001203-51160 $11,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Non-Professional Services 10001203-51170 $1,100.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001203-51300 $400.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001203-51310 $1,600.00 $0.00 -100%
Education & Training 10001203-51320 $15,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001203-52010 $180,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Uniforms 10001203-52050 $12,800.00 $0.00 -100%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001203-52500 $9,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001203-52612 $38,200.00 $0.00 -100%

Total BCSO: DNA Lab: $1,199,771.00 $0.00 -100%

BCSO: Multi Agency Drug Task Force
Salaries & Wages 10001205-50020 $610,829.00 $0.00 -100%
Overtime 10001205-50060 $55,391.00 $0.00 -100%
Overtime - Training 10001205-50080 $5,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer FICA 10001205-50100 $46,647.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer Medicare 10001205-50110 $10,640.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer PO Retirement 10001205-50130 $122,522.00 $0.00 -100%
Advertising 10001205-51000 $150.00 $0.00 -100%
Printing 10001205-51010 $300.00 $0.00 -100%
Postage 10001205-51030 $350.00 $0.00 -100%
Telephone 10001205-51050 $8,250.00 $0.00 -100%

129

Item 16.



Maintenance Contracts 10001205-51110 $12,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment Maintenance 10001205-51120 $5,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Non-Professional Services 10001205-51170 $5,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001205-51300 $5,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001205-51310 $5,200.00 $0.00 -100%
Education & Training 10001205-51320 $5,000.00 $0.00 -100%
K-9 Unit 10001205-51991 $1,500.00 $0.00 -100%
SWAT 10001205-51992 $25,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001205-52010 $6,450.00 $0.00 -100%
Uniforms 10001205-52050 $22,972.00 $0.00 -100%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001205-52500 $24,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001205-52612 $15,270.00 $0.00 -100%

Total BCSO: Multi Agency Drug Task Force: $993,471.00 $0.00 -100%

BCSO: Emergency Management
Salaries & Wages 10001210-50020 $526,127.00 $0.00 -100%
Overtime 10001210-50060 $7,640.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer FICA 10001210-50100 $33,394.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer Medicare 10001210-50110 $7,740.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer SC Retirement 10001210-50120 $22,376.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer PO Retirement 10001210-50130 $71,129.00 $0.00 -100%
Printing 10001210-51010 $500.00 $0.00 -100%
Telephone 10001210-51050 $7,800.00 $0.00 -100%
Maintenance Contracts 10001210-51110 $28,166.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment Maintenance (Aviation) 10001210-51121 $115,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Rental of Equipment 10001210-51140 $3,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Non-Professional Services 10001210-51170 $11,100.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001210-51300 $325.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001210-51310 $8,240.00 $0.00 -100%
Education & Training 10001210-51320 $5,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001210-52010 $40,700.00 $0.00 -100%
Uniforms 10001210-52050 $8,980.00 $0.00 -100%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001210-52500 $9,422.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001210-52612 $14,800.00 $0.00 -100%
Direct Subsidies 10001210-55000 $10,000.00 $0.00 -100%

Total BCSO: Emergency Management: $931,439.00 $0.00 -100%

BCSO: Communications
Salaries & Wages 10001220-50020 $2,147,197.00 $0.00 -100%
Overtime 10001220-50060 $364,823.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer FICA 10001220-50100 $155,745.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer Medicare 10001220-50110 $36,424.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer SC Retirement 10001220-50120 $390,870.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer PO Retirement 10001220-50130 $0.00
Employee Recognition Award 10001220-50500 $400.00 $0.00 -100%
Licenses & Permits 10001220-51040 $18,625.00 $0.00 -100%
Telephone 10001220-51050 $91,634.00 $0.00 -100%
Maintenance Contracts 10001220-51110 $1,821,532.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment Maintenance 10001220-51120 $50,300.00 $0.00 -100%
Rental of Equipment 10001220-51140 $4,100.00 $0.00 -100%
Professional Services 10001220-51160 $23,200.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001220-51300 $1,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001220-51310 $8,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Education & Training 10001220-51320 $8,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001220-52010 $9,200.00 $0.00 -100%
Uniforms 10001220-52050 $17,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001220-52500 $795.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001220-52612 $2,379.00 $0.00 -100%

Total BCSO: Communications: $5,152,224.00 $0.00 -100%

Emergency Medical Services
Salaries & Wages 10001230-50020 $5,434,485.00 $6,250,000.00 15%
Overtime 10001230-50060 $2,300,000.00 $2,600,000.00 13%
Employer FICA 10001230-50100 $479,538.00 $548,700.00 14%
Employer Medicare 10001230-50110 $112,150.00 $128,325.00 14%

130

Item 16.



Employer SC Retirement 10001230-50120 $1,280,831.00 $1,465,560.00 14%
Printing 10001230-51010 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Postage 10001230-51030 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Licenses & Permits 10001230-51040 $16,200.00 $14,200.00 -12%
Maintenance Contracts 10001230-51110 $170,000.00 $170,000.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001230-51120 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 0%
Facilities Maintenance 10001230-51130 $33,000.00 $33,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001230-51140 $5,000.00 $6,500.00 30%
Professional Services 10001230-51160 $35,200.00 $56,500.00 61%
Non-Professional Services 10001230-51170 $2,200.00 $5,200.00 136%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001230-51300 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001230-51310 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0%
Education & Training 10001230-51320 $25,000.00 $40,000.00 60%
Supplies & Materials 10001230-52010 $300,500.00 $321,000.00 7%
Uniforms 10001230-52050 $45,000.00 $45,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001230-52500 $100,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001230-52612 $13,000.00 $108,000.00 731%
Credit Card Fees 10001230-57900 $500.00 $500.00 0%

Total Emergency Medical Services: $10,373,104.00 $11,812,985.00 14%

BCSO: Traffic Management
Salaries & Wages 10001240-50020 $491,352.00 $0.00 -100%
Overtime 10001240-50060 $7,053.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer FICA 10001240-50100 $30,901.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer Medicare 10001240-50110 $6,282.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer SC Retirement 10001240-50120 $67,416.00 $0.00 -100%
Employer PO Retirement 10001240-50130 $11,881.00 $0.00 -100%
Postage 10001240-51030 $200.00 $0.00 -100%
Telephone 10001240-51050 $45,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment Maintenance 10001240-51120 $12,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Non-Professional Services 10001240-51170 $150.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001240-51300 $3,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001240-51310 $200.00 $0.00 -100%
Supplies & Materials 10001240-52010 $90,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Uniforms 10001240-52050 $4,095.00 $0.00 -100%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001240-52500 $13,943.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001240-52612 $295,325.00 $0.00 -100%

Total BCSO: Traffic Management: $1,078,798.00 $0.00 -100%

Detention Center
Salaries & Wages 10001250-50020 $3,898,318.00 $3,708,970.00 -5%
Overtime 10001250-50060 $350,000.00 $400,000.00 14%
Employer FICA 10001250-50100 $263,396.00 $254,757.00 -3%
Employer Medicare 10001250-50110 $61,601.00 $59,581.00 -3%
Employer SC Retirement 10001250-50120 $40,000.00 $93,813.00 135%
Employer PO Retirement 10001250-50130 $580,000.00 $681,570.00 18%
Printing 10001250-51010 $5,210.00 $5,210.00 0%
Postage 10001250-51030 $1,200.00 $1,200.00 0%
Licenses & Permits 10001250-51040 $860.00 $860.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001250-51110 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001250-51120 $16,000.00 $16,000.00 0%
Facilities Maintenance 10001250-51130 $68,000.00 $68,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001250-51140 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 0%
Professional Services 10001250-51160 $1,554,000.00 $1,685,630.00 8%
Non-Professional Services 10001250-51170 $4,400.00 $4,400.00 0%
Inmate Meals 10001250-51200 $250,000.00 $303,512.00 21%
Books & Subscriptions 10001250-51310 $1,785.00 $1,785.00 0%
Education & Training 10001250-51320 $10,000.00 $30,000.00 200%
Supplies & Materials 10001250-52010 $47,000.00 $47,000.00 0%
Uniforms 10001250-52050 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001250-52500 $10,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001250-52612 $14,641.00 $14,641.00 0%
Equipment, Capital 10001250-54200 $33,755.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Detention Center: $7,278,666.00 $7,445,429.00 2%

131

Item 16.



Animal Services
Salaries & Wages 10001270-50020 $336,540.00 $318,930.00 -5%
Overtime 10001270-50060 $12,000.00 $7,000.00 -42%
Employer FICA 10001270-50100 $20,865.00 $20,208.00 -3%
Employer Medicare 10001270-50110 $4,880.00 $4,726.00 -3%
Employer SC Retirement 10001270-50120 $55,731.00 $53,974.00 -3%
Printing 10001270-51010 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Postage 10001270-51030 $600.00 $600.00 0%
Licenses & Permits 10001270-51040 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001270-51110 $505,000.00 $690,000.00 37%
Equipment Maintenance 10001270-51120 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Facilities Maintenance 10001270-51130 $15,800.00 $15,800.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001270-51140 $600.00 $600.00 0%
Professional Services 10001270-51160 $188,000.00 $100,000.00 -47%
Education & Training 10001270-51320 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001270-52010 $118,000.00 $40,000.00 -66%
Uniforms 10001270-52050 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001270-52500 $15,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Credit Card Fees 10001270-57900 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%

Total Animal Services: $1,287,016.00 $1,265,838.00 -2%
Total Public Safety: $46,885,930.00 $49,820,588.00 6%

Public Works
Traffic Operations

Salaries & Wages 10001241-50020 $274,560.00 $174,467.00 -36%
Overtime 10001241-50060 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001241-50100 $17,178.00 $10,972.00 -36%
Employer Medicare 10001241-50110 $4,017.00 $2,600.00 -35%
Employer SC Retirement 10001241-50120 $45,881.00 $29,400.00 -36%
Printing 10001241-51010 $150.00 $150.00 0%
Postage 10001241-51030 $250.00 $1,000.00 300%
Maintenance Contracts 10001241-51110 $6,800.00 $7,600.00 12%
Equipment Maintenance 10001241-51120 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 0%
Professional Services 10001241-51160 $20,000.00
Non-Professional Services 10001241-51170 $3,430.00 $5,000.00 46%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001241-51300 $700.00 $700.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001241-51310 $1,759.00 $3,500.00 99%
Education & Training 10001241-51320 $3,548.00 $5,000.00 41%
Supplies & Materials 10001241-52010 $50,800.00 $85,000.00 67%
Uniforms 10001241-52050 $2,500.00 $4,000.00 60%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001241-52500 $11,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001241-52612 $9,789.00 $5,000.00 -49%

Total Traffic Operations: $455,362.00 $376,889.00 -17%

Public Works
Salaries & Wages 10001301-50020 $2,045,100.00 $2,357,542.00 15%
Overtime 10001301-50060 $18,000.00 $18,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001301-50100 $127,912.00 $147,284.00 15%
Employer Medicare 10001301-50110 $29,915.00 $34,445.00 15%
Employer SC Retirement 10001301-50120 $342,457.00 $393,390.00 15%
Printing 10001301-51010 $320.00 $320.00 0%
Postage 10001301-51030 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001301-51110 $602,400.00 $500,000.00 -17%
Equipment Maintenance 10001301-51120 $11,500.00 $12,000.00 4%
Facilities Maintenance 10001301-51130 $50,000.00
Rental of Equipment 10001301-51140 $14,300.00 $8,000.00 -44%
Professional Services 10001301-51160 $26,000.00 $25,000.00 -4%
Non-Professional Services 10001301-51170 $401,160.00 $345,000.00 -14%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001301-51300 $2,750.00 $12,500.00 355%
Books & Subscriptions 10001301-51310 $4,600.00 $5,500.00 20%
Education & Training 10001301-51320 $17,500.00 $25,450.00 45%
Supplies & Materials 10001301-52010 $191,225.00 $185,000.00 -3%
Uniforms 10001301-52050 $42,915.00 $51,000.00 19%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001301-52500 $173,000.00 $10,000.00 -94%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001301-52612 $25,325.00 $25,000.00 -1%

132

Item 16.



Vehicles 10001301-54000 $731,820.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Capital 10001301-54200 $0.00 $0.00

Total Public Works: $4,808,699.00 $4,205,931.00 -13%

Facilities Management
Salaries & Wages 10001310-50020 $1,052,467.00 $1,421,472.00 35%
Employer FICA 10001310-50100 $65,253.00 $88,132.00 35%
Employer Medicare 10001310-50110 $15,261.00 $20,612.00 35%
Employer SC Retirement 10001310-50120 $174,289.00 $235,396.00 35%
Printing 10001310-51010 $1,850.00 $1,850.00 0%
Postage 10001310-51030 $250.00 $250.00 0%
SWU Fees 10001310-51041 $98,500.00
HH Police Fees 10001310-51042 $3,200.00
Property Taxes 10001310-51043 $46,000.00
Telephone 10001310-51050 $0.00
Electricity 10001310-51060 $2,050,000.00 $2,192,931.00 7%
Water & Sewer 10001310-51070 $245,000.00 $261,100.00 7%
Maintenance Contracts 10001310-51110 $89,000.00 $150,178.00 69%
Equipment Maintenance 10001310-51120 $220,000.00 $242,000.00 10%
Facilities Maintenance 10001310-51130 $1,543,000.00 $1,770,300.00 15%
Rental of Equipment 10001310-51140 $9,500.00 $9,500.00 0%
Professional Services 10001310-51160 $154,300.00 $471,000.00 205%
Non-Professional Services 10001310-51170 $28,000.00 $35,000.00 25%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001310-51300 $250.00 $250.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001310-51310 $1,475.00 $1,475.00 0%
Education & Training 10001310-51320 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001310-52010 $69,200.00 $76,120.00 10%
Uniforms 10001310-52050 $18,000.00 $20,000.00 11%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001310-52500 $41,800.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001310-52612 $20,500.00 $20,500.00 0%
Equipment, Capital 10001310-54200 $163,027.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Facilities Management: $5,969,922.00 $7,173,266.00 20%

Engineering
Salaries & Wages 10001330-50020 $367,720.00 $613,000.00 67%
Overtime 10001330-50060 $2,500.00
Employer FICA 10001330-50100 $22,800.00 $38,165.00 67%
Employer Medicare 10001330-50110 $5,332.00 $8,926.00 67%
Employer SC Retirement 10001330-50120 $60,894.00 $101,936.00 67%
Advertising 10001330-51000 $500.00 $0.00 -100%
Printing 10001330-51010 $500.00 $900.00 80%
Postage 10001330-51030 $230.00 $430.00 87%
Rental of Equipment 10001330-51140 $3,800.00 $6,000.00 58%
Rental of Buildings 10001330-51150 $2,400.00 $2,400.00 0%
Professional Services 10001330-51160 $15,000.00 $220,000.00 1367%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001330-51300 $200.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001330-51310 $2,140.00 $4,000.00 87%
Education & Training 10001330-51320 $2,000.00 $4,000.00 100%
Supplies & Materials 10001330-52010 $8,000.00 $12,000.00 50%
Uniforms 10001330-52050 $1,800.00 $2,500.00 39%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001330-52500 $3,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001330-52612 $3,500.00 $6,500.00 86%

Total Engineering: $499,816.00 $1,023,257.00 105%

Mosquito Control
Salaries & Wages 10001400-50020 $677,131.00 $771,875.00 14%
Employer FICA 10001400-50100 $41,982.00 $47,856.00 14%
Employer Medicare 10001400-50110 $9,818.00 $11,192.00 14%
Employer SC Retirement 10001400-50120 $112,133.00 $127,822.00 14%
Advertising 10001400-51000 $75.00 $75.00 0%
Printing 10001400-51010 $200.00 $200.00 0%
Postage 10001400-51030 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Licenses & Permits 10001400-51040 $100.00 $475.00 375%
Maintenance Contracts 10001400-51110 $38,360.00 $38,360.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001400-51120 $100,800.00 $100,800.00 0%

133

Item 16.



Facilities Maintenance 10001400-51130 $10,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Rental of Equipment 10001400-51140 $1,500.00 $13,800.00 820%
Rental of Buildings 10001400-51150 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Professional Services 10001400-51160 $7,600.00 $7,600.00 0%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001400-51300 $25,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Books & Subscriptions 10001400-51310 $1,400.00 $1,400.00 0%
Education & Training 10001400-51320 $14,000.00 $14,000.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001400-52010 $556,700.00 $594,400.00 7%
Uniforms 10001400-52050 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001400-52500 $60,500.00 $85,000.00 40%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001400-52612 $800.00 $800.00 0%

Total Mosquito Control: $1,662,599.00 $1,820,155.00 9%

Total Public Works: $13,758,633.00 $14,599,498.00 6%

Public Health
Public Health Subsidies

Direct Subsidies 10001498-55000 $81,000.00 $81,000.00 0%
Total Public Health Subsidies: $81,000.00 $81,000.00 0%

Total Public Health: $81,000.00 $81,000.00 0%

Public Welfare
Human/Social Services

Direct Subsidies 10001510-55000 $54,667.00 $0.00 -100%
Total Human/Social Services: $54,667.00 $0.00 -100%

Public Welfare Subsidies
Direct Subsidies 10001598-55000 $398,000.00 $398,000.00 0%

Total Public Welfare Subsidies: $398,000.00 $398,000.00 0%
Total Public Welfare: $452,667.00 $398,000.00 -12%

Culture and Recreation
Parks and Recreation

Salaries & Wages 10001600-50020 $2,021,605.00 $2,143,590.00 6%
Temporary/Seasonal Salaries 10001600-50024 $150,000.00
Overtime 10001600-50060 $21,300.00 $21,000.00 -1%
Employer FICA 10001600-50100 $126,660.00 $143,505.00 13%
Employer Medicare 10001600-50110 $29,622.00 $33,562.00 13%
Employer SC Retirement 10001600-50120 $338,305.00 $383,296.00 13%
Advertising 10001600-51000 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Postage 10001600-51030 $30.00 $30.00 0%
Licenses & Permits 10001600-51040 $625.00 $625.00 0%
Telephone 10001600-51050 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001600-51110 $42,810.00 $42,810.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001600-51120 $29,400.00 $29,400.00 0%
Facilities Maintenance 10001600-51130 $168,000.00 $250,000.00 49%
Rental of Equipment 10001600-51140 $4,910.00 $4,910.00 0%
Rental of Buildings 10001600-51150 $18,000.00
Professional Services 10001600-51160 $133,000.00 $155,000.00 17%
Non-Professional Services 10001600-51170 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 0%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001600-51300 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001600-51310 $17,000.00 $17,000.00 0%
Athletic Programs 10001600-51360 $98,400.00 $98,400.00 0%
Recreation Programs 10001600-51960 $11,200.00 $11,200.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 10001600-52010 $79,500.00 $86,500.00 9%
Uniforms 10001600-52050 $62,425.00 $62,425.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001600-52500 $53,300.00 $0.00 -100%
Vehicles 10001600-54000 $179,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Capital 10001600-54200 $192,500.00 $0.00 -100%
Buildings & Improvements 10001600-54420 $690,500.00 $600,000.00 -13%
Direct Subsidies 10001600-55000 $135,000.00 $135,000.00 0%
Credit Card Fees 10001600-57900 $3,200.00 $3,200.00 0%

Total Parks and Recreation: $4,448,792.00 $4,399,953.00 -1%

Parks and Recreation - Bluffton

134

Item 16.



Salaries & Wages 10001604-50020 $259,100.00 $1,082,601.00 318%
Overtime 10001604-50060 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 10001604-50100 $16,250.00 $67,307.00 314%
Employer Medicare 10001604-50110 $3,800.00 $15,741.00 314%
Employer SC Retirement 10001604-50120 $43,510.00 $179,775.00 313%
Advertising 10001604-51000 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Licenses & Permits 10001604-51040 $125.00 $125.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 10001604-51110 $15,304.00 $15,304.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001604-51120 $30,000.00
Facilities Maintenance 10001604-51130 $66,000.00 $66,000.00 0%
Professional Services 10001604-51160 $170,070.00 $210,070.00 24%
Non-Professional Services 10001604-51170 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 10001604-51310 $600.00 $660.00 10%
Education & Training 10001604-51320 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0%
Athletic Programs 10001604-51360 $50,000.00
Recreation Programs 10001604-51960 $30,000.00
Supplies & Materials 10001604-52010 $129,300.00 $149,300.00 15%
Uniforms 10001604-52050 $110,000.00
Fuels & Lubricants 10001604-52500 $5,000.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001604-52612 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 0%
Buildings & Improvements 10001604-54420 $17,000.00 $0.00 -100%

Total Parks and Recreation - Bluffton: $741,559.00 $2,022,383.00 173%

Library
Salaries & Wages 10001620-50020 $2,945,900.00 $3,212,411.00 9%
Employer FICA 10001620-50100 $182,646.00 $199,169.00 9%
Employer Medicare 10001620-50110 $42,716.00 $46,580.00 9%
Employer SC Retirement 10001620-50120 $487,841.00 $531,975.00 9%
Printing 10001620-51010 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0%
Postage 10001620-51030 $10,300.00 $10,600.00 3%
Maintenance Contracts 10001620-51110 $109,800.00 $110,000.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 10001620-51120 $300.00 $300.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 10001620-51140 $10,250.00
Professional Services 10001620-51160 $35,650.00 $35,000.00 -2%
Vehicle Maintenance 10001620-51300 $175.00 $150.00 -14%
Books & Subscriptions 10001620-51310 $7,890.00 $5,000.00 -37%
Education & Training 10001620-51320 $3,000.00 $2,000.00 -33%
Supplies & Materials 10001620-52010 $302,975.00 $296,000.00 -2%
Fuels & Lubricants 10001620-52500 $8,650.00 $0.00 -100%
Equipment, Non-Capital 10001620-52612 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0%
Credit Card Fees 10001620-57900 $3,500.00 $4,000.00 14%

Total Library: $4,151,343.00 $4,473,435.00 8%
Total Culture and Recreation: $9,341,694.00 $10,895,771.00 17%

Transfers out of GF
Gen Govt Direct Subsidies

LRTA/ PALMETTO BREEZE 10001198-55200 $337,097.00
MILITARY ENHANCEMENT COMMITTEE 10001198-55202 $100,000.00
BEAUFORT SOIL AND WATER CONVER 10001198-55204 $25,000.00
L C O G 10001198-55210 $140,338.00
LCOG/MPO FUNDING 10001198-55212 $25,457.00
LCOG/ HOME CONSORTIUM 10001198-55215 $75,000.00
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PARTNR 10001198-55240 $375,000.00
SMALL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT CTR 10001198-55250 $40,000.00
VETERANS AFFAIRS 10001198-55255 $100,000.00

Total Gen Govt Direct Subsidies: $947,254.00 $1,217,892.00 29%

General Fund Xfers Out
Transfers Out 10001999-59101 $5,819,701.00 $0.00 -100%
XFER To Daufuskie Ferry Fund 10001999-59202 $180,000.00
XFER To DSN Admin Fund 10001999-59241 $0.00
XFER To A&D Admin Fund 10001999-59261 $0.00
XFER To Victim's Asst Prgm Fund 10001999-59271 $0.00
XFER To School Resource Officer 10001999-59273 $216,667.00
XFER To COSY Program 10001999-59281 $225,106.00

135

Item 16.



XFER To Garage ISF 10001999-59510 $2,920,030.00
XFER To Public Defender 10001999-59651 $1,570,131.00

Total General Fund Xfers Out: $5,819,701.00 $5,111,934.00 -12%

Indigent Care - Beaufort
Direct Subsidies 14010011-55000 $852,775.00 $899,418.00 5%

Total Indigent Care - Beaufort: $852,775.00 $899,418.00 5%

Indigent Care - BJHCH
Direct Subsidies 14020011-55000 $852,775.00 $899,418.00 5%

Total Indigent Care - BJHCH: $852,775.00 $899,418.00 5%

Higher Education
Direct Subsidies 16000011-55000 $4,903,456.00 $5,171,651.00 5%

Total Higher Education: $4,903,456.00 $5,171,651.00 5%
Total Transfers out of GF: $13,375,961.00 $13,300,313.00 -1%

Total Expenditures: $132,402,978.00 $142,112,405.00 7%

Current Surplus: $6,402

136

Item 16.



Name

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND - REVENUES

Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 (In Progress)
Revenue Source

Ad Valorem Taxes
Current Taxes 10400001-41010 $0.00 $3,597,670.00

Total Ad Valorem Taxes: $0.00 $3,597,670.00

Other Financing Sources
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 10400001-48910 $0.00 $9,000,000.00

Total Other Financing Sources: $0.00 $9,000,000.00
Total Revenue Source: $0.00 $12,597,670.00

Name

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND- EXPENDITURES

Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 (In Progress)
Expenditures

Public Safety
Animal Services

Vehicle Purchases-Planning & Zoning 10401130-54000 $50,000.00
Vehicle Purchases 10401270-54000 $0.00 $205,000.00

Total Animal Services: $0.00 $255,000.00
Total Public Safety: $0.00 $255,000.00

Public Works
Public Works

Vehicles 10401301-54000 $0.00 $184,000.00
Capital Equipment 10401301-54200 $0.00 $217,022.00
Other Improvements 10401301-54450 $2,400,000.00

Total Public Works: $0.00 $2,801,022.00

Facilities Management
Professional Services 10401310-51160 $250,000.00
Vehicle Purchases 10401310-54000 $80,000.00
Capital Equipment 10401310-54200 $0.00 $83,027.00
Renovations to Existing Bldgs 10401310-54420 $250,000.00

Total Facilities Management: $0.00 $663,027.00

Mosquito Control
Capital Equipment 10401400-54200 $100,000.00
Other Improvements 10401400-54450 $400,000.00

Total Mosquito Control: $0.00 $500,000.00
Total Public Works: $0.00 $3,964,049.00
EMS (Emergency Medical Services)

Vehicle Purchases 10401230-54000 $0.00 $913,480.00
Renovations to Existing Bldgs 10401230-54420 $1,500,000.00

Total EMS (Emergency Medical Services): $0.00 $2,413,480.00

Parks & Recreation
Vehicle Purchases 10401600-54000 $0.00 $248,000.00
Capital Equipment 10401600-54200 $243,000.00
Other Improv- Special Project 10401600-54436 $5,000,000.00
Capital Equipment 10401604-54200 $152,000.00
Vehicle Purchases-Library 10401620-54000 $76,000.00

Total Parks & Recreation: $0.00 $5,719,000.00

Total Expenditures: $0.00 $12,351,529.00

CURRENT SURPLUS: $246,141

137

Item 16.



SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - REVENUE

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 (In Progress)

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023 (In Progress) 

(% Change)
Revenue Source

Licenses/Permits
Accommodations Tax 20010001-42320 $1,400,000.00 $1,400,000.00 0.00%
Hospitality Tax 20020001-42330 $2,400,000.00 $2,600,000.00 8.33%
Admission Tax 20100001-42340 $2,200,000.00 $2,000,000.00 -9.09%
Hazardous Materials Licenses 22020001-42100 $35,000.00 $37,000.00 5.71%

Total Licenses/Permits: $6,035,000.00 $6,037,000.00 0.03%

Intergovernmental
ACCOMMD'TN TX FNDS-STATE 20000001-43320 $860,000.00 $1,200,000.00 39.53%
Federal Grants 20320001-43780 $178,555.00
Federal Grant Funds 2032CEBR-43780 $75,000.00
Federal Grant Funds 2032GR22-43780 $15,000.00
Federal Grant Funds 2032HMEP-43780 $18,854.00
FC Title IV-D Incentive 21000001-43285 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%
COC Child Support Unit Costs 21010001-43280 $250,000.00 $250,000.00 0.00%
Public Defender Stipend 21100001-43220 $1,000,000.00 $1,225,000.00 22.50%
Emergency Preparedness 22010001-43210 $725,000.00 $725,000.00 0.00%
OTHER FEDERAL GRANTS 22230001-43760 $0.00 $311,513.00
Federal Grants 22420001-43780 $60,200.00 $60,200.00 0.00%
BCSD Revenues 22530001-43660 $527,186.00 $563,771.00 6.94%
CEC Revenues 22530001-43665 $73,115.00 $86,226.00 17.93%
TOWN OF HILTON HEAD REVENUES 22800001-43680 $4,768,201.00 $4,768,201.00 0.00%
Federal Grant Funds 23300001-43780 $0.00 $15,123,000.00
State "C" Highway Funds 23430001-43050 $2,447,801.00 $2,436,637.00 -0.46%
SCDHEC Grant 23440001-43750 $22,506.00
Solid Waste Tire Fees 23450001-43310 $104,000.00 $104,722.00 0.69%
SCDHEC Grant 23480001-43750 $4,750.00
SCDHEC Grant 23490001-43750 $5,000.00 $125,000.00 2400.00%
Grant Revenues 23520001-43920 $33,200.00
Grant Revenues 23520002-43920 $5,000.00
FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS 2400GR01-43780 $0.00 $118,080.00
STATE GRANT FUNDS 2400GR02-43770 $0.00 $43,712.00
FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS 2400GR03-43780 $83,442.00
STATE GRANT FUNDS 2400GR04-43770 $0.00 $3,125.00
FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS 2400GR05-43780 $0.00 $13,613.00
FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS 2400GR06-43780 $0.00 $9,548.00
DAODOS COLAS/ Merit 24020001-43620 $10,261.00 $10,261.00 0.00%
State Mini Bottle Funds 24030001-43030 $61,616.00 $99,935.00 62.19%
DAODOS Federal Block Grant 24030001-43600 $9,043.00 $9,043.00 0.00%
DAODOS COLAS/ Merit 24030001-43620 $2,660.00 $2,660.00 0.00%
SCHOOL DISTRICT 24030001-43660 $11,250.00 $11,250.00 0.00%
State Mini Bottle Funds 24040001-43030 $61,616.00 $99,935.00 62.19%
DAODOS Federal Block Grant 24040001-43600 $205,650.00 $205,650.00 0.00%
DAODOS COLAS/ Merit 24040001-43620 $15,202.00 $15,202.00 0.00%
A&D Step-up Program 24040001-43635 $3,600.00 $3,600.00 0.00%
State Grants 24040001-43770 $3,324.00
State Mini Bottle Funds 24050001-43030 $61,616.00 $99,935.00 62.19%
DAODOS Federal Block Grant 24050001-43600 $115,800.00 $115,800.00 0.00%
DAODAS FED BLK - STATE FUNDS 24050001-43605 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0.00%
DAODOS COLAS/ Merit 24050001-43620 $7,221.00 $7,221.00 0.00%
State Mini Bottle Funds 24070001-43030 $61,616.00 $100,578.00 63.23%
DAODOS Federal Block Grant 24070001-43600 $43,744.00 $26,189.00 -40.13%
DAODOS COLAS/ Merit 24070001-43620 $2,660.00 $2,660.00 0.00%
DAODAS Mat Med Reim 24080001-43645 $11,270.00 $28,570.00 153.50%
DAODAS MAT PHARMACY REIMBURSEMENT 24080001-43646 $35,062.00 $16,200.00 -53.80%
DAODAS SBIRT Funds 24090001-43640 $64,589.00 $68,956.00 6.76%
DAODAS Peer Support Reim 24120001-43647 $83,050.00
SCDSN Contract 24420001-43530 $945,092.00 $1,794,471.00 89.87%
SCDSN Contract 24430001-43530 $70,733.00 $51,715.00 -26.89%

138

Item 16.



SCDSN Contract 24440001-43530 $283,640.00 $158,000.00 -44.30%
SCDSN Contract 24450001-43530 $2,000.00 $30,841.00 1442.05%
SCDSN Contract 24480001-43530 $125,000.00 $132,264.00 5.81%
SCDHHS Billing 24480001-43560 $325,900.00 $375,000.00 15.07%
SCDSN Contract 24500001-43530 $287,340.00 $354,609.00 23.41%
SCDDSN CONTRACT LITTLE CAPERS 24500001-43531 $273,040.00 $354,609.00 29.87%
SCDDSN CONTRACT PEYTON 24500001-43532 $273,040.00 $354,609.00 29.87%
SCDDSN CONTRACT FRASER 24500001-43533 $255,872.00 $340,049.00 32.90%
SCDDSN CONTRACT CHLOE 24500001-43534 $290,207.00 $383,729.00 32.23%
SCDDSN CONTRACT LAKE CROSSING 24500001-43535 $238,705.00 $325,489.00 36.36%
SCDDSN CONTRACT PINECREST 24500001-43536 $255,872.00 $340,049.00 32.90%
SCDDSN CONTRACT CENTER 24500001-43537 $290,207.00 $369,169.00 27.21%
SCDDSN CONTRACT WADDELL 24500001-43538 $255,872.00 $340,049.00 32.90%
SCDDSN CONTRACT DEANNE 24500001-43539 $255,872.00 $340,049.00 32.90%
SCDDSN CONTRACT BOSTICK 24500001-43540 $238,705.00 $325,489.00 36.36%
SCDSN Contract 24550001-43530 $12,000.00 $29,389.00 144.91%
State Grants 25030001-43770 $197,232.00 $207,232.00 5.07%
COSY GRANT MATCH FUNDING 25030001-43800 $217,232.00
Federal Grants 25450001-43780 $500,000.00
DAUFUSKIE FERRY GRANT 25460001-43790 $80,000.00 $80,000.00 0.00%
PALS PARD 26700001-43500 $125,760.24
Federal Grants 27160004-43780 $5,890.00 $5,890.00 0.00%
FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS 27280006-43780 $17,289.00 $17,289.00 0.00%
FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS 27310006-43780 $35,000.00 $35,000.00 0.00%

Total Intergovernmental: $17,613,518.00 $36,253,156.24 105.83%

Charges for Services
Treasurer Execution Fees 20110001-44210 $1,900,000.00 $1,500,000.00 -21.05%
E-911 Telephone Charges 22010001-44670 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 0.00%
E-911 Telephone Charges P2 22010001-44680 $700,000.00 $700,000.00 0.00%
Sheriff's Services 22520001-44710 $129,600.00 $129,600.00 0.00%
DEL WEBB TRANSPORTATION FEES 23240001-44071 $3,104.00
Vehicle Fee 23420001-44250 $2,566,619.00 $2,500,345.00 -2.58%
A&D Fees 24020001-44600 $92,217.00 $79,158.00 -14.16%
MEDICAID PAYMENTS 24030001-44640 $1,470.00 $1,158.00 -21.22%
MCO INSURANCE PAYMENTS 24030001-44645 $15,417.00 $16,654.00 8.02%
PRIVATE INSURANCE PAYMENTS 24030001-44646 $617.00 $216.00 -64.99%
ALCOHOL/DRUG FEES 24030011-44600 $6,331.00 $6,000.00 -5.23%
A&D Fees 24040001-44600 $93,517.00 $29,409.00 -68.55%
Drug Screens/Material Fees 24040001-44601 $585.00
Medicaid Payments 24040001-44640 $3,986.00 $1,791.00 -55.07%
Healthy Outcomes Program 24040001-44642 $47,286.00 $47,286.00 0.00%
MCO Insurance Payments 24040001-44645 $27,121.00 $17,550.00 -35.29%
Private Ins Payments 24040001-44646 $6,120.00 $5,541.00 -9.46%
ALCOHOL/DRUG FEES 24070001-44600 $19,413.00 $90.00 -99.54%
MEDICAID PAYMENTS 24070001-44640 $4,147.00 $4,143.00 -0.10%
MCO INSURANCE PAYMENTS 24070001-44645 $6,684.00 $6,878.00 2.90%
PRIVATE INSURANCE PAYMENTS 24070001-44646 $5,743.00 $7,221.00 25.74%
MEDICAID PAYMENTS 24090001-44640 $19,162.00 $17,103.00 -10.75%
Consumer Fees 24500001-44650 $337,900.00 $371,624.00 9.98%
Families First Contract 25030001-44630 $56,000.00 $56,000.00 0.00%
Ridership Fees 25460001-44790 $35,200.00 $35,200.00 0.00%
Special Purpose 26620001-44420 $18,000.00 $18,000.00 0.00%
Center Admissions 26620001-44454 $22,000.00 $22,000.00 0.00%
CENTER ADMISSIONS - BURTON WEL 26620001-44455 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00%

Total Charges for Services: $6,660,350.00 $6,078,656.00 -8.73%

Fines and Forfeitures
Late Penalties 20010001-45600 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Tree Cutting Fines 20120001-45150 $100,000.00 $150,000.00 50.00%
Bonds Escreatment 22510001-45030 $32,519.00
Magistrate Victim's Assistance 22510001-45110 $93,426.00
Forfeitures 22560001-45400 $20,000.00 $50,000.00 150.00%
DRUG SEIZURE FORFEITURE 22560002-45400 $20,000.00 $50,000.00 150.00%

139

Item 16.



Forfeitures 22560003-45400 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 150.00%
Forfeitures 22570001-45400 $10,000.00 $30,000.00 200.00%
DRUG SEIZURE FORFEITURES 22570002-45400 $10,000.00 $30,000.00 200.00%
Forfeitures 22570003-45400 $10,000.00 $30,000.00 200.00%

Total Fines and Forfeitures: $181,000.00 $491,945.00 171.79%

Interest
Interest 20010001-46010 $50,000.00 $15,000.00 -70.00%
Interest 20020001-46010 $20,000.00 $17,000.00 -15.00%
Interest 20110001-46010 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Interest 21000001-46010 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Interest 21100001-46010 $1,800.00
Interest 22010001-46010 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0.00%
Interest 22020001-46010 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 22800001-46010 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0.00%
Interest 23110001-46010 $84.00
Interest 23220001-46010 $39.00
Interest On Investments 23300001-46010 $0.00 $200,000.00
Interest - Gas Tax (C Funds) 23430001-46011 $11,165.00
Interest 24010001-46010 $1,824.00

Total Interest: $138,158.00 $289,012.00 109.19%

Miscellaneous
RENTAL CO PROPERTY-OTHERS 20050001-47210 $1,000.00 $12,001.00 1100.10%
RENTAL CO PROPERTY- EVENTS 20050001-47215 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
TIMBER HARVESTS 20050001-47430 $126,490.00 $276,490.00 118.59%
Trust Funds Received 20110001-47500 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0.00%
Contribution - Solar DA NOB 20120002-47030 $308,000.00
Contribution - Solar DA SOB 20120003-47030 $54,400.00
Contribution- Employer 20340001-47040 $9,500,000.00
Contribution 20340001-47050 $12,000,000.00
Contribution - Beaufort 21100001-47030 $45,760.00
CONTRIBUTION - COLLETON 21100001-47040 $234,901.00 $285,081.00 21.36%
Contribution 21100001-47050 $47,500.00 $47,500.00 0.00%
CONTRIBUTION - JASPER 21100001-47060 $119,000.00 $119,000.00 0.00%
Contribution - Bluffton 21100001-47065 $45,760.00
CONTRIBUTION - ALLENDALE 21100001-47070 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 0.00%
Contribution - Port Royal 21100001-47075 $45,760.00
Trust Funds Received 22410001-47500 $120,000.00 $120,000.00 0.00%
DONATIONS 22550001-47600 $500.00 $5,300.00 960.00%
TRUST FUNDS RECEIVED - GEN 22580001-47503 $57,000.00 $142,593.49 150.16%
TRUST FUNDS RECEIVED - SEX OFF 22580001-47504 $10,000.00 $25,016.00 150.16%
Road Impact Fees 23000001-47940 $537,050.00 $301,994.00 -43.77%
Road Impact Fees 23020001-47940 $2,970,727.00 $3,029,897.00 1.99%
Road Impact Fees 23030001-47940 $407,000.00 $457,689.00 12.45%
Miscellaneous 24050001-47010 $500.00 $1,080.00 116.00%
Miscellaneous 24410001-47010 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
Miscellaneous 24420001-47620 $150,000.00 $50,000.00 -66.67%
Miscellaneous 24490001-47620 $22,409.00 $22,751.00 1.53%
Miscellaneous 25030001-47010 $5,000.00
United Way Contribution 25030001-47100 $5,000.00
COSY 25030001-47120 $15,000.00 $10,000.00 -33.33%
Library Impact Fees 26000001-47950 $132,111.00 $146,614.00 10.98%
Library Impact Fees 26020001-47950 $483,224.00 $440,040.00 -8.94%
Library Impact Fees 26030001-47950 $45,000.00 $42,458.00 -5.65%
Library Impact Fees 26040001-47950 $72,849.00 $73,832.00 1.35%
Library Impact Fees 26060001-47950 $8,848.00 $8,848.00 0.00%
DONATIONS 26120011-47650 $1,525.00
PALS Impact Fees 26520001-47930 $1,211,088.00 $1,102,597.00 -8.96%
PALS Impact Fees 26530001-47930 $10,126.00 $10,280.00 1.52%
PALS Impact Fees 26540001-47930 $36,267.00 $36,657.00 1.08%
PALS Impact Fees 26550001-47930 $39,318.00 $40,180.00 2.19%

Total Miscellaneous: $6,895,308.00 $28,855,103.49 318.47%

140

Item 16.



Other Financing Sources
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 20010001-48910 $4,012,786.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 20020001-48910 $2,967,020.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 20050001-48910 $1,179,220.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 20110001-48910 $505,788.00
Contr from PY Fund Balance 20120001-48910 $32,280.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 22010001-48910 $2,186,484.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 22520001-48910 $257,070.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 22540001-48910 $8,216.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 22620001-48910 $221,000.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 23000001-48910 $3,361,565.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 23020001-48910 $21,102,724.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 23030001-48910 $3,259,345.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 23420001-48910 $6,717,170.00
Contribution of PY Fund Balance 23430001-48910 $8,774,723.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24010001-48910 $390,128.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24020001-48910 $202,796.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24050001-48910 $41,259.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24120001-48910 $26,803.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24410001-48910 $786,080.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24420001-48910 $274,927.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24430001-48910 $31,423.00
Contribution from FY Fund Balance 24440001-48910 $139,143.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24480001-48910 $268,773.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 24500001-48910 $1,118,012.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26000001-48910 $757,177.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26020001-48910 $3,457,668.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26040001-48910 $465,398.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26060001-48910 $47,515.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26520001-48910 $7,740,234.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26530001-48910 $66,796.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26540001-48910 $346,506.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26550001-48910 $181,095.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 26620001-48910 $305,000.00
Contribution from PY Fund Balance 27010001-48910 $176,014.00

Total Other Financing Sources: $71,408,138.00

Transfers In
Transfer In 21100001-49100 $1,498,131.00 $1,570,131.00 4.81%
Transfer In 22530001-49100 $200,101.00 $216,667.00 8.28%
Transfer In 25030001-49100 $225,106.00 $225,106.00 0.00%
Transfer In 25460001-49100 $180,000.00 $180,000.00 0.00%

Total Transfers In: $2,115,547.00 $2,191,904.00 3.61%
Total Revenue Source: $39,638,881.00 $151,604,914.73 282.47%

141

Item 16.



SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - EXPENDITURES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 (In Progress)

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023 (In Progress) 

(% Change)
Expenditures
General Government

Treasurer Execution Fees
Salaries & Wages 20110011-50020 $1,118,527.00 $987,314.00 -11.73%
Overtime 20110011-50060 $14,480.00 $14,480.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 20110011-50100 $70,246.00 $62,111.00 -11.58%
Employer Medicare 20110011-50110 $16,429.00 $14,526.00 -11.58%
Employer SC Retirement 20110011-50120 $187,626.00 $165,897.00 -11.58%
Employer Group Insurance 20110011-50140 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 20110011-50150 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 20110011-50160 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0.00%
Advertising 20110011-51000 $105,000.00 $105,000.00 0.00%
Printing 20110011-51010 $14,000.00 $14,000.00 0.00%
Postage 20110011-51030 $68,000.00 $68,000.00 0.00%
Telephone 20110011-51050 $850.00 $850.00 0.00%
Maintenance Contracts 20110011-51110 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
Professional Services 20110011-51160 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 0.00%
LEGAL 20110011-5116L $250,000.00 $250,000.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 20110011-51300 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 20110011-51310 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 0.00%
Education & Training 20110011-51320 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 20110011-51500 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
INSURANCE - PREPAID 20110011-51545 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
UNCLASSIFIED OPERATING 20110011-51990 $13,000.00 $13,000.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 20110011-52010 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 0.00%
DATA PROCESSING SUPPLIES 20110011-52020 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 20110011-52500 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 20110011-52600 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 20110011-52610 $20,110.00 $20,110.00 0.00%
OFFICE FURNITURE 20110011-54100 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT 20110011-54110 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00%
Trust Fund 20110011-57700 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Credit Card Fees 20110011-57900 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 0.00%

Total Treasurer Execution Fees: $2,208,768.00 $2,045,788.00 -7.38%

Group Health Self Funding Exp
Group Insurance - Medical 20340011-51560 $13,413,855.00
Group Insurance - Vision 20340011-51565 $800,000.00
Group Insurance - Dental 20340011-51570 $650,000.00
Group Insurance - Worker's Comp 20340011-51580 $2,000,000.00

Total Group Health Self Funding Exp: $16,863,855.00

Clerk Of Court Iv-D Incentives
Printing 21000011-51010 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Postage 21000011-51030 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
Maintenance Contracts 21000011-51110 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Professional Services 21000011-51160 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 0.00%
Education & Training 21000011-51320 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 21000011-52010 $14,500.00 $14,100.00 -2.76%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 21000011-52600 $14,500.00 $14,500.00 0.00%

Total Clerk Of Court Iv-D Incentives: $50,500.00 $50,100.00 -0.79%

Clerk Of Court Iv-D Unit Cost
Employer Group Insurance 21010011-50140 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 21010011-50150 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 21010011-50160 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Printing 21010011-51010 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0.00%
Postage 21010011-51030 $13,000.00 $13,000.00 0.00%
Maintenance Contracts 21010011-51110 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 21010011-52010 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00%

Total Clerk Of Court Iv-D Unit Cost: $61,600.00 $61,600.00 0.00%
142

Item 16.



Pub Defender Trust
Salaries & Wages 21100011-50020 $2,136,805.00 $2,368,057.00 10.82%
Employer FICA 21100011-50100 $140,840.00 $146,820.00 4.25%
Employer Medicare 21100011-50110 $32,939.00 $34,337.00 4.24%
Employer SC Retirement 21100011-50120 $362,036.00 $392,150.00 8.32%
Employer Group Insurance 21100011-50140 $300,000.00 $300,000.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 21100011-50150 $20,000.00 $10,000.00 -50.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 21100011-50160 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0.00%
Printing 21100011-51010 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0.00%
Postage 21100011-51030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Telephone 21100011-51050 $25,000.00 $30,000.00 20.00%
Rental of Equipment 21100011-51140 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 0.00%
Professional Services 21100011-51160 $281,000.00 $244,202.00 -13.10%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 21100011-51295 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 21100011-51300 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 21100011-51310 $12,000.00 $12,500.00 4.17%
Education & Training 21100011-51320 $25,000.00 $32,000.00 28.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 21100011-51500 $6,000.00 $7,000.00 16.67%
Supplies & Materials 21100011-52010 $10,000.00 $12,000.00 20.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 21100011-52500 $7,000.00 $7,000.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 21100011-52600 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00%

Total Pub Defender Trust: $3,381,620.00 $3,619,066.00 7.02%

A&D Administration
Salaries & Wages 24010011-50020 $135,496.00 $260,049.00 91.92%
Employer FICA 24010011-50100 $8,401.00 $16,123.00 91.92%
Employer Medicare 24010011-50110 $1,965.00 $3,771.00 91.91%
Employer SC Retirement 24010011-50120 $22,438.00 $43,064.00 91.92%
Employer Group Insurance 24010011-50140 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24010011-50150 $1,520.00 $1,520.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24010011-50160 $190.00 $190.00 0.00%
Advertising 24010011-51000 $250.00 $250.00 0.00%
Printing 24010011-51010 $1,000.00 $500.00 -50.00%
Postage 24010011-51030 $2,500.00 $1,100.00 -56.00%
Telephone 24010011-51050 $1,550.00 $1,861.00 20.06%
Maintenance Contracts 24010011-51110 $13,000.00 $4,419.00 -66.01%
Rental of Equipment 24010011-51140 $3,925.00 $3,925.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24010011-51160 $5,000.00 $12,546.00 150.92%
Vehicle Maintenance 24010011-51300 $2,300.00 $1,000.00 -56.52%
Insurance - Vehicles 24010011-51500 $2,500.00 $1,836.00 -26.56%
MED/PROF LIAB INSURANCE 24010011-51520 $4,000.00 $6,570.00 64.25%
Supplies & Materials 24010011-52010 $9,000.00 $3,578.00 -60.24%
Fuels & Lubricants 24010011-52500 $2,850.00 $1,500.00 -47.37%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24010011-52600 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 24010011-52610 $1,850.00 $1,850.00 0.00%

Total A&D Administration: $258,285.00 $391,952.00 51.75%

ARPA- Administration
Salaries And Wages 23302000-50020 $0.00 $200,000.00
Employer FICA 23302000-50100 $0.00 $15,000.00
Employer Medicare 23302000-50110 $0.00 $4,000.00
Employer SC Retirement 23302000-50120 $0.00 $35,000.00
Employer Group Insurance 23302000-50140 $0.00 $20,000.00
Professional Services 23302000-51160 $0.00 $100,000.00
Direct Subsidies 23302000-55000 $0.00 $2,000,000.00
Transfer Out 23302000-59101 $0.00 $200,000.00

Total ARPA- Administration: $0.00 $2,574,000.00

ARPA- Economic Development
Direct Subsidies 23302020-55000 $0.00 $1,900,000.00

Total ARPA- Economic Development: $0.00 $1,900,000.00

ARPA- Public Workforce
Salaries And Wages 23302030-50020 $0.00 $100,000.00

143

Item 16.



Employer FICA 23302030-50100 $0.00 $7,000.00
Employer Medicare 23302030-50110 $0.00 $2,000.00
Employer SC Retirement 23302030-50120 $0.00 $20,000.00
Employer Group Insurance 23302030-50140 $0.00 $20,000.00

Total ARPA- Public Workforce: $0.00 $149,000.00

ARPA- Revenue Replacement
Equipment, Capital 23302060-54200 $0.00 $700,000.00
Renovations Exist Bldgs 23302060-54420 $0.00 $1,000,000.00
Transfer Out 23302060-59101 $0.00 $2,000,000.00

Total ARPA- Revenue Replacement: $0.00 $3,700,000.00

A&D Safety Action Program
Salaries & Wages 24020011-50020 $117,928.00 $220,833.00 87.26%
Employer FICA 24020011-50100 $7,312.00 $13,692.00 87.25%
Employer Medicare 24020011-50110 $1,710.00 $3,205.00 87.43%
Employer SC Retirement 24020011-50120 $1,953.00 $36,570.00 1772.50%
Employer Group Insurance 24020011-50140 $7,300.00 $7,300.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24020011-50150 $680.00 $680.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24020011-50160 $135.00 $135.00 0.00%
Printing 24020011-51010 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24020011-51160 $7,000.00 $2,400.00 -65.71%
Books & Subscriptions 24020011-51310 $1,200.00 $1,200.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 24020011-52010 $1,100.00 $1,100.00 0.00%
AV/EDUC/TRAINING AIDS 24020011-52350 $8,000.00 $5,000.00 -37.50%

Total A&D Safety Action Program: $155,218.00 $292,215.00 88.26%

A&D School Intervention Progra
Salaries & Wages 24030011-50020 $57,410.00 $83,906.00 46.15%
Employer FICA 24030011-50100 $3,560.00 $5,202.00 46.12%
Employer Medicare 24030011-50110 $832.00 $1,217.00 46.27%
Employer SC Retirement 24030011-50120 $9,507.00 $13,895.00 46.16%
Employer Group Insurance 24030011-50140 $6,100.00 $6,100.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24030011-50150 $560.00 $560.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24030011-50160 $70.00 $70.00 0.00%
PRINTING 24030011-51010 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24030011-51160 $1,200.00 $1,200.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24030011-51310 $600.00 $300.00 -50.00%
Supplies & Materials 24030011-52010 $1,500.00 $1,117.00 -25.53%
AV/EDUC/TRAINING AIDS 24030011-52350 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%

Total A&D School Intervention Progra: $82,939.00 $114,167.00 37.65%

A&D Community Based Treatment
Salaries & Wages 24040011-50020 $260,166.00 $226,541.00 -12.92%
Employer FICA 24040011-50100 $16,130.00 $14,046.00 -12.92%
Employer Medicare 24040011-50110 $3,772.00 $3,285.00 -12.91%
Employer SC Retirement 24040011-50120 $43,084.00 $37,515.00 -12.93%
Employer Group Insurance 24040011-50140 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24040011-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24040011-50160 $540.00 $540.00 0.00%
Printing 24040011-51010 $400.00 $100.00 -75.00%
Telephone 24040011-51050 $700.00 $901.00 28.71%
Professional Services 24040011-51160 $5,000.00 $294.00 -94.12%
Books & Subscriptions 24040011-51310 $1,300.00 $800.00 -38.46%
Supplies & Materials 24040011-52010 $3,000.00 $2,419.00 -19.37%
AV/EDUC/TRAINING AIDS 24040011-52350 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%

Total A&D Community Based Treatment: $393,792.00 $342,441.00 -13.04%

A&D Preventive Education Progr
Salaries & Wages 24050011-50020 $192,528.00 $203,221.00 5.55%
Employer FICA 24050011-50100 $11,937.00 $12,600.00 5.55%
Employer Medicare 24050011-50110 $2,792.00 $2,987.00 6.98%
Employer SC Retirement 24050011-50120 $31,883.00 $33,653.00 5.55%
Employer Group Insurance 24050011-50140 $6,400.00 $6,400.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24050011-50150 $1,570.00 $1,570.00 0.00%

144

Item 16.



Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24050011-50160 $190.00 $190.00 0.00%
Printing 24050011-51010 $250.00 $250.00 0.00%
Telephone 24050011-51050 $700.00 $716.00 2.29%
Books & Subscriptions 24050011-51310 $600.00 $708.00 18.00%
Special Projects 24050011-51490 $6,000.00 $3,000.00 -50.00%
Supplies & Materials 24050011-52010 $1,400.00 $500.00 -64.29%
AV/EDUC/TRAINING AIDS 24050011-52350 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%

Total A&D Preventive Education Progr: $262,250.00 $266,795.00 1.73%

A&D Intensive Outpatient Progr
Salaries & Wages 24070011-50020 $102,185.00 $86,007.00 -15.83%
Employer FICA 24070011-50100 $6,335.00 $5,332.00 -15.83%
Employer Medicare 24070011-50110 $1,482.00 $1,247.00 -15.86%
Employer SC Retirement 24070011-50120 $16,922.00 $14,243.00 -15.83%
Employer Group Insurance 24070011-50140 $34,000.00 $34,000.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24070011-50150 $1,800.00 $1,800.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24070011-50160 $180.00 $180.00 0.00%
PRINTING 24070011-51010 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24070011-51160 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24070011-51310 $1,275.00 $1,275.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 24070011-52010 $3,000.00 $1,675.00 -44.17%
AV/EDUC/TRAINING AIDS 24070011-52350 $400.00 $400.00 0.00%

Total A&D Intensive Outpatient Progr: $171,779.00 $147,759.00 -13.98%

A&D Medication Assistance Trea
Professional Services 24080011-51160 $2,500.00
PHYSICIAN CONTRACT COSTS 24080011-51190 $11,270.00 $11,270.00 0.00%
Medical/ Pharmacy Supplies 24080011-52300 $35,062.00 $30,000.00 -14.44%

Total A&D Medication Assistance Trea: $46,332.00 $43,770.00 -5.53%

A&D Bridge Program Expenditure
SALARIES AND WAGES 24090011-50020 $50,338.00 $57,330.00 13.89%
EMPLOYER FICA 24090011-50100 $3,121.00 $3,554.00 13.87%
EMPLOYER MEDICARE 24090011-50110 $730.00 $831.00 13.84%
EMPLOYER SC RETIREMENT 24090011-50120 $8,336.00 $9,494.00 13.89%
EMPLOYER GROUP INSURANCE 24090011-50140 $12,500.00 $12,500.00 0.00%
Maintenance Contracts 24090011-51110 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24090011-51310 $350.00 $350.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24090011-51320 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 24090011-52010 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%

Total A&D Bridge Program Expenditure: $77,375.00 $86,059.00 11.22%

A&D Peer Support Specialists
Salaries & Wages 24120011-50020 $65,898.00 $65,898.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24120011-50100 $4,086.00 $4,086.00 0.00%
Employer Medicare 24120011-50110 $956.00 $956.00 0.00%
Employer SC Retirement 24120011-50120 $10,913.00 $10,913.00 0.00%
Employer Group Insurance 24120011-50140 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER WORK COMP INS 24120011-50150 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER TORT LIAB INS 24120011-50160 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%

Total A&D Peer Support Specialists: $111,103.00 $109,853.00 -1.13%

DSN Administration
Salaries & Wages 24410011-50020 $472,271.00 $314,514.00 -33.40%
Overtime 24410011-50060 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24410011-50100 $29,591.00 $19,810.00 -33.05%
Employer Medicare 24410011-50110 $6,920.00 $4,633.00 -33.05%
Employer SC Retirement 24410011-50120 $79,036.00 $52,912.00 -33.05%
Employer Group Insurance 24410011-50140 $53,795.00 $53,795.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24410011-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24410011-50160 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24410011-50170 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Advertising 24410011-51000 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0.00%
Printing 24410011-51010 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Postage 24410011-51030 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 0.00%

145

Item 16.



SWU Fees 24410011-51041 $1,200.00
Property Taxes 24410011-51043 $150.00
Telephone 24410011-51050 $2,800.00 $2,800.00 0.00%
Electricity 24410011-51060 $76,000.00 $50,000.00 -34.21%
Water & Sewer 24410011-51070 $3,600.00 $3,600.00 0.00%
GARBAGE SERVICES 24410011-51090 $2,000.00 $3,566.00 78.30%
Maintenance Contracts 24410011-51110 $2,300.00 $2,300.00 0.00%
Equipment Maintenance 24410011-51120 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Facilities Maintenance 24410011-51130 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Rental of Equipment 24410011-51140 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24410011-51160 $75,000.00 $72,000.00 -4.00%
CLEANING SERVICES 24410011-51210 $18,000.00 $19,700.00 9.44%
Contracted Services 24410011-51220 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24410011-51270 $12,000.00 $15,000.00 25.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24410011-51295 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24410011-51300 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24410011-51310 $1,500.00 $2,500.00 66.67%
Education & Training 24410011-51320 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24410011-51500 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24410011-51510 $7,600.00 $8,000.00 5.26%
Supplies & Materials 24410011-52010 $8,000.00 $9,000.00 12.50%
Medical/ Pharmacy Supplies 24410011-52300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
AV/EDUC/TRAINING AIDS 24410011-52350 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24410011-52500 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 24410011-52610 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
Vehicles 24410011-54000 $38,000.00 $38,000.00 0.00%
Buildings & Improvements 24410011-54420 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%

Total DSN Administration: $1,007,513.00 $789,080.00 -21.68%

DSN Adult Employment Svcs Prgrm
Salaries & Wages 24420011-50020 $874,411.00 $1,084,093.00 23.98%
Overtime 24420011-50060 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24420011-50100 $57,313.00 $70,314.00 22.68%
Employer Medicare 24420011-50110 $13,404.00 $16,444.00 22.68%
Employer SC Retirement 24420011-50120 $153,082.00 $187,806.00 22.68%
Employer Group Insurance 24420011-50140 $281,537.00 $281,537.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24420011-50150 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24420011-50160 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24420011-50170 $300.00 $300.00 0.00%
Telephone 24420011-51050 $8,700.00 $9,000.00 3.45%
GARBAGE SERVICES 24420011-51090 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Equipment Maintenance 24420011-51120 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Facilities Maintenance 24420011-51130 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Rental of Equipment 24420011-51140 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24420011-51160 $25,000.00 $5,000.00 -80.00%
TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 24420011-51230 $285,000.00 $10,000.00 -96.49%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24420011-51295 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24420011-51300 $20,000.00 $12,000.00 -40.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24420011-51310 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24420011-51320 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24420011-51500 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 24420011-52010 $2,500.00 $10,000.00 300.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24420011-52030 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24420011-52040 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24420011-52500 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24420011-52600 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0.00%
Vehicles 24420011-54000 $137,000.00 $137,000.00 0.00%
Buildings & Improvements 24420011-54420 $20,000.00 $18,000.00 -10.00%

Total DSN Adult Employment Svcs Prgrm: $2,075,547.00 $2,019,794.00 -2.69%

DSN Adult Employment Svcs Prgm
Salaries & Wages 24420013-50020 $189,600.00 $78,591.00 -58.55%
Employer FICA 24420013-50100 $11,756.00 $4,873.00 -58.55%
Employer Medicare 24420013-50110 $2,750.00 $1,140.00 -58.55%
Employer Tort Liab Insurance 24420013-50160 $15,000.00

146

Item 16.



Total DSN Adult Employment Svcs Prgm: $204,106.00 $99,604.00 -51.20%

DSN Supervised Living Program
Salaries & Wages 24430011-50020 $38,655.00 $48,269.00 24.87%
Overtime 24430011-50060 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24430011-50100 $2,459.00 $3,055.00 24.24%
Employer Medicare 24430011-50110 $575.00 $714.00 24.17%
Employer SC Retirement 24430011-50120 $6,567.00 $8,159.00 24.24%
Employer Group Insurance 24430011-50140 $11,632.00 $11,632.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24430011-50150 $800.00 $800.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24430011-50160 $300.00 $300.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24430011-50170 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Telephone 24430011-51050 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Non-Professional Services 24430011-51170 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24430011-51295 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24430011-51320 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 24430011-52010 $500.00 $2,000.00 300.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24430011-52500 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00%
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 24430011-52610 $1,000.00 $2,589.00 158.90%

Total DSN Supervised Living Program: $69,858.00 $83,138.00 19.01%

DSN Case Management
Salaries & Wages 24440011-50020 $257,531.00 $184,760.00 -28.26%
Overtime 24440011-50060 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24440011-50100 $16,122.00 $11,610.00 -27.99%
Employer Medicare 24440011-50110 $3,771.00 $2,715.00 -28.00%
Employer SC Retirement 24440011-50120 $43,061.00 $31,010.00 -27.99%
Employer Group Insurance 24440011-50140 $47,148.00 $47,148.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24440011-50150 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24440011-50160 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24440011-50170 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Telephone 24440011-51050 $3,000.00 $2,800.00 -6.67%
Professional Services 24440011-51160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24440011-51320 $2,500.00 $2,000.00 -20.00%
Supplies & Materials 24440011-52010 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24440011-52500 $3,500.00 $2,000.00 -42.86%

Total DSN Case Management: $389,733.00 $297,143.00 -23.76%

DSN Family Support Project
Non-Professional Services 24450011-51170 $2,000.00 $30,841.00 1442.05%

Total DSN Family Support Project: $2,000.00 $30,841.00 1442.05%

DSN Early Intervention Program
Salaries & Wages 24480011-50020 $493,209.00 $508,951.00 3.19%
Overtime 24480011-50060 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24480011-50100 $30,889.00 $31,865.00 3.16%
Employer Medicare 24480011-50110 $7,724.00 $7,452.00 -3.52%
Employer SC Retirement 24480011-50120 $82,503.00 $85,110.00 3.16%
Employer Group Insurance 24480011-50140 $88,688.00 $88,688.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24480011-50150 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24480011-50160 $6,401.00 $6,401.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24480011-50170 $70.00 $70.00 0.00%
Printing 24480011-51010 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Postage 24480011-51030 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Telephone 24480011-51050 $6,900.00 $6,500.00 -5.80%
Professional Services 24480011-51160 $1,000.00 $10,000.00 900.00%
Education & Training 24480011-51320 $5,000.00 $6,000.00 20.00%
Supplies & Materials 24480011-52010 $2,200.00 $4,000.00 81.82%
AV/EDUC/TRAINING AIDS 24480011-52350 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 0.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24480011-52500 $3,000.00 $4,000.00 33.33%

Total DSN Early Intervention Program: $745,384.00 $776,037.00 4.11%

DSN Summer Services Program
Salaries & Wages 24490011-50020 $10,151.00 $10,151.00 0.00%
Overtime 24490011-50060 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%

147

Item 16.



Employer FICA 24490011-50100 $630.00 $691.00 9.68%
Employer Medicare 24490011-50110 $148.00 $162.00 9.46%
Employer SC Retirement 24490011-50120 $1,580.00 $1,847.00 16.90%
Professional Services 24490011-51160 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
CONTRACT SERVICES 24490011-51370 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 0.00%
Client Travel 24490011-51380 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24490011-52040 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
RECREATION SUPPLIES 24490011-52170 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Medical/ Pharmacy Supplies 24490011-52300 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24490011-52500 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%

Total DSN Summer Services Program: $22,409.00 $22,751.00 1.53%

DSN Community Tr Cottage Walk
Salaries & Wages 24500011-50020 $203,703.00 $261,912.00 28.58%
Overtime 24500011-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500011-50100 $14,490.00 $18,099.00 24.91%
Employer Medicare 24500011-50110 $3,389.00 $4,233.00 24.90%
Employer SC Retirement 24500011-50120 $38,701.00 $48,341.00 24.91%
Employer Group Insurance 24500011-50140 $66,257.00 $66,257.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24500011-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24500011-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500011-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500011-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500011-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500011-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500011-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500011-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
GARBAGE SERVICES 24500011-51090 $1,500.00 $2,500.00 66.67%
Equipment Maintenance 24500011-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500011-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500011-51220 $4,800.00 $5,000.00 4.17%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500011-51270 $3,000.00 $4,500.00 50.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500011-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500011-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500011-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500011-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500011-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500011-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500011-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500011-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500011-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500011-52040 $10,500.00 $10,500.00 0.00%
Client Personal Needs 24500011-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500011-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500011-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500011-52600 $1,000.00 $3,184.00 218.40%

Total DSN Community Tr Cottage Walk: $415,785.00 $487,671.00 17.29%

DSN Community Tr Little Capers
Salaries & Wages 24500012-50020 $158,118.00 $245,896.00 55.51%
Overtime 24500012-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500012-50100 $11,663.00 $17,106.00 46.67%
Employer Medicare 24500012-50110 $27,277.00 $4,000.00 -85.34%
Employer SC Retirement 24500012-50120 $31,152.00 $45,688.00 46.66%
Employer Group Insurance 24500012-50140 $66,776.00 $66,776.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24500012-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24500012-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500012-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500012-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500012-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500012-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500012-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500012-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
GARBAGE SERVICES 24500012-51090 $1,500.00 $2,500.00 66.67%
Equipment Maintenance 24500012-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%

148

Item 16.



Professional Services 24500012-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500012-51220 $4,800.00 $5,000.00 4.17%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500012-51270 $3,000.00 $4,500.00 50.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500012-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500012-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500012-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500012-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500012-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500012-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500012-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500012-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500012-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500012-52040 $10,500.00 $10,500.00 0.00%
Client Personal Needs 24500012-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500012-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500012-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500012-52600 $1,000.00 $3,184.00 218.40%
Buildings & Improvements 24500012-54420 $12,000.00

Total DSN Community Tr Little Capers: $384,231.00 $480,295.00 25.00%

DSN Community Tr Peyton
Salaries & Wages 24500013-50020 $208,425.00 $274,638.00 31.77%
Overtime 24500013-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500013-50100 $14,782.00 $18,888.00 27.78%
Employer Medicare 24500013-50110 $3,457.00 $4,365.00 26.27%
Employer SC Retirement 24500013-50120 $39,438.00 $50,448.00 27.92%
Employer Group Insurance 24500013-50140 $66,776.00 $66,776.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24500013-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24500013-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500013-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500013-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500013-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500013-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500013-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500013-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
GARBAGE SERVICES 24500013-51090 $1,500.00 $2,500.00 66.67%
Equipment Maintenance 24500013-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500013-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500013-51220 $4,800.00 $5,000.00 4.17%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500013-51270 $3,000.00 $4,500.00 50.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500013-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500013-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500013-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500013-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500013-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500013-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500013-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500013-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500013-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500013-52040 $10,500.00 $10,500.00 0.00%
Client Personal Needs 24500013-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500013-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500013-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500013-52600 $1,000.00 $3,184.00 218.40%
Buildings & Improvements 24500013-54420 $12,000.00

Total DSN Community Tr Peyton: $422,123.00 $515,944.00 22.23%

DSN Community Tr Fraser Drive
Salaries & Wages 24500014-50020 $196,854.00 $294,108.00 49.40%
Overtime 24500014-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500014-50100 $14,065.00 $20,095.00 42.87%
Employer Medicare 24500014-50110 $3,289.00 $4,700.00 42.90%
Employer SC Retirement 24500014-50120 $37,567.00 $53,672.00 42.87%
Employer Group Insurance 24500014-50140 $77,161.00 $77,161.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24500014-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%

149

Item 16.



Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24500014-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500014-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500014-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500014-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500014-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500014-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500014-51070 $2,100.00 $2,500.00 19.05%
Equipment Maintenance 24500014-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500014-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500014-51220 $4,800.00 $6,000.00 25.00%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500014-51270 $3,000.00 $4,500.00 50.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500014-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500014-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500014-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500014-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500014-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500014-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500014-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500014-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500014-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500014-52040 $10,500.00 $10,500.00 0.00%
Client Personal Needs 24500014-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500014-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500014-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500014-52600 $2,500.00 $4,284.00 71.36%

Total DSN Community Tr Fraser Drive: $418,181.00 $538,565.00 28.79%

DSN Community Tr Chloe
Salaries & Wages 24500015-50020 $235,660.00 $290,332.00 23.20%
Overtime 24500015-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500015-50100 $16,471.00 $19,861.00 20.58%
Employer Medicare 24500015-50110 $3,852.00 $4,645.00 20.59%
Employer SC Retirement 24500015-50120 $43,993.00 $53,047.00 20.58%
Employer Group Insurance 24500015-50140 $77,161.00 $77,161.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24500015-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24500015-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500015-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500015-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500015-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500015-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500015-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500015-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
GARBAGE SERVICES 24500015-51090 $1,500.00 $2,500.00 66.67%
Equipment Maintenance 24500015-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500015-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500015-51220 $4,800.00 $5,000.00 4.17%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500015-51270 $3,000.00 $4,500.00 50.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500015-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500015-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500015-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500015-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500015-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500015-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500015-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500015-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500015-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500015-52040 $10,500.00 $10,500.00 0.00%
Client Personal Needs 24500015-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500015-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500015-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500015-52600 $1,000.00 $3,184.00 218.40%
Buildings & Improvements 24500015-54420 $12,000.00

Total DSN Community Tr Chloe: $466,382.00 $545,875.00 17.04%

DSN Community Tr Lakes Crossin
150

Item 16.



Salaries & Wages 24500016-50020 $77,434.00 $217,567.00 180.97%
Overtime 24500016-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500016-50100 $6,661.00 $15,349.00 130.43%
Employer Medicare 24500016-50110 $1,558.00 $3,590.00 130.42%
Employer SC Retirement 24500016-50120 $17,791.00 $40,997.00 130.44%
Employer Group Insurance 24500016-50140 $56,391.00 $56,391.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24500016-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24500016-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500016-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500016-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500016-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500016-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500016-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500016-51070 $2,100.00 $2,500.00 19.05%
Equipment Maintenance 24500016-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500016-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500016-51220 $8,400.00 $8,000.00 -4.76%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500016-51270 $2,500.00 $4,500.00 80.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500016-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500016-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500016-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500016-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500016-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500016-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500016-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500016-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500016-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500016-52040 $11,000.00 $10,500.00 -4.55%
Client Personal Needs 24500016-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500016-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500016-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500016-52600 $1,100.00 $2,284.00 107.64%

Total DSN Community Tr Lakes Crossin: $251,580.00 $422,723.00 68.03%

DSN Community Tr Pinecrest
Salaries & Wages 24500017-50020 $234,800.00 $227,482.00 -3.12%
Overtime 24500017-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500017-50100 $16,418.00 $15,964.00 -2.77%
Employer Medicare 24500017-50110 $3,840.00 $3,733.00 -2.79%
Employer SC Retirement 24500017-50120 $43,851.00 $42,639.00 -2.76%
Employer Group Insurance 24500017-50140 $77,161.00 $77,161.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24500017-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24500017-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500017-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500017-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500017-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500017-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500017-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500017-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
Equipment Maintenance 24500017-51120 $500.00 $1,000.00 100.00%
Professional Services 24500017-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500017-51220 $8,400.00 $8,184.00 -2.57%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500017-51270 $2,500.00 $4,500.00 80.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500017-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500017-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500017-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500017-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500017-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500017-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500017-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500017-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500017-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500017-52040 $14,000.00 $11,000.00 -21.43%
Client Personal Needs 24500017-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500017-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%

151

Item 16.



Fuels & Lubricants 24500017-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500017-52600 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%

Total DSN Community Tr Pinecrest: $470,515.00 $456,308.00 -3.02%

DSN Community Tr Center
Salaries & Wages 24500018-50020 $246,947.00 $285,673.00 15.68%
Overtime 24500018-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500018-50100 $17,171.00 $19,572.00 13.98%
Employer Medicare 24500018-50110 $40,157.00 $4,577.00 -88.60%
Employer SC Retirement 24500018-50120 $45,862.00 $52,275.00 13.98%
Employer Group Insurance 24500018-50140 $76,641.00 $76,641.00 0.00%
Employer Worker's Comp Insurance 24500018-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Liab Insurance 24500018-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500018-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500018-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500018-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500018-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500018-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500018-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
Equipment Maintenance 24500018-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500018-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500018-51220 $4,800.00 $6,000.00 25.00%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500018-51270 $3,000.00 $4,500.00 50.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500018-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500018-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500018-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500018-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500018-51500 $1,600.00
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500018-51510 $2,900.00 $1,300.00 -55.17%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500018-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500018-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500018-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500018-52040 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 0.00%
Client Personal Needs 24500018-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500018-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500018-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500018-52600 $1,000.00 $3,184.00 218.40%

Total DSN Community Tr Center: $516,023.00 $527,567.00 2.24%

DSN Community Tr Waddell
Salaries & Wages 24500019-50020 $201,170.00 $182,297.00 -9.38%
Overtime 24500019-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500019-50100 $14,333.00 $13,162.00 -8.17%
Employer Medicare 24500019-50110 $3,352.00 $3,078.00 -8.17%
Employer SC Retirement 24500019-50120 $38,272.00 $35,156.00 -8.14%
Employer Group Insurance 24500019-50140 $56,391.00 $56,391.00 0.00%
Employer Worker's Comp Insurance 24500019-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Liab Insurance 24500019-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500019-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500019-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500019-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500019-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500019-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500019-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
Equipment Maintenance 24500019-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500019-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500019-51220 $4,800.00 $5,000.00 4.17%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500019-51270 $3,000.00 $4,500.00 50.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500019-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500019-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500019-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500019-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicles 24500019-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500019-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500019-51520 $250.00

152

Item 16.



Supplies & Materials 24500019-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500019-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500019-52040 $10,500.00 $10,500.00 0.00%
Client Personal Needs 24500019-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500019-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500019-52500 $2,500.00 $5,684.00 127.36%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500019-52600 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%

Total DSN Community Tr Waddell: $402,763.00 $378,913.00 -5.92%

DSN Community Tr Deanne
Salaries & Wages 24500020-50020 $178,851.00 $276,479.00 54.59%
Overtime 24500020-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Employer FICA 24500020-50100 $12,949.00 $19,002.00 46.74%
Employer Medicare 24500020-50110 $3,028.00 $4,444.00 46.76%
Employer SC Retirement 24500020-50120 $34,586.00 $50,753.00 46.74%
Employer Group Insurance 24500020-50140 $66,257.00 $66,257.00 0.00%
Employer Worker's Comp Insurance 24500020-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Liab Insurance 24500020-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500020-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500020-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500020-51043 $50.00
Telephone 24500020-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
Electricity 24500020-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
Water & Sewer 24500020-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
Equipment Maintenance 24500020-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500020-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500020-51220 $8,200.00 $7,500.00 -8.54%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500020-51270 $2,500.00 $4,500.00 80.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500020-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500020-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 24500020-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Education & Training 24500020-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
Insurance - Vehicle 24500020-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500020-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500020-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500020-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500020-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500020-52040 $11,000.00 $10,500.00 -4.55%
Client Personal Needs 24500020-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
Household Supplies 24500020-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
Fuels & Lubricants 24500020-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500020-52600 $1,000.00 $3,184.00 218.40%

Total DSN Community Tr Deanne: $387,116.00 $505,764.00 30.65%

DSN Community Tr Bostick
SALARIES AND WAGES 24500021-50020 $111,885.00 $245,896.00 119.78%
OVERTIME 24500021-50060 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER FICA 24500021-50100 $8,797.00 $17,106.00 94.45%
EMPLOYER MEDICARE 24500021-50110 $2,058.00 $4,000.00 94.36%
EMPLOYER SC RETIREMENT 24500021-50120 $23,496.00 $45,688.00 94.45%
EMPLOYER GROUP INSURANCE 24500021-50140 $56,391.00 $56,391.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER WORK COMP INS 24500021-50150 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER TORT LIAB INS 24500021-50160 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24500021-50170 $75.00 $75.00 0.00%
SWU Fees 24500021-51041 $100.00
Property Taxes 24500021-51043 $50.00
TELEPHONE 24500021-51050 $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%
ELECTRICITY/NAT'L GAS 24500021-51060 $12,000.00 $6,000.00 -50.00%
WATER/SEWER/GARBAGE 24500021-51070 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%
REPAIRS TO EQUIPMENT 24500021-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Professional Services 24500021-51160 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Contracted Services 24500021-51220 $8,400.00 $7,500.00 -10.71%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 24500021-51270 $2,500.00 $4,500.00 80.00%
OTHER VEHICLE OPER COSTS 24500021-51295 $150.00 $150.00 0.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 24500021-51300 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%

153

Item 16.



Books & Subscriptions 24500021-51310 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
TRAINING AND CONFERENCES 24500021-51320 $600.00 $600.00 0.00%
VEHICLE INSURANCE 24500021-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0.00%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 24500021-51510 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 0.00%
Med/Prof Liab Insurance 24500021-51520 $250.00
Supplies & Materials 24500021-52010 $400.00 $1,000.00 150.00%
CLEAN'G/SANI SUPPLIES 24500021-52030 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
FOOD SUPPLIES 24500021-52040 $11,000.00 $10,500.00 -4.55%
CLIENT PERSONAL NEEDS 24500021-52270 $800.00 $2,000.00 150.00%
HOUSEHOLD SUPPLIES 24500021-52280 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00%
FUELS/LUBRICANTS 24500021-52500 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0.00%
MINOR OFF FURN/EQP (NON-CAP) 24500021-52600 $1,000.00 $3,184.00 218.40%

Total DSN Community Tr Bostick: $294,072.00 $457,910.00 55.71%

DSN Cth1 Program
Salaries & Wages 24550011-50020 $3,576.00 $4,066.00 13.70%
Employer FICA 24550011-50100 $222.00 $252.00 13.51%
Employer Medicare 24550011-50110 $52.00 $59.00 13.46%
Employer SC Retirement 24550011-50120 $628.00 $673.00 7.17%
Employer Group Insurance 24550011-50140 $624.00 $624.00 0.00%
Employer Worker' Comp 24550011-50150 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 24550011-50160 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT INS 24550011-50170 $20.00 $20.00 0.00%
Non-Professional Services 24550011-51170 $8,925.00
CONTRACT SERVICES 24550011-51370 $12,000.00 $15,000.00 25.00%

Total DSN Cth1 Program: $17,342.00 $29,839.00 72.06%

Daufuskie Transprt Scdot Grant
Water & Sewer 25460011-51070 $3,200.00 $3,200.00 0.00%
DAUFUSKIE FERRY TRANSP'T 25460011-55540 $292,000.00 $292,000.00 0.00%

Total Daufuskie Transprt Scdot Grant: $295,200.00 $295,200.00 0.00%
Total General Government: $17,063,698.00 $42,519,382.00 149.18%

Public Safety
E-911

Salaries & Wages 22010011-50020 $322,407.00 $288,866.00 -10.40%
Overtime 22010011-50060 $20,000.00 $16,208.00 -18.96%
Employer FICA 22010011-50100 $21,229.00 $18,915.00 -10.90%
Employer Medicare 22010011-50110 $4,965.00 $4,424.00 -10.90%
Employer SC Retirement 22010011-50120 $53,279.00 $53,571.00 0.55%
Employer Group Insurance 22010011-50140 $45,000.00 $55,000.00 22.22%
Employer Worker' Comp 22010011-50150 $3,000.00 $6,500.00 116.67%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 22010011-50160 $100.00 $160.00 60.00%
Employer Unemployment Insurance 22010011-50170 $78.00
Postage 22010011-51030 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Telephone 22010011-51050 $265,000.00 $265,000.00 0.00%
DATA 22010011-51051 $275,000.00 $275,000.00 0.00%
Maintenance Contracts 22010011-51110 $650,000.00 $650,000.00 0.00%
Equipment Maintenance 22010011-51120 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00%
Professional Services 22010011-51160 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Non-Professional Services 22010011-51170 $27,260.00 $27,260.00 0.00%
Books & Subscriptions 22010011-51310 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0.00%
Education & Training 22010011-51320 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0.00%
INSURANCE - OTHER 22010011-51540 $500.00 $500.00 0.00%
Supplies & Materials 22010011-52010 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00%
DATA PROCESSING SUPPLIES 22010011-52020 $16,000.00 $16,000.00 0.00%
Uniforms 22010011-52050 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 22010011-52610 $60,000.00 $60,000.00 0.00%
DATA PROCESSING SOFTWARE 22010011-54112 $132,560.00 $132,560.00 0.00%
COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT 22010011-54140 $1,800,000.00 $2,012,742.00 11.82%
Direct Subsidies 22010011-55000 $145,000.00 $145,000.00 0.00%
TOWN OF HH STATE REIMBURSMT 22010011-55020 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 0.00%

Total E-911: $3,935,000.00 $4,121,484.00 4.74%

Haz Mat Trust
154

Item 16.



Postage 22020011-51030 $100.00 $375.00 275.00%
OTHER VEHICLE PURCHASES 22020011-51295 $5,400.00 $920.00 -82.96%
Education & Training 22020011-51320 $23,000.00 $8,705.00 -62.15%
Supplies & Materials 22020011-52010 $500.00
AV/EDUC/TRAINING AIDS 22020011-52350 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00%
Direct Subsidies 22020011-55000 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0.00%

Total Haz Mat Trust: $55,500.00 $37,500.00 -32.43%

Detention Center Trust
Trust Fund 22410011-57700 $120,000.00 $120,000.00 0.00%

Total Detention Center Trust: $120,000.00 $120,000.00 0.00%

Detention Center Alien Assist
Professional Services 22420011-51160 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 0.00%
MEDICAL/DENTAL SERVICES 22420011-51190 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 0.00%
Trust Fund 22420011-57700 $25,200.00 $25,200.00 0.00%

Total Detention Center Alien Assist: $60,200.00 $60,200.00 0.00%

Sheriff'S Special Services
Overtime 22520011-50060 $215,000.00 $300,000.00 39.53%
Employer FICA 22520011-50100 $7,500.00 $18,600.00 148.00%
Employer Medicare 22520011-50110 $2,100.00 $4,350.00 107.14%
Employer PO Retirement 22520011-50130 $20,000.00 $63,720.00 218.60%

Total Sheriff'S Special Services: $244,600.00 $386,670.00 58.08%

Sheriff School Resource
Salaries & Wages 22530011-50020 $501,898.00 $522,683.00 4.14%
Overtime 22530011-50060 $17,977.00 $22,575.00 25.58%
Overtime - Training 22530011-50080 $300.00 $1,000.00 233.33%
Employer FICA 22530011-50100 $32,251.00 $33,868.00 5.01%
Employer Medicare 22530011-50110 $7,543.00 $7,921.00 5.01%
Employer PO Retirement 22530011-50130 $94,880.00 $116,025.00 22.29%
Employer Group Insurance 22530011-50140 $83,080.00 $105,400.00 26.87%
Employer Worker' Comp 22530011-50150 $5,976.00 $13,584.00 127.31%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 22530011-50160 $6,400.00 $12,472.00 94.88%
EMPLOYER UNEMPLOYMENT 22530011-50170 $400.00 $136.00 -66.00%
Vehicle Maintenance 22530011-51300 $9,490.00 $6,500.00 -31.51%
Books & Subscriptions 22530011-51310 $200.00 $200.00 0.00%
Education & Training 22530011-51320 $13,000.00 $5,000.00 -61.54%
Insurance - Vehicles 22530011-51500 $9,260.00 $5,800.00 -37.37%
Uniforms 22530011-52050 $2,700.00 $5,500.00 103.70%
Fuels & Lubricants 22530011-52500 $14,447.00 $8,000.00 -44.63%

Total Sheriff School Resource: $800,402.00 $866,664.00 8.28%

Sheriff Special Grant
REPAIRS TO EQUIPMENT 22540011-51120 $8,216.00 $8,216.00 0.00%

Total Sheriff Special Grant: $8,216.00 $8,216.00 0.00%

Sheriff Alzeimers Fund
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 22550011-52610 $1,375.00 $5,300.00 285.45%

Total Sheriff Alzeimers Fund: $1,375.00 $5,300.00 285.45%

Sheriff
Trust Fund 22560011-57700 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%

Total Sheriff: $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%

Sheriff Drug Restricted Doj Ex
TRUST FUNDS DISBURSED 22560012-57700 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%

Total Sheriff Drug Restricted Doj Ex: $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%

Sheriff Trust Funds Disbursed
TRUST FUNDS DISBURSED 22560013-57700 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0.00%

Total Sheriff Trust Funds Disbursed: $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0.00%

Sheriff Drug Restricted
155

Item 16.



TRUST FUNDS DISBURSED 22570011-57700 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%
Total Sheriff Drug Restricted: $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%

Sheriff Drug Rrestricted DOJ
TRUST FUNDS DISBURSED 22570012-57700 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%

Total Sheriff Drug Rrestricted DOJ: $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%

Sheriff Drug Restricted Ust
TRUST FUNDS DISBURSED 22570013-57700 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%

Total Sheriff Drug Restricted Ust: $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0.00%

Sheriff Drug Trust
TRUST FUNDS DISBURSED - GEN 22580011-57703 $57,000.00 $57,000.00 0.00%
TRUST FUNDS DISBURSED - SEX OF 22580011-57704 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 0.00%

Total Sheriff Drug Trust: $67,000.00 $67,000.00 0.00%

Sheriff Body Cameras
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 22620011-52610 $274,581.00 $221,000.00 -19.51%

Total Sheriff Body Cameras: $274,581.00 $221,000.00 -19.51%

Sheriff'S HHI Service Fees
SALARIES AND WAGES 22800011-50020 $2,620,314.00 $2,847,950.00 8.69%
OVERTIME 22800011-50060 $162,588.00 $260,340.00 60.12%
OVERTIME/TRAINING SCHOOL 22800011-50080 $26,000.00 $55,650.00 114.04%
EMPLOYER FICA 22800011-50100 $163,255.00 $196,164.00 20.16%
EMPLOYER MEDICARE 22800011-50110 $38,181.00 $45,877.00 20.16%
EMPLOYER SC RETIREMENT 22800011-50120 $26,475.00 $31,384.00 18.54%
EMPLOYER PO RETIREMENT 22800011-50130 $475,859.00 $634,060.00 33.25%
Employer Group Insurance 22800011-50140 $553,350.00
Employer Work Comp Insurance 22800011-50150 $76,292.00
Employer Tort Liability 22800011-50160 $60,921.00
Employer Unemployment Insurance 22800011-50170 $766.00
PRINTING 22800011-51010 $1,200.00 $500.00 -58.33%
TELEPHONE 22800011-51050 $13,500.00 $16,000.00 18.52%
ELECTRICITY/NAT'L GAS 22800011-51060 $49,750.00 $31,000.00 -37.69%
WATER/SEWER 22800011-51070 $1,200.00 $1,200.00 0.00%
MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 22800011-51110 $5,300.00 $5,600.00 5.66%
REPAIRS TO EQUIPMENT 22800011-51120 $4,500.00
NON-PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 22800011-51170 $2,700.00 $1,300.00 -51.85%
GARAGE REPAIRS & MAINT 22800011-51300 $62,000.00 $45,000.00 -27.42%
BOOKS,SUBS,MEMBERSHIPS 22800011-51310 $3,250.00 $3,250.00 0.00%
TRAINING AND CONFERENCES 22800011-51320 $10,000.00 $17,000.00 70.00%
VEHICLE INSURANCE 22800011-51500 $31,636.00 $36,898.00 16.63%
INSURANCE - OTHER 22800011-51540 $560.00 $150.00 -73.21%
UNCLASSIFIED-K-9 UNIT 22800011-51991 $400.00 $400.00 0.00%
SUPPLIES-OFFICE/PHOTO/ETC 22800011-52010 $12,500.00 $18,000.00 44.00%
UNIFORMS 22800011-52050 $23,250.00 $35,000.00 50.54%
FUELS/LUBRICANTS 22800011-52500 $110,000.00 $168,000.00 52.73%

Total Sheriff'S HHI Service Fees: $3,897,331.00 $5,146,552.00 32.05%

DNA Lab Grant
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 27010011-52610 $176,014.00 $176,014.00 0.00%

Total DNA Lab Grant: $176,014.00 $176,014.00 0.00%

2019-Dj-Bx-0210 Backlog Exp
MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 27160014-51110 $5,890.00 $5,890.00 0.00%

Total 2019-Dj-Bx-0210 Backlog Exp: $5,890.00 $5,890.00 0.00%

Jag 2020: 2020-Dj-Bx-0138
MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 27280016-51110 $17,289.00 $17,289.00 0.00%

Total Jag 2020: 2020-Dj-Bx-0138: $17,289.00 $17,289.00 0.00%

DNA Grant
MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 27310016-51110 $35,000.00 $35,000.00 0.00%

Total DNA Grant: $35,000.00 $35,000.00 0.00%
156

Item 16.



Total Public Safety: $10,302,304.00 $11,489,779.00 11.53%

Public Works
Road Impact Fees - HHI/Daufusk

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 23000011-51160 $690,161.00 $732,712.00 6.17%
Road Improvements 23000011-54500 $2,760,645.00 $2,930,847.00 6.17%

Total Road Impact Fees - HHI/Daufusk: $3,450,806.00 $3,663,559.00 6.17%

Road Impact Fees - Bluffton
Professional Services 23020011-51160 $4,420,653.00 $4,826,524.00 9.18%
Road Improvements 23020011-54500 $15,980,409.00 $18,086,097.00 13.18%
XFER TO BLUFN PARKWAY DSF 23020011-59325 $1,220,000.00 $1,220,000.00 0.00%

Total Road Impact Fees - Bluffton: $21,621,062.00 $24,132,621.00 11.62%

Road Impact Fees - N Beaufort
Professional Services 23030011-51160 $690,835.00 $743,407.00 7.61%
Road Improvements 23030011-54500 $2,655,017.00 $2,973,627.00 12.00%

Total Road Impact Fees - N Beaufort: $3,345,852.00 $3,717,034.00 11.09%

Ctc - State Gas Tax Expenditur
Professional Services 23430011-51160 $3,500.00 $2,000.00 -42.86%
Road Improvements 23430011-54500 $3,253,256.00 $9,220,525.00 183.42%
BC ROAD RESURFACING YR 5 23430011-54948 $2,000,000.00

Total Ctc - State Gas Tax Expenditur: $4,581,756.00 $11,222,525.00 144.94%

Dhec Oil Collect Stations
Advertising 23440011-51000 $4,000.00
Recycling 23440011-51167 $700.00
Education & Training 23440011-51320 $750.00
OTHER SUPPLIES 23440011-52400 $3,569.00 $17,056.00 377.89%

Total Dhec Oil Collect Stations: $3,569.00 $22,506.00 530.60%

Dhec Tire Recycling
Professional Services 23450011-51160 $104,000.00 $104,722.00 0.69%

Total Dhec Tire Recycling: $104,000.00 $104,722.00 0.69%

Dhec Waste Tire Grant
Advertising 23480011-51000 $4,000.00
TRAINING 23480011-51320 $750.00

Total Dhec Waste Tire Grant: $4,750.00

Dhec Solid Waste Grant
Advertising 23490011-51000 $6,400.00 $4,000.00 -37.50%
Printing 23490011-51010 $1,000.00
OTHER SUPPLIES 23490011-52400 $120,000.00

Total Dhec Solid Waste Grant: $6,400.00 $125,000.00 1853.13%

Palmetto Pride Enforcement Gra
Cleaning Services 23520011-51210 $25,000.00
Dues & Subscriptions 23520011-51310 $3,000.00
Other Supplies 23520011-52400 $5,200.00

Total Palmetto Pride Enforcement Gra: $33,200.00

Palmetto Pride Community Expen
Advertising 23520012-51000 $1,800.00
Books & Subscriptions 23520012-51310 $1,150.00
OTHER SUPPLIES 23520012-52400 $1,050.00
Palmetto Pride Expenditures 23520012-52420 $1,000.00

Total Palmetto Pride Community Expen: $5,000.00

'Tag' Funded Road Imrpv'S
Professional Services 2342001T-51160 $1,248,083.00 $1,843,503.00 47.71%
Road Improvements 2342001T-54500 $4,472,472.00 $5,874,013.00 31.34%
DIRT ROAD 52 2342001T-54945 $2,000,000.00 $1,500,000.00 -25.00%

Total 'Tag' Funded Road Imrpv'S: $8,320,555.00 $9,217,516.00 10.78%
157

Item 16.



Total Public Works: $41,794,746.00 $52,248,433.00 25.01%

Public Health
ARPA- Public Health

Professional Services 23302010-51160 $0.00 $100,000.00
Supplies & Materials 23302010-52010 $0.00 $50,000.00
Renovations Exist Bldgs 23302010-54420 $0.00 $3,000,000.00
Direct Subsidies 23302010-55000 $0.00 $3,850,000.00

Total ARPA- Public Health: $0.00 $7,000,000.00

Public Welfare
COSY

Salaries & Wages 25030011-50020 $263,333.00 $315,916.00 19.97%
Employer FICA 25030011-50100 $15,821.00 $19,587.00 23.80%
Employer Medicare 25030011-50110 $3,700.00 $4,581.00 23.81%
Employer SC Retirement 25030011-50120 $38,034.00 $52,316.00 37.55%
Employer Tort Lab Insurance 25030011-50160 $768.00 $768.00 0.00%
Advertising 25030011-51000 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Printing 25030011-51010 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%
Postage 25030011-51030 $150.00 $50.00 -66.67%
Telephone 25030011-51050 $1,600.00 $3,000.00 87.50%
Professional Services 25030011-51160 $20,000.00 $6,000.00 -70.00%
PROF SERV - FAMILIES FIRST CON 25030011-51165 $36,000.00 $36,000.00 0.00%
Non-Professional Services 25030011-51170 $1,000.00
Books & Subscriptions 25030011-51310 $100.00 $1,500.00 1400.00%
Education & Training 25030011-51320 $1,000.00 $1,800.00 80.00%
Supplies & Materials 25030011-52010 $1,800.00 $1,600.00 -11.11%
Equipment, Non-Capital 25030011-52612 $2,000.00
SC DEPT OF HEALTH (COSY) 25030011-55005 $98,616.00 $103,616.00 5.07%

Total COSY: $503,338.00 $549,934.00 9.26%

HUD - Homes Program Grant
L C O G 25450011-55210 $500,000.00

Total HUD - Homes Program Grant: $500,000.00
Total Public Welfare: $503,338.00 $1,049,934.00 108.59%

Culture and Recreation
State Accommodations Tax

Direct Subsidies 20000011-55000 $542,750.00 $763,750.00 40.72%
BFT CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 20000011-55240 $125,250.00 $176,250.00 40.72%
HHI - BLUFFTON CHAMBER OF COMM 20000011-55280 $125,250.00 $176,250.00 40.72%
XFER TO GENERAL FUND 20000011-59100 $66,750.00 $83,750.00 25.47%

Total State Accommodations Tax: $860,000.00 $1,200,000.00 39.53%

Local Accommodations Tax
Penn Center ATAX 20010011-54125 $704,928.21
WHITEHALL BRIDGE 20010011-54129 $234,482.22
Beaufort County Public Works 20010021-54124 $32,465.00
BEAUFORT COUNTY CAPITAL PROJECTS 20010021-54128 $466,500.00
CITY OF BEAUFORT 20010021-54129 $350,000.00
Direct Subsidies 20010011-55000 $1,612,000.00
OTHER SUBSIDIES 20010011-55010 $2,579,920.00 $1,310,355.00 -49.21%
COUNTY WIDE ADVERTISING 20010011-55100 $350,000.00 $350,000.00 0.00%
RIVER / BEACH ACCESS PROJECTS 20010011-55120 $46,000.00
COMMUNITY FOUNDATION OF THE LOWCOUNTRY 20010021-55003 $321,055.00

Total Local Accommodations Tax: $2,929,920.00 $5,427,785.43 85.25%

Local Hospitality Tax
SPANISH MOSS TRAIL 20020011-54126 $76,980.75
Beaufort County Public Works 20020021-54124 $69,844.92
BEAUFORT COUNTY PARKS & REC 20020021-54151 $384,741.00
Direct Subsidies 20020011-55000 $2,396,736.00 $2,589,453.00 8.04%
PORT ROYAL FOUNDATION & MUSEUM 20020021-55004 $5,000.00
COASTAL DISCOVERY MUSEUM 20020021-55006 $750,000.00
XFER TO GENERAL FUND 20020011-59100 $1,500,000.00 $1,708,000.00 13.87%

158

Item 16.



Total Local Hospitality Tax: $3,896,736.00 $5,584,019.67 43.30%

Local Admissions Fees
XFER TO BLUFN PARKWAY D S FUND 20100011-59325 $2,000,000.00 $2,000,000.00 0.00%

Total Local Admissions Fees: $2,000,000.00 $2,000,000.00 0.00%

Library Impact - HHI/Daufuskie
Professional Services 26000011-51160 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%
RENOVATIONS EXIST BLDGS 26000011-54420 $853,791.00

Total Library Impact - HHI/Daufuskie: $780,975.00 $903,791.00 15.73%

Library Impact - Bluffton
Professional Services 26020011-51160 $2,500,000.00 $2,500,000.00 0.00%
RENOVATIONS EXIST BLDGS 26020011-54420 $1,397,708.00

Total Library Impact - Bluffton: $3,817,817.00 $3,897,708.00 2.09%

Library Impact - Lish
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 26040011-51160 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0.00%
Equipment, Capital 26040011-54200 $455,578.00 $489,230.00 7.39%

Total Library Impact - Lish: $505,578.00 $539,230.00 6.66%

Library Impact - Sheldon
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 26060011-51160 $30,661.00 $15,000.00 -51.08%
Equipment, Capital 26060011-54200 $41,363.00

Total Library Impact - Sheldon: $45,661.00 $56,363.00 23.44%

Pals Impact Fees - Bluffton
Professional Services 26520011-51160 $1,746,376.00 $1,768,566.00 1.27%
Debt Service - Principal 26520011-53000 $222,392.00 $231,390.00 4.05%
Debt Service - Interest 26520011-53010 $123,239.00 $114,343.00 -7.22%
Buildings & Improvements 26520011-54420 $6,228,532.00
BRACE 26520011-54454 $500,000.00

Total Pals Impact Fees - Bluffton: $8,407,017.00 $8,842,831.00 5.18%

Pals Impact Fees - Burton
Buildings & Improvements 26530011-54420 $77,076.00

Total Pals Impact Fees - Burton: $70,640.00 $77,076.00 9.11%

Pals Impact Fees - Ladys Isl
Buildings & Improvements 26540011-54420 $383,163.00

Total Pals Impact Fees - Ladys Isl: $330,780.00 $383,163.00 15.84%

Pals Impact Fees - St Helena
Equipment, Capital 26550011-54200 $126,567.00 $221,275.00 74.83%

Total Pals Impact Fees - St Helena: $158,209.00 $221,275.00 39.86%

Pals Special Capital Program
RECREATION EQUIPMENT 26620011-54150 $42,000.00 $305,000.00 626.19%

Total Pals Special Capital Program: $42,000.00 $305,000.00 626.19%

Pals Pard Grant
Buildings & Improvements 26700011-54420 $125,760.24

Total Pals Pard Grant: $125,760.24
Total Culture and Recreation: $23,890,333.00 $29,564,002.34 23.75%

Reforestation Trust
Professional Services 20120011-51160 $100,000.00 $32,280.00 -67.72%
Professional Services 20120012-51160 $15,840.00

Total Reforestation Trust: $100,000.00 $48,120.00 -51.88%

Reforest Trust - Ssolar Da Nob
OTHER IMPROVEMENTS 20120012-54450 $16,000.00

Total Reforest Trust - Ssolar Da Nob: $16,000.00

Reforest Trust - Ssolar Da Sob
159

Item 16.



Professional Services 20120013-51160 $32,150.00
OTHER IMPROVEMENTS 20120013-54450 $33,000.00

Total Reforest Trust - Ssolar Da Sob: $65,150.00

Miscellaneous Grants
Grant Expenditures 2032CEBR-57130 $75,000.00
Grant Expenditures 20320011-57130 $178,555.00
Grant Expenditures 2032GR22-57130 $15,000.00
Grant Expenditures 2032HMEP-57130 $18,854.00

Total Miscellaneous Grants: $287,409.00

Passive Parks Fund
Non-Professional Services 20050011-51170 $82,225.00 $100,000.00 21.62%
GROUNDS MAINT SERVICES 20050011-51270 $10,600.00 $5,000.00 -52.83%
SIGNS 20050011-52340 $3,040.00 $5,000.00 64.47%
Fort Frederick 20050011-54404 $19,071.00 $20,000.00 4.87%
New Riverside 20050011-54406 $900,000.00 $1,000,000.00 11.11%
Bailey Memorial Park 20050011-54421 $8,250.00 $10,000.00 21.21%

Total Passive Parks Fund: $1,023,186.00 $1,140,000.00 11.42%

First Responders Grant
SALARIES AND WAGES 22231230-50020 $0.00 $187,226.00
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 22231230-51160 $0.00 $9,275.00
Education & Training 22231230-51320 $0.00 $13,000.00
Uniforms 22231230-52050 $0.00 $2,100.00
OTHER SUPPLIES 22231230-52400 $0.00 $40,000.00

Total First Responders Grant: $0.00 $251,601.00

A&D Grants
SUPPLEMENTAL PAY 2400GR02-50021 $0.00 $5,000.00
SALARIES AND WAGES 2400GR03-50020 $0.00 $50,101.00
Employer FICA 2400GR03-50100 $3,106.00
Employer Medicare 2400GR03-50110 $726.00
Employer SC Retirement 2400GR03-50120 $8,297.00
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2400GR01-51160 $0.00 $12,740.00
ADVERTISING 2400GR02-51000 $0.00 $5,000.00
Books & Subscriptions 2400GR02-51310 $0.00 $15,000.00
Education & Training 2400GR02-51320 $0.00 $18,712.00
Printing 2400GR03-51010 $0.00 $398.00
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2400GR03-51160 $0.00 $7,700.00
Education & Training 2400GR03-51320 $0.00 $11,649.00
Telephone 2400GR04-51050 $3,125.00
ADVERTISING 2400GR05-51000 $0.00 $7,885.00
Printing 2400GR05-51010 $0.00 $597.00
Education & Training 2400GR05-51320 $0.00 $1,089.00
ALC/DRUG SPECIAL PROJECTS 2400GR05-51490 $3,000.00
Supplies & Materials 2400GR01-52010 $0.00 $101,340.00
TECHNOLOGY EQUIP (NON-CAP) 2400GR01-52610 $4,000.00
DIETARY SUPPLIES 2400GR03-52120 $0.00 $500.00
DIETARY SUPPLIES 2400GR05-52120 $0.00 $1,042.00
DIETARY SUPPLIES 2400GR06-52120 $0.00 $9,548.00

Total A&D Grants: $0.00 $270,555.00
Total Expenditures: $94,677,605.00 $145,950,365.34 54.16%

160

Item 16.



CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND - REVENUES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Revenue Source
Interest

INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 40080001-46010 $600.00
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 40090001-46010 $300.00
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 40100001-46010 $10,000.00
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 40110001-46010 $7,000.00
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 45000001-46010 $15,000.00
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 45020001-46010 $5,000.00
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 47010001-46010 $500.00
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 47050001-46010 $80,000.00
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 48010001-46010 $100.00

Total Interest: $118,500.00

Other Financing Sources
Cont from PY Fund Balance 40100001-48910 $8,587,543.00
Cont from PY Fund Balance 40110001-48910 $6,395,057.00
Cont from PY Fund Balance 40120011-48910 $4,447,148.00
Cont from PY Fund Balance 45000001-48910 $15,429,685.00
Cont from PY Fund Balance 45020001-48910 $4,524,750.00
Cont from PY Fund Balance 47010001-48910 $2,300,713.00
Cont from PY Fund Balance 47050001-48910 $129,996,292.00
Cont from PY Fund Balance 48010001-48910 $142,355.00

Total Other Financing Sources: $171,823,543.00
Total Revenue Source: $21,000,000.00 $171,942,043.00 718.772%

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND - EXPENDITURES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Expenditures
2017 GO BONDS EXPENDITURES

BCSO-Emer Mgmt Equipment 40100011-54140 $299,605.00
Fort Frederick Boat Ramp 40100011-54404 $35,687.00
Buildings & Improvements 40100011-54420 $39,527.00
Other Improvements- Pinck Res/Haig 40100011-54450 $681,896.00
ROAD IMPROVEMENTS 40100011-54500 $7,051,069.00
CONTINGENCY 40100011-56000 $9,500,000.00 $479,759.00 -94.950%

Total 2017 GO BONDS EXPENDITURES: $9,500,000.00 $8,587,543.00 -9.605%

2019A GO BONDS EXPENDITURES
Renovations-Admin Bldg 40110011-54422 $5,497,490.00
Other Improv- Voter Registration-PH 40110011-54431 $250,000.00
Other Improv- PAR Pools (3) 40110011-54436 $262,430.00
CONTINGENCY 40110011-56000 $7,000,000.00 $385,137.00 -94.498%

Total 2019A GO BONDS EXPENDITURES: $7,000,000.00 $6,395,057.00 -8.642%

2020 GO BOND EXPENDITURES
EQUIPMENT, CAPITAL 40120011-54200 $1,194,825.00
IT- Arthur Horne Bldg 40120011-54212 $481,443.00
Courthouse Equipment 40120011-54213 $19,867.00
Solid Waste MRF 40120011-54214 $1,867,500.00
Renovations- Detention Center 40120011-54424 $26,875.00
Renovations- Arthur Horne Bldg 40120011-54425 $651,435.00
CONTINGENCY 40120011-56000 $205,203.00

Total 2020 GO BOND EXPENDITURES: $4,447,148.00

REAL PROPERTY PROGRAM
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 45000011-51160 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 0%
LAND ACQUISITION 45000011-54400 $18,625,000.00 $15,229,685.00 -18.230%

Total REAL PROPERTY PROGRAM: $18,825,000.00 $15,429,685.00 -18.036%

RURAL & CRITICAL PASSIVE PARKS
Fort Frederick 45020011-54404 $50,000.00
Fort Fremont 45020011-54405 $250,000.00
Whitehall Park 45020011-54417 $1,400,000.00
Bailey Memorial Park 45020011-54421 $400,000.00
Fords Shell Ring 45020011-54429 $216,000.00
Jenkins Creek 45020011-54432 $200,000.00
Okatie Marsh Preserve 45020011-54438 $75,000.00
Okatie River Park 45020011-54439 $1,033,000.00
Station Creek 45020011-54445 $285,000.00
Pineview Preserve 45020011-54449 $636,750.00

Total RURAL & CRITICAL PASSIVE PARKS: $2,730,000.00 $4,545,750.00 66.511%

US 21 / SC 802 (LADYS ISLD DR)
ROAD IMPROVEMENTS 47010018-54500 $2,300,713.00

Total US 21 / SC 802 (LADYS ISLD DR): $2,300,713.00

2018 SALES TAX EXPENDITURES
ROAD IMPROVEMENTS 47050011-54500 $37,000,000.00 $129,996,292.00 251.341%

Total 2018 SALES TAX EXPENDITURES: $37,000,000.00 $129,996,292.00 251.341%
Total Expenditures: $84,774,463.00 $171,702,188.00 102.540%

161

Item 16.



DEBT SERVICE FUND - REVENUES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY23 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY23 - 5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Revenue Source
Ad Valorem Taxes

Current Taxes 20030001-41010 $10,527,000.00 $10,981,776.00 4.320%
Delinquent Taxes 20030001-41020 $214,000.00 $296,643.00 38.618%
Automobile Taxes 20030001-41030 $643,000.00 $595,864.00 -7.331%
Penalties - 3% & 7% 20030001-41040 $43,000.00 $43,000.00 0%
CURRENT TAXES 30000001-41010 $11,400,000.00 $11,522,091.00 1.071%
DELINQUENT TAXES 30000001-41020 $270,000.00 $377,755.00 39.909%
AUTOMOBILE TAXES 30000001-41030 $692,000.00 $692,000.00 0%
3% & 7% PENALTIES ON TAX 30000001-41040 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0%

Total Ad Valorem Taxes: $23,839,000.00 $24,559,129.00 3.021%

Intergovernmental
Homestead Exemption 20030001-43015 $215,000.00 $215,000.00 0%
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION, ETC 30000001-43015 $208,000.00 $208,000.00 0%
MERCHANTS INVENTORY TAX 30000001-43020 $38,000.00 $38,000.00 0%
MOTOR CARRIER PAYMENTS 30000001-43022 $18,000.00 $18,000.00 0%

Total Intergovernmental: $479,000.00 $479,000.00 0%

Interest
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 30000001-46010 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0%
INTEREST - TCL 30000001-46200 $103,000.00 $103,000.00 0%
INTEREST INCOME - HHI AIRPORT 30000001-46300 $78,000.00 $78,000.00 0%

Total Interest: $231,000.00 $231,000.00 0%

Transfers In
XFER FM ADMISSIONS FEES FUND 31000001-49218 $2,000,000.00 $2,000,000.00 0%
XFER FM RD IMP FEES - BLF FUND 31000001-49913 $1,220,000.00 $1,220,000.00 0%

Total Transfers In: $3,220,000.00 $3,220,000.00 0%
Total Revenue Source: $27,769,000.00 $28,489,129.00 2.593%

DEBT SERVICE FUND - EXPENDITURES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY23 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY23 - 5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Expenditures
Culture and Recreation
Purchase Of Real Property

Debt Service - Principal 20030011-53000 $7,353,000.00 $7,551,809.00 2.704%
Debt Service - Interest 20030011-53010 $4,289,000.00 $3,056,888.00 -28.727%

Total Purchase Of Real Property: $11,642,000.00 $10,608,697.00 -8.876%
Total Culture and Recreation: $11,642,000.00 $10,608,697.00 -8.876%

Debt Service
BOND PRINCIPAL 30000011-53000 $8,669,000.00 $8,582,466.00 -0.998%
BOND INTEREST 30000011-53010 $4,357,000.00 $2,807,187.00 -35.571%

Total Debt Service: $13,026,000.00 $11,389,653.00 -12.562%

Bluffton Parkway Debt Service
BOND PRINCIPAL 31000011-53000 $2,681,823.00 $2,414,493.00 -9.968%
BOND INTEREST 31000011-53010 $528,325.00 $339,565.00 -35.728%

Total Bluffton Parkway Debt Service: $3,210,148.00 $2,754,058.00 -14.208%
Total Expenditures: $27,878,148.00 $24,752,408.00 -11.212%

162

Item 16.



GARAGE SERVICE FUND - REVENUES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.11.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.11.22 (% 

Change)
Revenue Source
Charges for Services

Fuel Sales 50000001-4480A $675,000.00 $910,024.00 34.818%
Garage Con 50000001-4481A $105,000.00 $105,000.00 0%
Admin Fee 50000001-44825 $35,000.00 $35,000.00 0%

Total Charges for Services: $815,000.00 $1,050,024.00 28.837%

Transfers In
Transfer in from GF 50000011-49100 $2,915,000.00 $2,920,030.00 0.173%

Total Transfers In: $2,915,000.00 $2,920,030.00 0.173%
Total Revenue Source: $3,730,000.00 $3,970,054.00 6.436%

GARAGE SERVICE FUND - EXPENDITURES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.11.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.11.22 (% 

Change)
Expenditures
Garage

Salaries & Wages 50000011-50020 $95,044.00 $103,888.00 9.305%
OVERTIME 50000011-50060 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
EMPLOYER FICA 50000011-50100 $5,955.00 $6,441.00 8.161%
EMPLOYER MEDICARE 50000011-50110 $1,393.00 $1,506.00 8.112%
EMPLOYER SC RETIREMENT 50000011-50120 $15,905.00 $17,204.00 8.167%
Licenses & Permits 50000011-51040 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 0%
Telephone 50000011-51050 $1,600.00
Electricity 50000011-51060 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 50000011-51110 $1,405,000.00 $1,465,415.00 4.3%
Equipment Maintenance 50000011-51120 $10,000.00 $12,000.00 20%
Rental of Equipment 50000011-51140 $500.00
Professional Services 50000011-51160 $200.00
Books & Subscriptions 50000011-51310 $10,000.00
Education and Training 50000011-51320 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%
GARAGE SVCS - OUTSIDE AGENCY 50000011-51370 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 0%
Insurance, Vehicles 50000011-51500 $3,000.00
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 50000011-51510 $1,000.00
Supplies & Materials 50000011-52010 $2,103.00 $2,500.00 18.878%
Uniforms 50000011-52050 $600.00 $800.00 33.333%
Fuels & Lubricants 50000011-52500 $1,600,000.00 $1,750,000.00 9.375%
FUEL - OUTSIDE AGENCY PURCHASE 50000011-52590 $450,000.00 $450,000.00 0%
Contingency 50000011-56100 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0%
Depreciation 50000011-58500 $9,000.00 $9,000.00 0%

Total Garage: $3,730,000.00 $3,970,054.00 6.436%
Total Expenditures: $3,730,000.00 $3,970,054.00 6.436%

163

Item 16.



BEAUFORT EXECUTIVE AIRPORT - REVENUES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Revenue Source
Intergovernmental

Faa Grant 51020001-43730 $45,000.00
Total Intergovernmental: $45,000.00

Charges for Services
Fuel Avgas 51000001-44801 $285,000.00 $288,000.00 1.053%
Fuel Jet 51000001-44802 $262,000.00 $450,000.00 71.756%
Fj Nontax 51000001-44803 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Oil Sales 51000001-44810 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 0%
Ramp Fees 51000001-44840 $12,500.00 $15,000.00 20%
Tie Down F 51000001-44870 $24,500.00 $24,500.00 0%
Merchandis 51000001-44881 $6,500.00 $10,000.00 53.846%

Total Charges for Services: $597,000.00 $794,000.00 32.998%

Miscellaneous
Misc Reven 51000001-47012 $2,500.00
Flt Trng C 51000001-47100 $7,500.00 $10,000.00 33.333%
Rental Car 51000001-47132 $1,000.00 $1,500.00 50%
Misc-Oper Agreements 51000001-47190 $1,000.00
Rental Cou 51000001-47200 $28,840.00 $28,840.00 0%
Hanger Ren 51000001-47210 $140,000.00 $140,000.00 0%
Rental Off 51000001-47220 $14,500.00 $6,000.00 -58.621%

Total Miscellaneous: $191,840.00 $189,840.00 -1.043%
Total Revenue Source: $788,840.00 $1,028,840.00 30.424%

BEAUFORT EXECUTIVE AIRPORT - EXPENDITURES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Expenditures
LI Airport Operations

Salaries & Wages 51000011-50020 $145,754.00 $226,498.00 55.397%
Overtime 51000011-50060 $950.00 $1,000.00 5.263%
Employer FICA 51000011-50100 $9,037.00 $14,105.00 56.081%
Employer Medicare 51000011-50110 $2,114.00 $3,300.00 56.102%
Employer SC Retirement 51000011-50120 $24,137.00 $37,700.00 56.192%
Advertising 51000011-51000 $750.00 $2,500.00 233.333%
Postage 51000011-51030 $100.00 $100.00 0%
Licenses & Permits 51000011-51040 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0%
Telephone 51000011-51050 $3,650.00 $3,400.00 -6.849%
Electricity 51000011-51060 $15,000.00 $11,000.00 -26.667%
Water & Sewer 51000011-51070 $200.00 $3,000.00 1,400%
Maintenance Contracts 51000011-51110 $11,000.00 $9,000.00 -18.182%
Equipment Maintenance 51000011-51120 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Facilities Maintenance 51000011-51130 $4,650.00 $15,000.00 222.581%
Rental of Equipment 51000011-51140 $20,000.00 $18,000.00 -10%
Professional Services 51000011-51160 $650.00 $650.00 0%
CLEANING SERVICES 51000011-51170 $5,500.00 $34,100.00 520%
Vehicle Maintenance 51000011-51300 $170.00 $2,000.00 1,076.471%
Books & Subscriptions 51000011-51310 $1,500.00 $1,800.00 20%
Education & Training 51000011-51320 $1,000.00 $1,500.00 50%
Insurance, Vehicles 51000011-51500 $850.00 $850.00 0%
Insurance, Buildings & Cont 51000011-51510 $16,500.00 $16,500.00 0%
INSURANCE - OTHER 51000011-51540 $18,200.00 $18,200.00 0%
Unclassified Operating - wr 51000011-51990 $32,000.00 $20,000.00 -37.5%
CREDIT CARD FEES 51000011-51999 $16,500.00 $23,000.00 39.394%
Supplies & Materials 51000011-52010 $1,700.00 $1,700.00 0%
RETAIL SUPPLIES - AIR DAYS 51000011-52011 $750.00 $750.00 0%
Uniforms 51000011-52050 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 51000011-52500 $2,200.00 $3,000.00 36.364%
Resale, Fuels 51000011-58000 $375,000.00 $475,000.00 26.667%
Resale, Concessions 51000011-58030 $5,000.00 $7,500.00 50%
Depreciation 51000011-58500 $54,010.00 $54,010.00 0%

Total LI Airport Operations: $788,797.00 $1,025,088.00 29.956%
Total Expenditures: $788,797.00 $1,025,088.00 29.956%

164

Item 16.



HILTON HEAD ISLAND AIRPORT - REVENUES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Revenue Source
Intergovernmental

Town Of Hh 54000001-43680 $150,000.00 $160,000.00 6.667%
Tsa Reimbu 54000001-43780 $42,500.00 $50,000.00 17.647%
Faa Grant 54020001-43730 $2,910,000.00 $5,231,912.00 79.791%
Scac Grant 54020001-43740 $250,000.00

Total Intergovernmental: $3,167,500.00 $5,691,912.00 79.697%

Charges for Services
Landing Fe 54000001-44840 $325,000.00 $350,000.00 7.692%
Parking Fe 54000001-44850 $40,000.00 $150,000.00 275%
Taxi/Limo 54000001-44860 $7,500.00 $10,000.00 33.333%
Firefighti 54000001-44890 $435,000.00 $600,000.00 37.931%
Security F 54000001-44895 $250,000.00 $375,000.00 50%
Security R 54000001-44896 $20,000.00 $12,000.00 -40%
Passenger 54010001-44845 $535,000.00 $600,000.00 12.150%

Total Charges for Services: $1,612,500.00 $2,097,000.00 30.047%

Miscellaneous
Miscellane 54000001-47010 $65,000.00 $60,000.00 -7.692%
Fbo - Grnd 54000001-47100 $70,500.00 $68,500.00 -2.837%
Fbo - Conc 54000001-47105 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0%
Fbo - Fuel 54000001-47110 $535,000.00 $535,000.00 0%
Rent -Airl 54000001-47120 $465,000.00 $650,000.00 39.785%
Rent -Airl 54000001-47121 $188,000.00 $188,000.00 0%
Rental Car 54000001-47130 $25,000.00 $18,800.00 -24.8%
Rental Car 54000001-47131 $32,000.00 $26,000.00 -18.75%
Rental Car 54000001-47132 $825,000.00 $1,300,000.00 57.576%
Rent -Snac 54000001-47140 $17,500.00 $20,000.00 14.286%
Rent -Adve 54000001-47150 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 0%
Oper Agrmt 54000001-47190 $18,000.00 $28,000.00 55.556%
Rental Tsa 54000001-47210 $19,500.00 $19,500.00 0%
Hanger Ren 54000001-47220 $115,000.00 $122,000.00 6.087%
Hanger Ren 54000001-47230 $48,000.00 $49,500.00 3.125%
Hanger Ren 54000001-47240 $33,100.00 $33,800.00 2.115%

Total Miscellaneous: $2,501,600.00 $3,164,100.00 26.483%
Total Revenue Source: $7,281,600.00 $10,953,012.00 50.420%

165

Item 16.



HILTON HEAD ISLAND AIRPORT - EXPENDITURES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
HHI Airport Operations

Salaries & Wages 54000011-50020 $869,600.00 $972,190.00 11.797%
Overtime 54000011-50060 $50,000.00 $40,000.00 -20%
Employer FICA 54000011-50100 $53,915.00 $64,534.00 19.696%
Employer Medicare 54000011-50110 $12,610.00 $15,093.00 19.691%
Employer SC Retirement 54000011-50120 $74,005.00 $149,754.00 102.357%
Employer PO Retirement 54000011-50130 $70,000.00 $37,264.00 -46.766%
Employer Group Insurance 54000011-50140 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 0%
Employer Worker's Comp Insurance 54000011-50150 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0%
Employer Tort Liab Insurance 54000011-50160 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 0%
GASB 68 Pension 54000011-50198 $120,000.00 $120,000.00 0%
Advertising 54000011-51000 $175,000.00 $290,000.00 65.714%
Printing 54000011-51010 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Postage 54000011-51030 $500.00 $500.00 0%
Licenses & Permits 54000011-51040 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Telephone 54000011-51050 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 0%
Electricity 54000011-51060 $135,000.00 $135,000.00 0%
Water & Sewer 54000011-51070 $16,500.00 $16,500.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 54000011-51110 $245,000.00 $180,000.00 -26.531%
Equipment Maintenance 54000011-51120 $5,000.00 $10,000.00 100%
Facilities Maintenance 54000011-51130 $36,500.00 $75,000.00 105.479%
Rental of Equipment 54000011-51140 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Professional Services 54000011-51160 $205,000.00 $355,000.00 73.171%
Non-Professional Services 54000011-51170 $332,000.00 $400,000.00 20.482%
Vehicle Maintenance 54000011-51300 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 0%
Books & Subscriptions 54000011-51310 $2,050.00 $2,050.00 0%
Education & Training 54000011-51320 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 0%
AIRPORT DIRECTOR BIZ DEVELOP 54000011-51340 $32,000.00 $5,000.00 -84.375%
Insurance, Vehicles 54000011-51500 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 0%
Insurance, Buildings & Contents 54000011-51510 $45,000.00 $45,000.00 0%
INSURANCE - OTHER 54000011-51540 $31,500.00 $27,500.00 -12.698%
Insurance, Prepaid 54000011-51545 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 0%
Unclassified Operating - tax bill pmt 54000011-51990 $75,000.00 $33,000.00 -56%
Supplies & Materials 54000011-52010 $36,250.00 $55,000.00 51.724%
Uniforms 54000011-52050 $1,500.00 $3,500.00 133.333%
Fuels & Lubricants 54000011-52500 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 0%
Equipment, Non-Capital 54000011-52610 $1,500.00 $2,000.00 33.333%
Debt Service, Interest 54000011-53110 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 0%
Equipment, Capital 54000011-54200 $125,000.00 $175,000.00 40%
RENOVATIONS EXIST BLDGS 54000011-54420 $100,000.00 $250,000.00 150%
Depreciation 54000011-58500 $545,000.00 $545,000.00 0%

Total HHI Airport Operations: $3,735,430.00 $4,313,885.00 15.486%

HHI Airport Grants
FAA HXD GRANT 45 54020011-54345 $300,000.00 $1,670,000.00 456.667%
FAA HXD GRANT 46 54020011-54346 $2,500,000.00 $2,500,000.00 0%
Capital Projects-PotentialGrnt 54020011-54980 $972,222.00
Professional Services 54020047-51160 $529,532.00
Specialized Cap Equipment 54020047-54200 $699,380.00

Total HHI Airport Grants: $3,500,000.00 $6,371,134.00 82.032%

166

Item 16.



SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING - REVENUES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Revenue Source

Ad Valorem Taxes
Current Taxes 50100011-41010 $9,911,562.00 $10,343,302.00 4.356%

Total Ad Valorem Taxes: $9,911,562.00 $10,343,302.00 4.356%

Charges for Services
WASTE DISPOSAL FEES 50100011-44230 $98,500.00 $8,450.00 -91.421%

Total Charges for Services: $98,500.00 $8,450.00 -91.421%

Miscellaneous
SALE OF RECYCLABLES 50100011-47410 $148,500.00 $326,000.00 119.529%

Total Miscellaneous: $148,500.00 $326,000.00 119.529%
Total Revenue Source: $10,158,562.00 $10,677,752.00 5.111%

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING - EXPENDITURES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Expenditures
Public Works

Solid Waste & Recycling
Salaries & Wages 50100011-50020 $1,651,313.00 $1,879,907.00 13.843%
OVERTIME 50100011-50060 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0%
EMPLOYER FICA 50100011-50100 $102,481.00 $116,554.00 13.732%
EMPLOYER MEDICARE 50100011-50110 $23,967.00 $27,259.00 13.736%
EMPLOYER SC RETIREMEN 50100011-50120 $273,722.00 $311,313.00 13.733%
Group Insurance 50100011-50140 $675,000.00 $675,000.00 0%
ADVERTISING 50100011-51000 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 0%
PRINTING 50100011-51010 $4,500.00 $3,500.00 -22.222%
Postage 50100011-51030 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 100%
Electricity 50100011-51060 $19,000.00 $19,000.00 0%
Water Sewer 50100011-51070 $22,000.00 $22,000.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 50100011-51110 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 50100011-51120 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 50100011-51140 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 0%
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 50100011-51160 $525,000.00 $525,000.00 0%
E-Waste 50100011-51164 $110,000.00 $95,000.00 -13.636%
Solid Waste Hauling Servic 50100011-51165 $1,850,000.00 $1,830,000.00 -1.081%
Solid Waste Disposal 50100011-51166 $3,653,000.00 $3,653,000.00 0%
Recycling 50100011-51167 $940,000.00 $940,000.00 0%
Daufuskie Disposal Fees 50100011-5116B $18,000.00 $18,000.00 0%
Vehicle Maintenance 50100011-51300 $3,500.00 $23,500.00 571.429%
Books & Subscriptions 50100011-51310 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0%
Education & Training 50100011-51320 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 50100011-52010 $58,000.00 $58,000.00 0%
Uniforms 50100011-52050 $35,000.00 $35,000.00 0%
Fuels & Lubricants 50100011-52500 $68,000.00 $68,000.00 0%
Equipment, Non-Capital 50100011-52612 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 0%
Depreciation 50100011-58500 $34,979.00 $34,979.00 0%

Total Solid Waste & Recycling: $10,158,562.00 $10,427,112.00 2.644%

Solid Waste and Recycling
Telephone 50100011-51050 $15,000.00

Total Solid Waste and Recycling: $15,000.00
Total Expenditures: $10,158,562.00 $10,442,112.00 2.791%

167

Item 16.



STORMWATER - REVENUES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted 
vs. FY2023-5.10.22 

(% Change)
Revenue Source

Charges for Services
Stormwater 50250001-44240 $6,144,440.00 $5,916,418.00 -3.711%
Proj Incom 50250001-44430 $1,000.00
Project In 50250001-44433 $0.00 $2,000.00
Cwi Beaufo 50250001-44436 $65,000.00 $66,178.00 1.812%
Cwi Port R 50250001-44437 $21,500.00 $25,197.00 17.195%
Cwi- Bluff 50250001-44438 $435,000.00 $462,613.00 6.348%
Cwi- Hilto 50250001-44439 $245,000.00 $243,570.00 -0.584%

Total Charges for Services: $6,910,940.00 $6,716,976.00 -2.807%

Interest
Interest On Investments 50250001-46010 $30,000.00 $15,000.00 -50%

Total Interest: $30,000.00 $15,000.00 -50%

Miscellaneous
Miscellaneous 50250001-47010 $14,500.00 $16,960.00 16.966%

Total Miscellaneous: $18,000.00 $16,960.00 -5.778%

Other Financing Sources
Cont From PY Fund Balance 50250001-48910 $364,874.00
Cont From PY Fund Balance 50260001-48910 $1,250,000.00

Total Other Financing Sources: $1,614,874.00
Total Revenue Source: $6,958,940.00 $8,363,810.00 20.188%

168

Item 16.



STORMWATER - EXPENDITURES

Name Account ID 2022 Adopted FY2023 - 5.10.22

FY2022 Adopted vs. 
FY2023-5.10.22 (% 

Change)
Expenditures
Public Works

Stormwater Utility Operations
Salaries & Wages 50250011-50020 $1,483,910.00 $1,560,604.00 5.168%
Overtime 50250011-50060 $55,000.00 $7,500.00 -86.364%
Employer FICA 50250011-50100 $95,415.00 $97,222.00 1.894%
Employer Medicare 50250011-50110 $22,315.00 $22,738.00 1.896%
Employer SC Retirement 50250011-50120 $254,845.00 $254,300.00 -0.214%
Employer PO Retirement 50250011-50130 $172,653.00 $6,248.00 -96.381%
Employer Group Insurance 50250011-50140 $312,500.00 $374,000.00 19.68%
Employer Worker's Comp Insurance 50250011-50150 $54,000.00 $56,362.00 4.374%
Employer Tort Liab Insurance 50250011-50160 $21,000.00 $14,800.00 -29.524%
Advertising 50250011-51000 $550.00 $100.00 -81.818%
Printing 50250011-51010 $500.00 $150.00 -70%
Postage 50250011-51030 $1,000.00 $250.00 -75%
Telephone 50250011-51050 $16,010.00 $15,956.00 -0.337%
WATER/SEWER 50250011-51070 $1,280.00 $1,280.00 0%
Maintenance Contracts 50250011-51110 $3,297.00 $3,297.00 0%
Equipment Maintenance 50250011-51120 $6,727.00 $4,000.00 -40.538%
Rental of Equipment 50250011-51140 $26,000.00 $10,000.00 -61.538%
Professional Services 50250011-51160 $302,000.00 $105,000.00 -65.232%
Solid Waste Disposal 50250011-51166 $15,000.00 $20,000.00 33.333%
Non-Professional Services 50250011-51170 $362,500.00 $1,068,000.00 194.621%
TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 50250011-51230 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0%
Vehicle Maintenance 50250011-51300 $184,752.00 $179,500.00 -2.843%
Books & Subscriptions 50250011-51310 $4,260.00 $1,665.00 -60.915%
Education & Training 50250011-51320 $19,675.00 $11,949.00 -39.268%
Insurance, Vehicles 50250011-51500 $30,000.00 $27,924.00 -6.92%
INSURANCE - OTHER 50250011-51540 $24,862.00 $24,840.00 -0.088%
Supplies & Materials 50250011-52010 $157,946.00 $136,800.00 -13.388%
Uniforms 50250011-52050 $29,500.00 $23,620.00 -19.932%
PIPE SUPPLIES 50250011-52370 $47,600.00 $65,000.00 36.555%
Fuels & Lubricants 50250011-52500 $135,750.00 $100,000.00 -26.335%
Equipment, Non-Capital 50250011-52612 $33,000.00 $16,730.00 -49.303%
Debt Service, Interest 50250011-53110 $188,268.00 $277,991.00 47.657%
Equipment, Capital 50250011-54200 $73,548.00 $255,000.00 246.712%
Depreciation 50250011-58500 $432,000.00 $397,481.00 -7.991%
XFER TO GENERAL FUND 50250011-59100 $350,000.00 $350,000.00 0%

Total Stormwater Utility Operations: $4,990,544.00 $5,491,807.00 10.044%

Stormwater Regulatory
Salaries & Wages 50250013-50020 $358,372.00 $387,225.00 8.051%
Overtime 50250013-50060 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0%
Employer FICA 50250013-50100 $21,757.00 $24,256.00 11.486%
Employer Medicare 50250013-50110 $5,983.00 $5,673.00 -5.181%
Employer SC Retirement 50250013-50120 $39,345.00 $64,787.00 64.664%
Employer Group Insurance 50250013-50140 $66,385.00 $70,125.00 5.634%
Employer Worker's Comp Insurance 50250013-50150 $33,558.00 $11,181.00 -66.682%
Employer Tort Liab Insurance 50250013-50160 $2,454.00 $2,602.00 6.031%
Advertising 50250013-51000 $250.00 $100.00 -60%
Printing 50250013-51010 $150.00 $200.00 33.333%
Postage 50250013-51030 $200.00 $100.00 -50%
Telephone 50250013-51050 $7,536.00 $8,758.00 16.215%

169

Item 16.



Maintenance Contracts 50250013-51110 $32,064.00 $4,981.00 -84.465%
Equipment Maintenance 50250013-51120 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0%
Rental of Equipment 50250013-51140 $1,150.00 $16,100.00 1,300%
Professional Services 50250013-51160 $754,235.00 $612,000.00 -18.858%
Non-Professional Services 50250013-51170 $8,065.00 $300.00 -96.280%
Vehicle Maintenance 50250013-51300 $6,800.00 $5,500.00 -19.118%
Books & Subscriptions 50250013-51310 $875.00 $875.00 0%
Education & Training 50250013-51320 $11,380.00 $10,148.00 -10.826%
Insurance, Vehicles 50250013-51500 $5,088.00 $5,088.00 0%
INSURANCE - OTHER 50250013-51540 $2,398.00 $2,398.00 0%
Supplies & Materials 50250013-52010 $5,000.00 $3,300.00 -34%
Uniforms 50250013-52050 $3,857.00 $4,344.00 12.626%
Fuels & Lubricants 50250013-52500 $10,300.00 $8,800.00 -14.563%
Equipment, Non-Capital 50250013-52612 $8,400.00 $2,100.00 -75%
Depreciation 50250013-58500 $38,500.00 $23,880.00 -37.974%

Total Stormwater Regulatory: $1,512,059.00 $1,280,821.00 -15.293%

Stormwater Utility Admin
SALARIES AND WAGES 50250012-50020 $180,827.00 $172,492.00 -4.609%
OVERTIME 50250012-50060 $5,000.00 $7,500.00 50%
EMPLOYER FICA 50250012-50100 $11,159.00 $11,160.00 0.009%
EMPLOYER MEDICARE 50250012-50110 $3,069.00 $2,610.00 -14.956%
EMPLOYER SC RETIREMENT 50250012-50120 $20,179.00 $29,807.00 47.713%
EMPLOYER GROUP INSURANCE 50250012-50140 $23,375.00 $23,375.00 0%
EMPLOYER WORK COMP INS 50250012-50150 $3,403.00 $1,760.00 -48.281%
EMPLOYER TORT LIAB INS 50250012-50160 $545.00 $585.00 7.339%
ADVERTISING 50250012-51000 $650.00 $500.00 -23.077%
PRINTING 50250012-51010 $750.00 $750.00 0%
POSTAGE/OTHER CARRIERS 50250012-51030 $50.00 $50.00 0%
TELEPHONE 50250012-51050 $2,290.00 $2,290.00 0%
MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 50250012-51110 $313.00 $313.00 0%
REPAIRS TO EQUIPMENT 50250012-51120 $200.00 $200.00 0%
EQUIPMENT RENTALS 50250012-51140 $960.00 $960.00 0%
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 50250012-51160 $117,500.00 $67,500.00 -42.553%
GARAGE REPAIRS & MAINT 50250012-51300 $2,248.00 $2,248.00 0%
BOOKS,SUBS,MEMBERSHIPS 50250012-51310 $1,240.00 $1,265.00 2.016%
TRAINING AND CONFERENCES 50250012-51320 $7,325.00 $8,140.00 11.126%
VEHICLE INSURANCE 50250012-51500 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 0%
SUPPLIES-OFFICE/PHOTO/ETC 50250012-52010 $2,200.00 $2,200.00 0%
UNIFORMS 50250012-52050 $927.00 $977.00 5.394%
FUELS/LUBRICANTS 50250012-52500 $800.00 $1,000.00 25%
EQUIPMENT  NON-CAPITAL 50250012-52612 $2,700.00 $1,900.00 -29.630%

Total Stormwater Utility Admin: $390,100.00 $341,182.00 -12.540%

Graves/Pepperhall
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 50260028-51160 $750,000.00 $50,000.00 -93.333%

Total Graves/Pepperhall: $750,000.00 $50,000.00 -93.333%

Shell Point
Professional Services 50260030-51160 $800,000.00

Total Shell Point: $800,000.00
Total Public Works: $10,449,646.00 $7,963,810.00 -23.789%

Arthur Horne Park Project
Professional Services 50260032-51160 $0.00 $400,000.00

Total Arthur Horne Park Project: $0.00 $400,000.00
Total Expenditures: $10,449,646.00 $8,363,810.00 -19.961%

170

Item 16.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE LEVY OF TAX FOR SCHOOL PURPOSES FOR 

BEAUFORT COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2022 AND ENDING JUNE 

30, 2023, AND TO MAKE APPROPRIATIONS FOR SAID PURPOSES 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

County Council  

May 23, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Tonya V. Crosby, CPA 

Chief Financial Officer, BCSD 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Each year County Council reviews and approves the BCSD’s annual budget. 

This is the district’s proposed budget for FY23. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

See above 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

See the District’s proposed budget  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Not Applicable 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to Approve or to Deny 

 

 

171

Item 17.



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022/__ 

FY 2022-2023 BEAUFORT COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT BUDGET 

AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE LEVY OF TAX FOR SCHOOL PURPOSES 

FOR BEAUFORT COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2022 AND 

ENDING JUNE 30, 2023, AND TO MAKE APPROPRIATIONS FOR SAID PURPOSES 

BE IT ORDAINED BY COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY: 

SECTION 1. TAX LEVY 

 The County Council of Beaufort County hereby appropriates the funds as detailed in 

Sections 3 and 4 of this Ordinance and establishes the millage rates as detailed in Section 2 of this 

Ordinance. 

SECTION 2. MILLAGE 

 In Fiscal Year 2022-2023 and in accordance with the laws of South Carolina, the County 

Auditor is hereby authorized and directed to levy a tax on the following mills on the dollar of 

assessed value of property within the County. 

 School Operations       125.6  

 School Bond Debt Service (Principal and Interest)     36.3 

 

 The values listed above, in accordance with Section 6-1-320(A)(2) of the Code of Laws of 

South Carolina, 1976, as amended.  

 

    Allowable     

    Annual % Allowable    

   % Increase Increase Millage  Millage 

 Prior Year 

% 

Average Population 

of 

Millage 

Of 

Millage Rate 

 

Bank  

 Millage CPI Growth Rate Rate Used  Balance 

         

2020 114.0 1.81% 1.72% 3.53% 4.0 0  4.4 

2021 114.0 1.23% 1.57%  2.80% 3.2 7.6  0.0 

2022 121.6 4.70% 2.49% 7.19% 8.7 4.0  4.7 

         

 

These taxes shall be collected by the County Treasurer, as provided by law, and distributed 

in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance and subsequent appropriations as may be 

hereafter passed by the County Council of Beaufort County. 

 

 

 

172

Item 17.



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 

SECTION 3. SCHOOL OPERATIONS APPROPRIATION 

 

 An amount of $298,133,593 is hereby appropriated to the Beaufort County Board of 

Education to fund school operations.  This appropriation is to be spent in accordance with the 

school budget approved by the County Council of Beaufort County, and will be funded from the 

following revenue sources: 

  

 A. $178,132,206 to be derived from tax collections; 

 B. $105,481,328 to be derived from State revenues; 

 C. $       650,000 to be derived from Federal revenues; 

 D. $    1,736,200 to be derived from other local sources; and 

 E. $  12,133,859 to be derived from inter-fund transfers. 

 

  The Beaufort County Board of Education is responsible for ensuring that the school 

expenditures do not exceed those amounts herein appropriated without first receiving the approval 

of a supplemental appropriation from County Council.  

 

SECTION 4. BUDGETARY ACCOUNT BREAKOUT 

 

 The line-item budgets submitted by the Beaufort County Board of Education under 

separate cover for FY 2022-2023 are incorporated herein by reference and shall be part and parcel 

of this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 5. OUTSTANDING BALANCE APPROPRIATION 

 

 The balance remaining in each fund at the close of the prior fiscal year, where a reserve is 

not required by State of Federal law, is hereby transferred to the appropriate category of Fund 

Balance of that fund. 

 

SECTION 6. TRANSFERS VALIDATED 

 

 All duly authorized transfers of funds heretofore made from one account to another, or 

from one fund to another during Fiscal Year 2023 are hereby approved. 

 

SECTION 7. EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 This Ordinance shall be effective July 1, 2022. Approved and adopted on third and final 

reading this 27th day of June, 2022. 

 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

        

BY:____________________________________ 

          Joseph Passiment, Chairman   

173

Item 17.



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

  

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

 

First Reading:   

Second Reading:   

Public Hearing:   

Third and Final Reading:   

174

Item 17.



BEAUFORT COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
Beaufort, South Carolina
Frank Rodriguez, Ph.D., Superintendent
Tonya Crosby, CPA, Chief Financial Officer

FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023

Proposed 
General Fund 
Budget

May 23, 2022

175

Item 17.



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

  Beaufort County School Board Members………………………………………………………………………………….…3   

  Letter from the Superintendent……………………………...…………………………………………………………….……4 

  Executive Summary……………………..….………………………………………………………………………...……………….5 

 Comparative Budget..…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………6 

  Proposed Budget Increases and Revisions…………………………………………………………………………………..7    

  Proposed Teacher Salary Schedule FY 2023 ………………………………..……………………………………………..8 

  In$ite Detail Report……………………………………………………………….……………………………………………….…..9 

2 176

Item 17.



Beaufort County School District  

2022 Board Members 

David Striebinger, Chair 

District 2 

161 Sea Pines Drive 

St. Helena Island, SC 

29920  

(843) 694-7743

David.striebinger@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending: 2022

Earl Campbell 

District 1 

93 Bruce Smalls Drive 

Grays Hill 

P.O. Box 768 

Lobeco, SC 29931 

(843)476-7512

Earl.campbell@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending 2024

William Smith 

District 3 

164 Ball Park Road 

St. Helena Island, SC 29920 

(843) 441-4993

William.smith2@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending 2022

Tricia Fidrych 

District 4 

1016 12th  Street 

Port Royal, SC 29935 

(843) 441-0552

Patricia.fidrych@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending 2022

Cathy Robine, Vice Chair 

District 8 

54 Ribaut Drive 

Hilton Head Island, SC 29926 

(610) 888-5296

Cathy.robine@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending 2022

Richard Geier 

District 5 

32 Petigru Drive 

Beaufort, SC 29902 

(843) 441-6683

Richard.geier@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending 2022

Rachel Wisnefski 

District 7 

129 Planters Row Court 

Bluffton, SC 29910 

(843) 941-9535

Rachel.wisnefski@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending: 2022

Angela Middleton, Secretary 

District 6 

9 Edisto Court 

Okatie, SC 29909 

(843) 941-0992

angela.middleton@beaufort.k12.sc.us 

Term Ending: 2024  

Christina Gwozdz 

District 9 

77 Gascoigne Bluff Road 

Bluffton, SC 29910 

(843) 636-8555

Christina.gwozdz@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending 2024

Melvin Campbell

District 10 

546 Spanish Wells Road 

Hilton Head Island, SC 29926 (843) 

941-9858

Melvin.campbell@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending 2022

Ingrid Boatwright 

District 11 

56 Bridgetown Road 

Hilton Head Island, SC 29928 

(843) 986-7872

Ingrid.boatwright@beaufort.k12.sc.us

Term Ending: 2024

3 177

Item 17.

mailto:David.striebinger@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:Earl.campbell@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:William.smith2@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:Patricia.fidrych@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:Cathy.robine@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:Richard.geier@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:Rachel.wisnefski@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:john.dowling@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:Christina.gwozdz@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:Melvin.campbell@beaufort.k12.sc.us
mailto:Ingrid.boatwright@beaufort.


4 178

Item 17.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Following is a summary of important details of the School District’s 2022-2023 Budget: 

• On Tuesday, May 17th, 2022, the Board of Education certified and approved the Fiscal
Year 2022-2023 General Fund Budget in the amount of $298,133,593 with an operations
millage rate of 125.6 mills, an increase of 4.0 mills.

• The same evening, the Board of Education certified and approved the Fiscal Year
2022-2023 Debt Service Fund Budget in the amount of $81,084,495 with an operations
millage rate of 36.3 mills, which resulted in no millage increase for debt service.

• One hundred percent (100%) of the operations millage increase will fund increases in
teachers’ salaries.

• The primary goal of this budget is to move Beaufort from the bottom third of school
districts’ base teachers’ salaries to one of, if not the highest teachers’ salaries in the
state.

• Proposed compensation increases for Classified, Professional and Administrative staff is
an average of 8% coupled with funding built in to begin the implementation of the
salary study.

• The mill value of the current year is projected to produce a mill value of $1,377,197, an
annual growth of 4.9%, the highest in 10 years.

• The mill value of the 2022-23 fiscal year is projected to be $1,418,250 using 3% growth
factor, which demonstrates a liberal estimate compared to prior years and is
intentionally set to minimize any excess in revenues.

• The school operations mill value is much less than the County’s operations mill value
due to Act 388 which exempts school operations tax from primary homes.

Beaufort County School District 

County Council 1st Budget Reading 
2022-23 Budget 

 May 23, 2022 

5 179

Item 17.



ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

VALUE OF A BCSD OPERATIONS MILL (LAWSON) 

Revenues are budgeted for FY2023 at $178.1 million, which includes $5.7 million for a 4.0 mill 
increase.  The growth in mill value for 2022-23 is budgeted at 3% to minimize any excess in 
revenues.  

The table below demonstrates 10 years of revenues received per mill, with projections of the 
current year and next year: 

FY AUDITED REVENUES MILLS MILL VALUE RECEIVED CHANGE

2013 113,707,332 92.3 1,231,932 -0.7%

2014 109,379,367 97.5 1,121,840 -8.9%

2015 117,934,976 103.5 1,139,468 1.6%

2016 123,562,199 103.5 1,193,838 4.8%

2017 134,314,364 111.5 1,204,613 0.9%

2018 141,037,937 113.5 1,242,625 3.2%

2019 134,753,580 104.6 1,288,275 3.7%

2020 148,559,066 114.0 1,303,150 1.2%

2021 149,733,106 114.0 1,313,448 0.8%

Proj 2022 167,467,115 121.6 1,377,197 4.9%

Proj 2023 178,132,205 125.6 1,418,250 3.0%

Average Growth in the mill are as follows: 

o 10-year avg growth = 1.2%

o 5-year avg growth= 2.8%

o 3-year avg growth = 2.3%

COMPENSATION INCREASES BY EMPLOYEE GROUP 

TEACHERS CLASSIFIED, PROFESSIONAL, AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 

3% Cost of Living-Approved 3/25/2022 $ 298,133,593 

$4,000 increase to Base Teacher Salary
plus Roll $2,500 of Locality Supplement 
into the Permanent Salary 

Additional 3% Cost of Living OR 5% Bus Drivers 
(State Mandated) 

State-Mandated Teacher Step Increase Step Increase 

Max Step moves from 25 to 26 Salary and Compensation Study (reported to BOE 
in Summer 2022) 

The BCSD starting teacher salary of a 1st year teacher will move from $37,928 to $45,566, which 
we believe will place Beaufort at #1 in the state.  $2,500 of this increase is a shift from the 
locality supplement, which will decrease from $5,000 to $2,500.  Existing local and state funds 
will support 50% of this initiative.  The remaining will be generated from an increase of 4.0
mills. 6 180

Item 17.



AVAILABLE MILLAGE 

The table below provides the maximum allowable millage increase available to the School 
District under state law: 

PRIOR YR 
MILLAGE 

ALLOWABLE % 
INCREASE 

ALLOWABLE 
MILLAGE 
INCREASE 

MILLAGE 
INCREASE 
PROPOSED 

BANKED 
MILLAGE 

LOOKBACK 0 0 0 0 0 

2022-2023 121.6 7.19% 8.7 4.0 4.7 

PER PUPIL SPENDING (HERVOCHON) 

FY 2022 
BUDGET 

FY 2023 
BUDGET 

GENERAL FUND BUDGET $ 274,274,600 $ 298,133,593 

135 DAY ENROLLMENTS 21,199 21,299 

GENERAL FUND PER PUPIL COST $  12,938 $  13,998 

Spending per pupil is based on the proposed General Fund budget only.  This information is not 
available from other districts.  State comparison is based on Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) 
formula which includes General Fund, Special Revenue and Federal funds.  The state uses this 
for comparative purposed of all districts. 

Below is a table of the Per Pupil Spending rankings for several districts in South Carolina. 

PER PUPIL SPENDING RANKING DISTRICT SPENDING PER PUPIL 

1 FAIRFIELD $  25,790 

2 MCCORMICK $  23,952 

3 RICHLAND 1 $  22,025 

4 BAMBERG 2 $  21,393 

5 CHARLESTON $  21,280 

6 ALLENDALE $  20,383 

7 SPARTANBURG 7 $  20,179 

8 JASPER $  20,070 

9 BEAUFORT $  19,163 

10 LEE $  19,096 

7 181

Item 17.



Beaufort County School District

General Fund Multi-Year Comparison

For Fiscal Years Ending 2021, 2022 and 2023

FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 Variance

Audited Approved Projected Proposed with FY 22

Revenue: Actual Budget Actual Budget Orig Budget

Local Revenue:

Property Taxes1
153,137,592$     163,467,115$    167,467,115$    178,132,206$    14,665,091$    

Other Local 1,806,118 1,763,500           1,719,455           1,736,200           (27,300) 

  Total Local Revenue 154,943,710             165,230,615      169,186,570      179,868,406      14,637,791            

State Revenue: 

Education Finance Act 15,668,732$    16,984,367$    16,671,257$    -$   (16,984,367)$    

Fringe Benefits / Retiree Insurance 12,197,712 14,411,553         13,866,909         6,678,358           (7,733,195) 

Sales Tax - Owner Occupied2
49,080,308 47,448,832         47,448,832         49,163,783         1,714,951 

Reimbursement for Local Property Tax Relief 7,036,261 7,036,261           7,036,261           7,036,261           - 

State Aid to Classrooms3
5,233,460 7,191,453           7,345,428           37,482,172         30,290,719            

Other State Revenue 3,589,988 4,029,424           3,592,487           3,912,714           (116,710) 

PEBA-Retirement Credit 1,206,425 1,206,425           1,207,231           1,208,040           1,615 

Transfer from Special Revenue Fund EIA4
7,093,007 7,124,070           7,137,561           6,633,859           (490,211) 

Transfer from Other Funds 575,900 500,000 500,000 500,000 - 

Transfer from CARES/ESSER-Indirect Cost5
430,753 2,451,600           3,013,703           5,000,000           2,548,400 

  Total State Revenue 102,112,546             108,383,985      107,819,669      117,615,187      9,231,202 

Federal Revenue:

PL 874 (Impact Aid) 89,030$    40,000$    40,000$    40,000$    -$     

Other Federal Revenue (E-Rate) 833,741 620,000 620,000 610,000 (10,000)$     

  Total Federal Revenue 922,771 660,000 660,000 650,000 (10,000) 

Total General Fund Budgeted Revenues 257,979,027$    274,274,600$    277,666,239$    298,133,593$    23,858,993$    

Expenditures:

  Total Expenditures 252,206,535$    274,274,600$    274,274,600$    298,133,593$    23,858,993$    

Add to/(Use of) Fund Balance 5,772,492 - 3,391,639 - - 

Beginning Fund Balance 44,777,803$    50,550,295$    50,550,295$    53,941,934$    
Ending Fund Balance 50,550,295 50,550,295        53,941,934        53,941,934        

Fund Balance as % of Next Year's Expenditures 18.4% 17.0% 18.1% 17.4%

Number of Days of Operations 67.3 61.9 66.0 63.5 

Operations Millage 114.0 121.6 121.6 125.6

Budget Assumptions:
1

 3% growth in mill value and 4 mill increase
2

 2.2% Population growth
3

 SC House Projections-New Funding Model
4

 SC House Projections-New Funding Model
5

 Indirect Costs based on estimated ESSER expenditures

8 182

Item 17.



Beaufort County School District 

2022-2023 Proposed General Fund Budget & Revisions 

Proposed State Increases and Budget Priorities to Align with District Strategic Goals

The information following provides further explanation of the major increases and decreases proposed 

in this budget.  Each budget item has been tied with a strategic goal in the Beaufort County School 

District Strategic Plan.  The Strategic Goals may be found below: 

  Strategic Goals 

I Student Achievement 

II Teacher & Administrator Quality 

III School Climate 

IV Gifted & Talented 

Proposed State Increases 

Increase to State Minimum Salary Schedule  (SG II)     $8,008,943 

The House version of the state budget includes a $4,000 increase to the teacher State Minimum Salary 

Schedule.  BCSD has included this $4,000 increase in the FY 2023 budget to provide a new BCSD teacher 

Minimum Salary of $43,066.   

Teacher Salary Step  (SG II)       $2,001,854 

This budget includes the FY 2023 step increase mandated by the state. The value of the step increase is 

an average of 2%. 

State Health Insurance Increase  (SG II)                                $ 1,597,707 

An 18.1% increase to the employer’s share of the State Health Insurance premiums will be effective 

January 1, 2023.  Costs are adjusted to account for the affected six-month period. 

State Retirement  Increase (SG II)                  $1,513,855 

The employer’s share of state retirement employer contribution will increase by 1.0% in FY 2023.  The 

rate will adjust from 22.81% to 23.81%, effective July 1, 2022.   

Bus Driver State Mandated Increase  (SG II)  $192,783 

There is a proposed 5% increase to the State Bus Driver’s Salary Schedule. 

9 183

Item 17.



Other Compensation Increases 

3% Retroactive COLA increase for all employees  (SG II)                             $ 0 
This increase was granted in FY 2022 as a recurring cost. While the estimated cost of the retroactive 
COLA was $5,195,000, the projected slippage from vacancy savings will more than offset the cost of the 
COLA.  

Compensation Study- ADM/CLAS employees  (SG II)                                 $2,629,200 
To provide funding for the first phase of recommendations in the support staff compensation study; 

3% COLA for ADM/CLAS  (SG II)  $1,383,828 
To provide a cost of living increase for classified, professional and administrative staff; 

FY 23 Salary Step Increase – ADM/CLAS/BUS  (SG II)  $910,924 
To provide a step increase for classified, professional and administrative staff; 

Addition of Step 26 to Teacher Salary Schedule  (SG II)                  $322,077 
To ensure that our most experienced teachers will be moved an additional step, step 26 has been added 
to the certified salary schedule. This results in an increase above step 25, which provides a step increase 
to all teachers. 

Staffing Allocations 

Certified Teaching Positions – 5.5 FTE’s  (SG I)                  $403,547 

To fund additional teachers in schools with the highest poverty to reduce class sizes, certified teaching 

positions are added.  These additional FTE’s were based on a differentiated staffing model which utilizes 

a poverty index in correlation with school academic performance. 

Interventionist – 3.5 FTE’s  (SG I)        $376,128 

To provide intervention support in schools that require additional support in core instructional areas; 

Assistant Principals – 3.0 FTE’s  (SG I)    $352,408 

To provide additional administrative support at three schools; 

Career Development Facilitators (CDFs) – 5.0 FTE’s  (SG I)       $314,611 
To promote career development, two CDFs will be assigned to high schools that currently share 
responsibilities for career planning of students.  Three CDFs will serve the middle school clusters. 

Special Education Teaching Positions – 3.0 FTE’s  (SG I)  $220,118 

To provide services for a growing population of students identified with disabilities; 

Administrative Support Positions – 2.0 FTE’s  (SG II)                                             $201,274 

To address a recommendation in the efficiency study, a District Director of Athletics position is added. 

Additionally, administrative support is included in the Communications office to ensure FOIA compliance 

and adherence to copyright laws. 

Psychologist/Behavior Mgt Spec – 2.0 FTE’s  (SG I)      $159,936 

To support the Student Services division and the needs they assess; 

10 184

Item 17.



Operational Expenditure Increases 

Charter School Allocation Increase  (SG I)                   $2,329,564 
The General Fund allocation is determined per the formula as specified in S.C Code Ann. Section 59-40-
140. The increase resulted from a higher millage rate producing additional tax revenues.

Service Providers/Supply Contracts  (SG III)            $1,070,326 
To provide funding for the increase in service and supply contracts including Grounds, Custodial, 
Maintenance and Other Purchased Services;   
All significant multi-year contracts have an inflationary clause that caps any increases to 3%. 

Professional Development  (SG III)      $329,423  
To provide for professional development requirements for teachers, support staff and administrators, 
inclusive of the costs of registration, travel, prepared food and dues to professional organizations; 

Pupil Activities  (SG III)   $195,799 
To provide increased resources to support student activities; 

Property Insurance  (SG III)        $45,742 
To provide surety and protection for the properties that serve the students and faculty of the District; 

Substitute Contracted Services  (SG II)                                ($649,303) 
To provide for an increased need for substitute support, outsourced services have been utilized.  This 
service contract provides substitutes and is now filling paraprofessional vacancies resulting in a net 
savings to the District. 

Other Increases/Decreases 

Equipment  (SG III)        ($58,187) 
These expenditures are less in this budget due to the reduction in the current needs for technology 
equipment and software. 

Supplies and Materials  (SG III) ($188,562) 
These expenditures are reduced due to availability of funds in the ESSER Federal Program. 

BUDGET CHANGES (INCREASES/DECREASES) SINCE APRIL 22, 2022 BOARD WORKSHOP 

Departmental Operating Budgets: 

Instructional and Instructional Support       ($464,178) 
Reductions in professional development, travel, legal, prepared food, supplies and other services; 

Operational Support          ($416,500) 
Reductions in professional development, travel, legal, prepared food, technology and other purchased 
services.  

11 185

Item 17.



Other Changes: 

Personnel Services         ($819,322) 
Due to new funding formula, positions paid in Funds 338 & 397 were slated to move to the General 
Fund in FY2023.  These funds currently have a carryover for FY2023 which will provide funding for these 
positions for an additional year. This reduces the amount that was budgeted in the General Fund for 
these positions. 

Athletics (SG III)           $200,000 
Approval was received to add Men’s Volleyball to the athletic programs.  This is the funding needed to 
support the startup supplies and coaching stipends for this new program. 

Sick Leave Payout Program (SG  II & III)        $1,500,000 
Due to the reductions listed above, funds are available to support a Sick Leave Payout Program.  This 
program will be developed as a model for increasing retention by providing a greater payout for unused 
sick leave days. 

Net Effect on Proposed Expenditure Budget $0 

BUDGET CHANGES (INCREASES/DECREASES) SINCE MAY 3, 2022 BOARD MEETING 

Certified Compensation Change: 

$2,500 of Locality Supplement Rolled into Teacher Salary Schedule (SG II)  $1,000,000 
To provide a permanent salary increase to all certified teachers, half ($2,500) of the locality supplement 
is being rolled into the salaries of certified staff.  These additional funds are required to maintain the 
employer’s share of retirement. 

12 186

Item 17.



YEARS EXP BA BA+18 MA MA+30 PHD/EDD YEARS EXP BA BA+18 MA MA+30 PHD/EDD

0 37,928 39,588 43,282 46,975 50,668 0 45,566 47,276 51,080 54,884 58,688

1 38,741 40,589 44,389 48,084 52,145 1 46,403 48,307 52,221 56,027 60,209

2 39,774 41,620 45,498 49,192 53,623 2 47,467 49,369 53,363 57,168 61,732

3 40,771 42,618 46,606 50,297 55,099 3 48,494 50,397 54,504 58,306 63,252

4 41,805 43,652 47,715 51,408 56,576 4 49,559 51,462 55,646 59,450 64,773

5 42,803 44,650 48,822 52,514 58,054 5 50,587 52,490 56,787 60,589 66,296

6 43,838 45,683 49,929 53,623 59,530 6 51,653 53,553 57,927 61,732 67,816

7 44,833 46,680 51,036 54,731 61,008 7 52,678 54,580 59,067 62,873 69,338

8 45,869 47,715 52,145 55,839 62,485 8 53,745 55,646 60,209 64,014 70,860

9 46,864 48,711 53,252 56,947 63,961 9 54,770 56,672 61,350 65,155 72,380

10 47,898 49,745 54,360 58,054 65,438 10 55,835 57,737 62,491 66,296 73,901

11 48,896 50,742 55,469 59,161 66,915 11 56,863 58,764 63,633 67,436 75,422

12 49,929 51,776 56,576 60,269 68,394 12 57,927 59,829 64,773 68,577 76,946

13 50,926 52,773 57,684 61,376 69,870 13 58,954 60,856 65,915 69,717 78,466

14 51,961 53,808 58,793 62,485 71,347 14 60,020 61,922 67,057 70,860 79,987

15 52,957 54,804 59,901 63,593 72,826 15 61,046 62,948 68,198 72,001 81,511

16 53,990 55,839 61,008 64,700 74,302 16 62,110 64,014 69,338 73,141 83,031

17 54,990 56,836 62,116 65,808 75,780 17 63,140 65,041 70,479 74,282 84,553

18 55,950 57,798 63,151 66,877 77,187 18 64,129 66,032 71,546 75,383 86,003

19 56,920 58,768 64,211 67,966 78,625 19 65,128 67,031 72,637 76,505 87,484

20 57,916 59,764 65,294 69,073 80,084 20 66,153 68,057 73,753 77,645 88,987

21 58,884 60,763 66,387 70,230 81,428 21 67,151 69,086 74,879 78,837 90,371

22 59,864 61,775 67,491 71,402 82,793 22 68,160 70,128 76,016 80,044 91,777

23 60,861 62,804 68,618 72,591 84,178 23 69,187 71,188 77,177 81,269 93,203

24 61,869 63,845 69,759 73,800 85,581 24 70,225 72,260 78,352 82,514 94,648

25+ 62,921 64,931 70,945 75,054 87,036 25 71,309 73,379 79,573 83,806 96,147

26+ 72,411 74,516 80,816 85,120 97,671

CERTIFIED STAFF SALARY CLASSIFICATIONS  

AND YEARS EXPERIENCE

CURRENT PENDING APPROVAL
BEAUFORT COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Salary and Stipend Schedules
2021-2022 School Year

BEAUFORT COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT Salary 
and Stipend Schedules
2022-2023 School Year 

($4,000 Increase + $2,500 Locality Rolled In)

CERTIFIED STAFF SALARY CLASSIFICATIONS  

AND YEARS EXPERIENCE

13 187

Item 17.



BEAUFORT COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

PRELIMINARY DETAIL BUDGET BY IN$ITE CATEGORY‐FY2023

FY2021 Actual

FY22 Original 

Budget

FY23 

Requested 

Budget

% Change from 

Original Footnote

1 Instruction & Instructional Support

General Instruction

111 Kindergarten Programs 9,580,928 11,610,734 11,159,761 ‐3.88% 1*

112 Primary Programs 26,955,902 29,390,059 30,330,631 3.20% 1

113 Elementary (Middle School) Programs 44,014,217 46,222,909 48,505,734 4.94% 1

114 High School Programs 32,028,921 35,837,558 37,009,643 3.27% 1

115 Vocational Programs 6,025,761 5,601,750 6,781,447 21.06% 1

117 Driver Education Programs 211,178 213,419 242,539 13.64% 1

118 Montessori Programs 916,307 1,056,247 1,226,015 16.07% 1

Total General Instruction 119,733,214 129,932,676 135,255,770 4.10%

Exceptional Programs

120  Special Education Programs 18,391,699 18,148,994 22,575,413 24.39% 1

Preschool Programs

135 PreSchool Handicapped Self‐Contained (3 and 4 Yr) 133,531 135,360 157,326 16.23% 1

137 PreSchool Handicapped Speech (3 and 4 Yr) 1,017,575 1,074,128 1,072,853 ‐0.12% 1

139 Early Childhood Programs 4,636,981 4,684,925 4,721,389 0.78% 1

Total Preschool Programs 5,788,087 5,894,413 5,951,568 0.97%

Special Programs

141 Gifted and Talented Academic 2,973,276 3,064,337 3,478,683 13.52% 1

144 International Baccalaureate 126,620 182,830 199,604 9.17% 1

145 Homebound 50,179 122,742 135,142 10.10% 2

148 Gifted and Talented Artistic 3,774 54,000 56,000 3.70% 1

Total Special Programs 3,153,848 3,423,909 3,869,429 13.01%

Other Exceptional Programs

162 Limited English Proficiency 5,407,513 5,865,897 6,732,411 14.77% 3

Total Exceptional Programs 5,407,513 5,865,897 6,732,411 14.77%

Summer School Programs

173 High School Summer School 5,383 0 0 0.00%

175 Instructional Programs Beyond Regular School Day 6,348 12,250 3,150 ‐74.29% 4

Total Summer School Programs 11,731 12,250 3,150 ‐74.29%

Adult Education

181 Adult Basic Education Programs 5,383 0 0 0.00% 4

183 Adult Secondary Education Programs 645.9 0 0 0.00% 4

188 Parenting/Family Literacy 37,746 21,914 70,432 221.40% 1

Total Adult Education 43,774 21,914 70,432 221.40%

Pupil Activity

190 Instructional Pupil Activity 17,551 118,577 120,139 1.32% 5

Total Pupil Activity 17,551 118,577 120,139 1.32%

Support Services ‐ Students

211 Attendance and Social Work 3,842,864 4,037,639 4,150,730 2.80% 6

212 Guidance Services 5,526,777 6,255,327 6,923,291 10.68% 7

213 Health Services 2,176,785 2,470,717 2,783,519 12.66% 6

214 Psychological Services 1,419,620 1,569,652 1,793,136 14.24% 1

14 188

Item 17.



BEAUFORT COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

PRELIMINARY DETAIL BUDGET BY IN$ITE CATEGORY‐FY2023

FY2021 Actual

FY22 Original 

Budget

FY23 

Requested 

Budget

% Change from 

Original Footnote

217 Career Specialist Services 0 0 104,437 0.00% 8

Total Support Services‐Students 12,966,046 14,333,335 15,755,113 9.92%

Support Services ‐ Instructional Staff

221 Improvement of Instruction Curriculum Development 7,426,879 9,687,398 10,391,435 7.27% 6

222 Literacy and Media Services 4,103,313 4,302,996 4,663,297 8.37% 1

224 Improvement of Instruction Inservice and Staff Training 285,392 369,537 663,314 79.50% 9

Total Support Services‐Instructional Staff 11,815,584 14,359,931 15,718,046 9.46%

Support Services ‐ Central

262 Planning 119,861 122,470 5,900 ‐95.18% 10

Total Support Services‐Central 119,861 122,470 5,900 ‐95.18%

Support Services ‐ Pupil Activity

271 Pupil Services Activities 3,436,884 3,802,605 4,390,916 15.47% 11

Total Support Services‐Pupil Activity 3,436,884 3,802,605 4,390,916 15.47%

2 Operations
Finance and Operations

252 Fiscal Services 1,956,360 2,307,005 2,509,447 8.78% 6

254 Operation and Maintenance of Plant 25,103,824 27,333,442 28,164,029 3.04% 12

255 Student Transportation 7,182,627 7,347,436 7,936,312 8.01%

256 Food Services 7,536 0 0 0.00%

258 Security 1,351,871 2,318,983 2,342,704 1.02% 14

Total Finance and Operations 35,602,216 39,306,866 40,952,492 4.19%

Support Services ‐ Central

264 Staff Services 3,020,190 4,372,018 5,501,561 25.84% 15

266 Technology and Data Processing Services 5,863,780 6,144,044 6,738,508 9.68% 6

Total Support Services‐Central 8,883,971 10,516,062 12,240,069 16.39%

3 Leadership
Support Services ‐ Instructional Staff

223 Supervision of Special Programs 299,664              332,583             771,553             131.99% 16

Total Support Services‐Instructional Staff 299,664 332,583 771,553 131.99%

Support Services ‐General Administration

231 Board of Education 585,513              752,558             728,947             ‐3.14%
232 Office of the Superintendent 386,939              421,573             475,886             12.88% 6

233 School Administration 17,577,234        18,678,577       21,840,094       16.93% 17

Total Support Services‐General Administration 18,549,687 19,852,708 23,044,927 16.08%

Facilities & Operations

253 Facilities Acquisition and Construction 36,069                44,648               44,647               0.00%

Total Finance and Operations 36,069 44,648 44,647 0.00%

Support Services ‐ Central

263 Information Services 456,907              425,088             587,380             38.18% 18

Total Support Services‐Central 456,907 425,088 587,380 38.18%

Charter School and Other Charges

412 Payments to Other Governmental Units 87,119                75,000               75,000               0.00%

416 LEA Payments to Public Charter Schools 7,343,550          7,509,674         9,839,238         31.02% 19

421 Interfuned Transfers ‐ Special Revenue 1,287                  ‐                      ‐                      0.00%

425 Interfund Transfers ‐ Food Service 110,000              110,000             110,000             0.00%

Total Other Charges 7,541,956 7,694,674 10,024,238 30.28%

Debt Service

500 Debt Service 65,640                65,000               20,000               ‐69.23% 20

Total Debt Service 65,640 65,000 20,000 ‐69.23%

Grand Total 252,321,902 274,274,600 298,133,593 8.70%

15 189

Item 17.



BEAUFORT COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

PRELIMINARY DETAIL BUDGET BY IN$ITE CATEGORY‐FY2023

FY2021 Actual

FY22 Original 

Budget

FY23 

Requested 

Budget

% Change from 

Original Footnote

Footnotes:

1 Includes 3% retro COLA, $4,000 increase, $2,500 of locality to base salary, Max step 26 plus required benefits increases 
1* Includes 3% retro COLA, $4,000 increase, $2,500 of locality to base salary, Max step 26 plus required benefits increases and budgeted slippage
2 Continued increases due to residual impact of Pandemic

3 Additional positions to transition to mandatory 60 to 1 student to teacher ratio
4 Funded in Special Revenue Funds
5 Field trips, increased fuel costs
6 Retro 3% COLA, step and FY23 3% COLA including benefits
7 Additional position to maintain a 300 to 1 student to teacher ratio plus $4,000 incr and step
8 Additional positions to support college and career readiness in MS and HS
9 Retro 3% COLA, step and FY23 3% COLA including benefits; Executive Directors moved in FY23.

10 Staff transitioned to Operations & Maintenance ‐ Department 254
11 School athletics allocations and increases in benefits costs
12 Annual energy and other contractual increases
13 State mandated 5% pay increase for bus drivers, plus benefits
14 Annual increases for security and SRO services
15 Retro 3% COLA, step and FY23 3% COLA including benefits; Additional positions due to efficiency study
16 Student Services Department restored and addition of District Athletic Director based on recommendation of Efficiency Study.
17 3 new Assistant Principals,  COLA, Step, Classified and Admin Compensation Study
18 Retro 3% COLA, step and FY23 3% COLA; Add'l staff for FOIA & copyright compliance

19 State allocation based on increased tax revenues in FY22
20 Decrease due to reduction in TAN borrowing as a result of increased Fund Balance

16 190

Item 17.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

             ITEM TITLE: 

Approval of an ordinance for a 2022 Transportation Sales Tax Referendum and an accompanying Resolution 
to adopt all additional recommendations regarding the implementation of the future program as 
recommended by the Transportation Advisory Committee (TAC).  

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

County Council May 23, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Dean Moss, Transportation Advisory Committee Chairman 

Jared Fralix, Assistant County Administrator of Engineering 

30 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

County Council passed a resolution on February 7, 2022, to establish a TAC to evaluate a potential 
Sales Tax Referendum. The Committee’s objective was to define the proposed project list for the 
referendum questions, the amount of the sales tax to be collected, and the duration of the sales tax 
collection period.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The TAC met for eleven meetings to discuss the objectives as set by Council. Much consideration was 
given to develop the proposed list of projects and a unanimous vote was made by the committee to 
forward to County Council. The project list is described fully in the attached memorandum and 
ordinance.  Additional committee recommendations are included in the described memorandum for 
implementation of the future program. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

N\A  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of an ordinance and resolution for the 2022 Transportation Sales Tax 
Referendum as presented by the TAC 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny the first reading of an ordinance for 2022 Transportation Sales Tax 
Referendum and accompanying resolution for the implementation of the program. 

(Next steps - Move forward to Council for Second Reading on June 13, 2022)  

 

191

Item 18.



AN ORDINANCE 

 

TO LEVY AND IMPOSE A ONE (1) PERCENT SALES AND USE TAX, SUBJECT TO A 

REFERENDUM, WITHIN BEAUFORT COUNTY PURSUANT TO SECTION 4-37-30 OF 

THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED; TO DEFINE THE 

SPECIFIC PURPOSES AND DESIGNATE THE PROJECTS FOR WHICH THE 

PROCEEDS OF THE TAX MAY BE USED; TO PROVIDE THE MAXIMUM TIME FOR 

WHICH SUCH TAX MAY BE IMPOSED; TO PROVIDE THE ESTIMATED COST OF 

THE PROJECTS FUNDED FROM THE PROCEEDS OF THE TAX; TO PROVIDE FOR 

A COUNTY-WIDE REFERENDUM ON THE IMPOSITION OF THE SALES AND USE 

TAX AND THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND TO PRESCRIBE 

THE CONTENTS OF THE BALLOT QUESTIONS IN THE REFERENDA; TO PROVIDE 

FOR THE CONDUCT OF THE REFERENDA BY THE BOARD OF VOTER 

REGISTRATION AND ELECTIONS OF BEAUFORT COUNTY; TO PROVIDE FOR 

THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE TAX, IF APPROVED; TO PROVIDE FOR THE 

PAYMENT OF THE TAX, IF APPROVED; AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS 

RELATING THERETO.  

BE IT ENACTED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH 

CAROLINA, IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED:  

Section 1. Recitals and Legislative Findings. As an incident to the enactment of this 

Ordinance, the County Council of Beaufort County, South Carolina (the “County Council”) makes 

the following findings: 

1.1 The South Carolina General Assembly has enacted Section 4-37-30 of the 

Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Act”), pursuant to which the 

county governing body may impose by ordinance a sales and use tax in an amount not to 

exceed one percent, subject to the favorable results of a referendum, within the county area 

for a specific purpose or purposes and for a limited amount of time to collect a limited 

amount of money. 

1.2 Pursuant to the terms of Section 4-37-30 of the Code of Laws of South 

Carolina 1976, as amended, the South Carolina General Assembly has authorized county 

government to finance the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) including, but not limited to, 

drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-

related projects; either alone or in conjunction with other governmental entities. As a means 

to furthering the powers granted to the County under the provisions of Section 4-9-30 and 

Sections 6-21-10, et.seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976 as amended, the 

County Council is authorized to form a transportation authority or to enter into a 

partnership, consortium, or other contractual arrangement with one of more other 

governmental entities pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 37 of the Code of Laws of the South 

Carolina 1976, as amended. The County Council has decided to provide funding for 

192

Item 18.



highways, roads, streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other 

transportation-related projects, inter alia, without the complexity of a transportation 

authority or entering into a partnership, consortium, or other contractual arrangements with 

one or more other governmental entities at this time; provided that nothing herein shall 

preclude County Council from entering into partnerships, consortiums, or other contractual 

arrangements in the future. County Council may utilize such provisions in the future as 

necessary or convenient to promote the public purposes served by funding highways, roads, 

streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other transportation-related projects 

facilities (sic in statute) as provided in this Ordinance.  

1.3 The County Council finds that a one percent sales and use tax should be 

levied and imposed with Beaufort County, for the following projects and purpose: 

 

i. For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) related thereto, 

including, but not limited to, drainage facilities relating to the highways, 

roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-related projects; and mass 

transit systems operated by Beaufort County or jointly operated by the 

County and other entities. 

 

ii. For financing the costs of greenbelts. 

 

(the above herein referred to as the “projects”) 

For a period not to exceed ten (10) years from the date of imposition of such tax, to fund 

the projects at a maximum cost not to exceed $700,000,000 to be funded from the net 

proceeds of a sales and use tax imposed in Beaufort County pursuant to provisions of the 

Act, subject to approval of the qualified electors of Beaufort County in referendum to be 

held on November 8, 2022. The imposition of the sales and use tax and the use of sales and 

use tax revenue if approved in the referendum, shall be subject to the conditions precedent 

and conditions or restrictions on the use and expenditure of sales and use tax revenue 

established by the Act, the provisions of this Ordinance, and other applicable law. Subject 

to annual appropriations by County Council, sales and use tax revenues shall be used for 

the costs of the projects established in this Ordinance, as it may be amended from time to 

time, including, without limitation, payment of administrative costs of the projects, and 

such sums as may be required in connection with the issuance of bonds, the proceeds of 

which are applied to pay costs of the projects. All spending shall be subject to an annual 

independent audit to be made available to the public. 

 1.4 County Council finds that the imposition of a sales and use tax in Beaufort 

County for the projects and purposes defined in this Ordinance for a limited time not to 

exceed ten years to collect a limited amount of money will serve a public purpose, provide 

funding for highways, roads, streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) including, but not limited to, 

drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-

193

Item 18.



related projects; as provided in this Ordinance to facilitate economic development, promote 

public safety, provide needed infrastructure, promote desirable living conditions, enhance 

the quality of life in Beaufort County, and promote public health and safety in the event of 

fire, emergency, panic, and other dangers, and prepare Beaufort County to meet present 

and future needs of Beaufort County and its citizens.  

Section 2.  Approval of Sales and Use Tax Subject to Referendum. 

2.1  A sales and use tax (the “Sales and Use Tax”), as authorized by the Act, is 

hereby imposed in Beaufort County, South Carolina, subject to a favorable vote of a 

majority of the qualified electors voting in a referendum on the imposition of the tax to be 

held in Beaufort County, South Carolina on November 8, 2022.  

2.2 The Sales and Use Tax shall be imposed for a period not to exceed ten (10) 

years from the date of imposition.  

2.3 The maximum cost of the projects to be funded from the proceeds of the 

Sales and Use Tax shall not exceed, in the aggregate, the sum of $700,000,000 and the 

maximum amount of net proceeds to be raised by the tax shall not exceed $700,000,000, 

which includes administrative costs and debt service on bonds issued to pay for the 

projects. The estimated principal amount of initial authorization of bonds to be issued to 

pay costs of the projects and to be paid by a portion of the Sales and Use Tax is 

335,000,000. 

2.4 The Sales and Use Tax shall be expended for the costs of the following 

projects, including payment of any sums as may be required for the issuance of and debt 

service for bonds, the proceeds of which are applied to such projects, for the following 

purposes: 

i. For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) and mass transit systems operated 

by Beaufort County or jointly operated by the County and other governmental entities, 

which may include, but not limited to: 

i. Mass Transit: Funding multimodal transportation, including but not 

limited to ferries and marine transport, for a more robust and equitable 

public transportation system.  

Safety: Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include 

pedestrian accommodations.  

Dirt Road Paving: Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the 

County.  

Resurfacing: Road resurfacing and preservation of all roadways (State, 

County, and municipality-owned) throughout the County. The goal is to 

improve the overall pavement condition of roads within the County as a 

whole.  

194

Item 18.



Pathways: Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian 

accommodations throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort 

County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 2021.  

Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: Planning, design, right of 

way acquisition, and construction of access roads for better 

interconnectivity. Implementation of transportation technologies to support 

the enhancement to capacity and safety of the transportation system.  

Resiliency: Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address 

flooding, sea level rise, stormwater and drainage.  

SC 170: Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 

170 from US 278 to SC 462.  

US 21, US 21 Business, and SC 281 Corridor Improvements: 

Multimodal and access improvements along the US 21 corridor (Ribaut 

Road) from Bell Bridge to Boundary Street and US 21 Business corridor 

(Boundary Street) to Woods Memorial bridge to improve safety, 

interconnectivity and capacity.  

SC 46 Improvements: Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 

from SC 170 to Jasper County. Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn 

lanes at intersections) along SC 46 from SC 170 to Buckwalter Parkway. 

All planned improvements would be coordinated so as to not disrupt the 

Scenic Byway designation.  

Hilton Head Island Projects: Road resurfacing, intersection 

improvements and pathways as requested by the Town of Hilton Head 

Island.  

US 278 Corridor Improvements/Enhancements: Additional funding to 

support the US 278 Corridor Improvement Project in the 2018 

Transportation Sales Tax Referendum.  

Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements: Completion of the 

Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements in the 2018 Transportation 

Sales Tax Referendum.  

Bluffton Regional Roadway Network: Implementation of any or all 

Bluffton projects listed as priorities in the approved LATS Transportation 

Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate projects to be undertaken by 

Beaufort County.  

 

The amount of the maximum total funds to be collected which shall be expended for these  

projects and purposes shall be no more than $700,000,000; 

 

  ii. For financing the costs of greenbelts. The amount of the maximum 

total funds to be collected which shall be expended for these projects and purposes shall be 

no more than $60,000,000.   
 

 2.5  If the Sales and Use Tax is approved by a majority of the qualified electors 

voting in a referendum to be held in Beaufort County on November 8, 2022, the tax is to 

be imposed on the first day of May 2023, provided the Board of Voter Registration and 

Elections of Beaufort County shall certify the results not later than November 11, 2022, to 

195

Item 18.



Beaufort County Council and the South Carolina Department of Revenue. Included in the 

certification must be the maximum cost of the projects to be funded in whole or in part 

from the proceeds of the tax, the maximum time specified for the imposition of the tax, and 

the principal amount of initial authorization of bonds, if any, to be supported by a portion 

of the tax.  

 2.6 The Sales and Use Tax, if approved in the referendum conducted on 

November 8, 2022 shall terminate on the earlier of: 

(1) April 30, 2033; or  

(2) the end of the calendar month during which the Department of Revenue 

determines that the tax has raised revenues sufficient to provide the greater of either the 

costs of the projects as approved in the referendum or the cost to amortize all debts related 

to the approved projects.  

2.7 Amounts of Sales and Use Tax collected in excess of the required proceeds 

must first be applied, if necessary, to complete each project for which the tax was imposed. 

Any additional revenue collected above the specified amount must be applied to the 

reduction of debt principal of Beaufort County on transportation infrastructure debts only.  

2.8 The Sales and Use Tax must be administered and collected by the South 

Carolina Department of Revenue in the same manner that other sales and use taxes are 

collected. The Department may prescribe amounts that may be added to the sales price 

because of the tax. 

2.9 The Sales and Use Tax is in addition to all other local sales and use taxes 

and applies to the gross proceeds of sales in the applicable area that is subject to the tax 

imposed by Chapter 36 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 

amended, and the enforcement provisions of Chapter 54 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws 

of South Carolina 1976, as amended. The gross proceeds of the sale of items subject to a 

maximum tax in Chapter 36 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 

amended are exempt from the tax imposed by this Ordinance. The gross proceeds of the 

sale of food lawfully purchased with United States Department of Agriculture Food Stamps 

are exempt from the tax imposed by this Ordinance. The tax imposed by this Ordinance 

also applies to tangible property subject to the use tax in Article 13, Chapter 36 of Title 12 

of the Code of Laws of South Caroilna1976, as amended.  

2.10  Taxpayers required to remit taxes under Article 13, Chapter 36 of Title 12 

of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, must identify the county in 

which the personal property purchased at retail is stored, used, or consumed in this State.  

2.11  Utilities are required to report sales in the county in which the consumption 

of the tangible personal property occurs. 

2.12 A taxpayer subject to the tax imposed by Section 12-36-920 of the Code of 

Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, who owns or manages rental units in more than 

196

Item 18.



one county must report separately in his sales tax return the total gross proceeds from 

business done in each county. 

2.13 The gross proceeds of sales of tangible personal property delivered after the 

imposition date of the Sales and Use Tax, either under the terms of a construction contract 

executed before the imposition date, or written bid submitted before the imposition date, 

are exempt from the sales and use tax provided in this Ordinance if a verified copy of the 

contract is filed with the Department of Revenue within six months after the imposition 

date of the sales and use tax provided for in this Ordinance. 

2.14 Notwithstanding the imposition date of the Sales and Use Tax with respect 

to services that are billed regularly on a monthly basis, the sales and use tax authorized 

pursuant to this ordinance is imposed on the first day of the billing period beginning on or 

after the imposition date. 

Section 3. Remission of Sales and Use Tax; Segregation of Funds; 

Administration of Funds; Distribution to County: Confidentially.  

3.1 The revenues of the Sales and Use Tax collected under this Ordinance must 

be remitted to the State Treasurer and credited to a fund separate and distinct from the 

general fund of the State. After deducting the amount of any refunds made and costs to the 

Department of Revenue of administrating the tax, not to exceed one percent of such 

revenues, the State Treasurer shall distribute the revenues quarterly to the Beaufort County 

Treasurer and the revenues must be used only for the purposes stated herein. The State 

Treasurer may correct misallocations by adjusting subsequent distributions must be made 

in the same fiscal year as the misallocation. However, allocations made as a result of city 

or county code errors must be corrected prospectively.  

3.2  (a) Any outside agencies, political subdivisions, or organizations 

designated to receive funding from the Sales and Use Tax must annually submit requests 

for funding in accordance with procedures and schedules established by the County 

Administrator. The County Administrator shall prepare the proposed budget for the Sales 

and Use Tax and submit it to the County Council at such time as the County Council 

determines. At the time of submitting the proposed budget, the County Administrator shall 

submit to the County Council a statement describing the important features of the proposed 

budget.  

 (b) County Council shall adopt annually and prior to the beginning of 

each fiscal year a budget for expenditures of Sales and Use Tax revenues. County Council 

may make supplemental appropriations for the Sales and Use Tax following the same 

procedures prescribed for the enactment of other budget ordinances. The provisions of this 

section shall not be construed to prohibit the transfer of funds appropriated in the annual 

budget for the Sales and Use Tax for purposes other than as specified in the annual budget 

when such transfers are approved by County Council. In the preparation of the annual 

budget, County Council may require any reports, estimates, and statistics from any county 

197

Item 18.



agency or department as may be necessary to perform its duties as the responsible fiscal 

body of the County. 

 (c) Except as specifically authorized by County Council, any outside 

agency or organization receiving an appropriation of the Sales and Use Tax must provide 

to County Council an independent audit of such agency’s or organization’s financial 

records and transactions and such other and more frequent financial information as required 

by County Council, all in form satisfactory to County Council. 

3.3 The Department of Revenue shall furnish data to the State Treasurer and to 

the Beaufort County Treasurer for the purpose of calculating distributions and estimating 

revenues. The information which must be supplied to the County upon request includes, 

but is not limited to, gross receipts, net taxable sales, and tax liability by taxpayers. 

Information about a specific taxpayer is considered confidential and is governed by the 

provisions of SC Code Ann. Section 12-54-240. Any person violating the provisions of this 

section shall be subject to the penalties provided in SC Code Ann. Section 12-54-240.  

Section 4.  Sales and Use Tax Referendum; Ballot Question. 

4.1 The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County shall 

conduct a referendum on the question of imposing a Sales and Use Tax in the area of 

Beaufort County on Tuesday, November 8, 2022, between the hours of 7 a.m. and 7 p.m. 

under the election laws of the State of South Carolina, mutatis mutandis. The Board of 

Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County shall publish in a newspaper of 

general circulation the question that is to appear on the ballot, with the list of projects and 

purposes as set forth herein, and the cost of projects, and shall publish such election and 

other notices as required by law. 

4.2 The referendum question to be on the ballot of the referendum to be held in 

Beaufort County on November 8, 2022, must read substantially as follows: 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY SPECIAL SALES AND USE TAX 

QUESTION 1 

I approve a special sales and use tax in the amount of one (1) percent to be imposed in 

Beaufort County for not more than ten (10) years, or until a total of $700,000,000 in 

resulting revenue has been collected, whichever occurs first. The sales tax proceeds will be 

used to fund the following projects: 

Project (1) For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) related thereto including, but not 

limited to, drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects; and mass transit systems operated by Beaufort County or 

jointly operated by the County and other governmental entities. $640,000,000. 

198

Item 18.



Project (2) For financing the costs of greenbelts. $60,000,000.  

    YES ______ 

    NO _______ 

Instructions to Voters:  All qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of levying the 

    special sales and use tax shall vote “YES;” and 

    All qualified electors opposed to levying the special sales  

    and use tax shall vote “NO.” 

 

QUESTION 2 

 

I approve the issuance of not exceeding $335,000,000 of general obligation bonds of 

Beaufort County. Payable from the special sales and use tax described in Question 1 above, 

maturing over a period not to exceed ten (10) years, to fund completion of projects from 

among the categories described in Question 1 above.  

     YES ______ 

     NO _______ 

Instructions to Voters: All qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of the issuance 

bonds for the stated purpose shall vote “YES;” and  

     All qualified electors opposed to the issuance of bonds for  

     the stated purposes shall vote “NO.” 

 

4.3 In the referendum on the imposition of a special sales and use tax in 

Beaufort County, all qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of imposing the tax for the 

stated purposes shall vote “yes” and all qualified electors opposed to levying the tax shall 

vote “no”. If a majority of the electors voting in the referendum shall vote in favor of 

imposing the tax, then the tax is imposed as provided in the Act and this Ordinance. 

Expenses of the referendum must be paid by Beaufort County government.  

4.4 In the referendum on the issuance of bonds, all qualified electors desiring 

to vote in favor of the issuance of bonds for the stated purpose shall vote “yes” and all 

qualified electors opposed to the issuance of bonds shall vote “no”. If a majority of the 

electors voting in the referendum shall vote in favor of the issuance of bonds, then the 

issuance of bonds shall be authorized in accordance with SC Constitution Article X, 

Section 14, Paragraph (6). Expenses of the referendum must be paid by Beaufort County 

government. 

199

Item 18.



Section 5.  Imposition of Tax Subject to Referendum. 

The imposition of the Sales and Use Tax in Beaufort County is subject in all respects to 

the favorable vote of a majority of qualified electors casting votes in a referendum on the 

question of imposing a sales and use tax in the area of Beaufort County in a referendum to  

be conducted by the Board of Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County on 

November 8, 2022, and the favorable vote of a majority of the qualified electors voting in 

such a referendum shall be a condition precedent to the imposition of a sales and use tax 

pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 6. Miscellaneous. 

 6.1 If any one or more of the provisions or portions hereof are determined by a 

court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then that provision or portion shall 

be deemed severable from the remaining terms or portions hereof and the invalidity thereof 

shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this Ordinance; if any 

provisions of this Ordinance shall be held or deemed to be or shall, in fact, be inoperative 

or unenforceable or invalid as applied to any particular case in any jurisdiction or in all 

cases because it conflicts with any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any 

other reason, those circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in 

question inoperative or unenforceable or invalid in any other case or circumstance, or of 

rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained inoperative or unenforceable 

or invalid to any extent whatever; provided, however that the Sales and Use Tax may not 

be imposed without the favorable results of the referendum to be held on November 8, 

2022.  

 6.2 This Ordinance shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the 

laws of the State of South Carolina and all suits and actions arising out of this Ordinance 

shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in this State. 

 6.3 The headings or titles of the several sections hereof shall be solely for 

convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction, interpretations, or 

effect of this ordinance. 

 6.4 This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon approval following third 

reading. 

 6.5  All previous ordinances regarding the same subject matter as this Ordinance 

are hereby repealed.  

IT IS SO ORDAINED. 

     ________________________________ 

     Joseph Passiment 

     County Council Chairman 

____________________________ 

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

200

Item 18.



EXHIBIT A 

Proposed 2022 Sales Tax Program 

 

One Penny for 10 years with Mid-High Growth = $700m 

 Greenbelts ($60m)  

 

 Mass Transit; including Marine Transport ($25m)  

 

 Project Programs  

o Safety ($50m)  

o Dirt Road Paving ($50m)  

o Resurfacing ($60m)  

o Pathways ($50m)  

o Transportation Technologies/Access Roads ($50m)  

o Resiliency ($20m) 

 

 Big Projects  

o SC 170 ($80m)  

o Ribaut Road/Interconnectivity Projects ($75m)  

o SC 46 ($20m)  

o Hilton Head Project – Intersection Improvements, Pathways, and 

Resurfacing ($40m)  

o US 278 Corridor Improvement/Enhancements ($40m)  

o Lady’s Island Corridor ($40m)  

o Bluffton Regional Road Network ($40m) 

201

Item 18.



EXHIBIT A 
Greenbelts: Acquisition of property to establish a balance between environmental protection and rapid 

development growth.  

Mass Transit: Funding multimodal transportation, to include marine transport, for a more robust and 

equitable public transportation system. 

Project Programs: 

- Safety: Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include pedestrian 

accommodations. 

- Dirt Road Paving: Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the County. 

- Resurfacing: Road resurfacing and preservation of ALL roadways (State, County, and 

municipality-owned) throughout the County. The goal is to increase the overall pavement 

condition of roads within the County as a whole. 

- Pathways: Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian accommodations 

throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Plan 2021. 

- Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: Planning, design, right of way acquisition, and 

construction of access roads for better inner connectivity. Implementation of transportation 

technologies to support the enhancement to capacity and safety of the transportation system. 

- Resiliency: Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address flooding, sea level rise, 

stormwater and drainage. 

Big Projects: 

- SC 170: Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 170 from US 278 to SC 

462. 

- US 21 and US 21 (Bus.) /SC 281 Corridor Improvements: Multimodal and access improvements 

along the entire US 21 corridor from Bell Bridge to Boundary Street and along US 21 (Bus. 

Corridor) to Woods Memorial Bridge to improve safety, interconnectivity and capacity.  

- SC 46 Improvements: Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 from SC 170 to Jasper 

County. Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn lanes at intersections) along SC 46 from SC 

170 to Buckwalter Parkway.  All planned improvements would be coordinated so as to not 

disrupt the Scenic Byway designation.  

- Hilton Head Island Municipal Projects: Road resurfacing, intersection improvements, and 

pathways as requested by the Town of Hilton Head. 

- US 278 Corridor Improvements/Enhancements: Additional funding to support the US 278 

Corridor Improvement Project in the 2018 Transportation Sales Tax Referendum.  

- Lady’s Island Corridor Improvements: Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements  

- Bluffton Regional Roadway Network: Implementation of any or all Bluffton projects listed as 

priorities in the approved LATS Transportation Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate 

projects to be undertaken by Beaufort County.  

 

202

Item 18.



EXHIBIT B 

1 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Chairman and Members, Beaufort County Council 

From:  Dean Moss, Chairman, Transportation Advisory Committee 

Copy to:  County Administrator and Members, Transportation Advisory Committee 

Subject:  Transportation Advisory Committee Report and Recommendations 

Date:  May 10, 2022 

1.  Introduction 

The purpose of this memo is to transmit to the Beaufort County Council the 

recommendations and observations of the Council appointed Transportation Advisory 

Committee (TAC). These recommendations represent the unanimous position of those 17 

members of the Committee who actively participated in the deliberations. 

2. Summary General Recommendations 

The Committee recommends that Council prepare a referendum question to be placed 

upon the ballot at the earliest feasible date, which will ask the electorate to approve a one 

percent (1%) additional sales tax in Beaufort County, beginning in the following year and 

extending for ten years. The proceeds from this tax would be expended by the County for a 

series of critical transportation and mobility projects and programs vital to the health and 

safety of the residents and visitors. Further, the Committee recommends that a standing 

Transportation Advisory Committee be appointed to assist the County Council and Staff in 

the prioritization and implementation of the projects and activities to be funded by the 

referendum. 

3. Council’s Charge to the Committee 

County Council created the TAC through a resolution adopted on February 7, 2022.  The 

charge to the Committee is contained in paragraph #6 and reads as follows: 

“The citizen’s committee is charged with completing and preparing the following 

recommendations: 

a.  A proposed project list and/or categories for the referendum question(s) 

b. The amount of the sales tax to be collected; and/or 

c. The duration of the sales tax collection period.” 

4. Committee Process 

The Committee consisted of seventeen (17) members, one each from the eleven County 

Council Districts, one each from the five municipalities and one from the city of Hardeeville. 

The Hardeeville representative did not attend any meetings and the Yemassee 

representative attended one. The other appointees were, in general, in attendance at all 

the meetings.  The Committee met ten times, mostly on a Tuesday afternoon from 5:30 to 

between 7:00 and 7:30. The first four meetings of the TAC were spent learning and 

digesting the very complex jargon and procedures involved in the planning, engineering, 

and financing of transportation projects.  Staff then prepared a “strawman” of major 

203

Item 18.



EXHIBIT B 

2 
 

highway projects and other categories of more minor projects, that the Committee could 

work from. The remaining meetings were spent defining, debating, and modifying these 

suggested projects and the monies allocated to each one.  At the meeting on May 2, the 

Committee reached a general consensus and at the meeting on May 10, formally voted 

unanimously to approve the projects, amounts and recommendations that are contained in 

this memo. 

5. Role of the Staff 

Staff involved in this project consisted of Assistant County Administrator Jared Fralix, Capital 

Projects Coordinator, Brittanee Fields, and Administrative Assistant Carol Puryear. In the 

final two meetings, recently hired Engineering Director, Eric Claussen, also attended.  Given 

the complex nature of this process there was a lot for the Committee members to learn and 

staff provided many documents and plans that had been completed by the State of SC, the 

Low Country COG, County Planning, and the municipalities. Staff provided the Committee a 

suggested list of projects, transportation program categories and amounts.  There were 

many questions at every meeting, and they were clearly and patiently answered.  In sum, 

the staff support to the TAC was outstanding.  

6. Concepts behind the Recommendations 

The Committee is recommending that the referendum contain two types of project 

expenditures. 

a. Specific Projects 

These represent the traditional approach to referendum questions. As in the 2018 

referendum, specific projects are enumerated with an allocation of money specified. An 

example might be “Highway 170 Improvements – $80 million”, A short description of 

the project could be included.  As described below, the Committee recommends that 

eight of these projects be included in the referendum. They are countywide and address 

problems both on Federally designated highways (278, 46, 170, 21) and on State, 

County, and local roads, and streets.  $220 million is recommended for projects south of 

the Broad River and $115 million is recommended for projects north of the Broad River. 

It is important to note that none of these projects have been designed or bid, and the 

amounts assigned to them do not represent project budgets. 

b. Transportation Improvement Programs 

This category encompasses a large variety of projects which, because they are small 

(pave a dirt road), or because they may emerge in the future, cannot be specifically 

defined. These are projects that are, and will be, undeniably required, but which cannot 

yet be defined and may cost only a fraction of a “Specific Project”.  They would address 

needs that will emerge all over the County; in response, for example, to coastal flooding, 

new developments in rural areas, or the need to resurface exiting streets. Spent 

correctly, these funds will benefit residents and business all over the County. The 

Committee recommends putting approximately one half ($365 million) of the total 

expected revenue into these categories of projects, as described below. 

204

Item 18.



EXHIBIT B 

3 
 

 

7. Recommendations 

a. Amount and Length of Tax 

We recommend that the sales tax be applied at 1% (one penny on the dollar) for a 

period of ten years. We assumed a moderate to high growth rate. Based upon this 

projection the tax should raise approximately $700,000,000 over ten years.  We 

believe that this amount will enable us to plan, develop and implement appropriate 

solutions to meet the current needs caused by an overwhelmed and aging 

infrastructure system and to accomplish the improvements required today to 

address future demands.  In addition, this money can be multiplied several times 

over by aggressive pursuit of matching federal and state funds and the development 

of coordinated projects with Jasper County. 

b. Specific Projects and Amounts 

i. Hwy 170 Improvements - $80,000,000 

Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 170 from US 

278 to SC 462.  

ii. Hwy 46 Improvements - $20,000,000 

Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 from SC 170 to Jasper County. 

Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn lanes at intersections) along SC 46 

from SC 170 to Buckwalter Parkway.  All planned improvements would be 

designed so as to preserve the Scenic Byway designation.  

iii. Bluffton Regional Roadway Network - $40,000,000  

Implementation of any or all Bluffton projects listed as priorities in the 

approved LATS Transportation Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate 

projects to be undertaken by Beaufort County. 

iv. Hilton Head Island Municipal Projects - $40,000,000 

Road resurfacing, intersection improvements and pathways as requested by    

the Town of Hilton Head.  

v. Hwy 278 Project Enhancements -$40,000,000 

Additional funding to support the US 278 Corridor Improvement Project  

vi.  US 21 and US 21(Bus.)/SC 281 Corridor Improvements -$75,000,000 

 Multimodal and access improvements along the US 21 corridor from Bell 

Bridge to Boundary Street and along the US 21(Business) corridor to Woods 

Memorial Bridge to improve safety, interconnectivity, and capacity. 

vii. Lady’s Island Corridor Improvements -$40,000,000 

                    Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements  

 

c. Transportation Improvement Programs 

i. Mass Transit – $25,000,000 

205

Item 18.



EXHIBIT B 

4 
 

Funding multimodal transportation planning and implementation, to include 

marine transport, for a more robust and equitable public transportation 

system. 

ii. Safety - $50,000,000 

Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include pedestrian 

accommodations.  

iii. Resilience - $20,000,000 

Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address flooding, sea level 

rise, stormwater, and drainage.  

iv. Dirt Road Paving - $50,000,000 

Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the County.  

v. Resurfacing – $60,000,000 

Road resurfacing and preservation of ALL roadways (State, County, and 

municipal owned) throughout the County. The goal is to improve the overall 

pavement condition of roads across the County.  

vi. Pathways - $50,000,000 

Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian 

accommodations throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort 

County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 2021. We recommend that 

priority be given to pathways already approved by the voters in the 2018 

referendum 

vii. Transportation Technology/Access Roads - $50,000,000 

Planning, design, right of way acquisition, and construction of access roads 

for better interconnectivity. Implementation of transportation technologies 

to support enhancements to capacity and safety of the transportation 

system.  

viii. Greenbelts (Long term Demand Reduction) - $60,000,000 

Acquisition of property to reduce new lots and thereby establish a balance 

between environmental protection and rapid development growth.  Note:  

the term “Greenbelt” is used in the enabling legislation as an eligible category 

of expenditure. 

 

8.  Implementation Recommendations 

a. Advisory Committee 

i. County Council, with other stakeholders, should create an “Advisory” 

committee to provide recommendations to Council to prioritize projects for 

the entire length of the program. It should meet bi-monthly or quarterly. Its 

membership should mirror the TAC. 

ii. The Committee should make a call each year for projects from all 

stakeholders (County, municipalities, LATS/COG) for general projects. 

206

Item 18.



EXHIBIT B 

5 
 

iii. County staff in coordination with the Advisory Committee should create a 

priority index for all central programs such as: 

1. Safety:  intersection Improvements, turn lanes, rural road 

improvements.  Specifics to be developed. 

2. Dirt Road Paving: update existing 5-year plan to include municipal 

dirt roads. 

3. Resilience:  priorities should be based on susceptibility to flooding 

and population or critical functions served by the road.  

4. Resurfacing:  program to look at improving any and all roads (DOT, 

County, Municipal) specifics to be developed. 

5. Pathways:  use approved county wide pedestrian and bike master 

plan as a guide.  Priorities to projects already approved by voters. 

6. Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: focus on access and 

connecting roads, smart signals, electric vehicles services. 

b.  Issue Revenue Bonds 

Big projects should be bonded for immediate work  

c. Greenbelt (Long Term Demand Reduction)  

Utilize Rural and Critical Lands Board for priority setting of expenditures related to 

land or development rights acquisition 

d. Mass Transit 

Because no central plan currently exists for a comprehensive mass transit program, 

this should be the first priority. Utilize the exiting transit authority as the lead agency 

for this effort supported by an advisory committee. 

9. Conclusions 

As we weaved through the process and reviewed the gravity of the assignment and the 

critical needs for improvement and new components for our local mobility, it became quite 

evident that there is much to do.  It appears that we are not just behind the “8 ball”, we are 

under it; and it will take a coordinated public relations effort to move even this limited 

referendum forward for a better “mobility future for all of us. 

On behalf of the Transportation Advisory Committee members, may I say that it has been 

an honor to be entrusted by Council with preparing these important recommendations. I 

am available to meet with Council at your discretion to explain and discuss these projects 

and recommendations. 

  

207

Item 18.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation to Allocate 2018 One Cent Sales Tax Additional Revenue to the Sidewalks and Multi-use 
Pathways Program ($15,449,734.75). 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Committee – April 18, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, Assistant County Administrator - Engineering 

(5 min) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

In 2018, the citizens of Beaufort County voted to approve a one percent (1%) special transportation 
sales and use tax for not more than four (4) years or until a total of $120,000,000 revenue has been 
collected, whichever comes first. 

As of the 1st quarter of FY22, Beaufort County has received the full sales tax collection. As the monetary 
goal was met in the middle of a fiscal quarter, the collection continued throughout the remaining of 
the quarter and expired December 31, 2021 totaling $15,449,734.75. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The $120 million referendum included three (3) project categories; US 278 Corridor Traffic 
Improvements ($80 million) , Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements ($30 million) and Sidewalks 
and Multi-Use Pathways ($10 million).  

In May 2019, County Council passed Resolution 2019/22 prioritizing the Sidewalks and Multi-Use 
Pathways projects to 14 out of the 24 locations as the total cost of all the projects exceeded the 
available funding from the referendum.   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Additional revenue amount totaling $15,449,734.75.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

To ensure the completion of the priority projects established in Resolution 2019/22, staff recommends 
the $15,449,734.75 additional revenue to be allocated to the Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathway 
program (account 47050011-54510). 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Approve/deny recommendation for the $15,449,734.75 additional revenue to be allocated to the 
Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathway program. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to approve/deny the recommendation for the 
$15,449,734.75 additional revenue to be allocated to the Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathway 
program. 

 

208

Item 19.



1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022/ ___ 

AN ORDINANCE TO APPROPRIATE EXCESS FUNDS COLLECTED FROM THE 2018 

TRANSPORTATION SALES TAX 

WHEREAS, On November 13th 2017, by ordinance number 2017/34, Beaufort County Council 

("County Council") adopted enabling legislation which provided for the levy and collection of a one 

cent transportation sales tax; and 

WHEREAS, the tax was approved in a referendum vote; and 

WHEREAS, the tax was estimated to collect $120,000,000 before it was to be terminated; and 

WHEREAS, the tax collections were actually $135,449,734.75, creating a surplus of 

$15,449,734.75; and 

WHEREAS, the $120 million referendum included three (3) project categories; US 278 

Corridor Traffic Improvements ($80 million) , Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements ($30 

million) and Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathways ($10 million); and 

WHEREAS, In May 2019, County Council passed Resolution 2019/22 prioritizing the 

Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathways projects to 14 out of the 24 locations as the total cost of all the 

projects exceeded the available funding from the referendum; and 

WHEREAS, County Council finds that it is in the best interest of its citizens, residents, visitors 

and tourists to appropriate the surplus funds to the Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathway program starting 

with the remainder of the prioritized 14 pathways and then moving to the remainder of the 24 pathways 

as funds are available;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL, in 

meeting duly assembled, that the surplus in 2018 sales tax referendum revenues of $15,449,734.75 be 

appropriated to be used for the Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathway program; 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

     BY:___________________________________________ 

      Joseph Passiment, Jr. 

ATTEST: 

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

Chronology: 

Third and Final Reading:____________  

Public Hearing: _________  

Second Reading:__________ 

First Reading: _____________ 

209

Item 19.



ORDINANCE 2017 I 34 

AN ORDINANCE ENACTED PURSUANT TO s~c. CODE ANN. §4-37-30 ET 
SEQ. TO IMPOSE A ONE PERCENT (1%) TRANSPORTATION SALES AND 
USE TAX FOR NOT MORE THAN FOUR (4) YEARS, IF APPROVED BY 
REFERENDUM; TO AUTHORIZE THE ISSUE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION 
BONDS NOT TO EXCEED $120,000,000 IF APPROVED BY REFERENDUM, TO 
DESCRIBE THE TRANSPORTATION-RELATED PROJECTS AND 
ESTIMATED CAPITAL COSTS OF THE PROJECTS TO BE FUNDED IN 
WHOLE OR IN PART FROM THE PROCEEDS OF THE TAX; TO ORDER A 
COUNTY-WIDE REFERENDUM ON THE QUESTION OF IMPOSING THE 
TAX AND AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION 
BONDS; TO PRESCRIBE THE CONTENTS OF THE BALLOT QUESTIONS; 
AND PROVIDE FOR ALL OTHER THINGS NECESSARY TO SUBMIT THE 
AFORESAID QUESTIONS TO THE ELECTORATE. 

Adopted By 

THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

OF 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

THE 13TH DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2017 

210

Item 19.



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Section I. Recitals and Legislative Findings ... ........ ...... ...... ..... ..... .... ............................ .. .......... ....... ....... .... 2 
Section 2. Imposition of a One Percent Transportation Sales and Use Tax; Authorization for Bond 

Issuance, if any; Duration ofT ax; Projects and Project Descriptions .... .. .... .. ... .. ........ .............. 3 
Section 3. Order to Hold Referendum and Duties ofElection Commission .... .. ... ....... ... .. ........ .......... ........ S 
Section 4. Implementation of Project Plan ......... ....... ... ..................... ......... .. ... .... .... ....... .... ... ... .................. . 6 
Section 5. Voting, Polling Places and Hours of Election ...... ...... ....... .. ........ ..... .. ..... ..................... ..... ... ... ... 7 
Section 6. Notice of Referendum ... .... ........... ...... ........ .......... ..... ..... ...................... ........ .. ...... ...... .. ...... ........ 7 
Section 7. Voter Registration and Elections Board .......... .................... ...... ....... ...... ...... ....... ........ .. ....... .... .. 7 
Section 8. Applicability and Effective Date ...... ......... .... ........ ... ...... ..... ...... ........... ........ .... ....... ... ... .......... ... 8 
Section 9. Severability ..... ...... ........... ........... .......... .... .......... ....... ... ..... ... ... .............. ........ .......... .... ..... ....... ... 8 

Appendix A: Form of the Ballot Question; Local Question Number 2A: 
A Referendum to Authorize a One Percent (I %) Transportation Sales and Use Tax 
To Fund Transportation -Related Projects described in Question 2A ....... .. ...... ... ..... .. .... ....... .. .... ...... .......... 9 

Appendix B: Form of the Ballot Question; Local Question Number 2B: 
A Referendum to Authorize an Issue of General Obligation Bonds Not to Exceed $120,000,000 
To Fund Transportation - Related Projects described in Question 2A ..... .... ... .... ...... ... ......... .............. .. ..... II 

211

Item 19.



ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE ENACTED PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. §4-37-30 
ET SEQ. TO IMPOSE A ONE PERCENT (1%) TRANSPORTATION 
SALES AND USE TAX FOR NOT MORE THAN FOUR (4) YEARS, IF 
APPROVED BY REFERENDUM; TO AUTHORIZE THE ISSUE OF 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS NOT TO EXCEED $120,000,000 IF 
APPROVED BY REFERENDUM, TO DESCRIBE THE 
TRANSPORTATION-RELATED PROJECTS AND ESTIMATED 
CAPITAL COSTS OF THE PROJECTS TO BE FUNDED IN WHOLE OR 
IN PART FROM THE PROCEEDS OF THE TAX; TO ORDER A 
COUNTY-WIDE REFERENDUM ON THE QUESTION OF IMPOSING 
THE TAX AND AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BONDS; TO PRESCRIBE THE CONTENTS OF THE 
BALLOT QUESTIONS; AND PROVIDE FOR ALL OTHER THINGS 
NECESSARY TO SUBMIT THE AFORESAID QUESTIONS TO THE 
ELECTORATE. 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Council (the "County Governing Body)" finds the ex1stmg 
transportation infrastructure within the County of Beaufort and the cities and towns situated within the 
County (the "municipalities" ) are inadequate to support the current and future transportation-related needs 
of the County and municipalities; and 

WHEREAS, the County Governing Body finds that a one percent ( 1%) Transportation Sales and Use 
Tax and issue of general obligation bonds, if any, is the most equitable, affordable, efficient and expedient 
means of providing necessary financing to support, advance, develop and implement the transportation -
related projects specified herein (the "Projects" ); and 

WHEREAS, the County Governing Body finds that a one percent (1 %) Transportation Sales and Use 
Tax and the issue of general obligation bonds, if any, will enable the County to undertake, execute and 
complete, in whole or in part, the transportation-related Projects specified herein having determined that 
each Project is a necessary and a proper public purpose designated and designed to promote, support and 
contribute to the health, safety and welfare of the County' s and municipalities' residents, citizens, visitors 
and businesses and will promote, develop and enhance economic development within the County and 
municipalities; and 

WHEREAS, the County Governing Body, with the concurrence of the municipalities, desires to 
place on the November 6, 2018, General Election ballot a referendum question, which if approved by a 
majority of the qualified voters of Beaufort County, will authorize the imposition and levy of a one 
percent (1 %) Transportation Sales and Use Tax for not more than Four (4) years and authorize, upon 
referendum approval, an issue of not to exceed $120,000,000 in general obligation bonds all of which will 
be designated and directed exclusively to paying for, either directly or through payment of debt service on 
general obligation bonds, the reasonable and necessary expenses incidental to the Projects specified 
herein. 

Page 1 of 14 

212

Item 19.



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL 
OF BEAUFORT COUNTY, AND IT IS ORDAINED BY THE AUTHORITY OF SAID COUNCIL 
THAT: 

Section 1. Recitals and legislative findings 

As an incident to the adoption of this ordinance, the Beaufort County Council of Beaufort County, 
South Carolina (the "Counci l") makes the following findings: 

Section 1.1. The South Carolina General Assembly enacted Title 4, Chapter 37, Section 30, Code of 
Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (the "Code"), (hereinafter the "Transportation Sales and Use 
Tax") which empowers the County Governing Body to levy and impose a one percent (I %) sales and use 
tax by ordinance, subject to referendum, within the county and municipalities for a project or projects, for 
a specified period of time, to collect a limited amount of money and use the tax revenue to pay directly 

and, or, pay the debt service on bonds, if any, issued by the county, subject to referendum, to pay the cost 
of the projects authorized by this ordinance. 

Section 1.2. The County Governing Body finds the that a Transportation Sales and Use Tax imposed 

solely for the purpose provided herein to pay directly and, or, through payment of debt service upon issue 
of general obligation bonds, if any, and subject to a referendum, to pay all reasonable and necessary 
expenses incidental to the purchase, acquisition, construction, repair, alteration and improvement of 
transportation projects as more fully described in Section 2.3 including, without limitation, the costs and 
expenses of studies, land title and mortgage title policies, architectural, engineering and construction 
management services, legal, accounting, organizational, marketing or other special services related to the 
financing of the projects and issuance of bonds, if any, financial or underwriting fees and expenses 
incurred in connection with issuing bonds, if any, rating agencies' fees, initial trustee and paying agent 
fees, recording and filing fees, and any and all other necessary and incidental expenses related to 
execution of the projects set forth in Section 2.3 (the "Projects") all of which serve a necessary and proper 
public and corporate purpose of the County and its municipalities, enhance the safety, efficiency and 
aesthetics of the public infrastructure of the County and municipalities thereby promoting the public 
health, safety and welfare, desirable living conditions and economic development of the County and 
municipalities and addresses the transportation related infrastructure needs of the County and 
municipalities now and in the future. 

Section 1.3. The South Carolina General Assembly enacted Title 4, Chapter 37, Section 30(A)(3), 
Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, and authorized that in addition, the referendum may contain a 
question on the authorization of general obligation bonds under the exemption provided in Section 14(6), 
Article X ofthe Constitution of South Carolina, 1895, so that revenues derived from the imposition of the 
sales and use tax may be pledged to the repayment of bonds. If the referendum on the question relating to 
the issuance of general obligation bonds is approved, the county may issue bonds in an amount sufficient 
to fund the expenses of the project or projects. 

Section 1.4. Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, as 
amended (the "Constitution"), provides that Counties of the State shall have the power to incur bonded 
indebtedness in such manner and upon such terms and conditions as the General Assembly may have 
heretofore or may hereafter prescribe. 

Section 1.5. Article X, Section 14, subsection (6) of the Constitution provides that if general 
obligation debt is authorized by a majority vote of the qualified electors of the County voting in a 
referendum authorized by law, there shall be no conditions or restrictions limiting the incurring of such 
indebtedness except (i) those restrictions and limitations imposed in the authorization to incur such 

Page 2 of14 

213

Item 19.



indebtedness; (ii) such general obligation debt shall be issued within fi ve years of the date of such 

referendum; and (iii) general obligation debt may be incurred only for a purpose which is a public 

purpose and which is a corporate purpose of the County and such debt shall mature within 40 years from 

the time such indebtedness shall be incurred. 

Section 1.6. The provisions of Title 11 , Chapter 27, Section 40, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 

1976, as amended (the "Code'"), empower the County Council to order any such referendum as is required 

by Article X of the Constitution, to prescribe the notice thereof, and to conduct or cause to be conducted 

such referendum in the manner prescribed by Title 7 Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976. 

Section 1.7. The amount of general obligation bonds required for such purposes exceeds the County's 

present constitutional debt limitation unless the question of issuing such bonds is submitted to and 

approved by the qualified electors of the County. 

Section 2. Imposition of a One Percent Transportation Sales and Use Tax; Authorization for Bond 
Issuance, if any; Duration of Tax; Projects and Project Descriptions 

Section 2.1. A Transportation Sales and Use Tax, as authorized by Title 4, Chapter 37, Section 30, 

Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, is hereby imposed within Beaufort County and the 

municipalities, subject to favorable vote of a majority of the qualified electors voting in the General 

Election held in Beaufort County on November 6, 2018. 

A referendum authorizing the imposition of a Transportation Sales and Use Tax is authorized to 

contain a question to authorize the issuance of general obligation bonds in an amount not to exceed 

$120,000,000.00 under the exemption provided in Section 14( 6), Article X of the Constitution of South 

Carolina, 1895, so that revenues derived from the imposition of the sales and use tax may be pledged to 

the repayment of the bonds. 

Section 2.2. The Transportation Sales and Use Tax authorized by this Ordinance shall be expended 

for the purposes set forth in Section I .2 of this Ordinance. 

Section 2.3. The transportation-related Projects for which the proceeds of the tax will be used include 

highways, roads, streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other transportation-related 

projects facilities including, but not limited to, drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, 

bridges, and other transportation-related projects; jointly-operated projects, of the type specified in this 

Section 2.3 of this Ordinance by the County and South Carolina Department of Transportation; and, or, 

projects specified in this Section 2.3 of this Ordinance operated by the county or jointly-operated projects 

of the county and other governmental entities. 

The Projects and a description of the projects for which the proceeds of the tax are to be used are as 

follows: 

Page 3 of 14 

214

Item 19.



Project Name 

Hilton Head Island - US278 
Corridor Traffic Improvements 

Lady' s Island Corridor Traffic 
Improvements 

Sidewalks and Multi-Use 
Pathways - Safe Routes to 
Schools 

Project Description 

Repair and/or replace the existing spans 
of the bridges to Hilton Head Island and other 
improvements between Moss Creek Drive and Squire 
Pope Road 

Roadway traffic improvements between the Woods 
Memorial Bridge and the Chowan Creek Bridge as 
outlined in the Lady's Is land Corridor Study dated 
May 19,2017 

Installation and repair of sidewalks and multi-use 
pathways at multiple locations within Beaufort 
County so as to provide safe walking routes to 
schools and improved access to residential 
communities 

1. Burnt Church Road, Ulmer Road, and Shad Road 
2. Laurel Bay Road Pathway Widening 
3. Bluffton Parkway Phase 1 
4. Joe Frazier Road 
5. Meridian Road 
6. Alljoy Road 

Estimated 
Capital Cost 

$80,000,000 

$30,000,000 

$10,000,000 

7. Salem Road, Old Salem Road, and Burton Hill Road 
8. Middle Road 
9. Stuart Point 
10. Broad River Boulevard and Riley Road 
11 . Broad River Drive 
12. Lake Point Drive and Old Miller Road Pathway Connection 

13. Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive 
14. Ribaut Road to Parris Island Gateway 
15. Pine Grove Road and Burton Wells Road 
16. Spanish Moss Trail Extension 
17. Seabrook Road 
18. Depot Road 
19. Chowan Creek Bluff 
20. U.S. 17 Pathway Extension 
21 . Bruce K. Smalls 
22. Paige Point 
23. Big Road 
24. Big Estate Road 

Page 4 of 14 

TOTAL: $120,000,000 

215

Item 19.



Section 2.4. The anticipated tax year will end Four ( 4) years from the date of imposition, to wit: 
2022; provided, however, the tax terminates on the earlier of the final day of the maximum time specified 
for the imposition, or the end of the calendar month during which the Department of Revenue determines 
that the tax has raised revenues sufficient to provide the greater of either the cost of the projects as 
approved in the referendum or the cost to amortize all debts related to the approved projects. 

Section 2.5. Amounts collected in excess of the required proceeds first must be applied, if necessary, 
to complete each project for which the tax was imposed. Any additional revenue collected above the 
specified amount must be applied to the reduction of debt principal of the County on transportation 
infrastructure debts only. 

Section 2.6. The tax levied pursuant to this section must be administered and collected by the 
Department of Revenue in the same manner that other sales and use taxes are collected. The department 
may prescribe the amounts which may be added to the sales price because of the tax. 

Section 2.7. The tax authorized by this Ordinance is in addition to all other local sales and use taxes 
and applies to the gross proceeds of sales in the applicable jurisdiction which are subject to the tax 
imposed by Chapter 36 of Title 12 and the enforcement provisions of Chapter 54 of Title 12. The gross 
proceeds of the sale of items subject to a maximum tax in Chapter 36 of Title 12 are exempt from the tax 
imposed by this section. The gross proceeds of the sale of food lawfully purchased with United States 
Department of Agriculture food stamps are exempt from the tax imposed by this section. The tax imposed 
by this section also applies to tangible personal property subject to the use tax in Article 13, Chapter 36 of 
Title 12. 

Section 2.8. Taxpayers required to remit taxes pursuant to Article 13, Chapter 36 of Title 12 must 
identify the county in which the tangible personal property purchased at retail is stored, used, or 
consumed in this State. 

Section 2.9. Utilities are required to report sales in the county in which consumption of the tangible 
personal property occurs. 

Section 2.10. A taxpayer subject to the tax imposed by Section 12-36-920, who owns or manages 
rental units in more than one county shall report separately in his sales tax return the total gross proceeds 
from business done in each county. 

Section 2.11. The gross proceeds of sales of tangible personal property delivered after the imposition 
date of the tax levied pursuant to this section in a county, either pursuant to the terms of a construction 
contract executed before the imposition date, or a written bid submitted before the imposition date, 
culminating in a construction contract entered into before or after the imposition date, are exempt from 
the special local sales and use tax provided in this section if a verified copy of the contract is filed with 
the Department of Revenue within six months after the imposition of the special local sales and use tax. 

Section 2.12. Notwithstanding the imposition date of the special local sales and use tax authorized 
pursuant to this section, with respect to services that are billed regularly on a monthly basis, the special 
local sales and use tax is imposed beginning on the first day of the billing period beginning on or after the 
imposition date. 

The revenues of the tax collected in each county pursuant to this section must be remitted to the State 
Treasurer and credited to a fund separate and distinct from the general fund of the State. After deducting 
the amount of refunds made and costs to the Department of Revenue of administering the tax, not to 

Page 5 of 14 

216

Item 19.



exceed one percent of the revenues, the State Treasurer shall distribute the revenues and all interest 
earned on the revenues while on deposit with him quarterly to the county in which the tax is imposed, and 
these revenues and interest earnings must be used only for the purpose stated in the imposition ordinance. 
The State Treasurer may correct misallocations by adjusting later distributions, but these adjustments 
must be made in the same fiscal year as the misallocations. However, allocations made as a result of city 
or county code errors must be corrected prospectively. 

Section 2.13. The Department of Revenue shall furnish data to the State Treasurer and to the counties 
receiving revenues for the purpose of calculating distributions and estimating revenues. The information 
which must be supplied to counties upon request includes, but is not limited to, gross receipts, net taxable 
sales, and tax liability by taxpayers. Information about a specific taxpayer is considered confidential and 
is governed by the provisions of Section 12-54- 240. A person violating this section is subject to the 
penalties provided in Section 12-54-240. 

Section 3. Order to Hold Referendum and Duties of Election Commission 

Section 3.1. Upon receipt of this Ordinance, the county election commission shall conduct a 
referendum on the question of imposing the optional special sales and use tax in Beaufort County. A 
referendum for this purpose must be held at the time of the general election conducted on November 6, 
2018. The election commission shall publish the date and purpose of the referendum once a week for 
four consecutive weeks immediately preceding the date of the referendum in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the jurisdiction. A public hearing must be conducted at least fourteen days before the 
referendum after publication of a notice setting forth the date, time, and location of the public hearing. 
The notice must be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the county at least fourteen days 
before the date fixed for the public hearing. 

Section 3.2. Pursuant to Title 7, Chapter 13, Section 355, the Referendum question shall be submitted 
to the Beaufort County Board of Elections and Voter Registration to be placed on the ballot no later than 
12:00 noon on August fifteenth or, if August fifteenth falls on Saturday or Sunday, not later than 12:00 
noon on the following business day. 

Section 3.3. All qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of imposing the tax for a particular 
purpose shall vote "yes" and all qualified electors opposed to levying the tax for a particular purpose shall 
vote "no". If a majority of the votes cast are in favor of imposing the tax for the Projects, then the tax is 
imposed as provided herein; otherwise, the tax is not imposed. The election commission shall conduct the 
referendum pursuant to the election laws of this State, mutatis mutandis, and shall certify the result, no 
later than November thirtieth after the date of the referendum to the Beaufort County Council and to the 
Department of Revenue. Included in the certification must be the maximum cost of the projects to be 
funded in whole or in part from the proceeds of the tax, the maximum time specified for the imposition of 
the tax, and the principal amount of bonds, if any, to be supported by the tax receiving a favorable vote. 
Expenses of the referendum must be paid by the jurisdiction conducting the referendum. 

Section 3.4. If the tax is approved in the referendum, the tax is imposed effective the first day of May 
following the date of the referendum. If the certification is not made timely to the Department of 
Revenue, the imposition is postponed for twelve months. 

Page 6 of14 

217

Item 19.



\Section 4. Implementation of Project Plan 

Section 4.1. The Project Plan and Description as set forth in Section 2, having been approved by the 
Beaufort County Council, shall be implemented by the Beaufort County Administrator. The Beaufort 
County Administrator shall develop a comprehensive schedule to implement the Project Plan. The 
Administrator shall submit to the County Council, prior to implementing the Project Plan, a schedule and 
the County Council must approve the schedule prior to its implementation. At a minimum, the schedule 
must identify and list the projects as identified in Section 2.3, with an estimated start and completion date 
and the total amount of funds needed to complete the project. 

Section 4.2. If the Referendum on the question relating to the imposition and levy of a one percent 
(I %) Sales and Use Tax is approved and if the referendum on the question relating to the issuance of 
general obligation bonds is approved, the County Administrator and his or her designees are authorized to 
implement the execution of the Projects subject to a comprehensive schedule to execute the Projects. 
Before implementing a Project Plan, the Administrator will submit the schedule to the Beaufort County 
Council for review and approval. 

The Beaufort County Council recognizes that the order of Project implementation may vary due to 
unforeseen circumstances; acts of God including environmental conditions, weather and unforeseen and 
unanticipated conditions necessitating a change to the order of Project implementation and completion. 
Accordingly, the Beaufort County Council retains the right and privilege to alter, adjust, schedule and 
reschedule the order in which any particular Project will be undertaken and executed without the 
necessity of amending or repealing all of the Projects provided in this Ordinance at Section 2.3. 

Section 5. Voting, Polling Places and Hours of Election 

Section 5.1. The voting precincts in the County for the Referendum shall be those designated 
pursuant to Section 7-7-11 0 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended. The polling 
places for each of such precincts shall be designated by the Beaufort County Board of Elections and Voter 
Registration (the "Elections Board"). 

The polls shall be opened at 7:00a.m. and closed at 7:00p.m. on the date fixed for the Referendum 
and shall be held open during said hours without intermission or adjournment. 

Section 5.2. The Referendum shall be conducted using either voting machines or paper ballots as 
provided by State law. Upon approval by the Elections Board, the form of ballots to be used in the 
Referendum and the instructions to voters appearing thereon shall be in substantially the form set forth in 
Appendix A and B with such other changes as may be deemed necessary by the appropriate state and 
local officials upon concurrence of the Chairman of the County Council. 

Section 5.3. Every person offering to vote must be at least 18 years of age on the date of the 
Referendum, must reside in the County and must be duly registered on the books of registration for 
Beaufort County as an elector in the precinct in which he or she resides and offers to vote on or before the 
date on which said books of registration are closed for the Referendum, and must present his or her 
registration certificate or valid South Carolina driver's license or other form of identification containing a 
photograph issued by the South Carolina Department of Public Safety, if not licensed to drive. Any 
registered elector who meets the requirements set forth in the preceding sentence and who has moved his 
or her place of residence within the County after the date on which said books of registration are closed 
for the Referendum, but before the date of the Referendum, shall be entitled to vote in his or her previous 
precinct of residence in the Referendum. 

Page 7 of 14 

218

Item 19.



Section 6. Notice of Referendum 

Section 6.1. A Notice of Referendum shall be published in compliance with the provisiOns of 
Sections 7-13-35 and 4-15-50 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, not less than 60 
days prior to the Referendum, not later than two weeks after such first notice is published, and once not 
less than 15 days prior to the occasion set for the holding of the Referendum. 

The Elections Board is authorized to change any of the locations of polling places for the Referendum 
as deemed necessary or advisable. Appropriate changes are to be made to the Notice of Referendum. 

Section 7. Voter Registration and Elections Board 

Section 7.1. A certified copy of this Ordinance shall be filed with the Elections Board, accompanied 
by written notice from the Chairman of the County Council establishing the date for the Referendum as 
November 7, 2006. The Elections Board is hereby requested as follows: 

(a) To join in the action of the County in providing for the Notice of Referendum in substantially the 
form contained herein; 
(b) To prescribe the form of a ballot to be used in the Referendum; 
(c) To arrange for polling places for each precinct, or any part of a precinct within the County; 
(d) To appoint Managers of Election; 
(e) To provide a sufficient number of ballots or voting machines, as the case may be, for the 
Referendum; 
(f) To conduct the Referendum, receive the returns thereof, canvass such returns, declare the results 
thereof, and certify such results to the County Council; and 
(g) To take other steps and prepare such other means as shall be necessary or required by law in 
order to properly conduct the Referendum. 

Section 8. Applicability and Effective Date 

This Ordinance shall become effective upon third and final reading by the County. 

Section 9. Severability 

If any part of this Ordinance is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional, 
illegal, or invalid for any reason, it shall be construed to have been the legislative intent of the County 
Council of Beaufort County, South Carolina, to pass this Ordinance without such unconstitutional, illegal 
or invalid provision, and the remainder of this Ordinance shall be deemed and held to be constitutional, 
lawful and valid as if such portion had not been included. It this Ordinance or any provision thereof is 
held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, 
kind of property, circumstances or set of circumstances, such holding shall not affect the applicability 
thereof to any other persons, property or circumstances. 

Page 8 of14 

219

Item 19.



APPENDIX A 

FORM OF BALLOT 
OFFICIAL BALLOT-- REFERENDUM 

LOCAL QUESTION NUMBER 2A 
AUTHORIZATION TO IMPOSE A ONE PERCENT (I%) 

TRANSPORTATION SALES AND USE TAX 
TO FINANCE THE TRANSPORTATION-RELATED PROJECTS DESCRIBED IN THE 

QUESTION 2A 

Precinct _____ _ 

No. 

Initials of Issuing Officer 

Local Question 2A 

I approve a special transportation sales and use tax in the amount of one percent (I%) to be 
imposed in Beaufort County for not more than Four (4) years, or until a total of$120,000,000 
in resulting revenue has been collected, whichever comes first. The sales tax proceeds will be 
used for the following projects as described and for which an estimated capital cost is stated. 

Hilton Head Island - US 278 Corridor Traffic Improvements: Repair and/or replace the existing spans of the 
bridges to Hilton Head Island and other improvements between Moss Creek Drive and Squire Pope Road 
.......... .... ... . ......... .................................... ..... ... ........... ................. .. .... ..... . .. ....... $80,000,000 

Lady' s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements: Roadway traffic improvements between the Woods Memorial 
Bridge and the Chowan Creek Bridge as out lined in the Lady's Island Corridor Study dated May 19, 
2017 ... ............ . ... ...... ............. .. . ...... ............................................................... $30,000,000 

Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathways - Safe Routes to Schools: Installation and repair of sidewalks and multi
use pathways at multiple locations within Beaufort County so as to provide safe walking routes to schools and 
improved access to residential communities: (I) Burnt Church Road, Ulmer Road, and Shad Road, (2) Laurel 
Bay Road Pathway Widening, (3) Bluffton Parkway Phase I, (4) Joe Frazier Road, (5) Meridian Road, (6) 
Alljoy Road, (7) Salem Road, Old Salem Road, and Burton Hill Road, (8) Middle Road, (9) Stuart Point, (I 0) 
Broad River Boulevard and Riley Road, (II) Broad River Drive, (12) Lake Point Drive and Old Miller Road 
Pathway Connection, (13) Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive, (14) Ribaut Road to Parris Island Gateway, (15) 
Pine Grove Road and Burton Wells Road, ( 16) Spanish Moss Trail Extension, ( 17) Seabrook Road, ( 18) Depot 
Road, (19) Chowan Creek Bluff, (20) U.S. 17 Pathway Extension, (21) Bruce K. Smalls, (22) Paige Point, (23) 
Big Road, and (24) Big Estate Road ........................................................................... $ 10,000,000 

Total: ... ... .. .................................................... .... ............................. ............................................... $120.000.000 

Yes, in favor of the question 

No, opposed to the question 

[ ] 

[ ] 

If you are in favor of the question, place a check or cross-mark in the square after the words "Yes, in favor of 
the question''; if you are opposed to the question, place a check or cross-mark in the square after the words 
"No, opposed to the question." 

Page 10 of 14 

220

Item 19.



APPENDIX B 
FORM OF BALLOT 

OFFICIAL BALLOT-- REFERENDUM 
LOCAL QUESTION NUMBER 2B 

AUTHORIZATION TO IMPOSE A ONE PERCENT (1 %) 
TRANSPORTATION SALES AND USE TAX 

TO FINANCE THE TRANSPORTATION-RELATED PROJECTS DESCRIBED IN THE 
QUESTION 2A 

Precinct 
No. 

-----

Initials of Issuing Officer 

Local Question 2B 

I approve the issuance of not exceeding $120,000,000 of general obligation bonds of Beaufort 
County, maturing over a period not to exceed Four ( 4) years to fund the Transportation - Related 
projects identified in Beaufort County Local Referendum Question 2A. 

Yes, in favor ofthe question 

No, opposed to the question 

[ ] 

[ ] 

If you are in favor of the question, place a check or cross-mark in the square after the words "Yes, in 
favor of the question"; if you are opposed to the question, place a check or cross-mark in the square after 
the words "No, opposed to the question." 

Page 11 of 14 

221

Item 19.



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
) 

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT ) 

I, the undersigned, Clerk to Council of the Beaufort County Council, South Carolina (the "County 
Council"), do hereby certify that attached hereto is a true, correct and verbatim copy of an Ordinance duly 
enacted on the 13th day of November, 2017, by the County Council, having been read three times at a duly 
called and properly held public meetings at which a quorum of members attended and remained present 
throughout. Copies of the form of the documents referred to therein as presented to the meeting are on 
file in the offices of the County. 

The Ordinance was enacted by a majority vote of the members of the Beaufort County Council. 

WITNESS my hand this 13th day of November, 2017. 

(SEAL) 

Page 12 of14 

222

Item 19.



APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA ON THIS 13TH DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2017. 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

~J-h-
Thomas J. Keaveny, II, Esquire ~ 
Beaufort County Attorney 

(SEAL) 

First Reading: October 9, 2017 
Second Reading: October 23, 2017 
Public Hearing: November 13, 2017 
Third and Final Reading: November 13, 2017 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

D. Paul Sommerville, Chairman 

Page 9 of 14 

223

Item 19.



224

Item 19.



225

Item 19.



State Treasurer's Office
Transportation Facility Local Option Sales Tax

1007-Beaufort County

Tax Imposed on May 1, 2019  (Maximum time specified for the imposition of the tax is  six years)

Maximum Proceeds of the tax - $120,000,000

Collections Since Inception Brought Forward From Prior Fiscal Year 100,365,136.94

Interest Revenue Since Inception Brought Forward From Prior Fiscal Year 437,883.92

TOTAL 100,803,020.86

Distributions Since Inception Brought Forward From Prior Fiscal Year 100,803,020.86

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Fiscal Year-to-Date

Collections 18,588,758.61 15,945,267.25 0.00 0.00 34,534,025.86

Interest 63,316.98 49,371.05 0.00 0.00 112,688.03

Distributions 18,652,075.59 15,994,638.30 0.00 0.00 34,646,713.89

Collections Since Inception Including This Fiscal Year 134,899,162.80

Interest Revenue Since Inception Including This Fiscal Year 550,571.95

TOTAL 135,449,734.75

Distributions Since Inception Including This Fiscal Year 135,449,734.75

Summary from Prior Fiscal Years Since Inception

Fiscal Year 2022

Summary Since Inception Including This Fiscal Year

226

Item 19.



RESOLUTION 2022/ ____ 

A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE RECOMMENDATIONS BY THE TRANSPORTATION 

ADVISORY COMMITTEE (TAC) REGARDING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 2022 

TRANSPORTATION SALES TAX PROGRAM 

 The County Council of Beaufort County (the “Council”), the governing body of the Beaufort 

County, South Carolina (the “County”), has made the following findings of fact; 

 WHEREAS, the County Council established a citizens Transportation Advisory Committee (the 

“TAC”) on February 7th (Resolution 2022/11);  

 WHEREAS, the TAC was charged with developing a recommendation to Council regarding a 

possible 2022 Transportation Sales Tax Referendum. The three objectives of the committee included a 

project list, the amount to be collected, and the time period of collecting the tax; 

 WHEREAS, the TAC developed project list as requested and is described in Ordinance 

__________and attached hereto as Exhibit A; 

 WHEREAS, in addition to three main objectives of the TAC, the committee provided additional 

recommendations regarding the implementation for Council’s consideration. The additional 

recommendations are fully described in a memorandum to Council as drafted by the TAC Chairman, Dean 

Moss and is attached hereto as Exhibit B;  

  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY, 

adopts the additional recommendations of the TAC regarding the implementation of the possible 2022 

Transportation Sales Tax Program. 

  

ADOPTED, this 23rd Day of May, 2022.  

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

BY:_______________________________ 

         Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

  

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

227

Item 20.



EXHIBIT A 

Proposed 2022 Sales Tax Program 

 

One Penny for 10 years with Mid-High Growth = $700m 

 Greenbelts ($60m)  

 

 Mass Transit; including Marine Transport ($25m)  

 

 Project Programs  

o Safety ($50m)  

o Dirt Road Paving ($50m)  

o Resurfacing ($60m)  

o Pathways ($50m)  

o Transportation Technologies/Access Roads ($50m)  

o Resiliency ($20m) 

 

 Big Projects  

o SC 170 ($80m)  

o Ribaut Road/Interconnectivity Projects ($75m)  

o SC 46 ($20m)  

o Hilton Head Project – Intersection Improvements, Pathways, and 

Resurfacing ($40m)  

o US 278 Corridor Improvement/Enhancements ($40m)  

o Lady’s Island Corridor ($40m)  

o Bluffton Regional Road Network ($40m) 

228

Item 20.



EXHIBIT A 
Greenbelts: Acquisition of property to establish a balance between environmental protection and rapid 

development growth.  

Mass Transit: Funding multimodal transportation, to include marine transport, for a more robust and 

equitable public transportation system. 

Project Programs: 

- Safety: Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include pedestrian 

accommodations. 

- Dirt Road Paving: Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the County. 

- Resurfacing: Road resurfacing and preservation of ALL roadways (State, County, and 

municipality-owned) throughout the County. The goal is to increase the overall pavement 

condition of roads within the County as a whole. 

- Pathways: Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian accommodations 

throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Plan 2021. 

- Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: Planning, design, right of way acquisition, and 

construction of access roads for better inner connectivity. Implementation of transportation 

technologies to support the enhancement to capacity and safety of the transportation system. 

- Resiliency: Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address flooding, sea level rise, 

stormwater and drainage. 

Big Projects: 

- SC 170: Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 170 from US 278 to SC 

462. 

- US 21 and US 21 (Bus.) /SC 281 Corridor Improvements: Multimodal and access improvements 

along the entire US 21 corridor from Bell Bridge to Boundary Street and along US 21 (Bus. 

Corridor) to Woods Memorial Bridge to improve safety, interconnectivity and capacity.  

- SC 46 Improvements: Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 from SC 170 to Jasper 

County. Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn lanes at intersections) along SC 46 from SC 

170 to Buckwalter Parkway.  All planned improvements would be coordinated so as to not 

disrupt the Scenic Byway designation.  

- Hilton Head Island Municipal Projects: Road resurfacing, intersection improvements, and 

pathways as requested by the Town of Hilton Head. 

- US 278 Corridor Improvements/Enhancements: Additional funding to support the US 278 

Corridor Improvement Project in the 2018 Transportation Sales Tax Referendum.  

- Lady’s Island Corridor Improvements: Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements  

- Bluffton Regional Roadway Network: Implementation of any or all Bluffton projects listed as 

priorities in the approved LATS Transportation Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate 

projects to be undertaken by Beaufort County.  

 

229

Item 20.



EXHIBIT B 

1 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Chairman and Members, Beaufort County Council 

From:  Dean Moss, Chairman, Transportation Advisory Committee 

Copy to:  County Administrator and Members, Transportation Advisory Committee 

Subject:  Transportation Advisory Committee Report and Recommendations 

Date:  May 10, 2022 

1.  Introduction 

The purpose of this memo is to transmit to the Beaufort County Council the 

recommendations and observations of the Council appointed Transportation Advisory 

Committee (TAC). These recommendations represent the unanimous position of those 17 

members of the Committee who actively participated in the deliberations. 

2. Summary General Recommendations 

The Committee recommends that Council prepare a referendum question to be placed 

upon the ballot at the earliest feasible date, which will ask the electorate to approve a one 

percent (1%) additional sales tax in Beaufort County, beginning in the following year and 

extending for ten years. The proceeds from this tax would be expended by the County for a 

series of critical transportation and mobility projects and programs vital to the health and 

safety of the residents and visitors. Further, the Committee recommends that a standing 

Transportation Advisory Committee be appointed to assist the County Council and Staff in 

the prioritization and implementation of the projects and activities to be funded by the 

referendum. 

3. Council’s Charge to the Committee 

County Council created the TAC through a resolution adopted on February 7, 2022.  The 

charge to the Committee is contained in paragraph #6 and reads as follows: 

“The citizen’s committee is charged with completing and preparing the following 

recommendations: 

a.  A proposed project list and/or categories for the referendum question(s) 

b. The amount of the sales tax to be collected; and/or 

c. The duration of the sales tax collection period.” 

4. Committee Process 

The Committee consisted of seventeen (17) members, one each from the eleven County 

Council Districts, one each from the five municipalities and one from the city of Hardeeville. 

The Hardeeville representative did not attend any meetings and the Yemassee 

representative attended one. The other appointees were, in general, in attendance at all 

the meetings.  The Committee met ten times, mostly on a Tuesday afternoon from 5:30 to 

between 7:00 and 7:30. The first four meetings of the TAC were spent learning and 

digesting the very complex jargon and procedures involved in the planning, engineering, 

and financing of transportation projects.  Staff then prepared a “strawman” of major 

230

Item 20.



EXHIBIT B 

2 
 

highway projects and other categories of more minor projects, that the Committee could 

work from. The remaining meetings were spent defining, debating, and modifying these 

suggested projects and the monies allocated to each one.  At the meeting on May 2, the 

Committee reached a general consensus and at the meeting on May 10, formally voted 

unanimously to approve the projects, amounts and recommendations that are contained in 

this memo. 

5. Role of the Staff 

Staff involved in this project consisted of Assistant County Administrator Jared Fralix, Capital 

Projects Coordinator, Brittanee Fields, and Administrative Assistant Carol Puryear. In the 

final two meetings, recently hired Engineering Director, Eric Claussen, also attended.  Given 

the complex nature of this process there was a lot for the Committee members to learn and 

staff provided many documents and plans that had been completed by the State of SC, the 

Low Country COG, County Planning, and the municipalities. Staff provided the Committee a 

suggested list of projects, transportation program categories and amounts.  There were 

many questions at every meeting, and they were clearly and patiently answered.  In sum, 

the staff support to the TAC was outstanding.  

6. Concepts behind the Recommendations 

The Committee is recommending that the referendum contain two types of project 

expenditures. 

a. Specific Projects 

These represent the traditional approach to referendum questions. As in the 2018 

referendum, specific projects are enumerated with an allocation of money specified. An 

example might be “Highway 170 Improvements – $80 million”, A short description of 

the project could be included.  As described below, the Committee recommends that 

eight of these projects be included in the referendum. They are countywide and address 

problems both on Federally designated highways (278, 46, 170, 21) and on State, 

County, and local roads, and streets.  $220 million is recommended for projects south of 

the Broad River and $115 million is recommended for projects north of the Broad River. 

It is important to note that none of these projects have been designed or bid, and the 

amounts assigned to them do not represent project budgets. 

b. Transportation Improvement Programs 

This category encompasses a large variety of projects which, because they are small 

(pave a dirt road), or because they may emerge in the future, cannot be specifically 

defined. These are projects that are, and will be, undeniably required, but which cannot 

yet be defined and may cost only a fraction of a “Specific Project”.  They would address 

needs that will emerge all over the County; in response, for example, to coastal flooding, 

new developments in rural areas, or the need to resurface exiting streets. Spent 

correctly, these funds will benefit residents and business all over the County. The 

Committee recommends putting approximately one half ($365 million) of the total 

expected revenue into these categories of projects, as described below. 

231

Item 20.



EXHIBIT B 

3 
 

 

7. Recommendations 

a. Amount and Length of Tax 

We recommend that the sales tax be applied at 1% (one penny on the dollar) for a 

period of ten years. We assumed a moderate to high growth rate. Based upon this 

projection the tax should raise approximately $700,000,000 over ten years.  We 

believe that this amount will enable us to plan, develop and implement appropriate 

solutions to meet the current needs caused by an overwhelmed and aging 

infrastructure system and to accomplish the improvements required today to 

address future demands.  In addition, this money can be multiplied several times 

over by aggressive pursuit of matching federal and state funds and the development 

of coordinated projects with Jasper County. 

b. Specific Projects and Amounts 

i. Hwy 170 Improvements - $80,000,000 

Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 170 from US 

278 to SC 462.  

ii. Hwy 46 Improvements - $20,000,000 

Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 from SC 170 to Jasper County. 

Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn lanes at intersections) along SC 46 

from SC 170 to Buckwalter Parkway.  All planned improvements would be 

designed so as to preserve the Scenic Byway designation.  

iii. Bluffton Regional Roadway Network - $40,000,000  

Implementation of any or all Bluffton projects listed as priorities in the 

approved LATS Transportation Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate 

projects to be undertaken by Beaufort County. 

iv. Hilton Head Island Municipal Projects - $40,000,000 

Road resurfacing, intersection improvements and pathways as requested by    

the Town of Hilton Head.  

v. Hwy 278 Project Enhancements -$40,000,000 

Additional funding to support the US 278 Corridor Improvement Project  

vi.  US 21 and US 21(Bus.)/SC 281 Corridor Improvements -$75,000,000 

 Multimodal and access improvements along the US 21 corridor from Bell 

Bridge to Boundary Street and along the US 21(Business) corridor to Woods 

Memorial Bridge to improve safety, interconnectivity, and capacity. 

vii. Lady’s Island Corridor Improvements -$40,000,000 

                    Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements  

 

c. Transportation Improvement Programs 

i. Mass Transit – $25,000,000 

232

Item 20.



EXHIBIT B 

4 
 

Funding multimodal transportation planning and implementation, to include 

marine transport, for a more robust and equitable public transportation 

system. 

ii. Safety - $50,000,000 

Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include pedestrian 

accommodations.  

iii. Resilience - $20,000,000 

Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address flooding, sea level 

rise, stormwater, and drainage.  

iv. Dirt Road Paving - $50,000,000 

Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the County.  

v. Resurfacing – $60,000,000 

Road resurfacing and preservation of ALL roadways (State, County, and 

municipal owned) throughout the County. The goal is to improve the overall 

pavement condition of roads across the County.  

vi. Pathways - $50,000,000 

Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian 

accommodations throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort 

County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 2021. We recommend that 

priority be given to pathways already approved by the voters in the 2018 

referendum 

vii. Transportation Technology/Access Roads - $50,000,000 

Planning, design, right of way acquisition, and construction of access roads 

for better interconnectivity. Implementation of transportation technologies 

to support enhancements to capacity and safety of the transportation 

system.  

viii. Greenbelts (Long term Demand Reduction) - $60,000,000 

Acquisition of property to reduce new lots and thereby establish a balance 

between environmental protection and rapid development growth.  Note:  

the term “Greenbelt” is used in the enabling legislation as an eligible category 

of expenditure. 

 

8.  Implementation Recommendations 

a. Advisory Committee 

i. County Council, with other stakeholders, should create an “Advisory” 

committee to provide recommendations to Council to prioritize projects for 

the entire length of the program. It should meet bi-monthly or quarterly. Its 

membership should mirror the TAC. 

ii. The Committee should make a call each year for projects from all 

stakeholders (County, municipalities, LATS/COG) for general projects. 

233

Item 20.



EXHIBIT B 

5 
 

iii. County staff in coordination with the Advisory Committee should create a 

priority index for all central programs such as: 

1. Safety:  intersection Improvements, turn lanes, rural road 

improvements.  Specifics to be developed. 

2. Dirt Road Paving: update existing 5-year plan to include municipal 

dirt roads. 

3. Resilience:  priorities should be based on susceptibility to flooding 

and population or critical functions served by the road.  

4. Resurfacing:  program to look at improving any and all roads (DOT, 

County, Municipal) specifics to be developed. 

5. Pathways:  use approved county wide pedestrian and bike master 

plan as a guide.  Priorities to projects already approved by voters. 

6. Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: focus on access and 

connecting roads, smart signals, electric vehicles services. 

b.  Issue Revenue Bonds 

Big projects should be bonded for immediate work  

c. Greenbelt (Long Term Demand Reduction)  

Utilize Rural and Critical Lands Board for priority setting of expenditures related to 

land or development rights acquisition 

d. Mass Transit 

Because no central plan currently exists for a comprehensive mass transit program, 

this should be the first priority. Utilize the exiting transit authority as the lead agency 

for this effort supported by an advisory committee. 

9. Conclusions 

As we weaved through the process and reviewed the gravity of the assignment and the 

critical needs for improvement and new components for our local mobility, it became quite 

evident that there is much to do.  It appears that we are not just behind the “8 ball”, we are 

under it; and it will take a coordinated public relations effort to move even this limited 

referendum forward for a better “mobility future for all of us. 

On behalf of the Transportation Advisory Committee members, may I say that it has been 

an honor to be entrusted by Council with preparing these important recommendations. I 

am available to meet with Council at your discretion to explain and discuss these projects 

and recommendations. 

  

234

Item 20.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL NECESSARY 
DOCUMENTS FOR THE AQUISITION OF ADDISTIONAL RIGHT OF WAY NEEDED FOR THE SIGNALIZATION OF 
BLUFFTON PARKWAY AT RIVER RIDGE DRIVE AND FLAT CREEK DRIVE 
 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Meeting 5-16-2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, P.E., Assistant County Administrator, Engineering 

(5 Minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

As a result of the back entrance of Hampton Lake Subdivision being open, children attending River Ridge 
Academy have been crossing at the unsignalized intersection of Bluffton Parkway at River Ridge Drive and Flat 
Creek Drive. This prompted a request from Beaufort County School District to investigate the possibility of 
installing a traffic signal.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Beaufort County Engineering Staff contracted BIHL Engineering to provide a Signal Warrant Analysis of the 
Bluffton Parkway intersection located approximately 3,925 feet east of SC 170 and approximately 2,475 feet 
west of Hampton Parkway. Based on the review of MUTCD traffic signal warrants and existing traffic volumes, 
the intersection is a good candidate for signalization which is consistent with the Beaufort County Community 
Development Code 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Bluffton Road Impact Fee account 23020011-51160 Professional Services with a current balance of 
$3,982,622.43 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approving additional right of way necessary for signalization of intersection of Bluffton 
Parkway at River Ridge Drive and Flat Creek Drive. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to either accept/deny the acquisition of right of way associated with signalization of the intersection 
of Bluffton Parkway at River Ridge Drive and Flat Creek Drive. 

Next Step – Public hearing for Resolution at County Council Meeting 

 

235

Item 21.



 
1 

RESOLUTION NO.  2022/________ 

 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND 

ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE AQUISITION OF ADDISTIONAL RIGHT OF WAY 

NEEDED FOR THE SIGNALIZATION OF BLUFFTON PARKWAY AT RIVER RIDGE DRIVE 

AND FLAT CREEK DRIVE 

 

 WHEREAS, Bluffton Parkway is a Beaufort County owned and maintained road that was 

constructed in 5 phases. The section associated with phase 4 was conveyed to the County from the 

Town of Bluffton by a Quit Claim Indentured Deed recorded in Deed Book 3394 at pages 1449-

1454 on 04/24/2015; and 

WHEREAS, there is an unsignalized intersection on Bluffton Parkway located at River Ridge 

Drive and Flat Creek Drive that students of River Ridge Academy have been crossing; and 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County School District has requested that Beaufort County investigate the 

possibility of installing a traffic signal at the unsignalized intersection out of concern for student safety; 

and 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County Engineering Staff contracted BIHL Engineering to provide 

a Signal Warrant Analysis of the Bluffton Parkway intersection located approximately 3,925 feet 

east of SC 170 and approximately 2,475 feet west of Hampton Parkway identified as intersection 

at River Ridge Drive and Flat Creek Drive; and 

WHEREAS, based on the review of MUTCD traffic signal warrants and existing traffic 

volumes, the intersection is a good candidate for signalization which is consistent with the Beaufort 

County Community Development Code; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the community, school district and County to 

acquire the needed right of way for signalization of Bluffton Parkway at River Ridge Drive and 

Flat Creek Drive identified more specifically on attached Exhibit A; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Beaufort County Council hereby authorizes 

the County Administrator to execute any and all necessary documents for the acquisition of additional right 

of way needed for the signalization of Bluffton Parkway at River Ridge drive and Flat Creek Drive.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

236

Item 21.



 
2 

 

 

 

ADOPTED this ____ day of __________, 2022. 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

  

  

 By: ______________________________________ 

   Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

    

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

 
 

237

Item 21.



EXHIBIT A 
   Associated Parcels
R600 029 000 0024 0000 
R600 029 000 011A 0000
R600 029 000 0011 0000
R600 029 000 1736 0000 
R600 029 000 0012 0000 
R600 029 000 0136 0000 
R600 029 000 1711 0000 
R600 029 000 1737 0000
R614 029 000 2299 0000 
R614 029 000 2467 0000
R614 029 000 2475 0000

1736

238

Item 21.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation of award for RFP 040122 Beaufort County Hauling Services – Solid Waste and Recycling 
($1,830,000) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Committee – May 16, 2022  

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, Assistant County Administrator - Engineering 
Cindy Carter, Solid Waste and Recycling Director 
Dave Thomas, Purchasing Director   
Time needed for discussion = 5 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

RFP 040122 was advertised on Vendor Registry on March 1, 2022, and in the SC Business Opportunity Magazine 
and the Island Packet.  There was a virtual pre-bid meeting on March 16, 2022.  The bid closed on April 15, 
2022, after a request from vendors to extend the deadline.  Beaufort County offices were closed on April 15, 
2022, so staff received proposals on April 18, 2022.  A selection committee received three proposals for review.  
The selected company will provide waste hauling services and container/receiver rental for the nine County 
Convenience Centers. A best and final price request extended the bids until May 10, 2022. 
 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The selection committee rated each proposal based on the ability of the vendor to provide waste hauling 
services for Beaufort County with a seamless transition on July 1, 2022.  This included the rental of collection 
containers/receivers and transportation of waste to the two contract landfills and other designated sites (yard 
waste and metal).   
The initial contract term would be for 3 years from July 1, 2022, to July 31, 2025, with the option for two 
additional annual renewals. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

This is a unit rate contract. The estimated cost for the contract is $1,830,000 and has been budgeted for FY23.  
The current funding account is 50100011-51165. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends the award of RFP 040122 (Beaufort County Hauling Services) to Republic Services.  
  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve /deny the recommendation of award for RFP 040122 Beaufort County Hauling Services – 
Solid Waste and Recycling to Republic Services.   

Next Step: Move to County Council on May 23, 2022. 

 

239

Item 1.



PRELIMINARY BID TABULATION
PURCHASING DEPARTMENT

Project Name: Beaufort County Hauling Services - Solid Waste and Recycling

Project Number: RFP #040122

Project Budget: n/a

Bid Opening Date:Tuesday, April 15, 2022

Time: 3:00 PM

Location: Building #2 106 Industrial Village Rd, Beaufort, SC 

Bid Administrator:Dave Thomas, Beaufort County Purchasing Director

Bid Recorder: Cindy Carter, Solid Waste & Recycling Director

Second Bid Tab (post interviews & best and final pricing)

BIDDER Rater 1 Rater 2 Rater 3 Average Notes

Capital Waste Services 80 77 81 79.33 Quality bid; excellent reference; highest price 

Pro Disposal USA LLC 65 51 90 68.67  No like contract experience; transition questionable; lowest price

Republic Services 90 81 95 88.67 Current Vendor; mid price; selected

5/11/2022
240

Item 1.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation Of Award for RFQ #050322E for the Design & Engineering of a Material Recycling Facility 
(MRF)  

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Committee - May 16, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, ACA - Infrastructure 

(10 min.) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort County currently handles residential recycling services from the Convenience Centers through a 
contract with WM.  The current contract began on September 1, 2021, and expires on July 31, 2023.  There is 
an option for 3 one-year renewals, as needed.  Staff have utilized consultant services in an effort to locate 
property suitable for a full Sustainability Campus without success.  The Public Works South property (9 
Benton Field Road, Bluffton) is County-owned and provides adequate acreage for a Material Recycling Facility.  
This construction would initially provide a facility to handle the processing and marketing of dual-stream 
commodities from our four large centers and subsequent acceptance of single-stream commodities from 
private residential curbside collection.  Construction of a Material Recycling Facility is supported by the 2040 
Comprehensive Plan (CF-4).                  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

A new 22,500 square foot Material Recycling Facility (MRF) is proposed for construction in an industrial 
section of Southern Beaufort County and minimizes transportation of recyclables in the highest populated 
area of service (Bluffton and Hilton Head).  The structure will house equipment that allows commodities to be 
sorted, baled, and prepared for market (revenue).  In FY21, data included the generation of OCC (1,789.64 
tons), Mixed paper (1,549.24 tons), Mixed aluminum/metal (130.31 tons) and Plastics (401.64 tons).  Single 
stream curbside collection (future operations) was reported as 4,901.46 tons. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The contract fee for the scope of work totals $316,000 to be funded from 2020 GO Bond account number 
40120011-54214 with a balance of $1,867,500.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends award of RFQ #050322E to HDR Engineering, Inc 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny award of RFQ#050322E to HDR Engineering, Inc. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council for motion to approve/deny award of RFQ#050322 to HDR 
Engineering, Inc. 

 

241

Item 2.



RFQ 050322E

Summary Score Sheet

Evaluators Name of Company Name of Company 

Hargrove HDR

Carter 60 65
McAbee 88 92
Sutton 85 100
Wilhelm 55 90
TOTALS: 288 347

1. HDR 347
2. Hargrove 288

A&E Services for Material Recycycling Facility 9 Benton Feld Rd. Beaufort County, SC 29910

242

Item 2.


	Top
	Item 1.	CALL TO ORDER
	Item 2.	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION
	Item 3.	FOIA
	Item 4.	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	Item 5.	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	Item 6.	ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT
	Item 7.	Proclamation Carla Anderson Smith
	9. Carla Anderson Smith Proclamation

	Item 8.	CITIZEN COMMENTS
	Item 9.	LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS
	Item 10.	APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA
	Item 11.	PUBLIC HEARING OF A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND FUND THE PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 2.1 ACRES OWNED BY THE TECHNICAL COLLEGE OF THE LOWCOUNTRY
	AIS, TCL Property Purchase
	Resolution, TCL Purchase of Property

	Item 12.	PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.2 (TRANSECT ZONES) AND SECTIONS IN DIVISION 3.3 (CONVENTIONAL ZONES) TO CORRECT AND CLARIFY PARKING SPACE REQUIREMENT CONFLICTS BETWEEN ZONING DISTRICTS AND THE PARKING SPACE REQUIREMENTS TABLE IN SECTION 5.5.40.B.
	4NRC_AIS_Parking Space Requirements
	4NRC_Ordinance_ParkingRequirements
	4NRC_Staff Memo_CDC Changes B1

	Item 13.	PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): APPENDIX A.13.50.D (GUEST HOUSES) TO CLARIFY THE STANDARDS FOR MINIMUM LOT SIZE REQUIREMENTS FOR GUEST HOUSES LOCATED IN THE MAY RIVER COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT.
	4NRC_AIS_May River CP Guest Houses
	4NRC_Ordinance_May River CP
	4NRC_Staff Memo_CDC Changes B1

	Item 14.	PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTION 6.1.40.G (BASE SITE AREA CALCULATIONS) TO CLARIFY THAT BOTH JURISDICTIONAL AND NON-JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS MUST BE SUBTRACTED FROM THE GROSS SITE AREA TO DETERMINE BASE SITE AREA FOR DEVELOPMENT.
	4NRC_AIS_Base Site Area Calculations
	4NRC_Ordinance_Base Site Area
	4NRC_Staff Memo_CDC Changes B1
	CDC tree amend CCL comment May 23, 2022

	Item 15.	PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTION 5.11.100.F.1 (TREE REMOVAL ON DEVELOPED PROPERTIES) TO CLOSE A LOOPHOLE WHICH ALLOWS SPECIMEN AND MITIGATION TREES TO BE REMOVED POST-CONSTRUCTION OF SINGLE-FAMILY HOMES.
	4NRC_AIS_Specimen Trees Protections
	4NRC_Ordinance_Specimen Tree Protections
	4NRC_Staff Memo_CDC Changes B1

	Item 16.	First Reading- Beaufort County Budget Presentation
	AIS- FY2023 Bugdet Ordinance
	FY2022-23-Budget Ordinance v7 - 5-18-22
	FY2023 Budget Presentation
	FY2023 Budget All Funds - COMBINED

	Item 17.	Beaufort County School District's Budget for FY23
	BCSD Budget Ordinance
	BCSD Budget Ordinance FY23
	BCSD FY23 Budget Handout 052322

	Item 18.	FIRST READING OF an ordinance for Sales Tax Referendum (Transportation Advisory Committee Recommendation)
	AIS - Approval of an ordinance for Sales Tax Referendum (Transportation Advisory Committee Recommendation)
	Ordinance for Sales Tax referendum (R3) 5-13-22
	Tax Projects Final (1) EXHIBIT A
	Project Descriptions (Final) (1) EXHIBIT A
	Memo to County Council re TAC  (1) EXHIBIT B

	Item 19.	THIRD READING - Recommendation to Allocate 2018 One Cent Sales Tax Additional Revenue to the Sidewalks and Multi-use Pathways Program.
	Agenda Item Summary - Allocating Additional Revenue to Pathways
	Ordinance 2018 SALES TAX - Appropriation of Excess Funds
	2017.34 2018 Transportation Sales Tax
	Pathways-Resolution-2019.22
	Transportation Local Option Sales Tax FY22 Q2

	Item 20.	RESOLUTION TO ADOPT ALL RECOMMENDATIONS AS PRESENTED BY THE TRANSPORTATION ADIVISORY COMMITTEE
	Accepting recommendations by the TAC for implementation of the 2022 Sales Tax Program
	Tax Projects Final (1) EXHIBIT A
	Project Descriptions (Final) (1) EXHIBIT A
	Memo to County Council re TAC  (1) EXHIBIT B

	Item 21.	Resolution for ROW Acquisition for signalization of Bluffton Pkwy at River Ridge Dr. & Flat Creek Dr.
	AIS River Ridge Dr-Flat Creek DR-Bluffton Pkwy Intersection
	Resolution River Ridge-Bluffton Parkway  intersection
	Exhibit A River Ridge-Bluffton Parkway  intersection

	Item 22.	CITIZEN COMMENTS
	Item 23.	ADJOURNMENT
	Item 1.	APPROVAL TO AWARD BEAUFORT COUNTY HAULING SERVICES- SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING RFP 040122
	AIS Award Recommend RFP040122 Beaufort County Hauling Services - Solid Waste and Recycling 05.16.2022 PFC
	3. Bid sheet RFP 040122 Hauling Services SW&R

	Item 2.	Recommendation Of Award for RFQ #050322E for the Design & Engineering of a Material Recycling Facility (MRF)
	Agenda Item Summary -AE Services -MRF
	Summary Score Sheet

	Bottom

